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Highlights P

Subscribers increased to over 9,5 million 4f}élfz%
Revenue increased to R23,9 billion L 23%
Profit after tax increased to R4,3 billion {j94%

Adjusted headline EPS increased
to 253,1 cents ﬁ}77%

Dividend of 41 cents per share declared
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MTN management and staff acquired an 18,7%
interest in the MTN Group through the acquisition of
the interest held by Ice finance BV/Transnet — the
shares are held in trust by Newshelf 664

DN
©
)
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M-Cell renamed MTN Group to consolidate group
structure, reinforce African presence and awareness MIN cefebrated ten years of

of the brand operation

MIN Nigeria started construction of Y'elloBahn, a MIN recorded amost ten million

3 400-kilometre long countrywide microwave radio subscribers in its operations

transmission backbone across the Group o

-~
MIN tefecoms provider and sponsor of the World
Summit on Sustainable Development held in 1

Johannesburg in August

/
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Johnnic unbundled 31,9% stake in the MTN Group
increasing free float to just under 75%

MIN Nigeria secured US$5345 million project finance

) , . package to fund the further expansion of its
MTN International acguired national infiastructure i the country

GSM 300 MHz and GSM 1 800 MHz
licences in Nigeria at a cost of

US$$285 million and launched operations
in August
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First to faunch MyChoice range, MTN's unique package
that allows consumers to spend their inclusive value on
voice oy data calls, or SMS. With MyChoice Toplp,

) o i consumers can top up their accounts with Pay as You Go
MIN Holdings acquired GTEC, a tier-one cards

internet service provider {now

MTN Network Solutions), to increase
the range of dota services provided to
corporate customers First Sustainability Report published

Group decision to establish MIN Foundation in afl
operations, for social investment

Launch of MTN's social investment vehicle,
the MTN Foundation, which strives to
improve the quality of life in the
communities in which MTN operates
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Ten years of
cellular freedom

1993 = 1994

MTN Network Operator awarded national GSM 900 MHz ficence
M-Cell (now MTN Group) incorporated in South Africa

MTN Netwaork Operator commercial launch in June 1994

MIN' Sauth African GSM network rofl-out recorded as one of the
world’s fastest

100 7 © 60
1997 - 1998

MTN expanded into Africa,
acquiring licences in Uganda,
Rwanda and Swaziland

MTN Network Operator awarded

10 9001 accreditation for network,
the first in Africa

1996

MTN Network Operator first to
launch pre-paid platform

1995

M-Cell converted to a public company with investments
that include a 25% shareholding in MTN Holdings and a
60% shareholding in M-Tel, a cellular service provider
(now MTN Service Provider)

MTN Holdings acquired service provider M-Tel

1999

M-Cell acquired 100% of Orbicom

MTN Network Operator awarded
150 14001 accreditation for
environmental management

M-Cell increased stake in MTN
Holdings to 72%

2000

MTN International acquired a
national GSM 300 MHz ficence in
Cameraon

Launch of MTNICE - MTN's
innovative mobife portal for
information, commerce and
entertainment

M-(ell acquired the remaining
shareholding in MIN Holdings
from Transtel

|
|
f
|
|
|




MTN Group profile

MTN Group Limited is a leading provider of communications services, offering
cellular network access and business solutions. The MTN Group is listed on the
JSE Securities Exchange South Africa under the Industrial ~ Non-cyclical services -
Telecommunications sector.

As at 31 March 2004, the MTN Group had 9,5 million subscribers across its cellular
network operations.To date, MTN Group has invested approximately R17 billion in
telecommunications infrastructure across the African continent.

MTN South Africa

MTN South Africa operates through MTN Network Operator and MTN Service Provider. Launched

in 1994, MTN is South Africa’s second-largest cellular network operator with 6,3 million subscribers

at the end of the year under review. The Company's national GSM network is one of the largest
networks in the world, with approximately 4 245 sites covering 19 200 km of road and 1 000 000 km?*
of land, and provides access to 96% of South Africa’s population.

MTN Nigeria

A subsidiary of MTN International, MTN Nigeria was launched in 2001 and is the leading

GSM operator in that country, with a base of almost 2 million subscribers as at 31 March 2004.
MTN Nigeria's GSM network currently comprises over 839 base stations, 16 mobile switches and
3400 km of transmission infrastructure, providing access to approximately 43% of Nigeria's
population.

Other mobile operations

MTN International also offers cellular network access and associated services through its subsidiaries
and joint ventures in Cameroon, Uganda, Rwanda and Swaziland. These aperations recorded a
combined total of 1,2 million subscribers as at 31 March 2004.

Strategic Investments

Strategic Investments is responsible for identifying and exploiting new growth opportunities on
behalf of the Group, both in South Africa and internationally. The division also manages the Group's
investments in non-maobile ventures, including: MTN Netwark Solutions, providing managed network
services to the corporate market; Airborn, responsible for exploitation of innovation and intellectual
property; Orbicom, a pan-African satellite signal distributor, which the Board is currently considering
divestment of; and Electronic Funds Transfer Operation, Nigeria.

2 MTN Business Report 2004
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MTN Group
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Group structure
as at 31 March 2004
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Some of our accomplishments | |

over the past 10 years @

= ,7

Technology

NN
SJJUQ[@@[@

A PC-based SMS application that
enables users to send and receive SMS
messages on PCs or mobile handsets

J
\\\

\
! \/ VC TopUp
An innovative post-paid/pre-paid hybrid package

offering consumers the benefits of contract with
the control of pre-paid

WA AR
/\/\uﬁﬁjgﬁcwd

A mobile point of sale solution for credit card
processing and cheque guarantees that can be
accessed from any cellphone, anywhere, anytime

V4 hj e}

&l i\oenn

Nigeria's first nationwide transmission backbone that spans
3 400 km and enables 1 900 voice calls simultaneously

MTN Business Report 2004
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Some of our accomplishments | |
over the past 10 years

People

\

B 062 e
‘ o)) ) Tl 7
Q VO employees
Businesses in related industries have also created several

times this amount of jobs as part of the wider economic
impact of MTN'’s investment activities

e 060 o0 000 0 0 o
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On average, 3% of payroll is spent on training

in six countries across Africa

MTN Business Report 2004 /7
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Some of our accomplishments | ‘
over the past 10 years |
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A continent-wide investment in ICT educational
support, science and technology, health and
HIV/AIDS, economic empowerment and the arts -
growing in tandem with our operations

C))

<
i 7 billion investrnent in
telecommunication infrastructure

Group infrastructural developments contribute to long-term economic
development and the realisation of NEPAD’s ICT goals

.

-
-

Commitment to em cowernment

Group procurement policy focuses on developing a proudly
African company through employing a representative
workforce, and building locat supply chain partnerships

in the countries where we operate

MTN Business Report 2004




MTN Group values

The MTN Group is a multinational Company operating in a wide rangey of
countries and cultures, The Company has, at its core, five shared values
adopted and accepted across all its operations that inform our business
principles, conduct and interaction with all stakeholders:

Leadership

Qualities - foresight, commitment, guidance

» Building a future for our people and the customers we serve.
« Leading the way in connectivity enablement.

Integrity

Qualities - solid principles, trusted, togetherness

*+ We are, because of you, our customer.

« We are, because of you, our employee.

* With your trust and belief we will always succeed.

Can do

Qualities — optimism, future focus, passionate, happening

« Creating brighter futures, for everyone whose life we touch.
- Empowering people, communities and countries.

- Creating possibility.

Innovation

Qualities - simplicity, imagination, insight, creativity
+ Doing things differently.

+ Making unlikely connections.

* The unexpected exceeds expectations.

Relationships

Qualities - teamwork, friendly, personal, warm and caring

« Connecting with people on their level.

+ Having empathy for their unique situations.

+ Building relationships with our customers (internal and external).

10w Business Report 2004
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Group footprint at a glance ®
¢
[
e
| Cameroon .| South Afica ] PY
” Launch date: Feb 2000 Launch date: Jun 1994
MTN Group shareholding: 70% MTN Group shareholding: 100% .
i Population: 16,6 million Population: 45,7 million .
Mobile penetration: 6.7% Mobile penetration: 36%
Subscriber numbers: 581 000 Subscriber numbers: 6270000 ‘w .
®
| Nigeria | | Swaziland @
Launch date: Aug 2001 Launch date: Jul 1998 “
MTN Group shareholding: 75% MTN Group shareholding: 30% '
Population: 130 miition Population: 1,1 million .
Mobile penetration: 3,1% Mobile penetration: 7,7%
Subscriber numbers: 1 966 000 ‘ Subscriber numbers: 85 000 '
o
| Rwanda i | Uganda ®
| Launch date: Jul 1998 Launch date: Oct 1998 4 .
MTN Group shareholding: 40% MTN Group shareholding: 52%
Population; 8,7 million Population: 24,5 million .
Mobile penetration: 1.2% Maobile penetration: 3.1% ‘
Subscriber numbers: 146 000 Subscriber numbers: 435 000 .
o
®
|
[
®
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Rwanda
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Nigeria

Camérpon
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Swaziland

(> Cellular operations

" Satellite footprint in other
countries through Orbicomn

South Africa

MTN Business Report 2004 1 3




Board of Directors

The MTN Group Board constitutes a strong team that
advises and guides business strategy and operations.

MC Ramaphosa (51)
BProc, LLD {hc)

Chairman

Non-executive Director
since 2001

P, 7

PF Nhleko (43)
BSc (Civil Eng), MBA
Group Chief Executive

DDB Band (59) SL Botha (39)

Non-executive Director Executive Director

Executive Director Executive Director

PL Heinamann (62)
AMP (INSEAD), FSRM (SA}
Non-executive Director
since 2001

SN Mabaso (34) RD Nisbet (48) JHN Strydom (65)

Non-executive Director Group Finance Director Non-executive Director

Executive Director

0000000000000 0090
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I Charnley (43} ZNA Cindi (53) RS Dabengwa (45)

MAP, CPIR Non-executive Director BSc (Eng), MBA

Commercial Director since 1999 Group Chief Operating

Executive Director Officer

since 2001 Executive Director
since 2001

AF van Biljon (57) LC Webb (55)

BCom, CA(SA), MBA BSc (Elec Eng}
Non-executive Director Alternate to SN Mabaso
since 2002 since 2002

000000 0600C0O0OCOCOLOOOOOOOEEOG®EEOG®EOEO®
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Board of Directors CVs

MC Ramaphosa (51)

BProc, LLD (ho)

Chairman

Non-executive Director* since 2001

Cyril is the Executive Chairman of Millennium
Consolidated Investments and serves as Non-executive
Director of a number of other companies including
Johnnic Holdings Limited, SABMiller ple, FirstRand
Limited and Macsteet Holdings (Pty} Limited. He was
involved in the political transformation process in South
Africa as head of the ANC's negotiating team. His
previous positions include Chairperson of the
Constitutional Assembly, Member of Parliament,
Secretary General of the ANC and General Secretary

of the National Union of Mineworkers,

PF Nhleko (43)
BSc Civil Eng, MBA
Group Chief Executive Officer since 2002

DDB Band (59)
BCom, CA(SA)
Non-executive Director* since 2001

Doug has had a varied business career, rising to the
position of Managing Director of CNA Gallo Limited
in 1987.1n 1990, he was appointed Chief Executive of
The Argus Holdings Group, and in 1995 was appointed
Chairman and Chief Executive of Premier Group
Limited. In January 2000, he took up a position as
consultant to the capital investments division of
Standard Corporate and Merchant Bank and currently
serves as a Non-Executive on the boards of
MNet/Supersport, Standard Bank Group, Tiger Brands
Limited and the Bidvest Group.

SL Botha (39)

BEcon (Hons)

Executive Director: Marketing
Executive Director since 2003

Phuthuma assumed the position of Group CEO MTN
Group Limited effective 1 July 2002, Phuthuma was
previously the Executive Chairman and one of the
founding members of Worldwide African Investment
Holdings (Pty) Limited ("WAIH"), a pre-eminent
investment holding company with significant interests
primarily in the Petroleum and Telecoramunications/IT
industries,

Prior to the establishment of WAIM, Phuthuma was a
senior executive of the Standard Merchant Bank
corporate finance team (1991 — 1994). Phuthuma
practised as a civil engineer in the USA, Swaziland and
South Africa prior to his joining Standard Merchant
Bank. Phuthuma has been a director on various boards
of listed companies which include among others:
Johnnic Holdings Limited, Nedbank Investment Bank,
Nedcor Limited, The Bidvest Group Limited, Alexander
Forbes and Old Mutual South Africa.

MTN Business Report 2004

Santie joined MTN in 2003 as Executive Director
responsible for marketing. Prior to that, she was Group
Executive Director at Absa Bank. She was awarded
Young Business Person of the Year 1998 and Marketer
of the Year 2002, Prior to Absa, she worked for Unilever
(UK) for six years before returning to South Africa in
April 1996. Other board appointments outside the
Group include the Marketing Federation of Southern
Africa and National Business Initiative

{ Charnley (43}

MAP, CPIR

Commercial Director
Executive Director since 2001

Irene, a former Non-executive Chairperson of the
Group, joined MTN as Commercial Director of the
Group in 2001 1o head up the Strategic Investments
division. She was awarded Business Woman of the Year
in 2000 and nominated as one of the top 50
businesswomen outside of the USA. Other major
directorships outside the Group include Metropolitan
Holdings Limited and FirstRand Bank Limited. She was
also a member of the King Committee on Corporate
Governance.




ZNA Cindi (53)

Non-executive Director® since 1999

Zithulele has 15 years of trade union background as
an educator, trustee and chief administrator for the
Black Electrical and Electronics Workers Union and
the Metal and Electrical Workers Union of SA. Other
directorships in major companies are Cormmunity
Growth Management Company, National Productivity
Institute and Johnnic Holdings Limited.

RS Dabengwa (45)

BSc (Eng), MBA

Group Chief Operating Officer
Executive Director since 2001

Prior 1o joining MTN in 1999, Sifiso was employed

by Eskom as Executive Director responsible for
distribution. Before joining Eskom in 1992, he worked
as a consulting electrical engineer in the building
services and township development areas, Outside
the Group he currently serves on the board of Impala
Platinum Holdings Limited

PL Heinamann (62)
AMP (INSEAD), FSRM (S5A)
Non-executive Director* since 2001

Pau! started in the insurance broking industry in 1960.
He was the President of South African Insurance Brokers
Association and Insurance Institute of South Africa .

In September 1976, he joined what is now Alexander
Forbes. Other major directorships include Guardrisk
Holdings Limited. He was recently re-appointed as
Non-executive Chairman of Alexander Forbes Limited.

SN Mabaso (34)
BCom, CA(SA)
Non-executive Director since 2002

Sindi is currently Chief Financial Officer of Transnet
Limited, Before joining Transnet, she was Financial
Director for SARHWU Investment Holdings and a
partner of Gobodo Incorporated.

RD Nisbet (48)

BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)

Group Finance Director
Executive Director since 2001

Rob has been with MTN since 1995, His previous
experience includes Managing Director, positions

in the Engineering sector, as well as Financial
Directorships of both listed and unfisted companies.

JHN Strydom (65)
MCom {Acc), CA(SA)
Non-executive Director since 2004

Jan was previously Financial Manager of the Rumble
Group. He is a registered practicing public accountant
and auditor and is the founding partner of Strydoms
incorporated, Chartered Accountants (SA); Registered
Accountants and Auditors, a firm specialising in
business valuations, litigation support and forensic
investigations. He serves as a non-executive on the
board of GrowthPoint Properties Limited, is a
Commissioner of the Public Investment
Commissioners and a member of the Speciat Income
Tax Court.

AF van Biljon (57)
BCom, CA(SA), MBA
Non-executive Director® since 2002

Alan has a specialised financial consultancy under
the name of van Biljon and Associates, Alan served as
Chief Financial Officer to the Standard Bank Group
from 1996 to 2002, Among other appointments he is
on the boards of Sage Group Limited and Hans
Merensky Holdings.

LC Webb (55)
BSc (Elec Eng)
Alternate to SN Mabaso since 2002

*Independent

MTN Business Report 2004
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EXCO members

At the core is an executive team which manages the day to
day business operations.

PF Nhileko SLBotha | Charnley

BSc (Civil Eng), MBA BEcon (Hons) MAR CPIR

Group Chief Executive Executive Director Commercial Director
Officer Marketing

and Information Officer

e = |
\gb, .
Jo
Y Muthien PD Norman KW Pienaar o
MA, DPhil (Oxford) MA (Psychology) BSc {Electrical & Electronic
Group Executive Group Executive Engineering), PrEng
Corporate Affairs Human Resources Group Chief Technology .

18  MTN Business Report 2004



RS Dabengwa RD Nisbet

BSc (Eng), MBA BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)
Group Chief Operating Group Finance Director
Officer

CG Utton CS Wheeler

BCom, BAcc, CA(SA) BA, LLB, Higher Diploma in Tax
Group Executive Law, Attorney of the High Court
Operations of South Africa

Group Executive
Commercial Legal

© 00000000600 OOCOEOCEOOGOEEOEEOG OEOG®EOGEEOEOO
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EXCO members CVs

PF Nhleko
BSc (Civil Eng), MBA
Group Chief Executive Officer

{ Charnley
MAP, CPIR
Commercial Director

Phuthuma assumed the position of Group CEO MTN
Group Limited effective 1 July 2002 Phuthuma was
previously the Executive Chairman and one of the
founding members of Worldwide African Investment
Holdings (Pty} Limited {("WAIH", a pre-eminent
investment holding company with significant interests
primarily in the Petroleurmn and Telecommunications/IT
industries.

Prior to the establishment of WAIH, Phuthuma was a
senior executive of the Standard Merchant Bank
corparate finance team (1991 - 1994). Phuthuma
practised as a civil engineer in the USA, Swaziland and
South Africa prior to his joining Standard Merchant
Bank. Phuthuma has been a director on various boards
of listed companies which include among others:
Johnnic Holdings Limited, Nedbank Investment Bank,
Nedcor Limited, The Bidvest Group Limited, Alexander
Forbes and Old Mutual South Africa.

SL Botha
BEcon {Hons)
Executive Director Marketing

Santie joined MTN in 2003 as Executive Director
responsible for marketing. Prior to that, she was Group
Executive Director at Absa Bank. She was awarded
Young Business Person of the Year 1998 and Marketer
of the Year 2002, Prior to Absa, she worked for Unilever
(UKj for six years before returning to South Africa in
April 1996. Other board appointments outside the
Group include Marketing Federation of Southern Africa
and National Business Initiative.

MTN Business Report 2004

lrene, a former Non-executive Chairperson of the
Group, joined MTN as Commercial Director of the
Group in 2001 to head up the Strategic Investments
division. She was awarded Business Woman of the
Year in 2000 and nominated as one of the top 50
businesswomen outside of the USA. Other major
directorships outside the Group include Metropalitan
Holdings Limited and FirstRand Bank Limited. She was
also a member of the King Committes on Corporate
Governance.

RS Dabengwa
BSc (Eng), MBA
Group Chief Operating Officer

Prior to joining MTN in 1998, Sifiso was emplayed

by Eskom as Executive Director respansible for
distribution. Before joining Eskom in 1992, he worked
as a consulting electrical engineer in the building
services and township development areas. Outside
the Group, he currently serves on the board of Impala
Platinum Moldings Limited.

RD Nisbet
BCom, BAce, CA(SA)
Group Finance Director

Rob has been with MTN since 1995. His previous
experience includes Managing Director positions in
the Engineering sector, as well as Financial
Directorships of both listed and unlisted companies.

Y Muthien
MA, DPhil (Oxford)
Group Executive Corporate Affairs

Before joining MTN in 2000 as Group Executive
Corparate Affairs, Yvonne was Executive Director,
Democracy and Governance for Human Sciences
Research Council, RSA. She was awarded Grand
Counsellor of the Order of Baobab by President Mbeki
in 2002 and awarded the Status Officer, The Order of
St John, an Order of Her Majesty the Queen in 1999.
She serves as the Chairperson of the President's
Advisory Council on National Orders, and as non-
executive director of Transnet.




PD Norman
MA (Psychology)
Group Executive Human Resources

CG Utton
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA}
Group Executive Operations

Paut has been Group Executive since 1997. He has
spent more than 10 years in the field of HR and has
worked extensively in the transport and
telecommunications industry

Paul is a registered psychologist. He completed various
exacutive development programmes at Wits Business
Schoot and IMD in Switzertand. He is a trustee of
CAMAF ("Chartered Accountants Medical Aid Fund”,
He was awarded HR Practitioner of the Year in 2003

by the Institute for People Management (IPM),

KW Pienaar

BSc (Electrical and

Electronic Engineering), PrEng

Group Chief Technology and information Officer

Karel started his career at Telkorn SA Limited and was
involved in the full spectrurn of Telecornmunication
and Technical Management. Subsequent to Telkom, he
was the Technical Director of Elex Electronic Limited,
CRB Divisional Head Communications and MultiChoice
(Strategic Business Development Manager).

Karelis and has been for the past 10 years the Group
Executive Networks, Chief Technology Officer in charge
of the network for MTN. In 2001, after MTN won the
licence for Nigeris, Karel was appointed CEO of MTN
Nigeria for a year to handle the start up.in 2003 Karel
was promaoted ta the position of Group Chief
Technology and Information Officer.

Campbelt has been with the Group since January
1999, previously in the role of Financial Director of MTN
International, Before joining MTN, he was Financial and
Qperations Director of ABB'S operations in sub-Saharan
Africa. Priar to that, he was a partner in the Cape Town
offices of Arthur Andersen & Co. Campbell is on the
boards of all the MTN International operations.

CS Wheeler

BA, LLB, Higher Diploma in Tax Law, Attorney of the
High Court of South Africa

Group Executive Commercial Legal

Charles spent 12 years as an attorney in private
practice concentrating on commercial law. Prior to
joining MTN, Charles was employed by the Standard
Bank Group as Director Legal Services. He is in charge
of alt commercial legal, company secretarial and
governance issues in the MTN Group.

MTN Business Repart 2004
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Chairman’s report

In its ten year existence, the MTN Group
has earned a reputation for being
enterprising and contributing to the
African renaissance.

MC Ramaphosa Chairman

Dear stakeholder

Itis a great pleasure to review the MTN Group's results
far the 2004 financial year This year's annual report is
distinguished as we jointly celebrate ten years of
democracy in South Africa and our tenth anniversary
of operation.

It line with the MTN Group’s adopted reporting
format, the 2004 annua) report comprises two
complementary publications, the business and the
sustainability reports. The former reviews the
Company’s operational and financial performance for
the financial year ended 31 March 2004, while the
latter reviews our economic, social and environrmental
business practices.

Financial and operational
highlights

The financial vear to 31 March 2004 has again vielded
positive results for the Group. Consolidated revenue
amounted 1o R23,9 billion, a 23% increase from last
year's R19.4 billion. EBITDA grew by 44% to RS0 billion,
while adjusted headline earnings per share amounted
to R253,1 cents, a 77% increase on the previous year.

Due 1o the Group's strong performance and free cash
generation, especially by the South African operations,
the dividend policy was reinstated, and a dividend of
41 cents per share declared subsequent 1o year-end.

Tenth anniversary review

MTN is indeed proud that its tenth birthday coincides
with that of the advent of democracy in South Africa.

MTN Business Report 2004

Itis a great honour for us to share such special origins.

The Group has, in its ten-year existence, earned a
reputation as one of the most enterprising companies
10 enter the telecommunications arena, a pioneer in
economic development efforts and a contributor
towards the African renaissance,

The Group's investments are rooted in the belief that
telecommunications infrastructure and associated
benefits are a crucial element in continental
development initiatives.

With its roots in South Africa, the MTN Group is today
a truly African multinational telecommunications
company with cellular, fixed-line, satellite, internet
connectivity and mobile application assets that have
established it as a pre-eminent provider of
communications services and solutions,

Since inception in 1994, MTN has invested R17 billion
in infrastructure to deliver communication sotutions,
tts six GSM cellular networks provide 9,5 million
Africans with basic voice and enhanced data servicas.
The Group's infrastructure enables communication
across countries and continents, and the
accompanying teledensity improvements and
economic benefits have contributed significantly to
NEPAD'S information and communication technology
priorities,

Corporate governance

The Group, at all levels, subscribes to the values of
formal good carporate gavernance and applies the




recommendations of the King report on Corporate
Governance and the JSE Listings Requirements. Our
commitment is founded on the conviction that good
corporate governance yields disciplined business
management and ethics,

Developments in the year under review include the
formal approval and adoption of our code of ethics.
The code details our commitment to the principles of
integrity, honesty, ethical behaviour and compliance
with all faws and regulations. Subseguent 10 the year-
end, the Board approved the formation of the Group
Tender Committee. The latter will consider all Group
procuremnent tenders and ensure transparency of
processes. The committee also augments the existing
Executive, Group Audit, Risk Management and
Corporate Governance, Nominations, Remuneration
and Human Resources Committees.

During the year it was my pleasure to welcome Santie
Botha to the Board as Executive Director Markating
and Jan Strydom as a Non-executive Director
appointed by the Public Investment Commissioners,

a key funding provider to Newshelf 664. Unfortunately
the Board also saw the resignation of Lazarus Zim as
Executive Director and Jacob Madise as Alternate Non-
executive Director, who moved on to pursue other
interests.

Sustainable development

The Board, executive management and employees
are committed to a triple bottorn-line approach in
managing the Group's activities. We seek to ensure
a balance between the Company's economic
performance, and the impact on the society and the
environment in which we operate,

In our various operations, sustainability practices and
impact are highlighted by management practices that
encompass employment equity, staff development,
occupational safety and health, and addressing
HIV/AIDS in the workplace.

We strive to maintain excellence in the roli-out of

our services, especially in the manner in which we
serve our customers, The Group has continued its
focus on providing improved customer service while
developing customer-driven communication solutions.

In the communities in which we operate, the
sustainability of our engagements is supported

by contributions to bridge the digital divide, good
corporate citizenship and local ernpowerment
practices.

The Group's empowerment achievements are manifest
in progress made to achieve employment equity
targets and black economic empowerment
procurement spend.To date, 34,2% of managers are
black {African, coloured and Asian), over the set South
African target of 33,1%, and at an operational level,
68,29 of staff members are black, slightly below

the set target of 68,4%. MTN South Africa’s BEE
procurement spend for the year was R647 million,

29% above the amount of R500 million last year.

Detailed information regarding employment equity
and BEE achievernents and our sustainability principles
and practices is contained in our Sustainability

Report 2004.

Prospects

In pursuit of sustained growth that will benefit all

our stakeholders, the Group has and will continue 1o
evaluate new investments on the African continent as
well as in the Middle East.

We remain confident that the Group's endeavours to
gain new licences and to establish operations in new
markets will be successful in the short to

medium term.
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The pasitive results delivered by our
operations encourage us to explore |

PF Nhleko Group Chief Executive Officer

additional value-enhancing expansion
opportunities in line with our vision to be
the leading provider of communication
services in our chosen markets.

Overview

As a Group, MTN celebrates its tenth anniversary this
vear and can look back with pride an its achievements
in Improving telecommunications services across the
African continent and empowering many people, both
economically and socially.

Africa’s mobile markets have expanded rapidly in
recent years, Mobile subscribers now far outstrip fixed
line subscribers, and mobile telephony has become
firmly entrenched as the predominant mode of
communication in almost every African nation. This
development is the result of a combination of factors:
the demand for communication services, sector
reform, the licensing of new competitors and direct
investment by African and international companies
seeking to expand their operations.

From a global investment perspective, the
telecommunications sector has returned to favour
after a few discouraging years, and mobile telephorny
companies operating in high-growth emerging
markets, have experienced a market re-rating based
on good fundamentals, strong cash generation, as
well as good growth prospects.

Key objectives for the past year
Strategic objectives

Building on our strategic vision and operational

strength, the Group's key strategic objectives for the

past year were:

» 1o establish an efficient structure to deal with the
demands of an expanding Group,
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* 1o entrench market leadership,

+ 1o meet demand by speeding-up the network roll-
out in Nigeria, and

« to pursue value-enhancing expansion opportunities.

By means of Project Y'ello Africa, a distinctive and
cohesive Group identity was established, based on a
strong centre and core services able to leverage the
synergies, econornies of scale and efficiencies within
the Group. Y'ello Africa’s objective was to create a
vision of one group, one brand and one future among
all MTN staff and customers.

Several new management positions were also created,
filled mainly through internal promotions. Sifiso
Dabengwa was promoted to Group Chief Operating
Officer, Karel Pienaar became Group Chief Technical
and Information Officer, Santie Botha joined the Group
as Executive Director Marketing, and Paul Norman took
on the responsibilities of Group Human Resources. As
part of the restructuring, several services are now
centralised to ensure that the Group can not only take
full advantage of its skills and knowledge base, but alse
exploit economies of scale in critical areas such as
procurement.

With the exception of South Africa, all of our mobile
operators are the largest in thelr respective markets,
and the MTN brand is often better recognised than
other leading global brands in several countries in
which we operate.

Another area of focus was the network roll-out in
Nigeria. During the reporting period, not as much




progress was made as was hoped, which resulted in
the temporary suspension of new subscriber sign-
ups. However, one needs to bear in mind the
complexities of network roll-out in Nigeria, where
basic support infrastructure such as power supplies
and transmission services are often not as consistent
as one may wish, requiring significant additional
planning and logistical support to complement those
services, over and above the building of a

GSM network.

The Group has also pursued various expansion
opportunities during the period under review,
bidding for new licences as well as exploring
potential merger and acquisition opportunities. Such
efforts have not yet resulted in the acquisition of new
licences or properties; however, the Group continues
to explore such opportunities as they arise.

Financial objectives

As regards financial matters, our key areas of focus were:
* to maintain profitable growth in all operations,
+ to restore the EBITDA margin in South Africa,
+ 10 consolidate our position in MTN Cameroon,
« 10 secure project finance for MTN Nigeria,
+ to further reduce unhedged USS debt exposure
with direct recourse to SA based operations, and
* to optimise our return to shareholders.

All operations maintained or increased their profit
margins. MTN South Africa halted its decline in EBITDA
margin and achieved a more acceptable level of

30%. MTN Cameroon delivered a solid, improved
performance on ali levels.

All operations are now fully funded, with project
finance for MTN Nigeria of US$345 million being
secured in Novernber 2003.To the extent that any
additional funding Is required for MTN Nigeria, this may
be raised with no credit enhancement or support from
MTN Mauritius or MTN Group. This transaction was
singled out by Project Finance International as one of
the deals of the year and has established new funding
mechanisms in the local Nigerian market.

The Group's balance sheet continues to strengthen,
with the consolidated net cash position being

R1,2 billion compared to R2,7 billion of net debt
last year. The effective unhedged debt position in
MTN Mauritius has reduced to USS$5 million, from
US$157 million last year.
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The strong cash generation by all operations, but
particularly in South Africa, resulted in a significant
reduction in the Group's gearing levels. Consequently,
the Baard of Directors re-instated a dividend policy for
the Group, with a dividend of 41 cents per a share
being declared for the past financial year. We propose
to follow a conservative dividend pay-out ratio, with a
dividend cover of approximately 6 to 7 times based
on adjusted headline earnings, in order to enable the
Group to retain sufficient funds to pursue expansion
opportunities, while optimising the return to
shareholders.

MTN Group results

The Group delivered a strong performance for the
financial year ended 31 March 2004, Adjusted headline
earnings per share increased by 77% to 253,1 cents,
up from 143,3 cents last year. Consolidated revenue
increased to R23,9 billion, up 23% from R19.4 billion
last year,

EBITDA increased significantly by 44% to R9 billion,
with profit after tax of R4,3 billion, which is 94% up on
last year.

This good growth in income was driven by solid
performances in all of the Group's operations.

+ MTN South Africa delivered better than expected
results in terms of both revenue growth and EBITDA
margin. Trading conditions were favourable, as the
South African economy is experiencing historically
low inflation and interest rates, resulting in higher
disposable income and a growing subscriber market.
Adjusted headline earnings per share from South
African operations increased by 50% to 135,8 cents.
This represents approximately 54% of total Group
adjusted headline earnings per share.

* MTN Cameroon's performance continues to improve,
with an increase in EBITDA margin to 42%, from 34%
last year.

+ MTN Nigeria performed well and in line with expec-
tations, contributing approximately 29% and 40% to
overall Group revenue and EBITDA respectively.

These results have been affected by the continuing

appreciation of the rand against the US dollar and
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continued

most international operating currencies.When the
Group's international results are translated, the rand’s
strength impacted negatively on consolidated income,
however, this also reduced the Group's borrowing
levels, which are predominantly denominated in
foreign currencies.

Operational overview
Market overview

9,5 million capable subscribers were recorded in
the Group's operations, an increase of 429% for the year.

The MTN brand maintained its strong position and
remains one of the most well-recognised brands in all
the countries in which we operate. With the exception
of Rwanda and Swaziland, where MTN is the sole
mobile telephony provider, the Group has experienced
higher levels of competition in all markets.

The robust South African market demonstrated a
higher demand for mobile telephony than previously
projected. As a result, 2004 has been a record year for
MTN South Africa, which signed up an additional net
1,5 million subscripers 1o reach a total subscriber base
of 6,3 million, up 33% on last year. Market share at year-
end stabilised at 38%. Going forward, we expect further
increases in penetration levels based on the current
estimated addressable market of same 23 million
subscribers.

MTN Nigeria reported strong growth in its subscriber
base, despite the challenges it faced during the year.
Limited transmission backbone and satellite capacity,
together with intermittent power supplies, necessi-
tated the construction of its own transmission
backbone and power supply infrastructure, both of
which are critical to the roll out of a quality GSM
service. Meeting the needs of the market remains a
challenge, as the overwhelming demand last year
exceeded the pace of the accelerated network roll-out,
resulting in the suspension of subscriber sign-ups for
almost five months. The market has also grown from
two to four participants. At the end of March 2004
MTN Nigeria reported a subscriber base of 2 million, a
growth of 90% year an year, resulting in mobile market
share of close 10 50%.

The pleasing performance of MTN Cameroon points
towards a sustained turmn-around of this operation, as a
result of strong management. Operating in a highly
competitive environment, the company reported a
market share of 52% and a subscriber base of 581 000,
which represents 35% growth year on year.
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MTN Uganda, despite strong competition on tariffs,
reported a mobile subscriber base of 495 000 and
growth of 36% year on year. Mobile market share
remains steady at 66%.

MTN Rwanda achieved a subscriber base of 146 000,
and growth of 39% year on year, MTN Swaziland
reported 85 000 subscribers, an increase of 25% for
the year.

Strategic investments and expansion
The Strategic Investments division, although small in
revenue contribution, remains critical to the Group's
future strategy.

Research and development activities are housed in
Airborn, whose current objectives include finding new
business models that can become significant value-
contributors for the Group, prioritising models for
focused research, as well as ensuring that adopted
projects remain relevant and well co-ordinated within
the Group.

As a result of its interest in MTN Network Solutions,
the Group is well positioned to take advantage of
convergence between voice and data technologies.

Expansion into new geographic markets is also
driven by the Strategic Investrments division. At

the beginning of the reporting period, the Group
completed an in-depth evaluation of mobile growth
opportunities globaily and identified the Middle
Eastern and North African regions as natural
extensions of MTN’s current geagraphic footprint,
in addition to the pursuit of strategically important
opportunities in sub-Saharan Africa. While several
expansion opportunities have been pursued during
the year, through greenfield licence bids and’
attempted mergers and acquisitions, none of the
potential opportunities came to fruition.

Human resources

The Group today employs a total of 4 598 permanent
staff, of which 2 286 are based in South Africa, 1 436 in
Nigeria and 876 in the other operations. As the Group
continues to grow rapidly, both in terms of the scale
of existing operations and potential future licence
acquisitions, the building of leadership capability to
deliver competitive advantage is a primary focus.

To this end, the Group has increased its pool of
potential leaders by developing a succession strategy
and implementing succession forums across all
operating units.
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This approach is enabling the Group to enlarge its The Group will also continue to target cost efficiencies

talent pool and align resources closer with strategic with a view 1o further expanding its margins, especially

objectives. Internal mentors and coaches are being in the South African market where the overall margin

deployed ta guide and spansar the emerging talent lags international benchmarks.

pocl, as part of succession planning. This investment in

peaple-development will better equip the Group to A key challenge lies in accelerating the Nigerian

deploy people rapidly through our various operations. network rofl-out. Several initiatives ranging from

logistics, clearance of goods 1o additional build-out
teams, are already under way to enable MTN Nigeria
to meet customer demand, improve network quality
as well as maintain brand and market leadership in an
increasingly competitive environment,

Agreements have been entered into with global
partners 1o source top talent for existing and new
operations. The Group has also participated in
programmes on four different continents, aimed at
connecting companies with top talent. This worldwide
partnership approach has increased MTN's giobal tatent
pool, and paved the way for the repatriation of many
skilled African professionals that were based abraad.

The Group's expansion is currently constiained by the
limited size and growth potential of the remaining
mobile markets in sub-Saharan Africa. As a result, we
will continue to pursue value-enhancing opportunities
for geographic expansion during 2005.In addition, we
will continue to identify opportunities for leveraging

After the reporting period, Sifiso Dabengwa was
deployed 10 becorne CEO of MTN Nigeria, effective
1 Auguist 2004. He will retain his position as Chief

Operating Officer of the Graup. our infrastructure and developing new and
complermentary revenue streams by expanding and

Social investment enhancing services to existing subscribers,

Qver the reporting period, the MTN Group spent

R58,8 million on social investment, The social Over the year, the MTN Group has established a

investment needs in each country are extensive and strong leadership tearn at executive level, supported by

the Group wilt continue to focus on four key areas - competent staff across all operations and guided by the

education, arts, culture and heritage, science and Board of Directors, | would like to express my sincere

technalogy, and HIV/AIDS. thanks to all directors and staff for their commitment and

support during the year,and | trust that their efforts will
H elevate the Group 1o new heights in the coming year.
Looking ahead P ° 9y
On the operational side, customer-centricity will
remain a key area of focus across all operations in the
immediate future, with the aim of improving customer Phuthuma Nhleko
service and driving brand leadership. Group Chief Executive Officer
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Group Finance Director’s report
For the year ended 31 March 2004

MTN Group recorded another strong
financial performance for the year ended
31 March 2004 with al! operations
profitable at the PAT level and generating
positive free cash flows, and MTN
International increasing its contribution
to the Group’s results.

RD Nisbet Group Finance Director
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Overview

MTN Group recorded another strong financial
performance for the year ended 31 March 2004,
reporting consolidated revenues of R23,9 biflion, up 23%
year-on-year,and adjusted headline earnings per share
of 253,1 cents, an increase of 77%.The Group's total asset
base at 31 March 2004 was R32,0 billion, an increase of
14%, while its net debt/equity has turned negative (as a
result of cash on hand exceeding borrowings).

Since taking control of 100% of MTN Holdings in 2000
and therefore cansolidating its results in full, MTN
Group has lifted revenues by 297%, driven by sustained
subscriber growth in the South African market, as well
as by the Group’s aggressive expansion strategy inta
the rest of Africa.

The inftial diversification objectives set at the outset of
the expansion strategy have been achieved, with MTN
International now contributing 36% of revenue, 50% of
EBITDA and 52% of MTN Group's profit after tax for the
year (prior 1o goodwill amortisation). However, 1©
maintain these levels of growth into the future from a
larger base, and balance the exposure 10 South Africa
and Nigeria, the Group continues to look for new
growth opportunities, both organic and otharwise.
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Macroeconomic environment

The prevaifing economic environment in the various
markets in which the Group operates was broadly
favourable during the year. Interest rates maintained a
gradual downward trend which, coupled with relative
US dollar weakness, reduced the Group's debt-servidng
costs and foreign exchange exposure and improved
the case for capital investment, a fundamental pre-
requisite t©0 MTN Group's expansion strategy.

The strengthening of the rand against the US dollar
and the functional currencies of the various
intermational operations had a significant impact on
the Group's income statement and balance sheet
during the year.

Table 1 illustrates the substantial appreciation in the
closing and average exchange rates between the
rand and the functional currencies of the Group’s
international operations.

These foreign exchange movermnents had a significant
effect on the results of the Group's operations
expressed in rand, which must be taken into account
when analysing the Group's financial performance
from 2003 to 2004,
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Average exchange rates Closing exchange rates
| —— e
i 2004 ‘ 2003 % change ; 2004 | 2003 % change
Rand per dollar “ 7,14 \ 9,70 % 630 7,89 20
NGN per rand ! 18,38 1361 35 i 21,21 | 16,14 3
CFA per rand | 8061 | 67.76 1 8636 76.72 13
UGS per rand \ 277,87 | 19734 41 304,32 ' 249,68 22
RWF per rand 80,29 \ 53,50 50 | 93,82 \‘ 65,97 42

Table 1: Exchange rates

income statement
Revenues

The increase in Group revenues of 23% was
underpinned by sustained high growth levels in MTN
South Africa of 23% year on year 1o R15,1 billion, and
30% in MTN Nigeria to R7,0 billion, which together
accounted for 99% of the total increase in Group
revenues. In line with the prior year, MTN International
accounted for 36% of revenues.

In general, mobile operations’ revenue growth has
been driven by healthy subscriber acquisition in all
operations including markets previously regarded as
relatively mature, such as South Africa which
achieved record gross and net connections during
the year.In line with the natural evolution of mobile
telephony, the Group's younger operations have
experienced price reductions in real terms, but the

effact on revenues has been offset by volume
increases.

As indicated in Table 2, all operations recorded
satisfactory revenue increases in local currency terms,
hawever, on consolidation into MTN International this
growth has been diluted by the strengthening of the
rand.For example, in naira terms MTN Nigeria grew
revenues by 83% against the prior year, which
translated to a 30% increase on conversion into rand.
Theoretically, had the naira remained constant against
the rand, this would have amounted to an additional
R2,8 billion in revenues for the Group. Similarly,
although MTN Uganda and MTN Rwanda experienced
significant revenue growth in their local currencies, this
translated into negative growth in rand terms. It should
be noted that the inflation rates and interest rates are
higher in these countries than in South Africa, and
therefore some depreciation of their currencies against
the rand is expected.

Revenue 2004 ‘ 2003 % change % change % of total
for the year ended 31 March Rm J Rm rand local currency 2004
South Africa®* 15098 ‘ 12 298 23 23 63
International 8 687 ‘ 6972 25 - 36
Nigeria 6973 | 5361 30 83 29
Cameraon 1069 | 874 22 0 4
Uganda 477 | 585 (19) 20 2
Rwanda 83 87 (5) 33 *
Swaziland 70 58 21 21 *
Mauritius/International 15 | 7 114 - *
Other 86 | 135 (36) (36) *
Total 23871 i 19 405 23 - 100

»

Less than one percent
** Including MTN Network Solutions

Table 2: Analysis of revenue
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MTN South Africa posted revenues of R15,1 billion, up
23% against the prior year. The inCrease was primarily
attributable 1o record growth in the subscriber base
during the year, coupled with slight tariff increases.
Pre-paid and post-paid airtime revenues, excluding
interconnect, increased by 49% and 24% respectively.
Revenue, excluding handset sales, grew by 24% to
R13,3 billion for the year, 65% of which was derived
from airtime and subscriptions, the balance being
interconnect (29%) and minor revenue streams. The
composition of revenue has not changed significantly
from the prior year, although data and SMS revenue as
a percentage of total revenue excluding handsets has
increased fram 4% to 5%. Handset revenues were
boosted by connection volumes, but offset by the
impact of lower pricing due to the strong rand. Net
interconnect as a percentage of (non-handset)
revenue declined to 12%, from 15% in the prior year,
partly due to the shifting interconnect traffic patterns
towards other mobile networks which have higher
termination charges.

IMTN Nigeria continues to experience unprecedented
demand for its services, recording revenues of

R7,0 billion, up 30% in rand terms against the prior
year. This growth was achieved in the context of
connections having to be restricted for several months
due to capacity constraints, The major components of
MTN Nigeria's revenue are airtime and subscriptions
(74%), interconnect (13%) and connection fees (8%).
Alrtime and subscriptions increased as a proportion
of total revenue year-on-year, as a result of sustained
high levels of usage by the rapidly expanding
subscriber base. The percentage of total revenue
derived from connection fees, handsets and other
services decreased accordingly, further aided by the
reduction in connection fees per subscriber during
the year.

Revenue in MTN Cameroon comprises airtime and
subscriptions (78%), interconnect (16%}, and handset
and other revenues (6%). Airtime as a percentage of
total revenue increased by 29% compared to the
previous year, while interconnect decreased by a
similar percentage.
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The amounts in respect of MTN Uganda, MTN
Rwanda and MTN Swaziland represent only the
Group's share of revenue for the respective entities as
they are proportionately consolidated. The revenue
mix in all of these operations reflects a reduction in
the proportion of subscription fees due to decreases
in pre-paid access fees during the year.

EBITDA

MTN Group lifted EBITDA by 44% to R9,0 billion,

of which 50% was generated from international
operations, up from 46% in the prior year. The Group's
EBITDA margin improved to 38% from 32% as a result
of the higher contribution from MTN International,
coupled with the improvement in MTN South Africa’s
EBITDA margin. EBITDA growth rates exceeded
revenue growth rates in all operations except Rwanda,
reflecting sustained potential for profitable growth
across the Group.

The EBITODA margin for MTN South Africa has
increased from 27,6% 10 30.1% (excluding MTN
Network Solutions and head office functions) owing
primarily to significant operating cost savings, coupled
with strong revenue generation. Increased connection
incentives and discounts to the distribution channel,
and a decrease in net interconnect revenue have,
however, continued to exert pressure on margins.

EBITDA for MTN Nigeria increased by 70% to

R3,6 billion, with the EBITDA margin increasing to 51%
from 39%, MTN Nigeria's profitability was boosted by
strong revenue growth as a result of pent-up demand.

The EBITDA margin for MTN Cameroon increased
from 34% 1o 42%, through a combination of sustained
revenue growth in a highly-competitive market, and
tight cost control. The recoverability of interconnect
debtors remains a chaflenge in this market, however,
during the year US$10 million of long-outstanding
balances was received.

The EBITDA margins in MTN Uganda and MTN
Swaziland have improved slightly from the prior year
as a result of effective cost controls and good revenue
growth.
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| 1 | 2004 | 2003
| \, %change | EBITDA | EBITDA
! ‘ 9 ‘
EBITDA and EBITDA margin 2004 1 2003 %change local | margin margin
for the year ended 31 March Rm | Rm rand currency | % [ %
South Africa* | 4514 3389 33 33 < 29,9 [ 276
International I 4481 2842 57 - - | -
Nigeria 3557 2088 70 i35 | 51,0 | 389
Cameroon 450 297 52 n ol e ! 3490
Uganda 236 277 (15) 24 | a5 ( 474
Rwanda 37| 40 8 5 446 | 460
Swaziland 32 | 26 23 23 J 45,7 | 4438
Mauritius/international 149 114 31 - - -
; t
Other 8 (14) - - 9,3 | (104)
Total | 8983 6217 44 -1 376 320

* Including MTN Network Solutions

Table 3: Analysis of EBITDA

Net finance costs

EBITDA to met interest cover improved significantly from
7.5 times in 2003 to 14,9 times in 2004, due to both an
increase in EBITDA and a decrease in net finance costs.

Net finance costs decreased by 27% to R604 million,
against R828 million in the previous year.This was due
to a variety of factors, including a reduction in exchange
losses to R224 million from R325 million, given the
relative strength of the Group's major functional
currencies against the US dollar, relatively low interest
rates and reduced net debt levels.

Finance costs in MTN South Africa decreased by
R125 million as most of its long-term debt was repaid
in the previous year, :

Although finance costs in MTN Nigeria increased in
line with the higher debt levels, the impact on
consalidation was offset by the strengthening of the
rand against the naira and dollar.

Included in Group net finance costs is an amount of
R72 million relating to unrealised foreign exchange
losses on the sinking fund policy taken out by MTN
International.

Taxation

The Group's effective tax rate of 18,3%, excluding
goodwill amortisation charges, is slightly below the
prior year's effective rate of 19,6%.

MTN Nigeria is currently in the second year of a five-year
tax hofiday. This has resuited in no corporate tax being
payable by MTN Nigeria as well as a deferred tax asset
of R226 miillion for the current financial year. MTN
Cameroon received tax credits of US$16 million as

part of an investment incentive scherme, of which

US$8 million were utilised during the year, effectively
eliminating its corporate tax liability.

The Group's offshore holding company, MTN Mauritius,
has been classified as South African resident for tax
purposes. As a result, tax provisians have been rajsed
to cater for a number of tax liabilities which could

not be finally resolved until the tax residence was
determined by SARS. The total tax expense in MTN
Mauritius for the year amounted to US$36 million,
which translated to R257 miltion.

MTN Businass Repart 2004
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Adjusted headline earnings

Adjusted headline EPS increased by 77% ta

253,1 cents. MTN South Africa contributed 1358 cents,
a 50% increase on last year, while MTN International
again increased its contribution to 117,3 cents
compared with 54,4 cents last year. Table 4 reflects
the headline earnings per share contribution

by operation.

Last year, the Board resolved to report adjusted
headline earnings {excluding the net impact of the
deferred tax asset in MTN Nigeria) in addition

to basic headline earnings, which it believed did not
adequately reflect the Group's underlying economic
performance, given the inherent uncertainties over

Group Finance Director’s report continued

the valuation of a deferred tax asset to be realised 50
far into the future.

Balance sheet

Although the total assets of the Group increased by
R3,8 billion, the strengthening of the rand against the
functional currencies of the international operations
by between 13% and 42%, significantly reduced their
assets and liabilities on consolidation.

Table § analyses the propaortion of the Graup's balance
sheet derived from MTN International. As a result of the
impact of exchange rate fluctuations on consolidation,
the Group's foreign currency translation reserve has
decreased by R988 million,

Adjusted headline earnings per share 2004 2003

for the year ended 31 March Cents | Cents % change
Wireless operations 253,2 145,1 74
South Africa 1359 50
Nigeria 112,4 103
Cameroon 10,7 118
Uganda 6,4 ©)
Rwanda 1,0 07
Swaziland 11 s7
Mauritius/International (14,3) 3
Other operations (0,1} l (1,8} n/a
Total 2531 | 143,3 77

Table 4: Analysis of headline EPS
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* Total J South Inter- Total

Balance sheet analysis 2004 Africa national 2003

as at 31 March ! Rm | R Rm Rm 9% change
Non-current assets ; 23 357 14649 8 708 22854 2
Intangible assets (including !

goodwill) 11399 | 9794 1605 12 561 ©)
Tangible and other 11958 ! 4855 7103 10293 16
Current assets 8643 J 4674 3969 5303 63
Bank balances and security ‘

cash deposits 5336 ‘\ 2323 3013 2137 150
Other current assets 3307 | 2351 956 3166 4
Total assets l 32000 1 19323 12677 28157 14
Capital, reserves and } [

minority interests | 21266 | 15010 6 256 17938 19
Non-current liabilities ( 4376 | 911 3465 4056 8
Interest-bearing 3710 ! 332 3378 3249 14
Other 666 | 579 87 807 (17
Current liabilities } 6358 ! 3402 2956 6163 3
Interest-bearing 439 118 321 1600 (73)
Other 5919 | 3284 2635 4563 30
Total equity and liabilities I 32000 | 19323 12677 28157 14

Table 5: Balance sheet analysis

Non-current assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of goodwill and
telecommunication licence fees capitalised. No
significant additions occurred in either category. The
decrease in intangible assets is due to amortisation as
well as the appreciation of the rand which had an
impact of approximately R445 million.

Tangible assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment. Capital expenditure in this regard is
detailed in Table 6.R1.2 billion of the movement year-
on-year is attributable to exchange rate fluctuations.
MTN Nigeria accounts for 67% of the Group's capital
expenditure, which is lower than the anticipated
capital commitments, primarily because of the
strengthening of the rand.

MTN Nigeria's capital expenditure was boosted by the
fact that during the last two months of the financial
year, a significant amount of fixed assets, which had
been held up in the supply chain because of logistical
difficulties, was released. This equipment had not been
commissioned at year-end, resulting in an additional
R1.1 billion in capital work-in-progress.

During the year, the useful life of certain network
equipment in MTN Nigeria was reduced as a result
of higher wear and tear being experienced in the
Nigerian environment.This resulted in additional
depreciation of R190 million during the year.
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Group Finance Director’s report continued

{ [ Capital
) ! commit-
Capital expenditure \ ments
(tangible assets only) 2004 2003 2005
for the year ended 31 March Rm Rm % change Rm % of total
Wireless operations | 5045 | 4234 19 9502 100
South Africa 1070 1004 7 2081 22
Nigeria 3403 2590 3 7052 74
Carneroon 410 436 6) 202 2
Uganda 129 165 22 124 1
Rwanda 22 2 (15} 24 *
Swaziland 1" 12 8) 19 *
Mauritius/international [ - 1 n/a - -
i
Other operations ‘v 3 1 n/a - -
Total ‘ 5048 | 4235 19 9502 100

* Less than one percent

Table 6: Analysis of capital expenditure

Included in other non-current assets is the deferred
tax asset of R303 million relating to timing differences
in MTN Nigeria, which are expected to reverse after
the five-year Nigerian tax holiday expires. Also included
is an investment of R302 million relating to the sinking
fund policy taken out as an indirect hedge against the
US dollar-denominated debt in MTN Mauritius,

Current assets

The increase in current assets was primarily driven by
the significant increase in cash on hand. MTN South
Africa’s cash balance increased from R623 million to
R2,3 billion. In MTN Nigeria, cash on hand at year-end
was R2,1 billion, compared to R901 million in the prior
year. This balance includes R1,7 billion of cash
collateralised against letters of credit.

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings for international operations
increased by R848 million. The increase in the
borrowing of underlying operations was even greater,
however, the effect on the Group balance sheet was
offset to an extent by the appreciation of the rand.
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MTN South Africa has used excess cash to repay
approximately R387 million of long-term loans.

The fong-term borrawings of MTN Nigeria increased
significantly as project funding of the equivalent of
US$345 million was raised, of which US$250 million is
naira-denominated. US$300 million of this facility was
drawn-down at year-end. The funding was partially
used 1o repay the short-term commercial paper facility
in place at the end of the previous financial year,

The Group is in a net cash position of R1,2 billion from
a net debt position of R2,7 billion in 2003. This includes
long-term borrowings of R3,7 billion, short-term
borrowings of R334 million and bank overdrafts of
R105 million, offset by cash of R5,3 billion including
securitised cash deposits of R1,7 billion. Also included
in borrowings is a finance lease liability of R314 million.

The Group's gearing ratio, being interest-bearing net
debt as a percentage of total equity adjusted far
capitalised goodwill, decreased significantly to {10%)
from 35% at the end of the previous year.




Cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities increased

by 59% to R8,6 billion during the current year

Cash from operations generated by MTN South
Africa was very positive during the current year at
R4 billion. However, the strong growth and high
profitability of MTN Nigeria, and positive operating
cash flow contribution from all other international
operations, resulted in MTN International surpassing
MTN South Africa, in terms of operating cash flows,
for the first time,

As in 2003, the Group has generated positive free cash
flows after investing activities. This is the first financial
year in which the Group's international aperations
have shown positive free cash flow after investing
activities, despite the significant capital investments
made in those operations

Financing and group facilities
During November, MTN Nigeria raised US$345 million
for further network expansion. The facitity consists

of a naira-denominated US$250 million local facility
and a U5S55 million facility provided by several finance
institutions, including the IFC, German Investment and
Development Company and Netherlands
Development Finance Company,as well as a

US$40 million tranche arranged by Standard Corporate
and Merchant Bank, backed by the South African
Export Credit Agency ("ECICSA"). This was the first time
that ECICSA had invested into Nigeria, representing

a major vote of confidence in the sector and West
African region. In addition, the IFC also provided 2
stand-by facility of US$50 million to cover roll-over risk,

The Group’s offshore borrowings in MTN Mauritius were
USS160 million at 31 March 2004. This debt is partly
hedged by a sinking fund policy of US$47 million and
cash on deposit of US$108 mitlion.

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitrnents for the next financial
year are outlined in table 6. The Group conginuously
monitors capital expenditure 1o ensure it is matched 1o
market requirements and within the financial capacity
of the Group. As in the current year, the majority of
capital commitments for the next financial year relate
to MTN Nigeria. Our experience continues to
demonstrate that Nigeria has structurally higher

costs of rolling-out the GSM network than those
experienced in South Africa, primarily as a result of

the need for significant investment into ancillary
infrastructure such as transmission, power supply and
other facilities as well as high import duties.

1 Total ‘[ Total
Cash flow analysis ] 2004 | South Africa International 2003
for the year ended 31 March l Rm [ Rm Rm Rm % change
Cash inflows from operating |
activities 8597 | 4010 4587 5393 59
Cash outflows from investing |
activities l 4 898)i (1051) (3847) (4 391) 12
Cash in/(out) flows from | |
financing activities ‘\ 233 i (1173 1406 187 25
Net movement in cash and ! ;
cash equivalents | 3932 1786 2146 1189 231

Table 7: Analysis of cash flows
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Group Finance Director’s report continued

Itis expected that these commitments will be funded
through strong cash flows from current operations as
well as from additional borrowing facilities, where
necessary,

Changes in shareholding

In line with its stated intention of introducing strategic
shareholders into MTN Nigeria, during the year MTN
Group disposed of 4,5% of the equity of the Nigerian
operation in various tranches, reducing its effective
interest 10 75% ai year-end, 3% of this was sald to

the IFC as part of the medium term financing
arrangement, and the balance 1o the Group's local
partners in MTN Nigeria. MTN Group realised a net
Ioss of R72 million on the transaction

MTN Group also increased its stake in MTN Rwanda
during the year, bringing its effective interest to 40%.

Accounting policies

The Group adopted AC133 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” (equivalent of {AS39)
during the year.The MTN Share Incentive Scheme
and the MTN Group Share Option Scheme, were

also consolidated for the first time, and the prior year
comparatives restated accordingty. Both of these had
a relatively minor effect on the opening reserves and
income statement for the year.

MTN Group's current accounting policy is not to

expense share options through the income statement.

In assessing the impact of the new international
accounting standard IFRS2 "Share based payments”
an the Group's results, transitional provisions indicate
that the standard is only applicable to share options
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granted after 7 Novernber 2002, which had not vested
at the effective date (1 January 2005). The majority of
MTN Group share options currently in existence fall
outside these criteria. However, the impact of
expensing the most recent issue of options under the
MTN Group Share Option Scheme (2 683 800 options
at R27,00 each issued on 1 December 2003) on the
results for the year ended 31 March 2004 is estimated
to be an expense of approximately R3 million.

Conclusion

The Group's performance over the past financial

year was pleasing, with the profitability of all
aperations increasing. MTN Nigeria continues to
surpass initial expectations from a financial
perspective, notwithstanding the substantial
operational challenges it faces in realising its

full potential, All operations generated positive free
cash flows in excess of their capital expenditure
requirements, enabling the Group to resume payment
of dividends.

The Group's gearing level at 31 March 2004 was well
below its stated target of 30% - 40%. This strong
balance sheet positions the Group well 10 actively
pursue and take advantage of viable expansion
opportunities.

Robert Nisbet
Group Finance Director
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MTN South Africa

Average MOU trend Company overview

inut
(minutes) MTN South Africa, one of three South African cellular

operators, has successfully established a reputation
for network excellence and high service quality.

1221

MTN South Africa entered the cellular areria in June
1994 as the second licensed mobile operator. The
continued deployment of competitive, innovative

and affordable telecommunications services has
contributed to sustained growth of MTN South Africa’s
subscriber base beyond expectations, As of the end
March 2004, MTN South Africa had attracted a
subscriber base of 6,3 million subscribers representing
00 01 02 03 04 a growth of 33% on the pravious year.
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One of MTN South Africa’s most passionately pursued

goals is making telecommunications accessible to the
Blended ARPU trend wider population ~ the MTN pre-paid mobile package
{rand) "Pay as You Go” helps 10 achieve this goal. Recently a
subscriber reward element further enhanced the
product, another first in the South African cellular
market from MTN.

J 302

MTN South Africa acquired an additional 4% stake in
Leaf during the year. Leaf is MTN's strategic partner
providing platforms for data services, the MTNICE
portal and generates opportunities for MTN to be
leader in the provision of data services.
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During the year under review, MTN South Africa
appointed two senior executives in marketing and

00 01 02 03 04 finance. In addition, the current Managing Director was
appointed to the Group as Chief Operating Officer.

_ . Network infrastructure
Cumulative capex per subscriber

rand) as ar 31 March MTN South Africa continues to invest in its
infrastructure and to date has invested R9,5 billion.This
year, a total of R1,1 billion has been invested primarily
in the network 1o cater for increased sutiscribers and
traffic volumes. An additional 161 base stations were
integrated into the network resulting in the total
number of sites reaching 4 245 by year-end.

j2336
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Currently, MTN South Africa’s network covers a
geographic area of over 1 million square

kilometres, equating to a total of 75% land coverage,
covering an estimated 96% of the population and
19 200 kilometres of national highway; connecting
00 o1 02 03 04 all major towns and cities.
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Subscriber base
(000)
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The growth in subscribers was obtained without
compromising quality of services. Network
management procedures including software have
been developed that allow MTN South Africa to
maintain service levels in the top bracket of
international GSM operators.

Marketing

Brand affinity and awareness measured 78,5% and 99%
respectively for the year.

The contract base at 31 March 2004 of 1,2 million
subscribers and the pre-paid subscriber base of

5,1 million have increased by 20% and 36% respectively
year on year. No significant changes occurred in the
overall composition of the subscriber base with pre-
paid subscribers representing 81% at March 2004.

Blended ARPU of R203 per month was recorded for
the current year compared to R206 in the prior year.
ARPU for the year was R597 on post-paid and R104 for
pre-paid. The reduction in blended ARPU was mainly
due to the decrease in MOU.

Products and services

Improved economic conditions, together with low
interest rates, led to an increase in consumers'
disposable income and as expected, the mobile
market has benefited, especially pre-paid where
1.3 million net connections were recorded during
the year.

Financials 2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 15098 12298
EBITDA 4514 3389
PAT 2245 1490
Market information
Population 45,7 million
Mobile penetration 36%
Market share 38%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix (%) 81/19

Note: financial data reflects 100% of the operation

MTN South Africa’s advertising brand campaign reflected MTN's
personalised approach 1o its subscribers, including soul, warmth
and a distinctly South African spirit. The commercial was
entitled Taxi.

MTN Business Report 2004
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As part of the ongoing focus on praduct development,
the innovative MyChoice tariff plans were launched
during the year. This constitutes a major shift from

the minute bundles, that have dominated the post-
paid market for most of the 10-year life of the South
African cellular industry, to value-based bundles. in
addition, MyChoice TopUp is a hybrid product which
allows contract subscribers 1o top-up with pre-paid
airime.

Distribution

Distribution remains a key criteria for the continued
success of the South African operation. During 2004,
existing channels were consolidated and new
channels were established, particularly for the mass-
market pre-paid products. MTN South Africa’s
distribution model had evolved into the following by
the end of the year:

« Approximately 15 chain store retailers, with points of
presence in more than 4 000 outlets countrywide, the
main channel for pre-paid handset connections.

- Approximately 80 specialist outlets, made up primarily
of franchise stores and independent dealers, the
main channel for post-paid connections.

- Approximately 20 wholesalers, whose main focus is
the distribution of pre-paid airtime.

+Twelve owned service centres which are one-stop
shops for the distribution of all MTN products.

+ Direct call centre, used primarily for the connection
of low-end post-paid subscribers.

- Direct (corporate) sales force in regional offices across
the country.

MTN South Africa continued

Customer satisfaction

MTN South Africa continued to strive for improvements
in custormer satisfaction. A customer management
framework was implemented ta focus alt staff and
organisational activities on the customer. Steady
improvements in customer satisfaction have already
been noted through the Customer Satisfaction index.

Competition

South Africa is a highly competitive three-player market.
MTN's market share has remained steady at 38%.

Regulatory environment

The regulatory environment in South Affica is considered
stable. MTN continued to engage and participate in
ICASA sponsored industry initiatives focusing on
improving access to telecommunications services.

The Department of Communications and ICASA
are in negotiations with operators regarding the
implementation of the conditions under which the
1800 MHz spectrum is to be allocated. It has been
confirmed that the negotiations on the 1 800 MHz
spectrum will include 3G.

Number portability is scheduled 1o be introduced by
2005.In addition, a convergence bill is being drafted
which may have an impact on the telecommunication
environment in South Africa. MTN is however, actively
involved with the stakehalder participation processes
in this regard.

MTN Service Centre, Rivonia, Johannesburg, South Africa.
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MTN Nigeria | |

Com pany overview GSM penetration of

In February 2001, MTN successfully secured a GSM population

licence for a fee of U5$285 million. In May 2001, just *)

three months after signing the licence, MTN Nigeria

completed the first test call. MTN commenced

commercial operations in Nigeria in August 2001,

beginning with three cities, Lagos, Abuja and Port

Harcourt. The Company's digital microwave 3

transmission backbone, Y'elloBahn, was commissioned >

in January 2003, As at March 2004, MTN Nigeria covers h

over 82 cities and towns, has achieved a subscriber §

base of 2 million - growth of 90% this year - and a 3

mobile market share of close to 50%. j i i
02

JB’,I%

During the review period, MTN Mauritius disposed of 03 04

3% of its 79,5% shareholding in MTN Nigeria to the IFC.
This gives MTN Nigeria an international affiliate of the
Waorld Bank as a shareholder. n addition, MTN Mauritius
disposed of 1,5% of its shareholding in MTN Nigeria to
existing local shareholders. The current ownership ARPU trend
structure for MTN Nigeria is MTN Mauritius 75%, local (Uss)
partners 229 and the IFC 3%.

8 N
Network infrastructure ) -2
MTN Nigeria's GSM network coverage extends to ]
approximately 43% of the population, while
geographic coverage has reached 165 759 km*.
As at 31 March 2004, the network was serviced by
16 mobile switches, housed in seven switching
centres, with an additional five centres under
construction. At 31 March 2004, 839 base stations
had been deployed across the country.

E

|
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|
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Building the GSM network in Nigeria has presented 02 03 04

MTN with a number of unique challenges, including

the construction of a nationwide transmission Cumulative capex
infrastructure as well as a national electric (USS miftion)

power system.

‘ 972

In the absence of sufficient transmission capacity
in Nigeria, MTN embarked on the construction of
a microwave transmission backbone at a cost of
US5$120 million.When the original Y'elloBahn ©
backbone was commissioned in January 2003, it S
comprised 3 400 km of STM-1 capacity digital r—
transmission microwave, It soon became apparent ©
that capacity would be insufficient. Y'elloBahn phase = :
two commenced in July 2003, aimed at quadrupling r« i ; L
the most heavily-congested links such as Lagos-Ibadan ‘__J \__J

02

and Port Harcourt-Onitsha. 03 04
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MTN Nigeria continued

Subscriber base
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Due to the unreliable power supply in Nigeria, MTN
was compelled 1o construct its own power system,
YelloWatts, to keep the entire MTN network at peak
performance 24 hours per day, 365 days a year. Each
base station is constructed with twin generators and
a large diesel tank. Expensive power management
electronics are installed at every site to provide clean
electricity and protection for the highly sensitive base
station circuitry.

To-date, MTN Nigeria has invested a total of US$972
million in infrastructure roll-out,

Financials 2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 6973 5361
EBITDA 3557 2088
PAT* 2366 1146
Market information
Population 130 million
Mobile penetration 3,1%
Mobile market share 48%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix (%) 97/3

Note: financial data reflects 100% of the operation

* Excluding deferred rax asser

At year-end US$172 million of infrastructure had been
purchased for commissioning in the next financial year

Marketing

MTN Nigeria's top-of-mind brand awareness remains
consistently high at 71%. For the past two years, it has
been recognised as the top brand in the country.

The market size in Nigeria is expected to increase
significantly over the next year due to increasing
competition in a four-player market. Deeper

Friendship Centre in Lagos, Nigeria.
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penetration of the addressable market is expected
to occur during the next financial year.

In line with industry trends, ARPU declined from
US$S7 during 2003 to US$51 during 2004
Approximately half of the decrease was due to
exchange rate fluctuation and the remainder to a
reduction in tariffs as well as penetration into lower
usage subscriber segments,

Products and services

As the ever-demanding Nigerian market grows,
MTN Nigeria has met the challenge by introducing a
number of tailored products and tariff structures for
the market.

MTN Flexi enables subscribers to enjoy lower tariffs,
the mare talk time they accumulate monthly, A per-
second billing option was introduced on all MTN
Nigeria's products where subscribers who select this
option enjoy a flat tariff of 80 kobo per second. MTN
also introduced a N750 recharge card to meet the
requirements of lower-ncome users and a virtual
booster service, which halves the pre-paid tariff for a
month and can be loaded by subscribers using their
available credit. MTN Nigeria subscriber profile remains
predominantly pre-paid, making up 97% of the base
versus post-paid of 3%.

Distribution

MTN Nigeria works through 340 distributors, super
dealers and several sub-dealer tiers of distribution,
totalling more than 9 000 retail points of presence.
Channels are supported extensively by MTN sales and
distribution teams. The informal distribution level
consists of over 50 000 points nationwide.

A total of ten MTN-owned and operated friendship
centres have been commissioned to date, servicing
six main areas of regional operations (Lagos, Abuja,
Kano, Enugu, ibadan and Port Harcourt).

Competition

During the year, market share declined to just
below 50%. One reason for this was the introduction
of a fourth GSM operator, and the scaling up of

the state-owned operator, effectively changing the
market from two-player to a four-player market. In
addition MTN Nigeria held back the sale of pre-paid

N, ;_J

Former MTN Nigeria CEOQ Adrian Wood with his exec team, at a

new produc! announcement press conference.

starter packs, 1o ensure a high quality of service, for
20 weeks due to capacity constraints on the network.

Regulatory environment

MTN Nigeria's GSM licence was issued in January 2001
and is valid for a term of 15 years. Conditions allow
for MTN to implement a national GSM 900 MHz and

1 800 MHz network and operate an international
gateway. To-date, MTN Nigeria has been duly
cornpliant with all relevant licence conditions.

I line with the telecom legislation and relevant
licence conditions, MTN Nigeria has in place a uniform
and non-discriminatory interconnect regime with

21 other licensed operators, including the national
carrier, fixed operators and other mobile operators.

Funding

in November 2003, MTN Nigeria secured a rmedium-
term project finance facility of US5345 million to fund
further expansion of its infrastructure in the country.
An additional US$50 million standby facility has been
provided by the IFC.

MTN Business Report 2004
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MTN Cameroon

GSM penetration of population
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Company overview

In February 2000, MTN successfully bid against top
international operators for the privatisation of Camtel-
Mobilg, the first GSM operator on the African
continent, for a fee of approximately US$60 million.
The name of the operation was officially changed to
MTN Cameroon Limited at that time, Within five
months, MTN Cameroon upgraded the network to
triple its capacity and doubled its subscriber base, MTN
Cameroon exceeded its licence obligation to provide
a quality service in all administrative territories within
five years of operation and, as such, currently provides
coverage in all ten provinces. At the end of March
2004, MTN Cameroon reported a subscriber base of
581 000, growth of 35% in the year.

There has been no change for this reparting period
in MTN Cameroon’s shareholder structure (MTN
Mauritius 70% and Broadband Telecommunications
Limited 30%)

Network infrastructure

Since inception, MTN Cameroon has invested
US$165 million in infrastructure.

During the review period, MTN Cameroon invested
US$59 million. A modern switching centre was opened
in Douala, offering a state-of-the-art environment for
the core network. The addition of a new MSC and BSC
in Douala provides additional capacity and flexibility.
The implementation of a new pre-paid system offers
advanced services and flexibility. The completion of
the SDH backbone between Douala, Yaoundé and
Bafoussam added transmission capacity and route
diversity.

A total of 64 BTS sites were added, taking the total
number of base stations to 219.This increases the
coverage of the population from 55% last year to

65% this year

Marketing

Results of a survey on brand health show MTN
Cameroon holding its position as the premier
telecommunications brand in Cameroon. MTN has
maintained its leadership with 52% market share,
despite strong competition by the global
telecommunications operator, Orange.
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Financials 2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 1069 874
EBITDA 450 297
PAT 219 102
Market information
Population 16,6 million
Mobile penetration 6,7%
Mobile market share 52%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix (%) 98/2

Nore: finonciaf data reflects 100% of the operation

MTN Cameroon's subscriber profile remains pre-paid
98%, and 2% post-paid.

The ARPU in MTN Cameroon increased from

US$21 to US$24, primarily due to the strengthening
of the local currency (which is linked to the euro) to
the US dollar.

Products and services

MTN Cameroon prides itself on providing competitive
products and services. During the year a nurber of
successful promotions took place.

Distribution

MTN Cameroon has a total of seven service centres,
supported by 55 distribution outlets and over 10 000
points of presence countrywide.

Competition

The mobile communications sector in Cameroon is
currently a two-player market. No new entrants are
expected in the new financial year.

Regulatory environment

Operators are monitored by the ART, the Cameroon
regulatory authority. MTN Cameroon is compliant with
its main licence obligations,

MTN Cameroon billboard advertising.
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MTN Uganda
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Company overview

Less than six months after being licensed as the
country’s second national operator in 1998, MTN
Uganda launched a commercial mobile service

MTN Uganda’s product range extends beyond mobile
services, with its fixed wireless terminals and
broadband fibre technology being used by over half
of Uganda's largest corporations. Wireless locat loop is
offered to small ard medium businesses, providing
volice, fax and high-speed data services.

At the end of March 2004, MTN Uganda reported a
subscriber base of 495 000 mobile subscribers, growth
of 36% year on year,

MTN Uganda’s shareholder structure remains
unchanged (MTN Mauritius 52%, Telia 32%, Tri-Star
Investments S.ARL 13% and Invesco Uganda Ltd 3%).

Network infrastructure

To-date MTN Uganda has invested US$176 million in
both fixed and mobile network infrastructure,

This year, the total mobile switching centre capacity
was significantly upgraded to cater for growth, while
29 additional base stations were commissioned,
bringing its total to 257 base stations. This provides
approximately 70% population coverage and 35%
geographic coverage.

Development in MTN Uganda’s fixed-line infrastructure
has seen further expansion of the fibre-based access
network in Kampala, being supplemented with G5M
and WLL overlay. WLL was also extended to cover
Entebbe and Jinja.

The fixed-line service was upgraded and expanded
with the installation of a new fixed-line switch,
providing increased capacity and IN-based services.

Today, 400 km of underground fibre-optic cable exists
countrywide. MTN Uganda's transmission network
consists of both fibre-optic cable and SDH microwave
links.

Marketing

MTN Uganda remains the leading operator in Uganda.
Its mobile market share has been maintained at 66%.

Overall brand awareness remains at a very positive
98%, with a 75% top-of-mind mention as a total
telecornmunications provider,

MTN Uganda received the premier award in the ICT
sector as the most respected ICT company in the East
African region. MTN Uganda was also voted the third
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Financials 2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 917 1124
EBITDA 453 533
PAT 199 223
Market information
Population 24,5 million
Mobile penetration 31%
Mobile market share 66%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix (%) 98/2

Note: financial data reflects 100% of the operation

most respected company in the region, despite the
fact that it operates in just one East African country
and the operation is only five years old,

MTN Uganda's subscriber profile remains
predominantly pre-paid at 98% of the base, with post-
paid at 2%.

Blended ARPU in Uganda reduced from US528 to
US$22 per month.This decline was primarily
attributable to exchange rate fluctuations and
reductions in service fees, coupled with an
increase in excise duty on mobile services from
7% to 10%. ARPU is also expected to decline
gradually as low usage subscribers are continually
added to the base.

Products and services

Despite a strong competitive market, MTN Uganda
maintains its position as market leader with the
introduction of taflored products and value-added
services. This year, along with seasonal promotions,
MTN Uganda launched its pre-paid fixed-line service,
the MTN Business Solution Centre concept to better
address the corporate market, and the MTN
VillagePhone concept as a means of empowering
small-scale entrepreneurs in the public access
telecommunication segment.

Distribution

MTN Uganda continues to focus on expanding its
distribution network countrywide. At year-end,
approximately 1 300 distribution points existed,
excluding informal points of presence.

Competition

The current market consists of three players, two of
which are national fixed-line operators with a GSM
licence, and the third with a GSM licence only. No
new entrants are expected in the new financial year.

Regulatory environment

The Uganda Communications Commission has
indicated satisfaction with MTN Uganda’s fulfilment
of the minimum requirements under the SNQ licence,

Ugandans have access to quality telecommunications through
mobile, fixed lines and payphone services.

MTN Business Report 2004
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MTN Rwanda

GSM penetration of population
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Company overview

MTN Rwanda was awarded a national GSM licence in
April 1998, and was commercially operational by
Septernber 1998, During the year, the operation
reported growth of 39% in its subscriber base to

146 000, of which 40 000 were Supercell subscribers
who utilise MTN Rwanda's network in terms of a
network access agreement entered into between
MTN Rwanda and Supercell.

During the year, Rwandatel SA sold 18% of its stake
in equal proportions in the Company. Those shares
were acquired in equal proportions by the other
shareholders. The 10% shares still held by Rwandatel
SA may also be sold at a later stage. The current
shareholder structure is Tri-Star Investments 50%,
MTN Mauritius 40%, Rwandatel 10%

Network infrastructure

MTN Rwanda's infrastructure includes two mobile
switching centres and 77 base stations including the
roll-out of 16 base stations during 2004 servicing rural
areas. Today, its infrastructure provides geographic
coverage estimated at 60%. To-date MTN Rwanda

has invested US$39 million in infrastructure.

MTN Rwanda outlets are everywhere including petrol station
forecourts.
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Financials 2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 242 280
EBITDA 108 130
PAT 51 60
Market information
Population 8,7 million
Mobile penetration 1,2%
Mobile market share 100%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix (%) 98/2

Note: financial data reflects 100% of the operation
*Includes 40 000 Supercell subscribers (2003: 26 000)

Marketing

A recent survey showed that MTN Rwanda continues
to maintain its positian as the number one brand, with
a very high affinity in the country and 96% prompted
brand recognition. MTN Rwanda has 100% mobile
market share as it operates in an exclusive market its
subscriber profile remains predominantly pre-paid at
98% of the base, with post-paid at 2%. Mobile
population penetration at the end of March 2004

was 1,2%.

Products and services

MTN Rwanda continues to introduce innovative
products, such as international SMS and a 32K SIM
card which enables the provision of SMS information
services. This year saw the launch of 2 community
payphone, known as “Tuvugane|to develop
communication in rural communites. Through the
installation of PABX units, MTN Rwanda is also servicing
corporate and SME subscribers.

Distribution

MTN Rwanda’s distribution network continues to
grow. Countrywide, there are 970 distribution points,
including two MTN service centres. During the year,
the MTN franchise store concept was successfully
introduced.

MTN dealer in Rwanda.

Competition

The local public fixed-line telecommunication
operation is in the process of privatisation, which may
result in a second licence being issued.

Regulatory environment

MTN Rwanda is currently in full compliance with all
licence conditions.
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MTN Swazifand

GSM penetration of population Compa ny overview
%
* MTN joined forces with SPTC in July 1998 to operate

Swaziland's only national GSM licence. One month
< later, the first test call was made and by December
§ 1998, MTN Swaziland was commercially operational.
As at March 2004, MTN Swaziland reported 85 000
subscribers representing growth of 25% from the
prior year,

7,7%

‘ 1’ ] i MTN Swaziland boasts a staff complement of 100%
" ’ : P ! indigenous Swazis.

There has been no change to the MTN Swaziland
01 02 03 04 shareholder structure (MTN International 30%, SPTC
519% and Swazi Empowerment Limited 19%)

Network infrastructure

ARPU trend
A total of R226 million has been spent on
(Uss) . ) o
infrastructure to date. This year, an additional seven
3 base stations were rolled-out, giving a total of 66 base
[ stations across the country, National geographic
! I .
i ! coverage has increased from 75% to 78%, with
i
| i © - population coverage growing from 80% to 88%.
| [ N
. ] Marketing
i : 1 i
J I i MTN Swaziland’s brand remains consistently strong,
. I i reporting 98% brand awareness across the country.
| ; | ! ' MTN Swaziland has 100% market share for mabile
; | : | i telephony since it is operating in an exclusive market.
— S —_ However, its share of the tatal telecommunications
01 02 03 04 market has grown from approximately 66,6% last year
to some 71,0% at the end of March 2004.
Cumulative capex
(ZAR million)
el
N
~N
&
5 |
2 — | ‘
: | |
I
| ! ‘ i |
01 02 03 04 MTN Swaziland prides itself on excellent customer service.
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Financials 2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 233 194
EBITDA 107 85
PAT 53 39
Market information
Population 1,1 million
Mobite penetration 7.7%
Mobile market share 100%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix (%) 96/4

Note: financiat data reflects 100% of the operation

The increase in ARPU from US$21 to USS31 was mainly
due to the strengthening of the rand against the
US dollar.

Products and services

MTN Swaziland's subscriber profile remains primarily
pre-paid at 96% of the base with post-paid at 4%.

Products introduced in the year include SMS 1o e-mail,
"Who Called” whilst access fees were reduced from
E50 to E30 per month.

Distribution

MTN Swaziland's national distribution network ensures
a widespread presence and accessibility. It currently

has 279 distribution outlets nationally. In addition,
MTN Swaziland has two service centres, in the
major cities of Mbabane and Manzini, and five
franchise stores branded "Connect 5tores”in three
main towns.

Regulatory environment

There is no independent regulatory authority in
place The Ministry of Tourism, Environment

and Communications and SPTC currently act as
regulator. A new Telecommunications Act

will be tabled in parliament, approval of which
would lead to the establishment of an independent
regufator.

MTN service centre in Mbabane, Swaziland.
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Strategic Investments

Overview

MTN Group has identified growth as a key focus area,
and has invested significant effort and resources in
sustaining its growth record. To ensure appropriate
focus on this key issue, responsibility for identifying
and exploiting new growth opportunities has been
consolidated within Strategic Investments, its role
being expanded during the vear to include
international expansion.

Strategic Investments has pursued a muiti-pronged
approach, through amongst others, the investigation
of new business opportunities, the creation of

space and resources for new ventures 1o be incubated,
the management of non-mobile businesses in the
Group, support on key strategic initiatives, taking
responsibility for research and development across the
Group and driving initiatives to enhance innovation
across the Group.

Key growth initiatives

MTN continued to identify and pursue opportunities
for geographic expansion which had the patential to
create significant value for the Group.

During 2004, the Group has completed an in-depth
evaluation of global mobile growth opportunities.
Consequently,in addition to the continued pursuit
of strategic opportunities in sub-Saharan Africa, the
Group is expanding its focus 1o include North Africa
and the Middle East, being the natural extension of
MTN's current geographic footprint,

Another key focus area is the developrnent of maobile
payments and associated businesses in the financial
services arena.

In conjunction with other MTN divisions, Strategic
Investments continues to identify emerging
opportunities for leveraging MTN's infrastructure.

The Group’s investments in non-mobile ventures
{currently Orbicom, MTN Netwaork Solutions, Airborn
and NEFTO) are managed by Strategic Investments.

MTN Business Report 2004

Orbicom instailed the MTN Nigeria Asaba SES (*Satellite Earth

Station”) to provide backbone capacity for the GSM service in
Nigeria.

Group investments in non-

mobile ventures
Airborn
Airborn houses the Group's R&D activities,

The objectives of the current R&D effort have been
identified as finding new business models that can
become significant value contributors for MTN and
prioritise these for focused research, ensuring the
adopted projects are relevant and well co-ordinated
within the MTN Group.

In addition, Airborn is charged with the commercial
exploitation of existing technologies and intellectual
property. This encompasses advanced application
development, concept technology incubation,
business model incubation, and the exploration of
solutions that fall at the convergence point between
mobile technologies and the internet. The initiatives
currently under commercial incubation have shown
improvement in revenues over the year.

Airborn provides the Group with an environment that
allows entrepreneurial activities to develop, and
connects them to the Group's resources, knowledge
and strategic objectives, ensuring that innovation is
closely aligned to the Group's strategies. Airbarn aims
1o provide the platform for strategic growth outside
core activities that both revitalise and challenge the
status quo.




MTN Network Solutions

The MTN Group has a 60% equity stake in MTN Network
Solutions, which provides managed internet, VPN,
hosting and other services for the corporate market.

The Company achieved significantly improved sales
in a difficult market during the year, and surpassed

its targets for annuity revenue and EBITDA. Having
reached break-even in the 2003 financial year, MTN
Network Solutions continues to be cash positive and
is not expected to require additional funding from
shareholders, During the year, MTN Network Solutions
entered into various reseller agreements to extend its
reach, including Namibia, Port Elizabeth and Durban.
It has launched a number of new products, and was
the first ISP to be appointed a wireless data provider
for MTN clients.

Over the next financial year, MTN Network Solutions
wilf focus on further extending its already broad
range of corporate clients, and extending its reach
across Africa.

Electronics funds transfer
operations, Nigeria

MTN Mauritius has, in a joint venture with MTN Nigeria,
set up a new company in Nigeria to establish a
financial transactions platform. This company is
expected to offer services to MTN Nigeria initially,
expanding to other customers over time. First
revenues are expected in the 2005 financial year.

Orbicom

Orbicom’s core business is satellite signal distribution,
providing broadcast satellite solutions for clients such
as MultiChoice and Global Access SA. It also utilises its
technology and skills to offer a diverse range of
business solutions, especially in the rest of Africa.

Orbicom has remained EBITOA profitable during

the financial year, despite revenues and margins
coming under pressure in a highly competitive
market. During 2004, Orbicom allocated
considerable resources 1o the successful building

of the MTN Nigeria satellite earth station. This was a
significant milestone as it was the first such installation
buitt for MTN to assist in its roll-out of capacity in this
fast-growing market. Orbicom employees also
completed the construction and commissioning of

a satellite earth station in Cape Town for the
parliamentary uplink for MultiChoice.

During the year, Orbicom has taken the in-principle
decision to exit its businesses in Ghana.The
implemented sale pracess is at an advanced stage
and will be completed during the 2005 financial year.

Looking ahead, Orbicom will continue to focus on
identifying and capturing new revenue opportunities
to enhance its profitability. A key focus will be in the
area of satellite signal distribution across Africa.

Post-year-end events

As part of its regular strategic review of its investments,
MTN Group has taken the decision to explore the
possible disposal of its 100% interest in Orbicom, This
has been necessitated by the slower-than-expected
convergence between broadcasting and
telecommunications, as well as the continued below-
average performance of the business in comparison to
the rest of MTN's businesses. MTN will continue to find
new ways to exploit the convergence space between
telecommunications and broadcasting, as and when

it happens.

Parliamentary uplink facility, Cape Town, South Africa.
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MTN Group Support Services

The Support Services are the outcome of the Group's
internal restructuring project,"Y'ello Africa”aimed at
creating the most efficient operating structure for the
Group.

The vision and purpose of Support Services include:

- Brand uniformity and protection - to build a
consistent brand experience

+ Operational excellence - to build efficiencies in terms
of service excellence and financial performance

« Group strength ~ to be a credible partner for creating
economies of scale

+ Leadership - home for the leadership brand

- Our people - a place for people to share learning and
experience the MTN way

Objectives of the Support
Services

The objectives of the Support Services are to:

» achieve economies of scale, to reduce costs and
leverage systems processes across the Group

- achieve a uniform expression of the MTN brand
across the Group

» achieve integration of activities

« share a cormmon vision

+ minimise and eradicate costly duplication

Role and function

The Support Services play the role of strategic
architect and knowledge centre, providing the vision,
strategic direction and framework within which the
Group operates. The Support Services also review
business logic and strategic investment programmes
and monitor key financial and operational measures,
initiate change management programmes where
required and run shared services wherever there are
synergies or economies of scale to be captured.

To realise the objectives set, the Group's functional

departments are:

- Group Commercial Legal and Group Company
Secretariat - provides commercial legal services to
the MTN Group's South African entities to manage
commercial risks arising from all major transactions or
agreements being entered into. In addition, the unit
co-ordinates Company Secretariat functions across
the Group to ensure alignment of policies and
procedures. The department also deals with
corporate governance requirements.

+ Group Corporate Affairs — contributes towards
building, promoting and protecting MTN Group's
reputation and image amongst stakeholders across
the Group as a whole. The unit is also the custodian
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of the Group's CSI strategy framework. The division
ranages public announcements and co-ordinates
corporate communications across the Group.

+ Group Finance - co-ordinates and supports the
development and maintenance of financial processes
in order to meet statutory and operational
reguirements both at Group and operations levels.
The unit also provides centralised support on
structuring, negotiation and optimisation of funding
arrangements, mergers and acquisitions, treasury
management and tax structuring. Investor relations
also forms part of the department’s mandate.

* Group Human Resources - co-ordinates the
development and maintenance of Group-wide
frameworks to handle critical HR processes and the
standardisation of job profiling and organisational
design principles across the Group, and alignment
with remuneration.

+ Group Marketing - ensures the desired positioning
of the Group and alignment of operating and
business units to the MTN brand, its values and
associated customer experience. The unit also aims
at establishing and enhancing MTN as a leading
global brand.

+ Group Operation and Procurement - supports the
Group Executive Operations in the stewardship and
management of the Group's international operations.
In addition, it contributes to an improvement in
profitability of operations and the Group as a whole
by leveraging synergies and economies of scale with
the procurement of goods and services.

+ Group Technology and Information - develops and
drives the implementation of coherent strategic
technology and information frameworks in order
to optimise operating efficiencies and service levels
within the operations.

* Group Strategic Investments - manages operations
which fall outside of the core GSM focus, with a view
to ensuring their effective integration into the Group's
overall strategic agenda over time.

The Group is of the firm belief that the establishment
of the Support Services will enable it to achieve lower
cost to revenue metrics, drive higher shareholder value
and enhance the Group’s position as a leading
provider of communications services




® Shareholders’ information
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Spread of ordinary shareholders

—_—_—

D

|
J
|

Number of Number
as at 31 March 2004 shareholders of shares %
Public 37 769 1346676 063 81,18
Non-public S 312126 292 1882
- Directors of MTN Group Limited and major subsidiaries 8 1416 347 009
- MTN Group employee shares held by trust 1 631 648 0,04
- MTN Group Share Incentive Schame 1 1078 297 0,06
- Newshelf 664 (Proprietary) Limited” 1 309 000 000 18,63
Total issued share capital 37778 1 658 802 355 100,00

Group shares. Further detaifs of the Newshelf 664 shareholding are provided on page 94.

Shareholding
(% shares)

1882%..

@9 e
ohR 2t

© Public O Non-public

Stock exchange performance

* Although Newshelf 664 has an economic interest in 309 miflion MTN Group shares, it currently only has voting rights over 253 milfion MTN

1 2004 | 2003
Closing price (cents per share) as at 31 March ‘ 3296 J 1198
Highest price (cents per share) | 3336 | 1515
Lowest price {cents per share) ‘& 1187 | 830
Total number of shares traded (million) r 1436,9 J 7465
Total value of shares traded (R million) | 289752 90492
Nurnber of issued shares as at 31 March (million) | 1658,8 1 16520
Number of shares traded as a percentage of issued shares (%) [ 86,6 J 452
Number of transactions i 78626 | 51206
Average weighted trading price (cents per share) r 2063 5 1211
Average telecommunications indlex r 470 2521
Average Industrial index ! 6055 J 6325
Dividend yield (%)** ‘ 12 n/a
Earnings yield (%) (headline eamnings) 1 8,00 | 12,57
Earnings yield (%) (adjusted headline earnings) ‘ 7,68 } 11,92
Price/earnings multiple (adjusted headline earnings) as at 31 March ! 13,02 839
Market capitalisation as at 31 March (R billion) “ 546 | 198

** Dividend relating to the current financial year divided by the closing share price.
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Five-year review

| 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
INCOME STATEMENT - EXTRACTS (RM) J ‘
Revenue ] 23871 \ 19 405 12432 8337 6 008
Gross profit 14212 11084 7351 4985 3684
EBITDA \ 8983 1’ 6217 3626 2659 1913
Profit from operations | 6008 | 3737 1777 1513 1376
Net finance costs \ (604) | (828) (316) (183) (142)
Taxation \ (1101)] (687) (908) (576) 413)
Minority interest ! (612)} (289) 44 61 (229
Attributable earnings | 3700 1934 592 692 592
Headline earnings { 4362 i 2488 1184 1103 592
BALANCE SHEET EXTRACTS (RM) | t
Property, plant and equipment j 11042 \ 9374 8322 5491 3923
Goodwill 9753 ! 10298 10803 11191 -
Intangible assets 1646 | 2263 3685 2795 479
Investrents and loans 560 \1 746 347 255 212
Deferred taxation 356 173 42 7 1
Bank balances, deposits and cash r\ 5336 | 2137 1568 809 333
Other current assets 3307 3166 2 646 1586 1371
Total assets | 32000 28 157 27 413 22164 6319
Ordinary shareholders' interest | 19848 17 056 15916 14714 1892
Minority interest } 1418 | 882 820 144 580
tnterest-bearing liabilities 4149 | 4 849 5776 4364 2001
Non-interest-bearing liabilities § 5919 4563 3997 2259 1350
Deferred taxation ! 666 | 807 904 583 496
Total liabilities 10734 | 10219 10677 7306 3847
Total equity and liabilities 32000 t, 28157 27413 22164 6319
CASH FLOW STATEMENT - EXTRACTS (RM) | \
Net cash flow from operations \ 10027 | 6813 4359 2986 1612
Cash inflows from operating activities 1 8597 | 5393 3109 2640 1459
Cash outflows from investing activities | @ 898)\ {4391 (3502} {4531) {1 680)
Cash inflows from financing activities i 233 187 702 2330 359
Cash and cash equivalents \ 3932 1189 1230 804 380
Dividends paid | - ‘ - - (142) (38)
Capital expenditure | 5048 | 3919 3356 2219 1513
PERFORMANCE PER ORDINARY SHARE | |
Basic headline earnings (cents) ‘ 263,7 | 1511 725 731 510
Adjusted headline earnings (cents} | 253,1 | 1433 725 731 51,0
Attributable earnings (cents) \ 223,6 | 1174 363 459 51,0
Dividends (cents} [ - - - 10,0 79
Net asset value — book value (rand) | 12,0 ‘ 102 9,7 91 15
RETURNS AND PROFITABILITY RATIOS ‘
Return on assets (%) @ ‘ 20,0 | 135 73 108 15,1
Return on average sharehalders' funds “ \
(excluding goodwill) (%) ® i 51,8 | 419 27,4 40,7 44,7
Gross profit margin (%) | 59,5 | 57,1 59,1 59,8 61,3
EBITDA margin (%) | 37,6 | 320 292 319 318
Enterprise value/EBITDA multiple (times) © | 6,1 38 74 127 247
Effective taxation rate (%) \ 20,3 | 236 624 433 335
Effective taxation rate excluding goodwill (%) | 18,3 | 196 44,4 33,1 335
SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY RATIOS [ k
Gearing (%) ¥ \ (10,3 354 70,9 9.9 67,5
Interest cover (times) © ‘ 8,0 | 39 40 57 59
Dividend cover (times) ™ } 62 | n/a n/a 69 6,1
Net debt to EBITDA @ 1) 04 12 13 09
Qperating cash flow/revenue (%) \ 42,0 ( 351 322 358 268
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) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION: SOUTH AFRICA |
ARPU (rand) } 203 [ 206 208 229 302
Number of subscribers (million) { 6,3 i 47 39 32 22
Mobile penetration of South African | [
population (%) ) 36,0 270 218 16,6 124
Capital expenditure to revenue (%) | 7 ; 8 10 27 25
Cumulative capex per subscriber {rand) ( 1515 ’ 1845 2003 21 2336
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION: NIGERIA ‘ (
ARPU (US$) 1 51 J 57 60
Number of subscribers (thousand} ‘ 1966 | 1037 327
Capital expenditure to revenue (%) l 49 } 48 149
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION: CAMEROON | !
ARPU (USS) } 24 ’ 7 24
Number of subscribers (thousand) i 581 l 431 224
Capital expenditure to revenue (%) | 38 [’ 50 34
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION: UGANDA i 1
ARPU (USS) 22| 28 37
Number of subscribers (thousand) ] 495 | 363 222
Capital expenditure to revenue (%) ! 27 \‘ 28 43
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION: RWANDA J }
ARPU (USS) 22 { 27 38
Nurmber of subscribers (thousand) * 146 | 105 69
Capital expenditure 1o revenue (%) ‘ 27 { 30 32
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION: SWAZILAND | I
ARPU (USS) [ 31 i 21 28
Number of subscribers (thousand) ] 85 | 68 S5
Capital expenditure to revenue (%) ; 16 [ 21 26
SHARE PERFORMANCE } |
Number of ordinary shares in issue (million) ‘
- at year-end 16588 ! 16521 16404 16202 12491
- weighted average during the year | 16544 1 16469 16329 150889 11601
Closing price {cents per share) l 3296 1198 1330 1860 3600

Market capitalisation (Rm)

54 674,05 | 1979216 2181732 3013572 4496760

DEFINITIONS

(1) Ordinary shareholders’interest divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at year-end.

(2) Profit before interest and tax as a percentage of the average of the opening and closing balances of total assets.

(3) Headline earnings as a percentage of the average of the opening and closing bafances of ordinary shareholders'interest.

(4) Market capitalisation plus net debt finterest-bearing liabilities less bank balances, deposits and cash) plus minority interest divided by EBITDA.
(5) Net debi as o percentage of toial equity (excluding goodwill).

(6} Profit from operations divided by finance costs.

(7) Adjusted headline earnings divided by total dividend relating to the finoncial year.

(8} interest-bearing liabilities less cash dividad by EBITDA.
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Group cash value added statement
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2004 | 2003

]

I

: Rm | R
CASH VALUE ADDED ! i
Cash value generated from revenue \ 23458 \ 18668
Cost of materials and services | (11 796) j (10 585)
Cash value added by operations | 11662 \ 8083
Finance income 139 | 124

) 11801 | 8207
CASH VALUE DISTRIBUTED | 1
Employees 1096 [ 974
Salaries, wages and other benefits 942 845
Employees' tax 154 129
Governments 3163 ; 2980
Corporate and indirect taxation 2624 2 605
Licence fees 539 375
Providers of capital ‘\ 634 | 832
Finance costs 634 832
Dividends - -
Total cash value distributed ! 4893 | 4786
Reinvested in the Group 6908 ‘ 340

§ 11801 | §207

Wealth distribution 2003 Wealth distribution 2004
(R million) (R miltion)

© To employees O To employees

© To governments © To governments

O To providers of capital Q To providers of capital
O Reinvested in the Group O Reinvested in the Group
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance
Risk management report
Glossary
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Corporate
governance

MTN Group Limited
Business Report 2004

The Board regards good corporate
governance as a priofity requiring strict
observance, not just to ensure compliance
with new legislation and best practice, but
also as a critical business imperative.

The basis and philosophy of the MTN
Group business hinges on the principles
and implementation of good corporate
governance.



Corporate governance

The Beard regards good corporate governance as
a priority requiring strict observance, not just to
ensure compliance with new legislation and best
practices, but also as a critical business imperative.

The basis and philosophy of the MTN Group
business hinge on the principles and
implementation of good corporate governance.

The directors of MTN Group and its subsidiaries regard
corporate governance as vitally important to the
success of the Group's business and are committed to
applying the principles necessary to ensure that good
governance is practised at all levels in the Group, and
forrns an integral part of all Group operations.

The Group is fully committed to an open governance
process, through which its shareholders may derive the
assurance that, in protecting and adding value to MTN
Group's financial and human investments, the Group is
being managed ethically, according to prudently-
deterrined risk parameters, and is striving to achieve
and advance local best practice in the countries in
which it aperates.

Corporate governance within the MTN Group is
managed and monitored by a unitary Board of
Directors and several sub-committees appointed

by the Board. The Board is of the opinion that the
significant requirements incorporated in the code of
corparate practices and conduct and the JSE Listings
Requirements must be observed at all times. It also
believes that, while compliance with the form

of governance is important, greater emphasis must be
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placed on complying with the substance of
governance.

The Board is of the view that the Company:
and its subsidiaries are compliant with the
recommendations as set out in the code of corporate
practices and conduct contained in King Il.

The Board of Directors and
non-executive directors

The MTN Group has unitary Board structures in all
its entities. The Group's Board of Directors is chaired
by an independent non-executive director,

Mr MC Ramaphosa. it comprises five executive

and seven non-executive directors. Five of the non-
executive directors are independent. The roles of
Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer do not
vest in the same person.

The Board remains responsible to alf stakeholders in
the execution of its duties. The executive directors
generally have responsibility for making and
implementing operational decisions relating to the
running of the Group's businesses. The non-executive
directors complement the skills and experience of the
executive directors, contributing to the formulation of
policy and decision-making through their knowledge
and experience in other business sectors. Together,
the directors bring a wealth of skills, knowledge and
experience from their own businesses to the Board to
ensure that issues of strategy, performance, resources,
transformation, diversity, employment equity and
corporate governance are soundly and constructively
managed on an informed basis.

( BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BN BX BN BN BN B BN BN BN BN




]
I
aD
| |
I

Details of attendance by directors at quarterly Board meetings held during the year under review are set

aut below.

Names of directors 19/06/03 8/09/03 1/12/03 11/03/04

DDB Band*** P P P P

5L Botha* ‘NAD P P P

{ Charnley* P P P P

ZNA Cindi*** 14 P A A

RS Dabengwa* P p P o

PL Heinamann*** P P p p

SN Mabaso** A P A P

PF Nhieko* P p P P

RD Nisbet* P p P p

MC Rarmaphosa*** A P A P

JHN Strydom™* NAD NAD NAD P

AF van Biljon*** P P P p

PL Zim* P A NAD NAD

JRD Modise**

(Alternate to MC Ramaphosa) p NAD NAD NAD

LC Webb**

{Alternate ta SN Mabaso) A P A Al

A = Apolagies P = Present NAD = Not a director at the time

* Executive ** Non-executive *** ndependent non-executive

Details of attendance by directors at special Board meetings held during the year under review are set

out below.

Names of directors 22/04/03 4/06/03 6/10/03 27/11/03 22/01/04 2/02/04 ]
DDB Band*™* P P p 1 P p
St Botha* NAD NAD A P P P
{ Charnley* P P A P p p
ZNA Cindi*™ P P p A P P
RS Dabengwa* A P P g A P
PL Hejnamann*** P p P P P P
SN Mabaso™™ A A p A A A
PF Nhleko® P P P P P P
RO Nisbet* P p P p P p
MC Ramaphosa*™** P A P P A P
JHN Strydom** NAD NAD NAD NAD NAD NAD
AF van Biljon*** P p P P P P
PL Zim* P P NAD NAD NAD NAD
JRD Modise™ T
(Alternate to

MC Ramaphosa) A A NAD ¢ NAD NAD NAD
LC Webb™

(Alternate to

SN Mabaso) A P A P A A
A = Apologies P = Present NAD = Not g director at the time

* Executive ** Non-executive *** independent non-executive
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Corporate governance continued

Board procedures and related
issues

The Board meets quarterly, or more frequently if
circumstances dictate, to review matters requiring a
Board decision, including financial and operationat
results, matters of a strategic nature including rmajor
acquisitions and disposals and approval of major capital
expenditure and any other matters that have a material
effect on the Group’s performance and results,

Where directors are personally unable to attend a
meeting, teleconferencing facilities are made available
as required to include them in the proceedings and
alfow them 1o participate in the decisions and
conclusions reached at the meeting.

In addition, the Board has unrestricted access to all
company information, records, documents and
property to enable it to discharge its responsibilities

as exclusively as possible. All directors have access 1o
the advice and services of the Company Secretary who
acts as an advisor to the Board and its sub-committees
on issues including compliance with Group poficies
and procedures, statutory regulations and with the
King Il code of corporate governance recommendations
The directors are also entitled to obtain independent
professional advice at the Group's expense shauld they
deem such advice necessary.

The Board has adopted a Charter which includes:
+ the mission, role, duties and responsibilities of the
Board and its directors
» the demarcation of the roles of the Chairman and
the Group Chief Executive Officer
+ Board composition (including criteria and key
competencies for Board membership)
» directors’ orientation, induction and training
+ syccession planning and directors’ selection and
appointment processes
* Board governance
« terms of reference of the various Board committees
* matters reserved for final decision-making or pre-
approval by the Board, including the approvat of:
~ MTINs objectives, overall strategy, strategic financial
plans, business plans, annual budgets and monitoring
actual performance relative to these criteria
- the annual financial statements, interim reports and
related financial matters
- code of ethics
- delegations of authority to the Group's Chief
Executive Officer and executive directors
- Board committee mandates, levels of authority and
membership
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- the policies and practices of the Board on matters
such as corporate governance, including trading by
directors in the securities of the Company and the
evaluation of the performance of directors and
mernbers of Board committees

In terms of the Board Charter, the directors are
assessed annuatly, both individually and collectively

as a Board. In addition, the Nominations, Remuneration
and Human Resources Committee formally evaluates
the Group CEO each year based on objective
performance criteria.

The Board as a whole approves the appointment
of new directors, on recommendation by the
Nominatians, Remuneration and Human Resources
Cormnmittee.

Board committees

The Board has established a number of standing
committees to assist it in discharging its
responsibilities.

These committees have specific respansibilities with
defined terms of reference approved by the Board.
There is full ransparency and disclosure from these
committees to the Board.

The Group's subsidiarias have established their own
complementary Board and committee structures to
ensure the maintenance of similar high standards and
best practice in respect of corporate governance and
internal controls throughout the various operations as
subsist at Group Board level.

The current Board commitiees comprise:

« Executive Committee

- Group Audit Committee

- Risk Managernent and Corporate Governance
Committee

« Nominations, Remuneration and Human Resources
Comrittee

Subsequent to 31 March 2004, the Board approved the
formation of a Group Tender Committee,

These committees operate within the defined terms
of reference laid down in writing by the Board.

At Board meetings, the relevant minutes of each sub-
committee meeting are submitted for noting and the
responsible chairperson reports on the deliberations
and recommendations relating to these minutes.




Executive Committee

The Executive Committes is constituted to assist the
Group CEO in managing the business of the Group
when the Board is not in session, subject to authority
limits delegated to the Group CEO and the Executive
Committee, in terms of the Group's delegation of
authority policy. The Executive Committee assists the
Group CEQ in guiding and controliing the overall
direction of the business of the Group and acts as a
medium of communication and co-ordination
between business units, Group subsidiary companies
and the Board.

The members of the Executive Committee are:
PF Nhleka {Chairman)
SL Botha

| Charnley

RS Dabengwa

Y Muthien

RD Nisbet

PD Norman

KW Pienaar

CG Utton

CS Wheeler

Group Audit Committee

The Board has established a Group Audit Committee
and subsidiary audit committees as required by
regulation or where deemed appropriate. The Group
Audit Committee comprises non-executive directors,
the majority of whom, including its Chairman, are
independent.

The Group Audit Committee members are:
AF van Biljon™* (Chairman)

DDB Band***

PL Heinamann***

SN Mabaso™*

LC Webb** (Alternate to Ms SN Mabaso)

**  Non-executive
*** tndependent non-executive

On 25 August 2003, Mr JRD Modise resigned as a
member.

The purpose of the Group Audit Committee is to assist
the Board in discharging its duties relating to the
safequarding of assets, the operation of adequate
financial and record-keeping systems, financial control
and reporting processes, and the preparation of
accurate financial reports and financial staterments

in compliance with all legal and accounting
reguirements.

f
!
I
The internal and external auditors have unrestricted

access to the reporting structures of these committees.

The audit committees identify and evaluate exposure

to significant risks, review the effectiveness and

adequacy of the systems of internal, financial and

operational controls,and the appropriateness of

accounting policies. The Group Audit Committee also

reviews financial and operational information

provided to shareholders and other stakeholders in
the annual reports,

J®E

The Group Audit Committee oversees compliance
with corporate governance practices and specific
disclosures in the annual financial statements. It is
also responsible for the review of major audit
recommendations and the approval of interim and
annual results' announcements. The members of the
committee are all financially literate. The Group CEQ,
the Group Finance Director, external and internal
auditors, together with the relevant members of the
management team are invited 10 attend meetings

of the Group Audit Committee as the case may be.
The committee evaluates the performance,
independence and effectiveness of the external
auditors and considers any material non-audit services
to determine whether or not such services
substantively impair their independence as external
auditors. The committee also considers and makes
recommendations on the appointment and retention
of the external auditors. Before an audit commences,
the committee discusses and reviews with the
external auditors their engagement letter and the
terms, scope and nature of the audit function,
procedure and engagement, as well as the audit fee.
It also obtains feedback from major Group subsidiary
audit committees and deals with any other significant
matters.

The Group Audit Committee operates in full
compliance with defined terms of reference
established by the Board in the form of a Charter and
in consideration of current international trends and
developments pertaining to the functions of audit
committees.

The head of internal audit and the external audit

partners have unrestrictad access 1o the Chairman of
the committee,
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Corporate governance continved

Details of attendance by committee members at meetings held during the year are set out below:

Names of members | 27/05/03 3/06/03 |} 12/06/03 | 22/09/03 i 6/11/03 | 19/11/03 | 31/03/04
AF van Biljon*** P p P P p p p
DDB Band*** p p P p p p p
PL Heinamann*** P p p p P P p
SN Mabaso** P A A p p A A
JRD Modise** P AL P NAM NAM NAM NAM
Alternate director

Names of members | 27/05/03 3/06/03 | 12/06/03 | 22/09/03 6/11/03 [ 19/11/03 | 31/03/04
LC Webb**

(Alternate to

SN Mabaso) p p p A P p p
A = Apologies P = Present NAM = Not a member

** Non-executive

Internal Audit and Forensic Services

The Group Internal Audit function, supparted by
internal audit functions within each operation, is
responsible for providing assurance as to the adequacy
and effectiveness of internal controls within the Group.
The Group Internal Audit function reports to the Group
Chief Executive Officer and Group Audit Committee,
Subsidiary audit committees are similarly structured but
have a strong reporting line to Group Internal Audit.

Internal audits are planned and conducted according
to a risk based audit methodology to ensure that
assurance is provided on the inherently high risk areas
within the Group.

The Group has a zero tolerance policy towards acts of
fraud and has established a Group Forensic function
which is supparted by fraud detection and
investigation disciplines in certain operations. The
Group Forensic function is responsible for the
implementation of fraud awareness and prevention
programmes in all operations. it also investigates and
reports on potential fraudulent activities identified
through the Group’s anonymous fraud and ethics
hotline. It works closely with legal authorities to ensure
successful criminal prosecution of offenders,

The Group Forensic function submits regular reports
on fraud within the organisation to managernent as
well a5 1o the Group Audit Committee
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*** Independent non-executive

Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committee

The objective of the Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committee is 10 identify, assess, and
where feasible, manage and monitor the risks to
which the business is exposed, both nationally and
internationally. This committee is also responsible for
reviewing the quality of corporate governance in the
Group, for making recommendations for its enhance-
ment and for providing advice to directars and
rmanagement on issues that may lead to conflicts

of interest. Other key issues such as people risk,
environment controls and sustainability, constitute
important aspects of this committee’s mandate.

The Board has determined the level of acceptable risk
and requires operations to manage and report in
terms thereof.

The Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee Charter includes the following key terms
of reference:

+ 10 provide an independent and objective review to
the Board on the status of risk management and
corporate governance within the Group

- to examine the relationship between the Group
and its stakeholders to ensure that appropriate
procedures are in place to prevent conflicts of
interest that may arise; the aim being to align, as




closely as passible, the interests of employees, the
Company and society in general

* 0 promaote the “seven pillars” of good corporate
governance, ie discipling, transparency, independence,
accountability, responsibility, fairess and social
responsibitity

The current members of the committee are:
PL Heinamann*** (Chalrman)

ZNA Cindir**

AF van Biljon***

LC Webb**

PF Nhieko*
RS Dabengwa®
CG Utton®

*

Executive
P

Non-execurive
*** Independent non-executive

On 30 September 2003, Mr PL Zim resigned as a
cornmittee member and Mr CG Utton was appointed
in his stead.

Details of attendance by members at committee meetings during the year are set out below:

Names of members 2/10/03 5/11/03 1/04/04
ZNA Cindi*** P p P
RS Dabengwa™ P P P
PL Heinamann™* P p P
PF Nhleko* P P P
CG Uron*® NAM P P
AF van Biljon™** P p p
LC Webb** A P P
A = Apologies P = Present NAM = Not a member ot the time

* Executive ** Non-executive *** Independent nor-executive

Nominations, Remuneration and
Human Resources Committee

The purpose of the Nominations, Remuneration and

Human Resources Committee is sat out in its Charter

approved by the Board. The main responsibilities of

this cornmittee are!

- to raview the size, structure and the composition of
the Board

» 1o conduct an annual assessment of the Board's
performance

+ to $et criteria for the nomination of directors and
committee mermbers of the Board

« 10 identify, evaluate and norninate candidates for
appointment to the Board to fill vacancies as and
when they arise

+ to authorise the grant of share options to executive
directors and all senior staff

- to determine the remuneration of exacutive directors,
consider, review and approve the Group's policy on
executive remuneration and to communicate this
policy to stakeholders in the annual report

- o make recommendations to the Board on annual
salary increases and performance refated bonus awards.

The members of the Nominations, Remuneration
and Human Resources Committee are:

DOB Band*** (Chairmany

MC Rarnaphosa *™*

SN Mabaso**

** Non-executive

*** independent non-executive

On 11 March 2004, Mr MC Ramaphosa stepped down
as Chairman of the committee and Mr DDB Band was
appointed Chatrman in his stead,

Although not appeinted as members of the cormmittee,
the Group CEQ, Group Finance Director and Group
Executive Human Resources are invited to attend all
rneetings and recommend changes to the remuneration
of other executives and senior staff members.
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Corporate governance continued

At all times, due attention is paid 1o the development
of employment equity strategies, succession planning
and the retention of key executives. The Group’s
remuneration philosophy is designed to ensure that it
attracts and retains the critical skills necessary t
promote business prosperity. This philosophy is subject
10 ongoing reviews by means of internal and external
benchmarking, with the objective of maintaining
competitiveness within the labour market.

Group executive directors and senior executives
receive performance-related salaries and benefits
commensurate with their management

responsibilities, Bonuses are paid annually, and are
structurad 10 reward executive directors and senijor
executives relative to the performance of divisions

for which they have responsibifity as well as the
performance of the Group, Within the limits imposed
by the Group's shareholders, share options are
allocated 1o the directars and senior staff in proportion
1o their contributions 1o the business, based on levels
of seniority. The options, which are allocated at the
closing price rufing on the date of allocation, vest after
stipulated periods and are exercisable up to a
maximum of ten years from the date of allocation.

Details of attendance by members of the committee during the year are set out below:

Names of members 17/06/03 29/10/03 27/11/03 11/03/04
MC Ramaphosa*** P p 3 P
DOB Band*** p P 2 p
SN Mabaso™ A A A A
LC Webb* P P P p
A = Apologies P = Present

** Nan-executive

Group Tender Committee

On 8 April 2004, the Group Tender Committee was
formed to consider alt Group procurement tenders
and to ensure that the procurement of goods and
services js commercially and fegally sound and
conducted in a fair honest, transparent and equitable
manner,

The Group Tender Cornmittee Charter includes the

following key terms of reference:

» 1o create a uniform Group tender culture 1o promote
consistent procurement practices in fine with the
vatues of MTN

* 10 ensure that the tender system is competitive and
cost-effective at all times

- 0 promote focal empowerment in a constructive
and sustainable manner, thereby ensuring sound
economic development of all markets in which
MTN operates.

The current members of the committee are:

D Marole (independent Chairperson)

I Hassen (Chairperson of MTN South Africa
Tender Committee)
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% Independent non-executive

AWood (Chairperson of MTN Nigeria Tender
Committee)

§ Charmnley {Commercial Directon

5 Wheeler (Group Executive: Comimerciat Legaly

AD Nisbet (Group Finance Directon

and on rotation, Chairperson of the MTN Cameroon,
MTN Uganda, MTN Swaziland and MTN Rwanda Tender
Committess,

Appointment of directors

Generally, directors have no fixed term of appointment
but, in accordance with the Company’s artidles of
association, are subject 1o retirement by rotation

avery three years and, if available, are considered for
reappointment at the annual general meeting The
only exception to this is the current Group CEO who
has an employment contract to 31 July 2007,

Non-executive directors are remunerated for their
membership of the Boards of MTN Graup Limited and
its subsidiaries as well as Board-appointed committees,
Non-executive directors da not qualify for share options




Induction of directors

On appointment, each new director undergoes an
induction programme designed o meet individual
needs and circumstances. The Company Secretary
manages the induction programme.

New and prospective directors are required to
complete the necessary formalities in terms of the
relevant legislative and regulatory requirements for
service in this capacity.

Dealings in JSE Securities

All directors of the Group and its subsidiaries are
required to notify the Company Secretary of any
intention to buy or sell shares in the Group, whether
directly or indlirectly. Directors, executive members
and senior management are prohibited from dealing
in the Company's shares during prohibited periods, in
compliance with regulatory and governance
requirements.

It is the Group's policy for any director of the Group
Board and subsidiary boards wishing to conclude any
transaction in the Company’s shares to obtain the prior
approval of either the Chairman or the Group Chief
Executive Officer.

Staff with access to confidential potential price
sensitive information are prohibited from disclosing
this to outsiders and from trading in MTN shares
during the prohibited periods after the year-end and
half year-end, until the final or interim results are
published. The provisions of insider trading legislation
are communicated to staff from time to time.

Management reporting

Group operational performance and financial progress
are reported monthly against approved budgets and
compared with the results achieved over the
corresponding period in the previous financial year.
Profit projections and cash flow forecasts are updated
quarterly, while working capital and borrowing levels
are monitored continuously.

Internal controls

The Group maintains internal controls and systems
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the
integrity and reliability of the financial statements and
to adequately safeguard and verify the Group’s assets
and debt levels. Established policies and procedures
are in place and are implemented by trained
personnel with an appropriate segregation of duties,

The internal auditors have confirmed that these
monitoring procedures are being effectively applied.
All significant findings arising from audit activities are
brought to the attention of the Audit Committee and,
where necessary, the Group CEO and/or the Board,
ensuring full transparency and compliance at all levels
of management

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors, or
to the attention of the external and internal auditors,
to indicate that any material breakdown occurred in
the functioning of the internal control systems which
would have had a material effect on the results of the
Group during the year under review.

External audit

The external auditors provide an independent
assessment of certain systems of internal financial
control and express an independent opinion on the
annual financial statements. The external auditors
complement the work of the intermnal audit
department and review relevant internal audit reports.
The external audit function offers reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance concerning the accuracy of
financial disclosures. The independence of the external
auditors is confirmed on an annual basis.

Group Company Secretary

All directors have access 1o the advice and services of
the Group Company Secretary, who provides guidance
to the Board as a whole and 10 individual directors
with regard to how their responsibilities should
properly be discharged in the best interests of the
Company.

The Group Company Secretary also oversees the
induction of new directors and assists the Group
Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer in
determining the annual Board plan, Board agendas
and formulating governance and other Board-related
issues.

Going concern

The annual financial statements set out on pages 80
to 150 have been prepared on the going concern
basis since the directors, after due deliberation at the
last meeting of the Board, have no reason to believe
that the Company and the Group will not have
adequate resources in place to continue to operate
the business in the year ahead.
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Corparate governandce continued

Corporate code of conduct

The Group has a vision, mission statement, a set of
values and a code of ethics. The updated code of
ethics is consistent with the principles of integrity,
honesty, ethical behaviour and compliance with all
laws and regulations.

The Group is committed to the highest standards of
integrity and ethical behaviour in all dealings with
stakeholders, including society at large, conducting

its business through fair commercial competitive
practices and trading with suppliers who subscribe

to ethical practices and are proactive in environmental,
social and sustainability issues.

The Group ensures that staff buy-in to the code of
ethics. Employees are expected to act in terms of
the code at all times and failure to do so will result in
disciplinary action being taken against them.

Regarding the provisions of the Insider Trading Act,
the Company operates closed periods prior to the
publication of its interim and year-end financial results,
during which directors, officers, and other employees
of the Group may nat deal in the shares or other
instruments pertaining ta the Company.

Employment equity

The MTN Group has a clearly defined employment
equity strategy and a comprehensive employment
equity plan for South African based operations. These,
together with other specific affirmative action
programmes, aim at realising the full potentiat of
previously disadvantaged personnel, while meeting
all legislative requirements.

Sustainability reporting

The Group recognises its obligation to contribute to
socio-economic goals and general social upliftment.

The Group strives to conduct its business with due
regard for environmental concerns, and is committed
to developing operating policies to address the
environmental impact of its business activities.

A comprehensive sustainability commentary dealing
with the Group's economic, social and environmental
performance, is contained in the attached
Sustainability Report.

MTN Group is included in the JSE Socially Responsible
Investment Index as of May 2004,
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Disclosure

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Group is
required to disclose individual directors’emaluments,

which can be found in the directors'report contained

on pages 83 to 97.

Communication with
stakeholders

The Group is engaged in meaningful and constructive
dialogue with investors and shareholders and
endeavours to maintain open and honest
communications with all external parties. As a matter
of good corporate governance, it communicates the
promises made by the Board and the progress made
towards the achievement thereof.

Shareholders are accordingly invited to attend the
annual general meeting to be held on 18 August 2004
at 14:30 at the Innovation Centre at MTN Campus,
T4th Avenue, Fairlands. The chairmen of the Group
Audit, Nominations, Remuneration and Human
Resources and Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committees will be available to answer
any questions from shareholders.

Abridged curricula vitae of directors who retire at the
annual general meeting are included in the notice
of the AGM and set out on page 152 in this report.

The directors acknowledge on page 80 their

responsibility for the fair presentation in the financial

statements of the:

+ state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the year
under review

* net income for the period

+ cash flows for the period.

The Group recognises the need for full, equal and
timeous disclosure to all shareholders, as prescribed
by the JSE Listings Requirements. Apart from annual
and interim reports, it uses a broad range of
communication channels, including SENS, print, radio,
television media and the MTN website
(www.mingroup.com) to achieve this.

MTN Group has an investor relations department
responsible for ensuring appropriate communication
with shareholders and the investment community.
Contact with domestic and international institutional
shareholders, fund and asset managers and analysts,
is maintained regularly by means of a comprehensive
investor relations programme. This includes meetings
with executive management and investor road shows.




Risk management report

Risk philosophy
Risk management is fundamental to effective

corporate governance and the development of a
sustainable business.

The King report on Corporate Governance states

that "enterprise is the undertaking of risk for reward.

A thorough understanding of the risks accepted by a
company in the pursuance of its objectives, together
with those strategies employed to mitigate those risks,
is thus essential for a proper appreciation of the
Company’s affairs by the Board and stakeholders’

MTN endorses these principles and has adopted a risk
philosophy to maximise business success and deliver
shareholder value by optimising the balance between
risk and reward.

Responsibility and accountability for the management
of risks remain primarily with MTN's business units,
supported by its overall governance structure and
integrated risk management framework.

Risk management objectives

In MTN, risk management is ultimately about:

- proactively identifying and understanding the risk
factors and events that may affect the achieverent
of MTN’s strategic and business objectives

- developing appropriate response strategies for risks.
This could include taking certain considered and
calculated risks and/or managing risks through
various initiatives

- continuously monitoring and reporting risks

+ establishing a culture where risk management forms
part of MTN's day-to-day activities

+ adhering to the value system of the Group

+ continuously striving to mitigate risk.

Risk management framework

The MTN risk management framework has been
approved by the Group Board and sets the foundation
for risk management in MTN, guided by the risk
philosophy and objectives,

Roles and responsibilities at all levels of the organisation
have been defined and are enforced by set key
performance indicators for observance by executive
management and CEOs of MTN's various operations.

Risk management structures ensure continuous
focus on risk management and provide an escalation
structure where appropriate actions are taken and
risks monitored.

A defined risk management process ensures
consistency in the identification, evalyation and
reporting of risks and appropriate responses.

Risk management structures

MTN Group
Board

|

MTN Group
Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee

Group Risk Officer

Risk management function

MTN South Africa, Nigeria, Careroon, Rwanda, Uganda,
Swaziland Board Risk and Audit Committees

[ Executive Risk Committees ]
‘ Executive Management J
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Risk management report continued

The MTN Group Board is ultimately responsible for
ensuring that risks are managed effectively. The Board
considers risk reports from the Risk Management and
Corporate Governance Committee and takes account
of the assurance provided via the Group Audit
Committee to enable it 1o assess the effectivenass

of risk management in MTN,

The Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee is the oversight body for risk management
in MTN and is a sub-committee of the Board. The
committee sets and approves the risk management
framework for the Group. The committee also reviews
the adequacy and overall effectiveness of risk
managernent structures and practices in the Group.
It reviews the risk profile as well as management’s
reports on the mitigation of key risks, The committee
also oversees the reporting of risk matters to
shareholders and the public.

The Group Risk Officer is responsible for the risk
management function and reports to the Group
CEO as well as the Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committee and Group Audit Committee.
The risk management function is an independent
specialist function that ensures that an effective risk
management framework is maintained throughout
the Group. This includes:

- facilitating, supporting and enabling executive
management and the operating companies in
performing their risk management processes

« providing a central source of information and
guidance on risk management

+ encouraging and creating awareness of risk
rmanagernent throughout MTN

+ ensuring consistency in evaluating and reporting
risks throughout MTN to facilitate comparability at
an organisational level

« performing a risk report co-ordinating function
on behalf of management and the Board Risk
Committee.

The risk and audit committees at operating company
level are the oversight bodies for these companies in
respect of risk management. These committees are
sub-committees of the boards of each operation.
The Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee acts as the Board Risk Committee for
MTN South Africa. In all other operations, the audit
committee also fulfils the role of the risk committee
with a separate agenda for risk management matters.
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Fach operating company has an Executive Risk
Committee represented by the CEQ and first-line
managers who are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the operation and its risks. The
purpose of this committee is to identify new risks,
decide on mitigating strategies for risks and actively
track and monitor pragress. The committee is also
responsible for embedding risk management into
normal business processes. Each Executive Risk
Committee submits regular reports to the Board risk
committees of the operation through the Group Risk
Officer. Members of the Executive Risk Committee are
responsible for ensuring that the managerment of risks
within their areas of responsibility is integrated with the

operational managerment of their areas of responsibility.

The Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee and the risk committees for the country
operations meet at least quarterly as do the executive
risk committees.

The CEQs of each operation have defined key
performance indicators for ensuring that the Group
risk management framework is implemented and risks
are well managed within that operation.

Risk management process

The process followed for risk management within MTN
is in line with corporate governance requirements and
general practice in the industry.

Risk identification

Risks are continuously identified through focused risk
discussions as well as the use of a risk model. The risk
model is also used to ensure that all operations
consider the same types of risk while taking into
account their different operating environments.

To ensure continuous reassassment of risks, changes
in MTN's external and internal environment are
analysed in terms of the opportunities and threats
they present.

External environment internal environment
Political environment Policies
Regulatory environment | Procedures

Economic conditions Strategies and business

plans
Business environment Structures
Customer behaviour
and expectations People

Stakeholder expectations | Systems and technology




The Group risk management function and the risk
champions within the operations facilitate risk
identification through regular interaction with the
operations.

Risk evaluation

Risks are evaluated based on their potential impact

10 the organisation as well as the probability of
occurrence.The impact of risks is assessed using
qualitative and quantitative guidelines that have been
developed and standardised across the Group.
Inherent risk and residual risk factors are calculated,
based on these assessments.

Risks are classified as either strategic risks or business
risks depending on their impact on the organisation.
Strategic risks are monitored by the Executive
Committee and the Board, while business risks are

managed and monitored by operational management.

The risk appetite for each operation has been
determined and approved by the Group Risk
Management and Corporate Governance Committee.
The following factors were taken into account in
determining the risk appetite:
- financial strength of the Group
- expected revenue contribution of each operation
* reputational importance of each operation
+ level of conservatism to be applied by the Group

in establishing the risk appetite.

Response strategies

Response strategies are developed or reconfirmed for
all risks. These are determined by taking into account
the risk appetite of the operation in which the risk
exists as well as the inherent impact and probability
of occurrence of the risk.

Response strategies depend on the nature of the risk
and are often a combination of various actions which
include insurance, outsourcing, risk avoidance and/or
active management of the risk through people,
processes and systems.

The cost of risk mitigation is taken into account in
determining the response strategies. Certain risks are

g
@D

accepted based on their impact to the organisation as
well as MTN's risk appetite. Risks such as political,
economic, currency and regulatory are largely beyond
MTN's control and mitigation is fimited to responsive
actions to counter the impact of such.This could
include insurance, diversification and hedging.

Monitoring

Ownership is allocated for each risk as well as for
the response strategies of each. Risk owners are
responsible for the day-to-day management and
monitoring of risks and for the overall adeguacy and
effectiveness of mitigating actions.

The various risk management structures in the Group
{outlined under risk management structures) provide
additional management, escalation and oversight

for risks.

Internal audit provides independent assurance that
a sound risk management framewaork exists within
the Group.

Risk management software

The Group's business risk function is currently
dispensing risk management software to all
operations. The software will be used to assist with
recording and evaluating risks and controls, tracking
progress on mitigating strategies and reporting to the
various risk management structures.

Reporting

Regular reporting on new risks as well as on the
current status of MTN’s strategic and business risk
profiles is channelled to the various components of
the risk management structure.

The model on page 72 contains the types of risks that
are considered in all operations in the Group. Risk
scenarios relating to these risk types are identified,
considered, debated and prioritised in terms of their
impact on the organisation. Mitigating strategies are
then developed and integrated into operational
management activities.
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Risk management report continued

MTN risk model

Business environment

Social

Political

Economic
Competition
Natural hazards
Safety and health
National pandemic

Strategic and
structural

Strategic planning and
execution
Governance structure
Organisational
structure

Policy development
Alliance/partnering
Stakeholders

Business continuity

Projects

Alignment

Feasibility
Procurement
Execution

Change management

information

I} Confidentiality
Integrity
Availability

Financial

Market
Credit
Interest rates
Commadity
Currency
Accounting
Fraud

Regulatory affairs

Regulatory change
Social/environmental
Employment
Compliance
Contractual Habilities
Privacy and
confidentiality

Human Resources

Motivation
Productivity
Retention
Compensation
Training and
development
Skills and experience
Key dependencies
Employee actions
Performance
managemeant
HIV/AIDS

Cultural

Ethics and values
Callusion

Goal alignment
Communications
Change readiness

Customer

Market research
Product development
Advertising and
promotion

Customer services
Customer
management

Pricing of products/
services

Performance

Operations

Process and data
integrity

Process flow
effectiveness

Process capacity
Billing and collections
Supply chain
relationships
Distribution channe!
Quality contyol
Service level support
Revenue assurance

Systems

Strategy
Effectiveness
Availability
Obsolescence
Integrity
Maintenance
Redundancy

Service level support

Network

Strategy
Effectiveness
Availabifity
Obsolescence
Integrity
Maintenance
Redundancy

Service level support
interdependence

The table below contains a summary of those risks that have been assessed as key strategic risks due to the impact

they could have on the organisation if not well mitigated. The risks are not listed in order of priority or severity.

Risk

Response strategy/control measure

Political risk

MTN has expanded its business into various African
countries in recent years. The Group is planning to
continue this expansion programme,

The possibility of political instability and the impact
on MTN’s profits and strategic objectives is an inherent
risk.

+ Extensive due diligence assessments are performed
before investment decdisions into new countries are
finalised

» Most operations are sufficiently ring-fenced to limit
the systemic risk to the Group of possible failure in
operations

+ Political risk insurance cover where deemed necessary

+ Continuous political risk assessments are performed

+ Corporate citizenship and social responsibility
programmes in each country

+ Relationship management with governments and

regulators
+ Careful selection of business partners

MTN Business Report 2004




Risk

Response strategy/control measures

Regulatory risk

The telecommunications industry, in South Africa as
well as in other countries in which the Group operates,
is highly requlated. Regulatory change in terms of
tariffs, licence restrictions and demographic restrictions
might impact MTN's business.

In the South African environment, pending regulatory
changes include the new convergence bill. in Nigeria,
discussions are ongoing with the focal regulator
regarding regulatory changes and jurisdictional issues
on interconnect pricing.

+ Strict compliance with regulations is ensured

- Legal and regulatory compliance functions operate
in each country

« Active participation in regulatory frameworks

+ Active participation in regulation and rule-making
procedures

+ Policy-lobbying actions undertaken at legislative,
executive and ministerial levels

* Refationship management with governments and
regulators

Brand reputation risk

The MTN brand is one of the most successful in South
Africa and s the Jeading brand in many of the other
countries in which MTN operates.

Protecting the brand is extremely important and
reputational damage might have severe conseguences
for the Group.

+ Group marketing and brand management function
» Corporate communication function

* Mature product development processes

+ Stable netwarks and network disaster recovery plans
» Constant market research and environment scan

« Customer-centric focus

+ Managing stakeholder expectations

Competition

Competition risk in MTN refers to the risk of losing
market share or the risk of price erosion in countries
in which we operate. This could be a result of current
competition or new competition entering the market.

The MTN operation in the mature South African
market is well established, with continuous focus on
maintaining and preferably growing market share.

Simitarly. a key focus is to continue growing market
share in the other African countries. The probabifity
of new competition entering these markets is high.
Mitigation strategies for this risk are in place.

Loss of marker share to current competition:

« Marketing strategy

+ Brand-building strategy

+ Constant market research and environment scan
* Customer feedback

+ Innovative and proactive product design

+ Speed to market

+ Quality coverage with maximum availability

New competition entering the market:

- As above

+ Entrenching the MTN brand ahead of competitors

+ Establishing extensive network infrastructures ahead
of competition

Governance in MTN operations

The implementation of consistently good governance
practices at all operations in the Group is a key focus at
this stage. Poor governance could obviously result in
significant losses and reputational damage to the
Group.The Group has made good progress on this
front, however, it will remain a key focus especially in
newer, less mature operations.

- Operational management reguired to maintin good
governance

» Formal poficies and procedures

« Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee (Board sub-committee)

+ Executive Risk and Governance Committee for each
country operation

+ Risk management framework for the Group and all
operations

+ Code of ethics

- Group risk management function

+ Internal audit and forensic audit functions in each
operation as well as at Group fevel

+ External audits
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Risk management report continued

Risk

Response strategy/control measures

Investment decisions

Over the past five years, the Group has followed a
strategic vision to become the leading provider of
communications services on the continent, driven by
the need 1o expand the Group's revenue base and
exploit prospects for growth offered in the emerging
markets of Africa, against the background of &
maturing market in South Africa. Significant
investments in five countries outside South Africa
have been made and the Group continues 10 look
for opportunities to expand operations into other
countries in Africa and the Middle East.

Given the high upfront investment required in the
telecornmunications industry in the form of ficence
fees in greenfield operations as well as intensive capital
roll-out plans, it is crucial that these decisions are
based on proper due diligence studies and that the
risk involved in the start-up operation is understood
and factored into risk/return calculations. Failure in this
regard could result in significant loss to the Group.
However, it must be emphasised that all new ventures
are inherently high-risk

« Economic and political risk assessments are
performed, often in co-operation with the London-
based, Cantral Risk Group

+ Market research to assess market size potential

» Financial impact assessment

+ Detailed build-up of business plan which is then
transformed into financial valuations

+ US dollar-based return requirements

« Assistance from financial advisers inciuding
international investment banks where required

+ Board approval process

Repatriation of earnings

Changes in regulations or fiscal policies regarding
repatriation of eamings 1o South Africa in the countries
in which we operate might pose a threat to the MTN
Group, Although this risk is clasely linked with political
risk, it has separate mitigation strategies and we are
treating it as @ separate risk.

+The MTN Group only invests in countries where the
regulatory/exchange control framework is such that
foreign direct investment and repatriation of returns
on such investrments are allowed at the time of
investment. This aspect is a key consideration in due
diligences performed before investment decisions are
finalised. Changes in regulations are closely
monitored.

» Full compliance with import, export, foreign
investment, foreign exchange and tax regulations in
each country

+ Legal and regulatory compliance functions in each
country

* Most operations are sufficiently ring-fenced to limit
the systemic risk 10 the Group of possible failure in
operations

+ Careful constitution of capital structures

Relationships with external shareholders in
operations

The external shareholders of MTN's operations in the rest
of Africa fulfil an important role in the continued success
of these operations. They are often key role players in
establishing good relationships with the local regulating
bodies and subscriber base. Since the inception of the
Group’s expansion strategy, relationships with local
shareholders have been a key strength.

A breakdawn in these relationships could have a
negative impact on MTN’s success.

+ Careful selection of partners and shareholders

- Shareholder representation on the Board of each
operation

- Extensive shareholder agreements

* Regular interaction and discussions between local
shareholders/directors and MTN Group directors
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Risk

D@

Response strategy/control measures

Staffing of new operations

Staffing new operations with an experienced team is
extremely important to ensure successful start-ups.
New operations are normally staffed with a large
contingent of expatriates with the task of recruiting
and training local skills. The expatriate team is highly
specialised and their services are in demand
throughout the Group.

Inability to staff new operations or sufficiently train
local staff could have a significant impact on the
successful start-up of a new operation.

» Human resource strategy

» Dedicated employee poo! to staff new operations

+ Dedicated function to manage expatriate human
resource requirements

+ Staff retention programmes

+ Resource planning processes

+ Training programmes to ensure successful handover
to local staff

Emerging technology
Telecommunications is arguably the fastest-

developing industry from a technology point of view.

Emerging technology in the telecommunications

industry evolves around the convergence of traditional

voice and data into the so-called third and fourth
generation wireless broadband technologies. These

technologies bring both opportunity and risk to MTN.

Future growth in market demand for high-speed
wireless data services is an opportunity to expand
product offerings and grow revenue. This could also
present a competitive threat if not proactively
managed. MTN will continue to perform extensive
research on emerging technology to ensure we
respond to market needs.

Similarly, emerging technology and resultant
legislation often require changes in infrastructure
which could result in significant investment and/or
instability if not well managed.

+ Technology strategy

« Continuous research into emerging technologies and
thelr impact on the market

» Market analysis

- Extensive impact analysis and feasibility assessments

+In-house development teams

« Project management and change management
processes
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Risk management report continued

Risk Response strategy/control measures

Network guality

Quality and availability of our GSM networks are crucial + Network planning
to MTN’s continued success. A key inherent risk to the + Comprehensive generator-powered infrastructure
business is the unexpected failure of the networks or in Nigeria to compensate for unstable power
components due to disasters, hardware or software infrastructure
failure, sabotage, etc. Intensive proactive management + Network redundancy
of this risk in all operations is crucial. - Proactive maintenance

« Network monitering centres in each operation
This risk is adequately mitigated in the more « Continuous and controlled upgrade of netwaork
established operations within the Group, including equipment and software
South Africa, « Disaster recovery plans

+ Service level agreements with suppliers
The network roll-out in Nigeria has been a key focus « Continuous research into technology changes
over the last year and has not met expectations. The « Physical security protection of network infrastructure
logistical arrangements to get network equipmentinto  +1S0 9001 accreditation

Nigeria, obtain sites for base stations and the instability
of the power infrastructure are challenging. Network
coverage and quality has improved significantly as

has MTN's subscriber base. MTN is now the leading
telecommunications provider in Nigeria. Continuous
expansion of network coverage and capacity to keep
up with market demands in Nigeria will remain a key
focus in the short term.

Information systems

MTN depends on information systems to ensure + Information strategy that is aligned to business
excellent customer service, accurate billing and strategy
financial management of the business. + Defined information architecture

« Change management, incident management,
An information system strategy that supports business configuration management procedures
needs is crucial. Control over information systems to « Information security strategy
ensure availability and continuity of systems, * Service level agreements with suppliers
confidentiality of information and data integrity, is key. +implementation of well-known and well-supported
Failure of these mechanisms could resultin significant enterprise resource planning solutions
losses. + A project for the replacement of our billing system

and standardisation across the Group is under way
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Risk Response strategy/control measures
Procurement

Procurement risk refers to the risk of fraud and wasted

expenditure as a result of inadequate procurement

practices and lack of proper controls. This includes:

«Jack of proper procurement/supply chain policies and
procedures

- lack of appropriately skilled procurement resources

- uncontrolled supplier selection

- inefficient procurement

+ poor management of the supply chain

- unauthorised or unnecessary procurement

« poor contract management and supplier
management

Active management of this risk is key as MTN Group
procures almost R12 billion worth of goods and
services per year.

The cusrent focus is to maximise procurement
synergies and standardise procurement practices.
Optimisation of the supply chain in Nigeria is a further
key focus.

+ Standardised procurement policies

« Group procurement function established to
leverage synergies and economies of scale for the
procurement of goods and services in the Group
while ensuring compliance with best practice

- Formal tender processes

- Preferred supplier lists

« Black economic empowerment requirerments

+ Delegation of authority structures

« Budget control

- Anti-fraud strategy

Currency risk
This risk refers to potential losses due 1o currency
fluctuations in the countries where MTN operates.

+ Hedging strategies

Human resource risk

This risk refers to the detrimental impact on the
organisation if we are unable to attract, develop
and retain the right staff in our aperations and
simultaneously meet our responsibilities regarding
employment equity.

« Group Human Resource function

- Employment equity targets and programmes

- Integrated performance management and
development programmes

* Bonus incentive and share option schemes

+ Succession planning

+ AlIDS awareness programme
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Glossary of terms and acronyms

Group companies

MTN,

MTN Group,

the Group MTN Group Limited formerly known
as M-Cell

The following companies are jointly referred to as
MTN South Africa:
MTN Network  Mobile Telephone Networks

QOperator (Proprietary) Limited

MTN Service MTN Service Provider

Provider (Proprietary) Limited formerly
known as M-Tel

e-Bucks New Bucks Holdings (Proprietary)
Limited

i-Talk i-Talk (Proprietary) Limited

Leaf Leaf Wireless (Proprietary) Limited

MTN Cameroon Mobile Telephone Networks
Cameroon Limited

MTN Holdings Mobile Telephone Networks
Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

MTN MTN International

International  (Proprietary) Limited

MTN Mauritius MTN International (Mauritius) Limited

MTN Network  MTN Network Solutions

Solutions (Proprietary) Limited formerly
known as CITEC

MTN Nigeria MTN Nigeria Communications Limited

MTN Rwanda  RwandaCell SARL

MTN Swaziland Swazi MTN Limited

MTN Uganda  MTN Uganda Limited

NEFTO Nigeria Electronic Funds Transfer
: Operation

Orbicom Orbicom (Proprietary) Limited

Supercell Supercell SPRL

Terms and acronyms

Active Pre-paid subscribers that have made

subscribers or received a call in the last 30 days

AGM Annual general meeting

AIDS Acquired Immune Deficiency
Syndrome

ARPU Average revenue per user

ART Agence de Regulation des
Telecommunication

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

BTS Base transceiver station

BsC Base Station Controller

Capable Pre-paid subscribers that have made

subscribers or received a call in the fast 90 days

CEO Chief Executive Officer
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CFA

csl
EBITDA

ECICSA

EPS
GSM

HIV
ICASA

ICT

IFC
ISDN
ISP

IVR

JSE
Johnnic
Mou
MSC
NEPAD

NGN
Newshelf 664
PABX

PAT

PIC
Post-paid
subscribers
Pre-paid
subscribers
R&D

Rand, R
RIVR

RWF

SARS

SOH

SIM

SME

SMS

SNO

SP

SPTC

STM
uUGs
uss
VPN
WLL

Communaute Financiere Africaine
franc

Corporate Social Investment
Earnings Before Interest Tax
Depreciation and Amortisation
Export Credit Insurance Corporation
of South Africa

Earnings per share

Global System for Mobile
Communication

Hurman Immuno deficiency virus
Independent Communications
Authority of South Africa
Information and Communication
Technologies

International Finance Corporation
Integrated Services Digital Network
Internet service provider

Intelligent Voice Recognition

JSE Securities Exchange South Africa
Johnnic Haldings Limited

Minutes of use per subscriber
Mobile Switching Centre

Thne New Partnership for Africa’s
Development

Nigerian Naira

Newshelf 664 (Proprietary) Limited
Private Automatic Branch Exchange
Profit after tax

Public Investment Commission
Subscribers that have a contract

Subscribers without a contract that
purchase pre-paid vouchers
Research and development

South African rand

Remote interactive voice response
Rwanda Franc

South African Revenue Services
Synchranous digital hierarchy
Subscriber identity module

Small medium enterprise

Short message service

Second national operator

Service providers

Swazi Post and Telecommunication
Corporation

Synchrancus Transfer Mode
Ugandan Shillings

United States Dollar

Virtual private network

Wireless local loop
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Statement of Directors’ responsibility
for the year ended 31 March 2004

The Directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of MTN
Group Limited and its subsidiaries, The financial staterments presented on pages 83 to 150 have been prepared in
accardance with Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("GAAP™ in South Africa, and include amounts
based on judgements and estimates made by management.

The Directors consider that, in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting
policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all
Statermnents of GAAP that they consider to be applicable have been followed. The Directors are satisfied that the
information contained in the financial staternents fairly presents the results of operations for the year and the financial
position of the Group and Company at year-end.

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting records are kept. The accounting records disclose, with
reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Group and Company to enable the directors to ensure that the
financial staternents comply with relevant legislation.

MTN Group Limited and its subsidiaries operate in an established contro! enviranment, which is documented and
regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk management and internal cantrol procedures, which are designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being
controlled.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Directors have na reason to
believe that the Group will not be a going concern in the year ahead, based on forecasts and available cash résources.

These financial statements support the viability of the Group and Company.

The Group’s external auditors, PricewaterhiouseCoopers Incorporated and SizweNtsaluba vsp Incorporated, audited the
financial statements and their report is presented on page 82

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements, which appear on pages 83 to 150 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 10 June 2004 and are signed on its behalf by:

d]

PF Nhleko RD Nisbet

Group Chief Executive Officer Group Finance Director
Sandton

10 June 2004
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Certificate by the Company Secretary

for the year ended 31 March 2004 ‘@;

In my opinion as Company Secretary, | hereby confirm, in terms of the Companies Act, 1973, that for the year ended
31 March 2004, the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required of a public
company in terms of this Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

MMR Mackintosh

Company Secretary

Sandton
10 June 2004
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Report of the independent auditors
for the year ended 31 March 2004

TO THE MEMBERS OF MTN GROUP LIMITED

We have audited the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements of MTN Group Limited set out
on pages 83 1o 150 for the year ended 31 March 2004, These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's directors. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

Scope

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of South African Auditing Standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial staterents are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes:

- examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial staterments,
- assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managemant;and
» evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Audit opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and
the Group at 31 March 2004 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the manner required by the
Companies Act in South Africa.

‘Rmmmne%m T CirveNbiahuba V3P A,

PricewaterhouseCocopers Inc. SizweNtsaluba vsp Inc.

Registered Accountants and Auditors Registered Accountants and Auditors
Charrered Accountants (SA) Chartered Accountants (SA)

2 Eglin Road 1 Woodmead Drive

Sunninghill Woodmead

10 June 2004 10 June 2004
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Directors’report ! |

for the year ended 31 March 2004 @:

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial staternents for the year ended 31 March 2004,

NATURE OF BUSINESS
MTN Group Limited ("MTN Group or the Company”) carries on the business of investing in the telecommunications and
satellite signal distribution industries through its subsidiaries, as follows:

Mobile Telephone Networks Holdings (Proprietary) Limited (“MTN Holdings”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of MTN Group, is the holding company of a group of companies that operate telecommunications networks and
provide refated services 1o subscribers in six countries. MTN Holdings conducts its business through a number of
directly and indirectly held subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

The main subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are as follows:

Subsidiaries:

+ Mobile Tetephone Networks {Proprietary) Limited {"MTN Network Operator”), a cellular network operator;

« MTN Service Provider (Proprietary) Limited {"MTN Service Provider”), a cellular service provider;

« MTN International (Proprietary) Uimited {"MTN International”), the holding company of the Group's telephony
operations in territories outside of South Africa;

+ MTN International (Mauritius) Limited ("MTN Mauritius”);

+ MTN Nigeria Communications Limited ("MTN Nigaria";

- Mohbile Telaphone Networks Cameroon Limited ("MTN Cameroon'); and

« Nigerian Electionic Funds Transfer Operations Limited.

Joint ventures (between MTN Group and other parties):

+ MTN Network Solutions (Proprietary) Limited ("MTN Network Solutions”);
» Swazi MTN Limited ("MTN Swaziland”);

- RwandaCell SARL ("MTN Rwanda®); and

« MTN Uganda Limitad "MTN Uganda”).

Associates:

* MTN Publicom Limited (Uganda);

- i-Talk (Proprietary) Limited;

+ New Bucks (Proprietary) Limited;

« Leaf Wireless (Proprietary) Limited; and
« MTN Villagephone Limited (Uganda).

Orbicom (Proprietary) Limited (“Orbicom”), another wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, is a leading satellite
signal distributor in Africa.

Details of the entities in which MTN Group has a direct or indirect interest are set out in Annexures 1 and 2 of the
financial statements on pages 148 and 149.

During the year, MTN Group disposed of a 4,5% stake in MTN Nigeria as part of the mediurn-term financing
arrangements for that subsidiary, as well as its strategy of increasing local equity participation in MTN Nigeria. The

Group also acquired an additional 9% of the equity of MTN Rwanda.

The Board of Directors has resotved to explore the possible disposal of Orbicom.
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Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY
The following acted as directors during the year:

DDB Band **

St Botha (appointed 7 July 2003)

I Charnley

ZNA Cindi **

RS Dabengwa

PL Heinamann **

SN Mabaso**

PF Nhieko (Chief Executive Officer)

RD Nisbet

MC Ramaphosa ** (Chairman)

JHN Strydom™* (appointed 11 March 2004)
AF van Biljon**

LC Webb** (aiternate 1o SN Mabaso)

PL Zim {resigned 30 September 2003)
JRD Modise** (alternate to MC Ramaphosa) (resigned 25 August 2003)
** Non-executive

The Company Secretary is MMR Mackintosh, whose business and postal addresses are set out below:

Business address Postal address
3 Alice Lane Private Bag 9955
Sandown Extension 38 Sandton
Sandton 2146

2196

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

During the financial year, no contracts were enterad into in which directors and officers of the Company had an interest
and which significantly affected the business of the Group. The directors had no interest in any third party or company
responsible for managing any of the business activities of the Group. The emoluments and parquisites of executive
directors are determined by the Group Nominations, Remuneration and Human Resources Committee. No long-term
service contracts exist between executive directors and the Campany, with the exception of the contract of service
between the Group CEO and the Company, which commenced on 1 July 2002 and has a duration of five years.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2004 E 2003
Rm | Rm

Aggregate net profits in:

[

| !
Subsidiaries ! 4450 | 2658
Joint ventures { 143 J 146
Assoclated companies | 10 | 4
| a603 | 2508

Aggregate net losses in: g I
MIN Group Company - amortisation of goodwill | (596) / (597)
Subsidiaries ( (306) | 72
Joint ventures | - (2)
Associated companies ( M, 3}
| (903) | 874)
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The financial staternents on pages 83 to 150 set out the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the
Group.Note 1 to the financial statements provides an analysis of the financial results by geographic segment.

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Authorised share capital
There has been no change in the authorised share capital of the Company.

Issued share capital

The issued share capital of the Company was increased during the year by the allotment and issuing to the
beneficiaries of the MTN Staff incentive Trust {"the MTN Debenture Trust”) of the following ordinary share allotments in
respect of the acguisition of 1 414 907 MTN Holdings ordinary shares from such beneficiaries (refer page 88):

121330 at R13.26 on 15 April 2003
© 3447521 atR1294 on 4 June 2003
208 167 at R16,42 on 7 August 2003
537 485 3t R2345 on 4 December 2003
88375 at R2345 on 11 Febiruary 2004

The issued share capital of the Company was further increased during the year by the following share allotments and
issues to employees who exercised share options in terms of the MTN Group Share Option Scheme;

1865501 at 13,53
476 320 atRo31

Accordingly, at 31 March 2004, the issued share capital of the Company was R165 880 (2003 R165 206) comprising
1658 802 355 (2003:1 652 057 646) ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each (befare exclusion of treasury stock of
1078 297 (2003: 2 098 271) shares) held by the MTN Group Share Trust.

Unissued share capital

The unissued ordinary shares are the subject of a general autharity granted to the Directars in terms of section 221 of
the Cormnpanies Act, 1973 (Act No 61 of 1973) ("the Companies Act or the Act”). As this general authority remains valid
only until the next annual general meeting, which is to be held on 18 August 2004, members will be asked at that
meeting to consider an ordinary resofution placing the said unissued ordinary shares up to a maximum of 10% of

the Company's issued share capital under the control of the Directors until the 2005 annual general meeting.

Acquisition of the Company’s own shares

At the last annual general meeting of 29 September 2003, shareholders gave the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a
general authority in terms of sections 85 and 89 of the Act, by way of a special resolution, for the acquisition of shares of
the Company. As this general authority remains valid only until the next annual general meeting, which is to be held on
18 August 2004, members will be asked at that meeting to consider a special resolution to renew this general approval
until the 2005 annual general meeting

Distribution to shareholders

A dividend of 41 cents per share (2003: Nily amounting to a total of R680 million was declared in respect of the 2004
year on 10 June 2004, payable to shareholders registered on 2 July 2004.
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Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST
Major shareholders
The following information was extracted from the Company's share register at 31 March 2004

| 2004 i 2003
| % of } 9% of
Nominees holding shares in excess of 5% of the | Number issued share | Number issued share
ordinary issued share capital of the Company: J of shares capital | of shares capital
Nedcor Nominees Holdings (Proprietary) Limited } 629 193 999 37,93 , 460 773 466 27,89
Standard Bank Nominees (Tvl) (Proprietary) Limited | 460293756 27,75 789 555 442 47,79
First National Nominees (Proprietary) Limited z 143 525 925 8,65 1 n/a n/a
ABSA Nominees (Proprietary) Limited i 104 407 544 6,29 ! n/a n/a
Spread of ordinary shareholders ‘1’
Public 11346676 063 81,18 J 742484 942 44,94
Nonspublic 312126292 18,82 | 909 572 704 55,06
!
- Divectors of MTN Group Limited and i
major subsidiaries 1416 347 0,09 1593656 0,09
- MTN Group Share incentive Scheme 1078 297 0,06 | 2098 271 0,13
- MTN Group Employees 631648 0,04 535514 0,03
~ Johnnic Holdings Limited n/a n/al 596 345 263 36,10
- Newshelf 664 (Proprietary) Limited* 309 000 000 18,63 } 309 000 000 18,71
Total issued share capital f 1658 B02 355 100,00 ; 1652057 646 100,00

*  Although Newshelf 664 (Proprietary) Limited ("Newshelf 664°) has an economic interest in 309 million MTN Group shares, it currently only has
voting rights over 253 miflion MTN Group shares. Further detaifs of the Newshelf 664 shareholding are provided on page 94.

Disclosures in accardance with section 140A(8){a} of the Companies Act and paragraph 8.63 of the JSE Listings
Requirements

According to information received by the directors, the following shareholders held shares in excess of 5% of the
ordinary issued share capital:

] 2004 ; 2003

i % of { % of

! Number issued share | Number  issued share
Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more ! of shares capital ,r of shares capital
Newshelf 664 (Proprietary) Limited” } 309 000 000 18,63 | 309 000 000 1871
Johnnic Holdings Limited ) n/a n/a (y 596 345 263 36,10
Pubfic Investment Commissioners [ 171012112 10,31 ( n/a n/a

*  Although Newshelf 664 has an economic interest in 309 miflion #MTN Group shares, it currently only has voting rights over 253 million (TN Group
shares. Further details of the Newshelf 664 shareholding are provided on page 94.

Cenain of these shareholdings are partially or wholly included in the nominee companies mentioned above. Apart from
this, the Company is not aware of any other party who has a shareholding of more than 5% in the Company.
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THE MTN GROUP SHARE OPTION AND INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The Company operates share option and incentive schemes {“the schemes”) and eligible empioyees, including
executive directors, are able to participate in accordance with the schemes' rules. The schemes are designed to
recognise the contributions of executive directors and eligible staff and to provide additional incentives for them to
contribute to the Company's continued growth,

in terms of the schemes, the total number of shares which may be allocated for the purposes of the schernes shalt not
exceed 5% of the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company from time to time, being 81 799 691 shares.

MTN Group Share Option Scheme (“the Option Scheme”)
The following information is provided in accordance with the provisions of the Option Scheme:

Less: Options no longer reserved due to participants leaving the

2004 | 2003
Number g Number
i ofshares | of shares
Options aftocated and reserved at beginning of year 26028 930 : 10232410
3779540 } 17 160 539
|
|
|

i
|
{
i
E
Add: Options allocated and reserved |
i

employ of the Group and lapsing of offers (1289223} (1364019
Less:Options exercised and allotted (2439641) ~
Options allocated at end of year f 26 079 606 : 26028930

The vesting periods under the Option Scheme are as follows: 20%, 20%, 30% and 30% at each anniversary of each of
the second, third, fourth and fifth years after the grant date of the options, respectively. The strike price for the options is
determined as the closing market price for MTN Group Limited shares on the date of issue. All options will expire ten
years after date of offer.

Options exercised during the year yielded the following proceeds, after transaction costs:

26 079 606 26028930

| 2004 | 2003

| Rm | Rm
Ordinary share capital - at par j * -
Share premium | 30975 | -
Proceeds | 30975 -
Fair value, at exercise date, of shares issued ‘ 60 554 -
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following terms:
? 2004 | 2003
! Number Exercise Remaining } Number Exercise Remaining
} outstanding price  contractual life | outstanding price contractual fife
| at 31 March R {years) | at 31 March R (years)
' 6814 647 13,53 7,40 | 9452791 13,53 8,50
‘ 399 400 12,88 848 | 399 400 1288 958
l 15086019 9,31 848 | 16176 739 9,31 9,58
ﬁ 959 540 16,81 8,98 | - - -
| 2820000 27,00 9,30 | - - -
; T
{ :

* Amount less than R1 million
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Directors’ report continued
for'the year ended 31 March 2004

MTN Group Share Incentive Scheme (“the Incentive Scheme”)

This incentive Scheme was established when the Company formed part of MultiChoice Limited and no allocations have
been made under this schere since 2001, Al share options granted will expire by 2011.The following information is
provided in accordance with the provisians of the Incentive Scheme:

| 2004 | 2003
| Number | Number
3
| of shares | ofshares
Shares allotted and issued to the share trust at beginning of year 1 2098271 1 2235807
Less: Shares purchased by participants (922 154) | (137 538)
[

|

3 )
Less: Shares allotted and issued 1o participants in the Option Scheme t (97 820)

[ 1078207 | 209827

Shares allocated and reserved in previous years 3279881 3279317
Less: Shares no longer reserved due to participants leaving the employ of the
Group and participants selling shares back 1o ths trust

Add: Shares held by share trust at end of year and available for allocation

|
3178642) (2250 218)
977 058 ’ 1069 170

1078 297 ; 2098 271

Shares held by share trust at end of year

One third of the shares allocated with deferred delivery vest on the anniversary of each of the third, fourth and fifth
years after the grant date of the shares or options and expire ten years after the date of offer. Unvested and vested but
not exercised shares are subject to cancellation upon termination of employment.

MTN Staff Incentive Scheme (“the MTN Debenture Scheme”)

in terms of the MTN Debenture Scheme, which was established prior to MTN Holdings becoming a wholly awned
subsidiary of MTN Group, debentures, upon vesting, are compulsorily converted into MTN Holdings ordinary shares on a
ane for one basis. MTN Group agreed to acquire the MTN Holdings  ordinary shares in exchange for MTN Group ordinary
shares based on valuations and a formula agreed upon by the Boards of the respective companies. Historically, the
exchange ratio used has approximated 3.1 MTN Group ordinary shases for each MTN Holdings ordinary share. A total of
188 917 (2003:1 639 042) debentures were outstanding as at 31 March 2004. The number of participants remaining in
the scheme as at 31 March 2004 was 315 (2003: 745). Since inception of the MTN Debenture Scheme, MTN Group has
issued 36 295 747 ordinary shares for MTN Holdings shares acquired under the MTN Debenture Scheme. The last issue
of debentures took place in December 2000 Debentures bear interest at a rate not less than the “official rate of interest”
according to South African Revenue Service and will vest an 1 December 2004.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
MTN Group Share Option Scheme

Year ended 31 March 2004

Options \‘ !
Balance at  allocated Option Exercised { Balance
beginning  during the offer Date of during i atend |Exercisable Offer  Exercisable
of year year price  alfocation the year i of year 1 options price date
MTN Group 1 i
| Charnley 280 000 - R1353  28/09/01 50000 { 230000 | 43333 RI353  28/09/02
528 900 - RO3T  02/09/02 - | 528500 [ 93333 R1353  28/09/03
808 900 [ 758 900 \[ 105 780 R931T  02/09/04
| I e3338  RI353 28/09/04
; [ los7a0 RIIL  02/09/05
i { 158 670 RO31  02/09/06
[ | 15670 RO 02/09/07
SL Botha - 959540 RI681  07/07/03 - | 959540 1 191 908 R1681  07/07/05
{ i 191908 RIG81  07/07/06
‘[ & 17862 RIGSI 0707407
i [ 287862 RI681  07/07/08
RS Dabengwa 330 700 - RZ31  0D2/05/02 - ! 330700 | 65140 RS3T  02/09/04
-~ 291100 R2700  01/12/03 - | 291100 [ es140 R93T 02/09/05
| 621800 i 58 220 R2700  01/12/05
J I 9210 RO 02/09/06
| } 58220 R27,00  01/12/06
] “ 99210 R931T  02/09/07
| ;87330 R270D 0112407
! ‘ 87330 R2700  01/12/08
RD Nisbet 935 800 - R931  02/09/02 - | e33800 | 187160 R931  02/09/04
- 64 500 R27,00  01/12/03 - 1 64 500 1 187 160 R93T  02/09/05
11 000 300 ( 12900 R2700  01/12/05
] (280740 931 02/05/05
{ s 12900 R2700  OU/12/06
1‘ | 280740 R931  02/09/07
\ i 19350 R2700 01412407
i {930 R e
PF Nhieko 2388 700 - R931  02/09/02 - }2 388700 | 477740 RG31  02/09/04
‘l \, 477 740 RO 02/09/05
| l 716 610 R231  02/09/06
; bo718610 R931  02/09/07
PLZim ~ 682 900 - RI353  28/09/01 136 580 i Resigned [
;
1 i
MMR Mackintosh * 24100 - R931  02/09/02 - 24100 4820 R9.31  02/09/04
| j 4820 R33T  02/0%/05
! ; 7230 R931  02/09/06
| ! 7230 R931  02/09/07
* Group Company Secreiary
~  Mr Zim resigned on 30 September 2003
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Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS {continued)
MTN Group Share Option Scheme (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2004 (cantinued)

i

!

Options ; i

Balance ai  allocated Option Exercised ] Balance E
beginning  during the offer Date of during | atend ! Exercisable Offer  Exercisable
of year year price allocation the year l of year ‘f options orice date

MTN subsidiaries ]

K Badimo 365 100 - R931  02/09/02 - | Resigned t
Z Butbulia 75 600 - R13,53 28/09/01 -1 75900 } 15180 Ri353  28/09/03
92 400 - R3.31 02/09/02 -1 92400 | 18 480 R9.31 02/09/04
~ 24700 R2700  01/12/03 - ’ 24700 J 15180 R13,53  28/09/04
168 300 J 193 0G0 ] 1§ 480 R9.31 02/09/05
i L 22770 1353 28/09/05
A | 4940 R2700  01/12/08
i | 27720 R931  02/09/06
i : 22770 R1353  28/09/06
| I 4340 R2700 01712106
! | 27720 RO.3V  02/09/07
[ ( 7410 R700  01/12/07
i ! 7 410 R2700  01/12/08
I Hassen - 160500 R2700  01/12/03 - | 160500 | 32100 R2700  01/12/05
) : 32100 R27,00  01/12/06
J [ 48150 R27.00  01/12/07
| | 48 150 /2700 01/12/08
1B McGrath 529600 - R9,31 02/09/02 - j 529 600 ] 105 920 R9.31 02/05/04
| v 105920 R9.31 02/09/05
| 158 880 R9.31 02/09/06
| l 158 830 R931  02/09/07
FL Molusi 148 200 - R%.31 02/09/02 - 1 148200 | 29640 RG.31 02/09/04
| I 20640 RO3T  02/09/05
! | 44460 R931  02/09/06
\ | 24460 RO31 02/09/07
Y Muthien 407 600 - R33N 02/09/02 81520 ‘ 326080 ! 0 R9.31 02/09/03
. / / 81520 R9,31 02/09/04
| Y 122280 RS,31 02/09/05
| r‘ 122280 RS,31 02/09/06
PD Norman 550100 - R3,31 02/05/02 - ) 550700} 110020 R9.31 02/09/04
| f 110020 R331  02/09/G5
1 ! 165 030 R9,31 02/09/06
i | 165030 RS.31  02/09/07
KW Pienaar 620 600 - R9.31 02/09/02 - i 620600 } 124120 R931  02/09/04
‘[ f 124120 R9.31  02/09/05
i i 186180 R9,31  02/09/058
i 186 180 R8.31 02/09/07
MH Steinlechner 207 900 - RS31  02/09/02 - 1 207900 1 41480 R3V  02/09/04
| ! 41 480 R9,31 02/09/05
) [ 62 370 R9.31  02/09/06
‘; | 62 370 R9,31 02/09/07
CG Utton 350 600 - R231 02/09/02 - / 356G 600 { 70120 RY,31 02/09/04
- 83 200 R2700  01/12/03 -\ 83200 ‘\ 70120 R9.31 42/09/35
| 433800 16640 R27.00  01/12/05
( 105180 k9,31 02/09/06
16 640 R2700  01/12/06

24 950 R27,00  01/12/07

‘)e
| i 105180 R9.31 02/09/07
o
i : 24 950 R2700  01/12/08
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EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS (continued)

MTN Group Share Option Scheme {continued)
Year ended 31 March 2003

Qptians
Balance at  allocated Option Exercised Balance
beginning  during the offer Date of during atend Exercisable Offer  Exercisable
of year year price  allocation the year of year aptions price date
MTN Group

t Charnley 280000 - R1353  02/09/02 - 808 300 93333 R1353  28/09/02
- 528 900 R9,31 G3333 R1353  28/09/03
105 780 R9,31 02/09/04
93334 RI353  28/09/04
105 780 R9,31 02/09/05
158 670 R9.31  02/09/06
158670 R9.31 02/09/07
RS Dabengwa - 330770 R931  02/09/02 - 330 700 66 140 R9.31  02/09/04
66 140 R9.31  02/09/05
99210 R931  02/09/06
99210 RO31  02/09/07
RD Nisbet - 935 800 Rg,31 02/09/02 - 935 800 187 160 R9.31 02/09/04
187 160 R9.31 02/09/05
280740 R9,31  02/09/06
280740 R9,31  02/09/07
PF Nhieko - 2388700 R9,31 02/09/02 - 2388700 477 740 RS.31 02/09/04
477 740 R9.31 02/09/05
716610 R9.31  02/09/06
716610 R3.31 02/09/07
PL Zim 682 900 - R13,53 - - 682 900 136 580 R1353  02/05/03
136 580 R1353  02/09/04
204870 R13,53  02/09/05
204 870 R1353  02/09/06

MTN subsidiaries
K Badimo - 365100 RO 02/09/02 - 365100 73020 R9.31  02/05/04
73020 R9.31 02/05/05
109 530 R9.31 02/09/06
109 530 R9,31 02/09/07
Z Bulbulia 75 900 - R1353  02/09/02 - 168 300 15180 R1353  28/09/03
- 92 400 R9.31 18480 R9.31  02/09/04
15180 R1353  28/09/04
18 480 RS.31 02/09/05
22770 R1353  28/09/05
27720 R9.31 02/0%/06
22770 R1353  28/09/06
27720 R9.31 02/09/07
JB McGrath - 529600 Rg.31 02/0%/02 - 529 600 105 920 R9.31 02/09/04
105 920 RS,31 02/09/05
158 880 R931  02/09/06
158 880 R9.31  02/09/07
PD Norman - 550 100 R9,31 02/09/02 - 550100 110020 R9,31 02/09/04
110020 R9.31 02/09/05
165030 R931 02/09/06
165 030 R9,31 02/09/07
KW Pienaar - 620 600 R3,31 02/09/02 - 620 600 124120 R9,37 02/09/04
124120 R931  02/09/05
186180 R9,31 02/09/06
186 180 R9,31 02/09/07
CG Uton - 350 600 RG,31  02/09/02 - 350 600 70120 RS,31  02/09/04
70120 R931  02/09/05
105180 R3,31 02/05/06
105180 R9.31 02/09/07

The exercise of options and resulting share trades can be viewed under ‘directors” share dealings'on page 93,

MTN Business Report 2004

91




. ’ .
Directors’ report continued o
for the year ended 31 March 2004
MTN Staff Incentive Scheme ‘
Year ended 31 March 2004
MTN 1 Balance ‘ .
Group | of |
Quantity shares | deben- : Future
Balance at vested awarded ; tures ] deben- Date .
beginning lssue  Date of during  Vesting during | atend ! ture Issue of
! i
of year price  allocation  the year date  theyear ! ofyear J vestings price vesting .
MTN Group J
RS Dabengwa 120779 R3643  01/12/99 60390 01/12/03 187 703 60389 60389 R3643  G1/12/04
RD Nisbet 214 664 R1311 03/06/98 214664 03/06/03 667 909 Al vested : l
MTN subsidiaries { i .
Z Bulbulia 13730 R1311  03/05/98 13730 03/06/03 42720 iAH vested {
JB McGrath 64 642 R1311  03/06/98 54642 03/06/03 201 124 iAll vested ! .
FL Molusi 7796 R3643 01/12/98 3898 01/12/03 2116 f 3898 ‘ 3898 R3643  01/12/04
T
Y Muthien® 28433 R8441  01/12/00 28433 11/02/04 88375 IAll vested f .
PD Norman 61006 R13,11  03/05/98 61006 03/06/03 189814 éAll vested ‘[
KW Pienaar 189294 RIZIT 03/06/98 189254 0305403 588969 All vested ‘
L !
CG Utton 31110 R3643 01/12/99 15555 01/12/03 48 348 { 15 555 J‘ 15555 R3643  01/12/04
Year ended 31 March 2003 ‘
MTN Group
RS Dabengwa 181169 R3643 01/12/59 60390 01/12/02 187 574 120779 50 350 R3643 01/12/03 .
60 389 R36,43 01/12/04
RO Nisbet 16 604 R9,95 01/09/97 16604 01/09/02 51673 -
429329 R1311  03/06/98 214665 03/06/02 667909 214664 214654 Ri1Z11 03/06/03 .
MTN subsidiaries
Z Bulbulia 2753 RG,95  01/09/97 2753 01/09/02 §571 - .
27 460 R137071  03/06/98 13730 03/06/02 42711 13730 13730 RI1311  03/06/03
JB McGrath 11657 R995 01/09/97 11657 (1/09/02 38275 - '
129284 R1311  03/05/98 64642  03/06/02 201088 64 642 64 642 R1311 03/06/03
FL Molusi 11694 R3643  01/12/99 3898 01/12/02 12107 - 3898 R3643  01/12/03 .
7796 3898 R36,43 01/12/04
PD Norman 12 060 ROO5S 01/09/97 12080 01/09/02 37532 - ‘
122012 R13,11 03/06/98 61006 03/08/02 189 777 61 006 &1 006 R13,11  (03/05/03
KW Pienaar 15023 R9.95 01/09/97 15023 01/09/02 46756 - .
378588 R1311 03/06/98 189284 03/06/02 185 294 189294 189294 Ri311  03/06/03
CG Utton 46 665 R36,43 01/12/9% 15555 (0171202 48 315 jttio 15555 R3643 01/12/03 .
15555 R3643  01/12/03
* By way of resolution passed by the trustees of the MTN Debenture Scheme, and in agreement with Dr Murhien all of her outstanding debentures
were vested on 11 February 2004. The resulting shares were sold and the associated loan account setited iv full Dr Muthien was issued share .
options as compensation
The share trades resulting from the debenture conversions can be viewed under ‘directors” share dealings’on page 93. .
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
The interests of the directors and alternate directors in the ordinary shares of the Company were as follows:

Beneficial Non-beneficial

[ 2008 | 203 [ 2008 2003
DDB Band [ 14023 | 14023 | - -
| Charnley f 43 800 ( 43 800 -~ -
RD Nisbet™ P1ittese | 1203157 - -
7 Bulbuhia* (major subsidiary director) ’1 20871 | 28 151 ; - \ -
3B McGrath* (major subsidiary director) ] - - ]l 216587 | 215463
PD Norman* (major subsidiary director) | - | -~ | 10000 | 25 Q00

Shores acquired through the MTN Debenture Scheme.
No changes occurred to the above outlined shareholding subsequent to year-end until 10 June 2004.

DIRECTORS’ SHARE DEALINGS
Share trades by directors to 31 March 2004

Average Date of
Shates sald  price obtained last sale
MTN Group
| Charnley® 50 000 R32,51 17/03/04
RS Dabengwat 187703 R30,34 20/02/04
RD WNishett 760000 R26,72 03/03/04
PL Zim®~ 136 580 R27,52 02/12/03
MTN subsidiaries
Z Bulbulia# 50000 R23,14 04/03/04
JB McGrath# 200 000 R22,12 16/03/04
FL Molusi® 12116 R28,06 18/12/03
PD Norman# 206 308 R15,75 10/07/03
K Pienaart 588 969 R16,13 15/07/03
CG Uttond 48 348 R29,38 24/02/04
O Shares exercised under the MTN Group Share Option Scheme
#  Shares acquired through the MTN Debenture Scheme
~  Mr Zim resigned on 30 September 2003
Derivatives traded by director
Sale price
Call options Strike price obtained per Date of
sold call options call option fransaction
PF Nhleko 395000 R9,31 R22,51 25/03/04
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Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MTN GROUP HELD THROUGH NEWSHELF 664

Newshelf 664 has an econamic interest in 309 million MTN Group shares (eguivalent to 18,6% (2003 18,7%) of the
issued share capital of MIN Group). These shares were acquired from ICE Finance BY/ Transnet Limited at an average
price of R13,90 per share between December 2002 and March 2003. As a result of the funding structure for the
purchase of these shares, Newshelf 664 currently has voting rights over 253 million MTN Group shares (equivalent to
15,25% of the total voting rights of MTN Group). Pursuant to a contractual undertaking contained in the original
agreements for the funding of Newshelf 664, and as a prerequisite to the funders entering into the funding
arrangements, Newshelf 664 was obliged to enter into a hedging transaction in terms of which voting rights in
respect of a maximum of 65,5 miffion MTN Group shares are the subject of a scrip-lend. Accordingly, this percentage
of 15,25% may decrease to 14,7% over the term of the funding agreements.

Newshelf 664's ordinary shares are held by a trust ('the Trust’) for the benefit of eligible permanent staff employed by
MTN Group and its South African subsidiaries as well as eligible senior staff members of its African operations. This is
expected to benefit approximately 2 400 eligible employees, Such benefits will vest over the six-year funding period but
will not be wradeable until all obligations, including all debt and equity-related funding obligations to several financing
institutions, have been met.

The Trust has five trustees, two of whom are directors of MTN Group, namely PF Nhieko and | Charnley. The other
trustees, W Lucas-Bull, PM Jenkins and Z Sithole are independent. Furthermore, all the directors of Newshelf 664 have
been appointed by the Trust, such directors being PF Nhieko, | Charnley, RD Nisbet and RS Dabengwa (jointly,"the
Newshelf Directors’). The Newshelf Directors as well as SL Botha {ointly,‘the Executive Directors”) are also included
amongst the eligible employees who are potential beneficiaries of the Trust. Consequently, the interests of the Executive
Directors in respect of the MTN Group shares held by Newshelf 664 are as follows:

« As a result of being trustees of the Trust, PF Nhieko and | Charnley, together with the other trustees, have an indirect,
non-beneficial interest in the MTN Group shares which are currently held by Newshelf 664,

+ As a result of being directors of Newshelf 664, the Newshelf Directors have an indirect, beneficial interest in respect of
the voting rights pertaining 1o the MTN Group shares which are currently held by Newshelf 664

« As a result of being beneficiaries of the Trust, the Executive Directors have an indirecr, beneficial interest in the MTN
Group shares which are currently held by Newshelf 664. This beneficial interest is in the form of rights 1o participate in
a predetermined ratio ('the participation ratio’) in the net surplus in Newshelf 664 (if any) which may arise once all of
Newshelf 664's obligations have been met, including settlement of all funding. Certain of the financial institutions who
funded the acquisition of the MTN Group shares also participate in the growth of the MTN Group shares. The
participation ratio in the net surplus of Newshelf 664 of each Executive Director is as follows:

- PF Nhieko 7,9270% (2003:7.9270%)
- Charnley 5,5869% (2003:5,5869%)
- RS Dabengwa 5,5869% (2003; 5,5869%)
~RD Nisbet 5.5869% (2003:5,5869%)
-SL Botha 1,1634% (2003:Nil)

~PL Zim Nil (2003: 5,586%%)

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Trust Deed, the rights to participate will accrue to the Executive Directors in
equal tranches of 16,6666% per annum for six years on the condition that in the event that any Executive Director is not
in the emplay of the MTN Group at the end of the six-year period, he or she will only be entitled 1o that percentage of
the rights to participate, which will have vested prior to the Executive Director feaving the empfay of the MTN Group.
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In addition, the Newshelf Directors have exercised an option to participate in the economic benefits attaching to the
redeemable praferance shares and the participatng preference shares held by the Public lnvestment Commissioners
("PIC, as funders to Newshelf 664, for which option the Newshelf Directors paid an amount of RS milfion (2003:

RS million). It was announced on SENS on 26 September 2003, that with the resignation of Mr PL Zim with effect from
30 Septernber 2003, his participation in such preference shares was offered, in terms of pre-emptive rights and subject
to the approval by the PIC which is outstanding, to the remaining MTN executive directors namely Mr PF Nhieko,

Ms | Charnley, Mr RS Dabengwa and Mr RD Nisbet The capital acquisition consideration paid by each executive
director 1o the PIC in the 2003 financial year and to the PIC and Mr Zim in the 2004 financial year was as follows:

- PF Nhieko

— | Charnley

- RS Dabengwa
- RD Nisbet
~-PLZim

R1612577 (2003:R1

315 500)

R1 129 141 (2003:R921 125)
R1 129 147 (2003:R921 125)
R1 129147 (2003:R921 125)

R Nil

{(2003:R921 125)

The Executive Directors thus have an indirect beneficial interest in the MTN Group shares acquired by Newshelf 664 to
the extent that the proceeds of such shares (dividends and capital) are required to service and settle the preference

share funding provided by the PIC, but only to the extent of the proportion that their funding of the preference shares
bears to the total PIC funding.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND RELATED PAYMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2004

Retire-
Directors’ Fees and ment Other
Date Date fees salaries benefits benefits  Bonus Total
appointed resigned R’000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R’000 R'000
Executive directors
PF Nhieko (CEQ) 01Jut 02 3655 332 613 9200 13800
SL Botha 07 Jul 03 1367 192 933 2028 4520
| Charnley 01 Aug 01 1523 220 337 2098 4178
RS Dabengwa 01 0ct 01 1880 249 164 2625 4918
RD Nisbet 01 0ct 01 1623 238 430 2509 4 800
Non-executive directors
DDB Band 01 0ct 0 472 472
ZNA Cindi 23 Apr 99 374 374
PL Helnamann 01 0ct 01 498 498
MC Ramaphosa 01 0ct 01 586 586
JRD Modise* (alternate
to MC Ramaphosa) 01 Oct 01 25 Aug 03 25 25
SN Mabaso™* 01 Jul 02 210 210
AF van Biljon 01 Nov 02 465 465
LC Webb** (atternate
10 SN Mabaso) 15 Nov 00 82 82
JHN Strydom 11 Mar 04 35 35
Past director
PL Zim 010ct 01 30Sep 03 360 110 306 1376
2747 11008 1341 2783 18460 36339

* Paid to Johnnic Holdings Management Services Limited

** Paid 1o Transnet Limited
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Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND RELATED PAYMENTS (cantinued)
Year ended 31 March 2003

Retire-
Directors’  Fees and ment Other
Date Date fees  salaries  benefis  benefits  Bonuses Tota)

appointed  resigned R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Executive directors

PF Nhleko (CEO) 01 Jul 02 2436 234 500 5662 8832
| Charnley 01 Aug 01 1352 198 318 1332 3200
RS Dabengwa 01 0ct 01 1656 220 166 1176 3218
RD Nisber 01 Oct 01 1362 198 305 1 954 3829
PL Zim 01 0ct 1 1484 198 105 2091 3878
Non-executive directors

DDB Band 01 Oct 01 432 432
ZNA Cindi 23 Apr99 265 265
PL Heinamann 01 Oct 01 472 472
MC Ramaphosa 01 Oct 01 660 660
JRD Modise~ (alternate

to MC Ramaphosa) 01 Oct 01 20 20
SN Mabaso** 01 Jul 02 160 160
AF van Bifjon 01 Nov 02 157 157
LC Webb** (alternate 1o

SN Mabaso) 15 Nov 00 46 46
Past directors

P Edwards 01 Aug 01 30 Jun 02 6803 - 553 3711 11 0674
PF Nhieka 28Jun01 01 Jul 02 115 15
CR Jardine** 15 Nov 00 15 Qct 02 199 199

2526 15093 1048 1947 15936 36 550

* Paid 10 Johnnic Holdings Management Services Limited

** Paid ta Transnet Limited

#  Mr P Edwards ceased 1o be Chief Execunive Officer and a director of MTN Group with effect from 30 June 2002, but remained a consultant to the
Company until 31 July 2003. His directars emolumernis and related payments include an amount of R8,3 million, comprising salary, bonus ond
settlernent components, paid to him during the prior year. This represented the Company's entire obligaticn in terms of the contracted settlement
and advisory arrangements, discounted back to the payment date. The Company has no further obligation towards Mr Edwards. Mr Edward's
held 500 000 share options which were exercised in December 2003,
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Performance bonuses

Performance bonuses for executive diractors are linked to operational and financial value drivers pertaining to business
performance against budget for individual operations and the MTN Group as a whole. These value drivers are
determined by the Board every year in respect of the next financial year. Each executive director's performance bonus is
conditional upon achievement of their specific value drivers and key performance indicatars, which are structured 1o
retain a balance between the performance of entities for which they are directly responsible, and that of the Group.In
order to align incentive awards with the performance to which they relate, bonuses above reflect the amounts accrued
in respect of each year and not the amounts paid in that year. The bonuses are determined by the Group Nominations,
Remuneration and Human Resources Committee, and approved by the Board.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

There were no changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment nor in the policy regarding their use during the
year. The useful lives of certain categories of property, plant and equipment were reviewed during the current year,
further details of which are provided in note 41 1o the finandial statements

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
There were no material post-balance sheet events subseqguent to year-end.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. and SizweNtsaluba vse Inc. will continue in office as joint auditors in accordance with
section 270(2) of the Companies Act.
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Principal accounting policies
for the year ended 31 March 2004

. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity
("the measurement currency”). The financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is the
measurement currency of the parent company.

In the current year’s financial statements, the principal accounting policies set out in note 2 below were
consistently applied in all material respects with those of the previous year, except for the adoption of AC133:
"Financial instruments - Recognition and Measurement”In addition, in order to comply with the directive issued
by the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa on 16 February 2004, the Group results include the effects of
consolidating the MTN Staff Incentive Scheme and the MTN Group Share Trust. The 2003 comparatives have
been appropriately restated.

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Staterments of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice and the requirements of the South African Companies Act. The financial
staternents have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale investment securities and financial instruments held at fair value (through net income).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with South African Statements of Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period based on management’s best
knowledge of current events and actions. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

21 Basis of consolidation
The financial statements incorporate the financial statements of MTN Group Limited and all its subsidiaries,
joint ventures, associates and special purpose entities for the year ended 31 March 2004.

2.1.1  Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are enterprises controlled by the Group. Control is achieved where the Campany has the power to
govern the financial and operating poficies of an investee enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

All material intercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises are eliminated on
consolidation. Special purpose entities (including insurance cell captives and the various MTN Group staff
incentive schemes) are consolidated.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liahilities undertaken at the date
of acquisition plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill (note 2.2).

Minority interest is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
recognised.
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2.1.2

22

Associated companies
An associate is an enterprise over which the Group exercises significant influence with respect to its financial
and operating policies but which it does not control, jointly or otherwise,

Investrents in associated undertakings are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under this
method, the Group's share of post-acquisition accumulated profits of associated companies, which is generally
determined from their latest audited financial statements, is included in the carrying value of the investrments,
and the annual profit attributable to the Group is recognised in the income statement. The carrying amount of
such interests is reduced to recognise any potential impairment, other than a temporary decling, in the value of
individual investments.

Where another Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, unrealised profits and losses are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant associate, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transfarred,

The Group's investrnent in associates includes goodwill (net of accumulated amortisation) on acquisition, When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless the Group has incurred obligations, issued guarantees or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

Joint ventures
Ajoint venture is 3 contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity which is subject to joint control.

Joint venture arrangements which involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an
interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities
using the proportionate consolidation method of accounting. The Group's share of the assets, liabilities, incomne
and expenses and cash flows of jointly cantrolled entities are combined with the equivalent items in the
financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Where the Group transacts with its jointly contrelled entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's interest in the joint venture except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the costs of acquisition over the Group's interests in the
fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising on acquisitions that occurred prior ta 31 March 2000 was charged directly to resetves.

Goodwill arising on subsequent acquisitions is capitalised and amertised on a straight-line basis over its useful
economic life, generally not exceeding 20 years. Management determines the estimated useful life of goodwill
based on its evaluation of the respective companies at the time of acquisition, considering factors such as

rnarket position, potential growth, regulatory conditions and other factors inherent in the acquired cormpanies.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is included within the carrying amount of the associate.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities is presented separately in the
balance sheet. On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controfled entity, the attributable amount of
unamortised goodwill or negative goodwill is included in the determination of profit or loss on disposal.
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Principal accounting policies continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2, SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

2.3 Investments
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised at cost less accurnulated impairment losses
in the financial staterents of the Company.

The Group classifies its investments in debt and equity securities into the following categories: held for trading,
held-to-maturity, available-for-sale and financial instruments held at fair value (through net income). The
classification is dependent on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its investments at the time of the purchase and re-evaluates such designation on a regular basis.

Financial instruments held at fair value (through net income) comprise of investrments that are not held for
trading but are reflected at fair value through net income.

investments that are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term (less than
12 months) fluctuations in price are classified as trading investments and included in current assets, There
were no such investments as at 31 March 2004.

Investments with a fixed maturity and fixed or determinable payments that the Group has the intent and ability
to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are included in non-current assets, except for
maturities within 12 months from the balance sheet date, which are classified as current assets. Thare were no
such investments as at 31 March 2004.

Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or changes in interest rates, are classified as available-for-sale. They are included in non-current assets
unless management has the express intention of holding the investment for less than 12 months from the
balance sheet date, or unless they will need to be sold to raise operating capital, in which case they are
included in current assets,

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that the Group commits
o purchase or sell the asset. Cost of purchase includes transaction costs.

Available-for-sale investments are subsequently carried at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity. Held-to-maturity
investrnents are carried at amortised cost using the effective yield method

The fair value of investments is based on quoted bid prices or amounts derived from cash flow models. Fair
values for unlisted equity securities are estimated using applicable price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios
refined to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer. Equity securities for which fair values cannot be
measured reliably are recognised at cost less impairment. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold
or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income statement as gains and losses
from investments.

Assets are derecognised when the enterprise loses control of contractual rights that comprise the assets and
liabilities when the obligation Is extinguished.

2.4 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the invoiced value of goods and services supplied by the Group, net of indirect taxes and
trade discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated

with a transaction will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue, and associated costs incurred or to be
incurred can be measured reliably.
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2.4.1

2.4.2

2.4.3

25

|

;

|

The main categories of revenue and the bases of recognition are as follows:

Contract products
+ Connection fees
Revenue is recognised on the date of activation by the subscriber of a new Subscriber Identification Module
("SIM") card.
+ Access charges
Revenue is recognised in the period to which it relates.
+ Airtime
Revenue is recagnised on the usage basis commencing on the date of activation.

The terms and conditions of the bundled airtime products allow the carry over of unused minutes and
accumulation to a maximum of one month’s allocation. This unused airtime is deferred in full. Deferred
revenue related to the unused airtime is recognised when utilised by the subscriber. Upon termination of
the subscriber contract, all deferred revenue for unused airtime is recognised.

Pre-paid products
+ Connection fees
Revenue is recognised an the date of activation.
+ Airtime
Revenue is recognised on the usage basis commencing on the date of activation.
+ SIMkits
Revenue is recognised on the date of sale.

Other revenue
+ Equipment sales
All equipment sales are recognised only when risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer.
+ Interconnect
Revenue is recognised on the usage basis,
+ interest
Revenue is recognised on the time proportion basis with reference to the principal amount receivable and
the effective interest rate applicable.
+ Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established,

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All ather leases are classified as operating leases.
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the teased asset and the
estimated present value of the minimum lease payments at the date of entering into the lease. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The corresponding liability to the lessor, net of finance charges, is included in the balance
sheet as a finance lease obligation. Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing
commitments and fair value of the assets acquired, are charged to the income statement over the term of the
relevant leases so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period.

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases. Rentals payable under aperating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-

line basis over the term of the relevant leases.

in all significant leasing arrangements in place during the year, the Group acted as the lessee,

MTN Business Report 2004 101




Principal accounting policies continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
256 Connection incentives
Connection incentives are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

2.7 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Remuneration to ermployees in respect of services rendered during a reporting period is recognised as an

expense in that reporting period. Provision is rade for accurnulated leave and other vested benefits and for

non-vested short-term benefits when there is no realistic alternative other than to settls the liability, and at least

one of the following conditions is met:

+ there is a formal plan and the amounts 1o be paid are determined before the time of issuing the financial
statements; or
achievement of previously agreed bonus criteria has created a valid expectation by employees that they will
secelve a bonus and the amount can be determined before the time of issuing the financial statements.

Equity and compensation plans

Where debentures vest or employees exercise options in terms of the rules and regulations of the various staff
incentive schemes, treasury shares if available within the MTN Group Share Trust are allocated, or alternatively
new shares are issued to participants as beneficial owners. The directors procure a listing of these shares on the
ISE Securities Exchange South Africa on which the Company’s shares are listed. In exchange, employees entitied
10 such shares or share options pay a consideration equal to the nominal debenture value or the option price
allocated to them.The norninal value of shares issued is credited to share capital and the difference between
the nominal value and the debenture value/option price is credited to share premium and shareholders loans.
No cost is recognised in income in respect of these options, Further details of equity compensation schemes
are provided in the Directors’ report.

Defined contribution plans (pension and provident funds)

A defined contribution plan is one under which the Group pays a fixed percentage of employees' remuneration
as contributions into a separate entity (a fund), and will have no legal or constructive further obligations to pay
additional contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets 1o pay all employee benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. Contributions to defined contribution plans in respect of
services during a period are recognised as an expense in that period.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits may be payable when an employee's employment is terminated before the normal
retirement date or an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Termination
benefits are charged against incorne when the Group is demonstrably committed to any such plan without the
possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy.

2.8 Provisions
A provision is recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for which it
is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required 1o settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The Group provides for onerous contracts when the expected
benefits to be derived from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
contract.

29 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes, Current enacted tax rates
are used to determine deferred taxation,

Under this method, the Group is required ta make provision for deferred taxation in relation to an acquisition,
on the difference between the fair values of the net assets acquired and their tax base.
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Pravision for taxes, mainly withholding taxes, which could arise on the remittance of accumulated profits,
principally relating to subsidiaries, is only made where a decision has been taken to remit such earnings.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation on property, plant and equipment and tax losses
carried forward. Deferred taxation assets relating to the carry forward of unused tax losses and tax credits are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable future
against which the unused tax losses and tax credits can be utitised.

No deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising from:
goodwill for which amortisation is not deductible for tax purposes; or

- initial recogrition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time
of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes all costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to waorking candition for its intended use, Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is calculated to write off the cost to its residual values, on the straight-line basis, over their expected
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 2%~ 10%
Generators 25% ~ 50%
Network infrastructure 10% — 25%
Information systems equipment 25% - 33%
Furniture and fittings 10% - 20%
Leasehold improvements 20% — 50%
Office equipment 15% - 20%
Maotor vehicles 25% - 33%

Land is not depreciated. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the
same basis as owned assets of, whare shorter, the expected term of the relevant lease.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised when it is probable
that future economic benefits from the use of asset will be increased. All ather subsequent expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Barrowing costs are not capitalised.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirerent of an asset is determined as the difference between sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is included in operating profit. Where the carrying amount
of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount.

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying arount of the asset when it is probable
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing
asset will flow 1o the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related
asset.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets, including property, plant and equipment as well as goodwill and
other intangible assets are reviewed at each halance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment.If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated.
The recoverable amount is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

In assessing value in use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific 1o the asset. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recaverable amount. For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lawest fevel for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows.

Intangible assets

Intangible assers represent identifiable assets from which it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
1o the Group which can be reliably measured. Intangible assets, including payments in relation to upfront
licence fees, are stated at cost fess accumulated amaortisation and impairment losses (if applicable). Intangible
assets are amortised to the income statemeant on a straight-line-basis over their estimated useful lives, but not
exceeding 20 years.Intangible assets are not revalued.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset 1o which it relates, All other subsequent expenditure is
expensed as incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value on a weighted average basis, Cost comprises
direct materials and, where applicable, overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition, excluding borrowing costs. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Where
appropriate, an impairment provision is raised in respect of slow moving, obsolete and defective inventories.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables criginated by the Group are carried at origina) invoice amount lass pravision made
for the impairment of these receivables. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all arnounts due according to the original
terms of the receivables. The amount provided is the difference between the carrying amount and the
estimated recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, discounted at the market rate
of interest for similar borrowers.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash flow staternent,
cash and cash equivatents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call and in respect of Letters of Cradit issued
by banks, and investments in money market instruments, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for use

by the Group unless otherwise stated. Bank overdrafts are included within current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include interest-bearing barrowings, convertible debentures, trade creditors and other
payables. Management determines the classification of its liabilities depending on the parpose for which the
liability was incurred. All liabilities are not classified as held-for-trading or financial instruments at fair value in
terms of AC133.

Borrowings are recognised initially at the cost, being fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs

incurred, when the relevant contracts are entered into. Borrowings are subisequently stated at amartised cost
using the effective interest rate method: any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the

redemption value is recognised in the income statemeant over the period of the borrowings, as interest.

Financial liabiities are removed from the batance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires
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2.17  Foreign currency

2.17.1 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the measurement currency at the rate of exchange ruling
at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on translation or settlement of these
transactions are credited to or charged against income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow
hedges.

Where a related forward exchange contract is designated as a hedge, the costs of hedging are included in the
measurement of the underlying transaction. Where forward exchange contracts are not designated as hedges,
they are marked to market at year-end and the exchange differences are included in the income statement,
During the year, none of the forward exchange contracts entered into were designated as hedges.

2.17.2 Financial statements of Group companies
The financial statements of foreign entities are translated into the reporting currency as follows:
+ assets and liabilities are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the financial year-end;
+ income and expenditure and cash flow items are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year;
and
+ foreign exchange translation differences are recognised in a foreign currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. When a foreign entity is sold,
such exchange differencas are racognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Where a foreign subsidiary is determined to be an integrated foreign operation, the income statement items are
translated at the appropriate weighted average exchange rates for the period. Monetary items are translated at
the nuling exchange rates at the balance sheet dates. Transiation gains and losses are taken to income for the
period,

Currently, all foreign Group companies are classified as foreign entities and accounted for accordingly

2.18  Derivative instruments
Derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives separated from their host contracts, are initially
recognised on the balance sheet at cost being the fair value of the consideration received/paid and are
subsequently remeasured to fair value. Fair value movements are recognised in net income,

2.19  Basis of accounting for underwriting activities

Underwriting results are determined on the annual basis whereby the incurred cost of claims, commission and

related expenses is charged against the earned proportion of premiums, net of reinsurance, as follows:

-+ Premiums wiitten related 1o business incepted during the year and exclude value-added tax.

+ Unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums written during the year that relate to unexpired
terms of policies in force at the balance sheet date, generally calculated on a time-apportionment basis.

+ Claims incurred comprise claims and related expenses paid in the year and changes in the provisions for
claims incurred but not reported and related expenses, together with any other adjustments to claims from
previous years. Where applicable, deductions are made for salvage and other recoveries.

- Claims outstanding represent the ultimate cost of settling all claims (including direct and indirect settlement
costs) arising from events that have occurred up to the balance sheet date, including provision for claims
incurred but not yet reported, less any amounts paid in respect of those claims. Claims outstanding are
reduced by anticipated salvage and other recoveries.

220 Dividends
Dividends payable are recorded in the Group's financial statements in the period in which they are approved by
the Board of Directors.
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Principal accounting policies continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2,21 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares, other than in connection with a business combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchases the Company’s share capital, the
consideration paid, including any attributable incremental external costs net of income taxes, is deducted from
total shareholders' equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled Where such shares are subsequently sold
or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity.

222 Segment reporting
The geographic focation of the Group’s production and service facilities constitutes the primary segrment.
The secondary business segments of the enterprise are wireless and satellite telecommunications. The basis
of segment reporting is representative of the internal structure used for management reporting.

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of
enterprise revenue and expenses that can be aflocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, whether from
external transactions or from transactions with other Group segments. Intersegment transfer pricing is based
on cost plus an appropriate margin. Unallocated items mainly comprise corporate expenses and amortisation
of goodwill. Segment results are determined before any adjustment for minority interest. Segment assets and
liabilities comprise those operating assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can be
affocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets are determined after deducting refated
allowances that are reported as direct offsets in the Group's balance sheet.

Capital expenditure represents the total costs incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected 1o be used during more than one period (namely, property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets).

2.23  Financial risk management

2.23.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial
performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts,
to hedge certain exposures, but as a matter of principle, the Group does not enter into derivative contracts for
speculative purposes,

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.and of
relevant subsidiaries. The MTN Group Executive Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in
co-operation with the Group's operating units. The Board provides principles for overafl risk management, as
well as for specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial
instruments, and investing excess liguidity,

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from varfous currency
exposures. Certain entities in the Group, particularly in South Africa, use forward contracts 10 hedge their
exposure to foreign currency risk in connection with the measurement currency. The Group's Nigerian
subsidiary manages foreign currency risk on major foreign purchases by placing foreign currency on deposit as
security against Letters of Credit ("LCs") when each order is placed. The Company has a number of investments
in foreign subsidliaries whaose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk, which is managed primarily
through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies to the extent that such funding is available
on reasonable terms in the local capital markets.
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2.23.2

2.23.3

2.24

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, other than cash deposits. The Group primarily borrows at
variable rates, and its exposure to interest rate risk is reflected under the respective borrowings (note 20).

Liguidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed facilities. The Group remains confident that the available cash resources and
borrowing facilities will be sufficient to meet its funding requirements.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, due to its wide spread of customers across various
operatians. The Group has policies in place to ensure that retail sales of products and services are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history, The recoverability of interconnect debrors in certain international
operations is uncertain, however, this is actively managed within acceptable limits (this has been incorporated
in the assessment of the impairment of trade receivables). Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are
limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The Group actively seeks to limit the amount of credit
exposure 1o any one financial institution.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative transactions, while providing effective econamic hedges under the Group's risk management
policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules of AC133. Changas in the fair value of
these derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income statement. The fair values of various
derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 38.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at
the balance sheet date. In assessing the fair value of non-traded derivatives and other financial instruments, the
Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each
balance sheet date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for specific or similar instruments are used for long-
term debt Other techniques, such as option pricing models and estimated discounted value of future cash
flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

For financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year, the face values less any estimated credit
adjustments, are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate
available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Earnings per ordinary share
Attributable earnings per ordinary share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the period and is based on the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders.

Headline earnings per ordinary share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the period and is based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding
those items as required by Accounting Issues Task Force opinion AC306 including Circular 7/2002.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation and
accounting policies during the year (note 13,16, 20).
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Group

Income statement
for the year ended 31 March 2004

I 2004 | 2003
‘ restated
Note | Rm Rmi
Revenue 2 2387 ; 16405
Cost of sales ‘ (9 659) ! 8321
Gross profit I qg212 ! 11084
Operating expenses - net of other operating income J (8 204) l (7 347)
Profit from operations 3| 6008 3737
Finance income 4 \ 144 | 129
Finance costs 5 (748} | (957)
Shate of results of associates "o 9 ‘ 1
Profit before tax © 5413 | 2910
Income tax expense 6 ‘ (1101) ! (687)
Profit after tax ; 4312 j 2223
Minority interest 19 \ (612) \ (289)
Net profit ‘ 3700 | 1934
Earnings per ordinary share (cents) ‘
- attributable 7 \ 223,6 174
- basic headline 7 263,7 151,1
- adjusted headline 7 253,1 1433
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Group

Balance sheet ‘(m

at 31 March 2004

‘ 2004 | 2003
1 i restated
Note | Rm ( Rm
T
ASSETS ! ‘
Non-current assets | 23357 22854
Property, plant and equipment 8 11042 | 9374
Goodwilt 9 9753 | 10298
Intangible assets 10 1646 2263
Investments in associates 1 33 i 40
Investment 12 302 375
Originated loans 13 225 33
Deferred tax assets 14 356 ! 173
Current assets 8643 | 5303
Inventories 15 515 | 435
Receivables and prepayments 16 2791 2728
Taxation prepaid 1 3
Cash at bank and on hand 25 3648 ‘ 1551
Securitised cash deposits 25 1688 | 586
Total assets 32000 28157
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY :
Ordinary shares and share premium 17| 14178 | 14083
Retained earnings 7174 3493
Other reserves 18 (1504) ‘ (520)
Share capital and reserves ' 19848 17 056
Minarity interest 3 1418 882
Total equity D21266 17 938
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 4376 | 4056
Borrowings 20 3710 . 3249
Deferred tax liabilities 14 666 | 807
Current liabilities | 6358 6163
Trade and other payables 21 4787 3962
Provisions 22 189 | 191
Current tax liabilities 943 410
Borrowings 20 334 ! 1394
Bank overdraft 20,25 105 | 206
j |
Total liabilities i 10734 10219
Total equity and liabilities ; 32000 | 28157
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Group
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2004

Share Share Treasury  Retained Other
capital  premium shares earnings reserves Total

Note Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
Balance at 31 March 2002 * 13942 - 1568 406 15916
Change in accounting
policy - share trust 39 - - ) 5) - (12)
Restated balance at 1 April 2002 * 13942 7 1563 406 15904
Net profit - - - 1934 - 1934
Transfers between reserves - - (4} 4 -
Issue of share capital * 148 - - - 148
Currency translation differences - - - - (930) (930)
Balance at 31 March 2003 * 14 090 7) 3493 (520) 17056
Change in accounting policy I )
- ACI33 39 ‘ - - - (15) - asy,
Restated batance at 1 April 2003 Lt 14090 %) 3478 (520) 17041 |
Net profit | - - - 3700 - 3700 ‘
Transfers between reserves - - - (4 4 -
lssue of share capital * 94 1 - - 95 l
Currency translation differences K - - - - (988) (988) |
Balance at 31 March 2004 | * 14184 6) 7174 (1504) 19848 |
Note 17 17 i7 8

.

Amounts fess than R1 milfion
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Group ! |
| ;

Cash flow statement L MTN
faor the year ended 31 March 2004 | ‘\

\ 2004 2003

| \ restated

Note | Rm | Rm

T )
Cash flows from operating activities !
Cash received from customers ~ 23458 | 18 668
Cash paid to suppliers and employees I (13437) \ (11 855)
Cash generated from operations 23 i 10027 | 6813
Interest received 4 125 | 116
Interest paid S \ (634) ! (852)
Tax paid 24 ! (921) i (684)
Net cash generated from operating activities { 8597 | 5393
Cash flows from investing activities ‘ :
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (5048) (3919)
- to expand operations (4857} ‘ (3809)
- to maintain operations (191) , (110}
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment ‘ 3 15
Proceeds from associates, other investments and advances | 7 ‘ -
Increase of interest in joint venture i (7)1 -
Proceeds from reduction of interest in subsidiary i 17 -
Purchase of other intangible assets ‘ - (20
Interest received 4 14 13
Proceeds from other loans and advances ] 16 1 -
Purchase of investrment \ - (480)
Net cash used in investing activities \ {4898) | {4 391)
Cash flows from financing activities ! \
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 17 ‘ 31 -
Proceeds from borrowings J 202 | 187
Net cash generated from financing activities ‘ 233 187

T
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents i 3932 | 1189
Effect of exchange rate changes ; (632) [ 492)

| |
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ‘ 1931 1234
- as per prior year 1931 ’ 1230
- effect of consalidating the share trust - 4
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 25 5231 1931
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Group ®
Notes to the annual financial statements ®
for the year ended 31 March 2004
South Africa Rest of Africa Other  Consolidated .
Rm Rm Rm Rmi
1.  GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS : .
2004 |
REVENUE i i .
External sales ( 15184 8687 - 23871 |
Total revenue | 15184 8687 - 23871 |
EBITDA i 4522 4461 - 8983 ; '
Depreciation ( (1231) (973) - (2204) |
Armortisation of intangible assets (17) (155) - (172) J .
Goodwill amortisation i (2) m {596) (599) |
Finance costs i {130} (618} - (748) |
Finance income ‘ 91 53 - 144 .
Share of profits of associates I 9 * - 9
Income tax expense J {998) {103) - (1101) |
Minority interest ‘ - 612) - (612) - ‘
Net profit (loss) ‘ 2244 2052 (596) 3700
BALANCE SHEET |
Assets { | .
Non-current assets | 4921 8708 9728 23357 |
Tangible assets 4741 6301 - 11042 .
Intangible assets (including goodwill) 66 1605 9728 11 399
Other non-current assets L 114 802 - 916
Current assets | 2624 3969 - 8643 o
Bank balances and security cash deposits 2323 3013 - 5336
QOther current assets 2351 956 - 3307 .
Total assets 9595 12677 9728 32000 J
Capital, reserves and minority interest ’ 5282 6256 9728 21266 . .
Non-current liabilities 911 3465 - 4376
Long-term liabilities 332 3378 - 3710
Deferred taxation 579 87 - 666 .
Current liabilities ‘ 3402 2956 - 6358 -
Nan-interest-bearing liabilities 3284 2635 - 5919 .
Interest-bearing liabilities 118 323 - 439
Il
Total equity and liabilities | 9595 12677 9728 32000 | .
CASH FLOW INFORMATION J i
Net cash generated by operations | 4873 5154 - 10027 | ‘
Net finance cost ! {54) (455} - (509] '
Taxation paid | {809) (112) - (921} |
Cash inflows from operating activities : 4010 4587 - 8597 1 .
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment } (1073) (3975) - (5048)
Other investing activities : (800} 128 822 150 | '
Cash {outflows) inflows from investing activities [ (1873) (3 847) 822 (4 898) \
Cash (outflows) inflows from financing activitiesi (351) 1406 (822) 233 | '
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents | 1786 2146 - 3932 |
Average number of employees for the year | 3142 2248 ~ 5390 .
= Amounis less than R1 miflion '
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South Africa  Rest of Africa Other  Consolidated
Rm Rm Rm Rm

GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS (continued)
2003
REVENUE
External sales 12 496 6972 - 19 468
Intra-segment 63) - - (63)
Total revenue 12433 6972 - 19405
Intra-segrent sales are based on cost plus
an appropriate margin
EBITDA 3375 2842 - 6217
Depreciation (1 044) (607) - {1651)
Amortisation of intangible assets 20) 213) - (233)
Goodwill amortisation (2) (1) (593) (596)
Finance costs (255) (702 (957)
Finance income 96 33 - 129
Share of profits (losses) of associates 3 (2) - ]
Income tax expense (692) 5 - (687)
Minority interest - (289) - (289)
Net profit (loss) 1 461 1066 (593) 1934
BALANCE SHEET
Assets
Non-current assets 5109 7440 10305 22854
Tangible assets 4902 4472 - 9374
Intangible assets (including goodwill) 75 2181 10305 12561
Other non-current assets 132 787 - . 919
Current assets 2627 2676 - 5303
Bank balances and security cash deposits 637 1500 - 2137
Other current assets 1990 1176 - 3166
Total assets 7736 10116 10 305 28157
Capital, reserves and minority interest 3778 3855 10 305 17 938
Non-current liabilities 1438 2618 - 4056
Long-term liabilities 719 2530 - 3249
Deferred taxation 719 88 - 807
Current liabilities 2520 3643 - 6163
Non-interest bearing liabilities 2265 2298 - 4563
Interest-bearing liabilities 255 1345 - 1600
Total equity and liabilities 7736 10116 10 305 28157
CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Net cash generated by cperations 3787 3026 - 6813
Net finance cost (172) (564) - (736)
Taxation paid (644) (40) - (684)
Cash inflows from operating activities 2971 2422 - 5393
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (692) (3227) - (3919
Other investing activities (922} {470) 920 (472)
Cash (outflows} inflows from investing activities (1614) (3697} 920 (4 391
Cash (outflows) inflows from financing activities (1 307) 2414 (920) 187
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 50 1139 - 1189
Average number of employees for the year 3146 1912 - 5058

The results of the satellite telecommunications segment have not been analysed as they are not considered
material to the Group's financial statements as a whole.
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2004 2003
Rm Rm
2. REVENUE

Wireless telecommunications: 21564 17 241

- Airtime and subscription fees 15827 12183

- Interconnect 5030 4 400

- Connection fees 707 658
Cellular telephones and accessories 1962 i 191
Other 257 | 135
Satellite communications 88 | 118

23871 | 19405

3.  PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
The following items have been included in arriving at
profit fram operations:

Auditors remuneration: a4 26
- Audit fees 8 7
- Fees for other services 36 19
- Expenses * *
Directors’emoluments: 36 |
- Services as director 33 | 34
- Directors'fees 3 3
- Other expenses * -
Operating lease rentals: . 205 293
- Property 152 252
— Equipment and vehicles 53 41
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 23) 8 | 19
Impairment (reversal) charge on inventories (note 15) (32) : 58
Impairment charge on trade receivables (note 16) 199 289
Depreciation {note 8, 23): 2204 | 1651
- Buildings:

Owned 54 ! 52

Leased 15 10
- Leasehold improvements 58 45
- Network infrastructure 1732 1278
- Information systems, furniture and office equipment 315 244
- Vehicles 30 22
Amoartisation of intangible assets (note 10, 23): 172 233
- Licence fees 160 219
- Other 12 14

* Amounts less than R1 million

w
~
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| 2004 | 2003
| Rm [ Rm
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (continued) | \
Amortisation of goodwill (note 9,23) 599 596
Staff costs: 1096 | 964
-Wages and salaries 981 887
- Pension costs ~ defined contribution plans 54 | 48
- Other 61 | 29
Average number of employees 5390 | 5058
Fees paid for services: | 435 445
- Administrative 91 | 68
- Management 74 } 54
- Professional 183 | 169
- Secretarial 3 , -
- Technical 84 . 154
Impairment (reversed) raised against loan arising on disposal |
of 20% of MTN Cameroon to reflect net asset value (note 23) (9) | 49
Gain on disposal of 20% shareholding in MTN Cameroon (note 23) I - 91
Loss on disposal of 4,5% interast in MTN Nigeria (note 23) 72 | -
Impairment of interest in associates {(note 11,23) 4 ‘ -
impairment charge on property, plant and equipment (note 8, 23) \ - 15
Net foreign exchange (gains} losses from trading activities : (6) 48
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment l 415 ‘ 285
Analysis of operating expenses by function J
Administration, marketing and network (5862) | (5148
Sales and distribution i (2342) ‘ 2 199
I (8204) (7 347)
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2004 2003

|
4. FINANCE INCOME ‘ |
Interest income 128 | 129
Foreign exchange transaction gains

Reconciliation of interest received to finance income

Interest received (investing activities)

|
Interest received (operating activities) ’ 125 | 116
Fair value adjustments ‘

;’ 144 129

@87) | (612)
@7 20)
(224) (325)

Interest expense — borrowings
Interest expense - finance leases
Foreign exchange transaction losses

5. FINANCE COSTS \

(748) (957)

Reconciliation of interest paid to finance cost

(852)
72) (105)

Interest paid (operating activities)
Unrealised exchange loss related to international sinking fund policy
Unrealised foreign exchange transaction losses and gains

(748) | 957)

_
*
w
2
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! 2004 | 2003
\‘ Rm ) Rm
INCOME TAX EXPENSE \ \
Current tax ! !
Normal tax | (1343) ! (789)
i
Current year (1343) (781}
Prior year under provision * | 4
Secondary tax on companies - \ (4)
Foreign tax \ |
Foreign income and withholding tax ‘\ (119} 77
!
Deferred tax (note 14) l‘ 361 | 179
Current year ' 361 | 179
| o) (687)

South African normal taxation is calculated at 30% (2003: 30%) of the estimated taxable incorne for the year.
Taxation for foreign jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

MTN Mauritius has been deemed 1o be South African resident for tax purposes by the South African Revenue
Services. Consequently, the foreign exchange gains and Iosses on that entity’s USS denominated borrowings have
been brought into account for the purpases of calculating the entity's corporate tax liability, as required by the
provisions of the South African Income Tax Act.

Tax losses
The Group has tax losses of R& million (2003:R80 million) to carry forward against future taxable income.
R2 million (2003: R10 million} has been recognised as a deferred tax asset.

Tax rate reconciliation
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the effective rate of taxation in South Africa as follows:

) 2004 | 2003

i % %
Tax at standard rate 1 30.0 | 300
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes i 52 | 10,2
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses | - {4,3)
Effect of different tax rates in other countries { 04 | 03
Income not subject to tax \ (0,2) \ n
Effect of pioneer status/tax credit granted ) (19,1} | (14,1
Withholding taxes | 14 | -
Effect of foreign dividends ‘ 0,8 \ -
Other ; 18 16

| 203 | 236

* Amounts less than A1 miltion
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Group
Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

7. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
The calculation of attributable eamings per ordinary share is based on net profit for the year of B3 700 million
(2003: R 934 million), and weighted average number of shares of 1 654 380 353 (2003: 1 646 933 535) ordinary
shares in issue (excluding treasury shares).

The calculation of basic and adjusted headline earnings per ordinary share is based on basic headline earnings
of R4 362 million (2003: R2 488 million) and adjusted headline earnings of R4 188 million (2003:R2 360 mitlion)
respectively, and weighted average number of shares of 1 654 380 353 (2003:1 646 933 535) ordinary shares in
issue (excluding treasury shares).

The calculation of dituted attributable, basic headline and adjusted headline earnings per ardinary share is based
on the respective earnings as indicated above, and the weighted average of 1 681 045 602 (2003:1 665 103 996)
fully diluted ordinary shares in issue {excluding treasury shares) during the year. The number of fully diluted
ordinary shares has been calculated by taking into account ordinary shares that will be in issue in respect of the
MTN Holdings convertible debentures and outstanding MTN Group share options.

2 2004 | 2003
] Rm } Rm
Reconciliation between net profit and headline earnings ‘1 |
Net profit for the year ! 3700 1934
Add (Less): | (
Goodwill amortisation j[ 599 | 596
|
Loss on disposal of 4,59 in MTN Nigeria i 72 | -
Gain on disposal of 20% shareholding in MTN Cameroon J - 91}
Impairment {reversal) rafsed against foan arising on disposal of MTN Cameroon j 9) i 49
Basic headline earnings ( 4362 i 2488
Less: Adjustment ? f
Reversal of deferrad tax asset (note 14) : (174) | (128)
Adjusted headline earnings ] 4188 \ 2360
Earnings per ordinary shares (cents) i I
- Attributable | 2236 | 174
— Basic headline I 2637 | 151,1
- Adjusted headline g 253,1 | 1433
Diluted earnings per share (cents) j J
- Attributable ] 2201 | 161
~ Basic headline j 259,5 J, 1494
- Adjusted headline i 249,1 1417
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Owned Leased
Infor-
mation
systerns,
furniture
Lease- and Land
Land hold  Network office and
and  improve- infra~ equip- huidings
buildings ~ ments  structure ment  Vehicles | (note 31} Total
Rm Rm R Rm Rm Rm Rm
- |
8.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ‘ !
8.1 Analysis of net book amount & \
Year ended 31 March 2004 I
Cost - 677 234 14450 1601 106 316 | 17384
Accumuilated depreciation [ (113)  (124) (5027)  (999) (54) (25)] (6342) |
Net book amount ; 564 110 9423 602 52 291 | 11042 ‘
Year ended 31 March 2003
Cost 505 155 11600 1380 92 316 | 14048
Accumulated depreciation (85) 67) (3747) (728) (37 (10)| (4674)
Net book amount 420 88 7853 652 55 306 9374
8.2 Movement in net book amount i ‘
Year ended 31 March 2004 ‘ 1
Opening net book amount \ 420 88 7853 652 55 306 | 9374 |
Additions \ 274 98 4302 333 4 - 5048
Disposals 1\ - (1) (8) (1) (m - anl
Depreciation charge | (54) (58) {(1732) (315) (30 (15)] (2204) |
Exchange differences i {76) 17y {992) (67) {13} - (1165)
Closing net book amount \ 564 110 9423 602 52 291 111042 \
Year ended 31 March 2003
Opening net book amount 380 79 7096 707 60 -1 8322
Additions 190 74 3301 316 38 316 4235
Disposals §H) - (29) 2 2 - (34)
Impairment charge* - - (15 - - - (15)
Depreciation charge (52) (45) (1278 (244) (22) o] (651
Exchange differences 97 20y (1222) {125} (19) - (1483)
Closing net book amount 420 88 7853 652 55 306 9374

Registers with details of land and buildings are available for inspection by members or their duly authorised
representative at the registered offices of the Company and its respective subsidiaries.

> Animpairment charge has been recognised ogainst the radio network infrastructure refated to Orbicom’s Ghanaian operations (2003).
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
8.3 Encumbrances
MTN Nigeria
Loans to MTN Nigeria are secured by a fixed charge over the company’s moveable assets, the book value of
which is R4 777 million (note 20).

MTN Cameroon
The International Amortising Senior Debt Facility ("ASDF") and Domestic Amartising Senior Debt Facifity
("DASDF") are secured by a notarial bond over MTN Cameroon's land to the value of R11,9 million (2003
R13,4 million} (note 20).

MTN Rwanda
The syndicated loan acquired fram four local banks and the 8PC Loan are secured by a floating charge on MTN
Rwanda’s property, plant and equipment, the book value of which is R45,4 million (2003:R45 million) (note 20).

MTN Uganda
In terms of the Project Co-ordination and Inter-creditor Agreement, MTN Uganda has provided a first fixed charge
totalling R143,2 million (2003:R102,6 million) over its property, plant and equipment as security for a syndicated

loan made to MTN Uganda by various banks and financial institutions (note 20).

MTN Swaziland
Loans from Swazi Empowerment Limited and the Swaziland Industrial Development Corporation are secured
by notarial bonds over MTN Swaziland's moveable assets including the network and information system

infrastructure, the book value of which is R45 million (2003:R42 million) (note 20),

| 2004 | 2003
‘ Rm Rm
9. GOODWILL } ‘
Cost ! |
| !
Balance at beginning of year } 11 897 J 11 806
Increase in interest in joint venture : 16 | -
Arising on purchase of MTN Holdings shares [ 40 | 96
Translation differences ! (2 (5)
Balance at end of year ! 11951 } 11897
Accumulated amortisation i
Balance at beginning of year J (1599} (999)
Amartisation charge | (599) | (596)
Translation differences * 4)
Balance at end of year 1 (2198) | {1599)
Carrying amount \
Balance at end of year ‘ 9753 r 10 298

* Amounts fess than R1 million
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i |
| |
D
’ |
! |
“ B
Gther
intangible
Licences assets Toraf
Rm Rm Rm
10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS ! ‘;
Year ended 31 March 2004 | (
Cost i 2094 55 2149 /‘
Accumulated amortisation | (479) (24) (503)
Net book amaunt I 1615 31 1646 |
Year ended 31 March 2003
Cost 2622 56 2678
Accurnulfated amortisation (402) (13) {415)
Net book amount 2220 43 2263
The movement in the net book amount of intangible assets is 4 ?
comprised as follows: | |
Year ended 31 March 2004 ! J
Opening net book amount | 2220 43 2263 |
Amortisation charge ‘ (160) {12) (172) |
Exchange differences J (445) - (445) |
Closing net book amount ! 1615 31 1646
Year ended 31 March 2003
Opening net book amount 3560 125 3685
Additions - 35 35
Reclassification - (o4 (94)
Amortisation charge (219) (14) (233)
Exchange differences (1121 9) (1130
Closing net book amaunt 2220 43 2263

The Ugandan Communications Commission has granted consent for the licences of MTN Uganda to be used as
security for the syndicated loan made by various banks and financial institutions (note 20).

Included in closing net book amount is the licence relating to MTN Nigeria of R1 202 million (2003:R1 712 million)
which has been provided as security against borrowings (note 20), The balance relates to ficences in South Africa,
Cameroon, Uganda and Swaziland.

Other intangible assets consist primarily of subscriber bases acquired.

** Loan arrangement costs have been reclassified against the refevant foans to which they refate.

! 2004 | 2003
! Rm " Rm
| i
11, INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES | [
Balance at beginning of year | 40 | 33
impairment (note 3) [ (4)! -
Share of results after tax ( 9 | 1
Repayment of loan : 71 -
Goodwill amortisation | ™ ™
Dividends 1 (5) | -
Balance at end of year : 33 | 40

There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interast in associates.

* Amaounts less than R? million
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

| 2004 2003
; Am | Am
12, INVESTMENT 1 !
Financial instruments held at fair value (through net income) ) |
International sinking fund policy | 302 | 375

MTN International invested an amount of R500 million into an international sinking fund policy with a major
financial services institution in South Africa. The accumulated foreign exchange losses incurred upon translating
the investment to rands at the ruling spot rate at balance sheet date, together with the initial costs, amounted
1o R198 miltion {2003: R125 million), which have been charged to the income staternent. The term is five years
commencing on the inception date (24 October 2002). From time to time, the portfolio of assets in the
investrent can be restructured so as 1o include fisted shares in offshore companies on recognised bourses,
listed bonds on recognised bourses and investrments in various cash instrurnents and bank deposits

i

2004 | 2003
. ARm | Rm
13. ORIGINATED LOANS | |
Loans to employees in respect of share incentive scheme [note 13.7] i 7 33
Loan in respect of restraint of trade agreement I 21 | 24"
Loan to minorities in MTN Nigeria (note 13.2) ' 94 } 142
Loan to Broadband Limited (note 13.3) ! 103 | 132
~Loan 144 | 165
~ Less: impairment of loan {81) | (33)
| 225 | 331

13.1 Loans are granted to participants to assist in the funding of the scheme debentures. The loans are secured against
188 917 (2003:1 639 042) debentures, and bear interest at a variable rate ranging between 9% and 14,5% per annum
(2003:11,25% and 13,25% per annum). Loans are repayable once employees sell their shares.

13.2 Loans by MTN Mauritius to minority shareholders of MTN Nigeria are US$ denominated and interest free.
The amount consists of two loans:
Loan 1: USS$77 million. The loan is repayable by 1 July 2006 out of shareholder distributions to which the
borrower is entitled in respact of the shares acquired from the proceeds of the toan.
toan 2:  USS6,3 million. There is no fixed repayment date. The loan is repayable out of afl shareholder distributions
o which the borrower is entitled.

13.3 The disposal of a 30% shareholding by MTN Mauritius in MTN Cameroon was effected in two tranches:

20% tranche

This was funded by twa loans:

Loan 1:  US$4,5 million is interest free and repayable on 31 December 2010 out of 80% of the borrower's
entitlement to shareholder distributions.

Loan 2. US315,2 milfion attracting interest at LIBOR plus 6% per annurn which will be capitatised bi-annually.
The loan is repayabte by 31 December 2010 out of 80% of the borrower’s entitlement to shareholder
distributions.

10% tranche

The USS denominated loan amounting to USS10,1 million is repayable at the higher of (i) 10% of the net realisable

value of MTN Cameroon if onsald by the purchaser,and (i) US$10,1 million plus interest at LIBOR plus 6% per

annum. If dividends are declared, an interest charge equal to the dividends will be levied.

As the Group still retains beneficial interest in this 10% stake, the Group's financial staterments include 80% of the

results of MTN Carneroon,

The minority shareholders in MTN Nigeria and MTN Cameroon have provided their shares in the respective
companies as security for the above loans

* 0 achieve betrer resentation, lodans were reclassified from receivables and repayments (R10 million) and borrowings (R14 mz[/zon)
Y
(notes 16,20)
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Charged Charged to
1 April toincome  Charged 31 March income Charged 31 March
2002 statement  to equity 2003 1 statement to equity 2004
Rm Rm Rm Rm | Rm Rm Rm |
14, DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
Movement
Deferred tax liabilities
Tax allowances over
book depreciation 861 50 (44) 867 (50) (16) 801
Temporary differences 35 8 (38) (21) 89 2 70
Working capital allowances 8 (47) - (39 (166) - (205)
904 (15) (82) 807 ’ (127) (14) 666
Deferred tax assets |
Provisions and other )
temporary differences 39 3) - 42) (9) - (51)
Tax loss carried forward 3) - - @) 1 - (2)
MTN Nigeria deferred i
tax asset - (161 33 (128) i (226) 51 (303) |
42) (164) 33 (173 (234) 51 (356) ‘l
862 (179) 49) 634 1 (361) 37 310 ‘

The Group's subsidiary in Nigeria has been granted a five-year income tax holiday from date of approval.
Furthermore, all capital allowances arising during this five-year period may be carried forward and claimed as
deductions against taxable income from the sixth year of operations onwards. A deferred tax asset of R175 mitlion
{2003: R128 miillion) relating to these deductible temporary differences has been recognised as at 31 March 2004
in terms of the South African Statement of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice - AC102 Income Taxes. A
deferred tax asset is raised where it is probable that future profits will be generated in order to utilise the
deductible temporary differences.

As previously disclosed, although the Group has cornplied with the requirernents of AC102 in this regard, the
Board of Directors has reservations about the appropriateness of this treatment in view of the fact that no
cognisance may be taken in determining the value of such deferred tax asset for uncertainties arising out of
the effects of the time value of money or future foreign exchange moverments.

The Board therefore resolved to report adjusted headline earnings (negating the effect of the deferred tax asset)
in addition to basic headline earnings, to more fully reflect the Group’s results for the period.
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

|' 2004 | 2003
! Rm Rm
15. INVENTORIES
At cost
Finished goods (handsets, SIM cards and accessories)* i 512 483
Consumable stores and maintenance spares 22 17
Work in progress 16 13
Less: Provision for impairment of inventories (35) (78)
515 ¢ 435
At At
beginning of Utilised/ Exchange end of
year Additions unused  differences year
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
impairment movement
Year ended 31 March 2004
Movement in provision for
impairment of inventories (78) - 32 11 (35)
Year ended 31 March 2003
Movement in provision for
impairment of inventories (23) (88) 30 3 (78)

*Included in inventory are amounrs of R141,5 million encumbered by borrowings relating to MTN Nigeria and a notarial bond relating to
MTN Swaziland of R1,8 million (2003: R1,6 million) (note 20).

2004 2003

Rm | Rm
16, RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS ‘

Trade receivables 2630 ! 2446
Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables | (572) ; (429)
2058 | 2017

Sundry debtors and prepayments 733 } 711%*
27N 2728

** Anamount of R10 million in respect of restraint of trade agreements veas classified to originated loans (note 13)
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At At
beginning of Utilised/ Exchange end of
year Additions unused  differences year
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
16. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (continued} ‘J ‘
Impairment movement :
Year ended 31 March 2004 i
Movement in provision for
impairment of trade receivables (429) (199) - 56 (572) |
Year ended 31 March 2003
Movement in provisian for
impairment of trade receivables (318) (289) 128 50 (429)

MTN Cameroon entered into a financing arrangement with Standard Chartered Bank ("SCB”) whereby it

transferred receivables amounting to R57 million to SCB in exchange for cash. 5CB will callect this amount directly
from the third party debtor and these receivables were accordingly de-recognised from the balance sheet.

MTN Nigeria's external borrowings are secured by a fixed charge over the company’s trade receivables, the book

value of which is R537,9 million (note 20).

2004 2003
Rm | Rm
17.  ORDINARY SHARES AND SHARE PREMIUM r i
Ordinary share capital ‘ ‘
Authorised share copital i |
2 500 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each <‘ * *
fssued and fully paid-up share capital ‘ ‘
1658 802 355 (2003:1 652 057 646) ordinary shares of 0,01 ¢cent each i * ; *
Share premium
Balance at beginning of year i 14090 13942
Arising on the issue of shares during the year (net of share issue expenses) | 94 148
Balance at end of year 14184 | 14090
Treasury shares |
Balance at beginning of year %) i @
Reduction in treasury shares ’ 1. *
Balance at end of year (6) ] (7)
Total ordinary shares and share premium i 14178 14083

|
I

The directors are authorised, by resolution of the shareholders and until the forthcoming annual general meeting,
to dispose of unissued shares for any purpose and upon such terms and conditions as they see fit.

* Amounts less than RT million

MTN Business Report 2004 1 25




Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2004 | 2003
Rm Rm
18. OTHER RESERVES J
Non-distributable reserves

Balance at beginning of year {520) 406
Translation difference of foreign subsidiaries i (988) (930
Transfer from retained earnings 4 4
Balance at end of year (1504) (520

|

Consisting of: ! !
Contingency reserve (as required by insurance regulations) i 16 13
Statutory reserve {as required by Rwandan legislation) 7 6
Transtation difference of foreign subsidiaries (1527) (539)
L1504 (520)

A statutory contingency reserve has been created in terms of the Short-term Insurance Act, 1988. Transfers to the
contingency reserve are treated as appropriation of income, and the balance of the reserve is disclosed in the
balance sheet as a non-distributable reserve, forming part of shareholders’ funds. On dissolution of the special
purpose entities to which these reserves relate, they will become available for distribution.

2004 | 2003
Rm Rm

19. MINORITY INTEREST |
Balance at beginning of year | 882 |
Increase in minorities due to reduction in stake in MTN Cameroon \ -

1

w
o

Increase in minorities due to reduction in stake in MTN Nigeria 208 : 6
Share of net profit of subsidiaries 612 | 289
Foreign exchange movements (284) | (363)

Balance at end of year 1418 882

20. BORROWINGS \ i
Unsecured :
MTN Holdings |
Debenture liability
188 917 (2003: 1 639 042) unsecured variable rate compulsorily convertible ;
debentures of R3,95,R13,11,R36,43 and R8441 each, bearing interest at a rate ’
not less than the “official rate of interest” according to the South African Revenue
Service (effective interest rate of 11,55% per annum} (2003: 14,5% per annum), ‘
In terms of the MTN Staff Incentive Scheme, these debentures will either be |
redeemed by MTN Holdings at a premium or converted into MTN Holdings
shares on a one for one basis, which will then be exchanged for MTN Group | ‘1
shares in terms of a formula to be agreed upon by the Boards of the \
respective companies. i 8 | 36

MTN Service Provider |
Various composite short-term facilities, bearing interest at rates determined by
the nature of each specific drawdown instrument, but essentially linked to the
BA rate. Interest rates over the year varied between 8,5% and 14% per annum

(2003: between 11% and 15% per annum). 104 191
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I 2004 | 2003
J Rm | Rm
BORROWINGS {continued) | |
Unsecured {continued) i J
MTN Group r
Overdraft 1
Facility bearing interest at a variable rate between 11% and 15% per annum {‘ - \‘ 7
MTN Holdings and MTN South Africa ? ]
Various composite facilities, bearing interest at rates determined by the nature [
of each specific drawdown instrument, but linked to the BA rate. Interest rates ’ |
varied between 8,5% and 14% per annum during the year (2003:11% and i |
15% per annum). Facilities mature in 366 days on notice. { * ( 39
Orbicom i ‘\
Loan | f
Loan repaid in 12 equal instalments commenced 1 June 2003, bearing no interest. ) - | 2
Overdraft }
Facility bearing interest at prime {effective rate 17% per annum) } - } 5
MTN Rwanda )‘ /
Overdraft ’
Facility bearing interest at a variable rate, effective rate of 15,5% per annum, J 1 ~
MTN Swaziland | !
Standard Bank Swaziland Limited | (‘
The loan attracts a floating interest rate of prime less 0,25% per annum i
(effective rate of 10,87% per annum) (2003: 16,25% per annum) and will be ‘ }
repaid by April 2006. J 3, 9
MTN Uganda | 5
SIDA Bond | |
Commercial paper issue of UGS 12,5 billion facility guaranteed by SIDA, : ‘
bearing interest at the 182-day Ugandan treasury bill rate plus 1% per annum ‘
(effective rate of 21,49% per annum) (2003:15,9% per annum). This foan is made i }
up of 3 tranches and is repayable semi-annually with tranche 1 maturing in ‘ :
September 2005 and tranches 2 and 3 maturing in December 2005. | 7 | 13
European Investment Bank \ ‘
Facility of EURQ 3,5 million bearing interest at a composite rate of 8,48% per “ i
annum and repayable semi-annually from February 2002 until August 2009. : - / 15
Stanbic Bank Uganda ] |
Short-term facility of US$ 1,5 million bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2% per annum |
(effective rate of 3,3% per annum) and repayable on demand. i - 6

* Amounts less than R1 miflion
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Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004 .
| 2004 | 2003 ®
| Rm " Rm
20. BORROWINGS (continued) ‘ \ ‘
Unsecured (continued) i ‘
MTN Cameroon | .
Government of Cameroon ’
Loan of CFA 10,6 billion arising on incorporation of MTN Cameroon. Although the | i
terms of the loan are still under negotiation, the original terms require that | .
the repayments be made six monthly beginning on 31 May 2002 until "
30 November 2007 except the CFA 1,4 billion access fee loan which is to be repaid | | .
quarterly over ane year. The annual interest rate is fixed at 7,88% per annum ‘
except for the access fee loan which bears no interest, 123 [ 138
MTN Mauritius j " .
Syndicated revolving loan |
Facility arranged by Standard Bank London Limited and Sumitomo Mitsui | ‘ .
Banking Corporation Europe Limited of US$250 million, bearing interest at | [
LIBOR plus 1,75% per annum (effective rate of 2,85% per annum) (2003:3,1% \ [
per annum). This loan is repayable in five instalments of US$40 million every ; | .
six months, starting in September 2004 with a final instalment of US$50 million |
in March 2007. MTN Holdings and other MTN Group entities have provided \ { .
cross guarantees for this loan facility. | 1008 | 1928
Total unsecured loans \ 1254 ’; 2746 .
Secured J
MTN Holdings |
Rand Merchant Bank \ ‘
Facility bearing interest at 13,92% per annum payable bi-annually with capital
repayable on 31 January 2006.The loan is secured by a cession of the life \ ) .
endowment policies of key personnel. ! 24 24*
14th Avenue Finance Lease [
Finance lease obligation capitalised at an effective rate of 11,7 % per annum. ‘ .
The lease term is ten years with eight years to run, with renewal options of !
20 years in total, and instalments are payable monthly. The book value of the \ .
underlying property is R291 million (2003: R306 million) (note 8, 31). 314 | 315
{
MTN Swaziland ‘ ’ .
Swazi Empowerment Limited ‘
Facility bearing interest at prime less 2% per annurm (2003: effective interest rate ‘ !
of 14,5% per annum), repayable in October 2002 and secured by second notarial i \ ‘
bond over all moveable assets (note 8, 15). \ - 4
Swazi Industrial Corporation | [ .
Facility bearing interest at prime plus 2% per annum with a minimum and ‘]
maximum of 12% and 22% per annurn respectively, effective interest rate of | f
12,14% per annum (2003: 18,5% per annur), repayable monthly and secured | : .
by first notarial bond over all moveable assets {(note 8, 15). t 2 E‘ 4
* Anamount of R14 million previously offser against this loan has been reciassified to ’
originated loans (note 13)
®
@

1 28 MTN Business Report 2004




20.

BORROWINGS (continued)

Secured {continued)

MTN Uganda

Principal project foan

Facility of UGS 18 billion bearing interest at prime less 1% per annum (effective
rate of 18% per annum) (2003: 14,5% per annurn) based on the weighted
average of bank prime and repayable quarterly from December 2000 to
September 2004,

Development Finance Company of Uganda

Facility of UGS 453 million bearing interest at prime less 1% per annum
{effective rate of 15,5% per annum) (2003:14,5% per annum) based on
weighted average of bank prime and repayable quarterly from December
2000 1o September 2005,

European Investment Bank
Loan of US$4,8 million bearing fixed interest at 7,5% per annum and repayable
semi-annually from February 2002 until August 2009

Swedfund International

Subordinated loan of UGS 3 billion bearing no interest and repayable by
September 2007. The repayment value will be based on the equity and net
operating profit for the three years ending 31 March 2008. Lenders are entitled
to a remuneration fee pro-rata to dividends declared to ordinary shareholders.
The inherent interest rate applicable to this facility, having considered the
estimated repayment instalment, equates to 16,0% per annum.

Nordic Developrnent Fund

Subordinated loan of UGS 3 billion bearing no interest, repayable in September
2007.The repayment value will be based on the equity and net operating profit
for the three years ending 31 March 2008. Lenders are entitled to a remuneration
fee pro-rata to dividends declared to ordinary shareholders.The inherent interest
rate applicable to this facility, having considered the estimated repayment
instalment, equates to 16,0% per annum.

Stanbic Bank Promissory Note
Facility of UGS 6 billion bearing interest at 1% less than Stanbic Bank prime rate
teffective rate of 16% per annum) repayable monthly with a rofl-over option.

Standard Bank London/LB KIIEL Loan

Facility of US$10,3 million bearing interest at LIBOR plus 1,25% (effective rate of
2,4% per annum). Fadility repayable from May 2003 semi annually in payments
of US$1,9 million with Tranche A maturing in December 2006 and Tranche

B maturing in March 2007

All of the above MTN Uganda loans participate in the inter-creditor security
package comprising of an assignment of the MTN Uganda telecommunication
licence, and debentures providing security of R143,2 mifion (2003:R102,6 miltion)
by means of a first fixed charge in favour of the inter-creditor agent, Stanbic Bank
Uganda Limited, over all property, plant and equipment {note 8,10).

27

22
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

2004 ) 2003
Rm ‘ Rm

20. BORROWINGS (continued) ‘

Secured (continued) ‘ J

MTN Cameroon

international Amortising Senior Debt Facility J

Facility of EURO 58,5 million bearing interest at EURIBOR plus 2,25% per annum
(effective interest rate of 4,4% per annum) (2003: 4,4% per annum), repayable
bi-annuaily, starting 30 June 2003 and secured against the shares held by MTN
Mauritius in MTN Cameroon and a notarial bond over property, plant and
equipment to the value of U5$164,2 million (note 8).

335 425

Domestic Amortising Senior Debts Facility

Facility of CFA 23 billion bearing interest at Taux d'interets de Appels D'Offres
{'TIAD" plus 1,75% per annum {effective rate of 7,93% per annum) (2003: 8,1% per
annum), repayable bi-annually, starting 30 June 2003 and secured against the
shares held by MTN Mauritius in MTN Cameroon and a notarial bond over

property, plant and equipment (note 8). 72

A credit enhancement agreement was provided by MTN Holdings which
guarantees the obligations of MTN Cameroon under the above facilities in
certain circumstances.

MTN Nigeria

Overdraft facility, trade finance and commercial paper foan of NGN 19 billion
bearing interest at a variable rate benchmarked against the average 30 day,
NIBOR (2003; effective rate of 18,8% per annum).The loan is secured against the
shares held by MTN Mauritius in MTN Nigeria. In addition, through a negative
pledge, MTN Nigeria is restricted from disposing of certain assets outside the

ordinary course of the business. 1188

{FC facitity

The facilities comprise a US$50 million standby guarantee facility from the
international Finance Corporation (10 be utilised in event of a shortfall at each
of the 2006 and 2008 roll-over dates) and a loan of U535 million, repayable
bi-annually from September 2006 and terminating in Novernber 2010, Pricing is
linked to LIBOR (effective interest rate of 501% per annum),

120

Local facility

US$250 million naira equivalent commercial paper instrument reducing to
75% and 50% of the initial loan value in November 2006 and November 2008
respectively. The facility matures in November 2010, Pricing is linked to NIBOR
(effective interest rate of 22,88% per annum).

1562

DFi term loan l
A loan of US$20 million from a combined DEG/FMO facility repayable bi-annually | \

from November 2005, maturing in March 2010.The interest rate is linked to ]

LIBOR (effective interest rate of 4,47% per annum). i
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2004 | 2003
| Rm ‘r Rm

BORROWINGS (continued) ( J
Secured (continued) i }
MTN Nigeria (continued) | ;
SCMB facility | [
US540 million facility from ECICSA/Standard Corporate Merchant Bank (“SCMB?), } i
repayable in six equal instalments from September 2005 unti! March 2008.The | i
interest rate is linked to LIBOR (effective interest rate of 3,9% per annum). i 126 { -
All of the above MTN Nigeria loans are secured by a fixed charge over the J i
company’s moveable assets, service licence, ordinary share deposit accounts I ‘
and a floating charge over the undertaking and its assets, property and | i
receivables. The proceeds of the insurance policies are secured in favour of the [ J
Security Trustee (note 8,10, 16). MTN Mauritius has also provided its shares i
in MTN Nigeria as security for these loans. ‘ i
MTN Rwanda J
Syndicated loan from four local banks totalling RWF 2,9 million bearing interest [ !
at a fixed rate of 16% per annum, repayable aver 39 months effective from | ;
April 2003.The Joan is secured by a floating charge on MTN Rwanda's property i |
plant and equipment of R44.6 million and by subordination of its shareholders’ i J
foan (note 8). f 9 | 13
BPC foan | i
Facility of USS600 000 bearing interest at a fixed rate of 9,25% per annum, } ‘J
repayable in 12 equa! instalments commencing in April 2004, The loan is { !
secured by a floating charge over the assets and by subordination of its \
shareholder loans (note 8). ‘ 1] -
Total secured borrowings ] 2895 ‘ 2103
Total borrowings ‘ 4149 1 4849
The maturity of the above loans and overdrafts is as follows: l [
Payable within one year or on demand J 439 | 1 600
Short-term borrowings 334 | 1354
Bank overdrafts 105 J 206

T
Mare than one year but not exceeding two years 1035 1169
More than two years but not exceeding five years i 1627 J 1750
More than five years \ 1048 i 330
Total borrowings } 4149 \ 4 849
Less: Amounts included within current liabilities (439) \\ (1 600)
Total long-term borrowings 1 3710 ]‘ 3249

Further details of the Group's finance lease commitments are presented in note 31 to the financial statements.
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Group

Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

] 2004 f 2003
\‘ Rm i R
i -
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES | l
Trade payables | 1586 | 1346
Sundry creditors 554 | 609
Accrued expenses and other payables \ 2647 ‘l 2007
L oave7 | 3962
At
beginning  Additional Exchange Atend
of year provisions Utilised  differences of year
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
22. PROVISIONS ! |
Year ended 31 March 2004 ‘ |
Leave pay 31 18 (14} (2) 33 |
Bonus 80 115 (84) (6) 105 |
Onerous leases i 80 8) (21) - 51 i
j 191 125 {119) ®) 189 |
Year ended 31 March 2003
Leave pay 34 17 (16) 4) 31
Bonus 76 126 (109) (13) 80
Onerous leases - 80 - - 80
10 223 (125) Qa7 191

Leave pay provision

The leave pay provision relates to the vested leave pay to which employees may become entitled upon leaving
the employment of subsidiary companies. The provision arises as employees render services that increases their
entitlement to future compensated leave. The provision is utilised when employees, who are entitled to leave pay,
leave the employment of subsidiary companies or when the accrued entitlement is utifised.

Bonus provision

The bonus provision consists of a performance-based bonus, which is determined by reference to the overall
company performance with regard to a set of pre-deterrined key performance areas.Bonuses are payable
annually after the MTN Group annual results have been approved.

Onerous leases provision
The onerous lease provision represents the recognition of the present value of the liability due under non-
cancellable leases in respect of various leased office premises.
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\? 2004 | 2003
\ Rm | Rm
23. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS ! \
Profit before tax \ 5413 | 2910
Adjustments for: | \
Share of profits in associates less dividends received (note 11) i (4} : m
Finance cost {note 5} \ 748 | 957
Finance income (note 4) | (144) \ (129)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 3, 8) ! 2204 1851
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 3,10) \ 172 1 233
Amortisation of goodwill (note 3,9) ‘; 599 | 596
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 3) | 8 | 19
Impairment charge on property, plant and equipment (note 3,8) l ‘ 15
Gain on disposal of 20% shareholding in MTN Cameroon (note 3) | \ @n
Impairment (reversed) raised against loan arising on disposal of 20% of ‘ !
MTN Cameroon (note 3) ] (9} ‘ 49
Loss on disposal of 4,5% interest in MTN Nigeria (note 3) 1 72 | -
Irmpairment of interest in associate (note 3,11) ‘ 4 \ -
J 9063 i 6209
Changes in working capital 964 ; 604
(Increase) decrease in inventories (124} \‘ 37
Increase in receivables and prepayments (435) | (1001)
Increase in trade and other payables 1523 [ 1568
Cash generated from operations | 10027 ;’ 6813
24. TAXPAID | 1
Balance at beginning of year \ {407) (285)
Armounts charged to income statement | (1101) ‘ (687)
Deferred tax credit I (361) | (179)
Exchange differences \ 51 | 22
Withhoiding taxes not paid | \ 38
Revaluation of tax balance I (45) ] -
Balance at end of year \‘ 942 | 407
Total tax paid | t921) ] (684)
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS | \
For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise I E
the following: 1 \
Cash at bank and on hand ‘ 3648 ; 1551
Securitised cash deposits* 1688 [ 586
Bank overdraft E (105) ! (206)
| 5231 | 1931

*  These monies are placed on deposit with banks in Nigeria to secure Letrers of Credit, which at year-end were undrawn and the monies

accordingly not freely avaitable.
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Group
Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

| 2004 | 2003
} Rm ( Rm
26. UNDERWRITING ACTIVITIES ] |
Underwriting activities are conducted through special purpose entities on z [
cammercial terms and conditions at market prices. | i
tncome statement effect l I
- Gross prerniums written i 24 | 21
- Qutwards reinsurance premium ] (18) i (4)
- Change in unearned premiums i {5) | 3)
- Reinsurance commission l 3 r 14
! g | 28
Balance sheet effect i ‘
Share of technical provision ’ )
— Qutstanding claims i 127 87
- Provision for unearned premiums ! 5 |
Receivables f I
~ Investment in sinking fund policy i 107 ? 70
~ Unlisted preference shares ! 8 8
~Cash | 6 | b
~ Shart-term maney-market deposits ! 21 I 14
Payables % (4) | @
27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ‘( ‘
MTN International (Mauritius) Bid Bond (note 27.1) | 192 } -
R100 million guarantee in favour of Rand Merchant Bank Properties (note 27.2) | 100 ! -
Upgrade incentives (note 27.3) “ 493 i 443
Other (note 27.4) | 3 52
| 788 | 495
27.1 AEuro 25 million bid bond was issued on 8 February 2004 on behalf of MTN Mauritius with a validity period of

180 days. This bid bond formed part of the bid submission for the second GSM licence in Iran. MTN Holdings,

MTN Network Operator as well as MTN SP, have cross-guaranteed any outstanding liabilities under such bid bond.

MTN Mauritius was not the preferred bidder for such licence The bid bond will be returned and cancelled once
the successfut bidder has complied with all conditions precedent to the awarding of the licence.

27.2 Asat 3] March 2004, the Company had signed guarantees in favour of Rand Merchant Bank 1o the value of
R100 million relating to the bridging finance facility granted to Rand Merchant Bank Properties for the
development of the second phase of the MTN Innovation centre. As at balance sheet date, no draw-downs
had been made against this facility.

27.

w

The present policy of the Group's South African subsidiary is to pay incentives to Service Providers (“SP”) for
handset upgrades.These upgrades are only payable once the subscriber has completed a 24-month period
with the SP since the initial commencement of their contract or previous upgrade. The value of the obligation
may vary dependant on the prevailing business rules at the time of upgrade. The number of eligible subscribers
that were entitled to, but which have not exercised their right to upgrade at 31 March 2004 was 275 000 (2003
175 000). The estimated contingent liability at 31 March 2004, based on the prevailing business rules on such
date, amounted to R493 million (2003: R443 miillion). The subsidiary has however provided for those upgrades
which have occurred but which have not yet been presented for payment,

27.4 This consists of MTN Uganda licence obligations and MTN Cameroon employee vehicles,

] 34 MTN Business Report 2004




|

i

@

28. COMMERCIAL COMMITMENT
The granting of a national cellular telecommunication licence placed an obligation on a subsidiary company,
MTN Network Operator, to set up a Joint Economic Development Plan Agreement with the Postmaster General
(now {CASA). This agreement was a condition for the commencement of cormmercial operations in june 1994 and
involves a commitment by the subsidiary company to assist in the development of the South African economy
and, in particular, the telecommunications industry. The commitment is estimated at R1 billion over a period of
10 years and is arrived at by a series of multipliers which apply to specific categories of activities.
ICASA reviews MTN's Network Operator compliance on a two-yearly basis. A review for the period ended
37 March 2003 was conducted and confirmed that MTN Network Operator had met its service obligations.
I 2004 | 2003
J‘ Rm | Rm
29, CAPITAL COMMITMENTS r f
Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not ; “
recognised in the financial statements was as follows: | i
i i
Commitments for the acguisition of property, plant and equipment ! |
Contracted but not provided for f 3490 | 1105
Authorised but not contracted for i 5838 | 5303
Group’s share of capital commitments of joint ventures [ i
Contracted but not provided for ? .26 f 39
Authorised but not contracted for i 148 | 164
Total commitments ] 9502 E 6611
Capital expenditure will be funded from operating cash flows and where j |
necessary, from existing borrowing facitities. ( ‘
]
30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS ; !
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable | !
operating leases were as follows: " !
Within one year ! 154 288
More than one year but less than two years J 162 | 148
More than two years but less than five years i 126 | 210
More than five years ] 168 } 301
w‘ 610 | 947
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Notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2004

i 2004 | 2003
] Rm | Rm
I
|
31. FINANCE LEASE COMMITMENTS I |
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments under ! l
non-cancellable finance leases which fall due as follows: | !
I
Minimum lease payments ] 1
Within one year | 43 | 39
More than one year but Jess than two years | 47 | 43
Mare than two years but less than five years & 170 154
More than five years 270 332
¥ | |
Total minimum [ease payments L 530 | 568
Less: future finance charges on finance leases : (216} \ (253)
Present value of finance lease obligation } 314 l 315
Present value of finance lease obligations are as follows: } ;
Within one year | 6 | i
More than one year but fess than two years | 11| S

More than two years but less than five years 78 } 55
More than five years 219 | 253

314 | 315

32. OTHER COMMITMENTS

Orders placed to purchase handsets 214

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Employee benefit obligations
The Group operates provident and pension funds, which are defined
contribution funds and are governed by the Pension Funds legislation in the
respective countries, Contributions are made to the funds based upen
employees’pensionable salary packages. All employees are eligible to join the
funds and it is a conditian of employment,

Post retirement medical benefits
The Group has no post retirement medical benefit obligations.

34. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
The Group had the following effective percentage interests in joint ventures:

Indirect % %

Swazi MTN

MTN Uganda

MTN Rwanda

MTN Network Solutions

30 | 30
52 ) 52
40 | 31
60 ! 60
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34. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) } i
The following amounts represent the Group's share of the assets and liabilities, 1 i
revenue and results of the joint ventures and are included in the consolidated ] /
balance sheet and income statement. j 5
Current assets j 88 / 141
Non-current assets | 308 | 466
Current liabiities 1 (116) | (100
Non-current liabilities J (134) 1 (162)
Revenue i 585 i 747
Expenses | (186) 1 (132)
Cash generated by operations [ 141 | 180
Cash invested ; (148) | (166)
Cash from financing activities [ T J‘ *
Average number of employees relating to joint ventures: ! ‘
- Full-ime [ 621 | 546
- Part-time | 22 20
There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in the joint ventures.
* Amounts fess than R1 miflion
35. TRANSFER PRICING
In terms of the transfer pricing provisions contained in section 31 of the South African Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962
("the Act") where a taxpayer supplies financial services to a connected person who is a non-South African
resident, interest should be charged on an arm'’s length basis. The Group has consistently taken the view, based on
professional advice, that the provisions of section 31 should not apply in respect of the loan element of
shareholder equity funding to its African subsidiaries and joint ventures.The Group and its professional adviscrs
continue 1o believe in the soundness of the approach adopted and accordingly consider that there is no
necessity to raise a provision for any potential tiability in this regard.
36. LICENCE AGREEMENTS

MTN Network Operator

The ficence autharises MTN Network Operator to construct, maintain and use a 900 MHz GSM national mabile
celiular telecommunication service within the South African geographic territory. The licence was published
on 29 October 1993 and is valid for a period of 15 years from 1 June 1994, automatically renewable on mutatis
mutandis, the same terms and conditions, subject to certain provisions. The Group paid an initial fee of

R100 million and pays an annual licence fee based on 5% of net operating income as defined in the licence.

MTN Cameroon

The licence authorises MTN Cameroon to set up and run a 900 MHz national mobile GSM ceflular telephony
network within the geographic territory of Cameroon. The licence was granted on 15 February 2000 and is valid
for a period of 15 years, renewable every ten years thereafter. The Group paid an initial fee of CFA 40,4 billion and
the annual licence fae payable is CFA 2,9 billion.
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36. LICENCE AGREEMENTS (continued)
MTN Nigeria
The licence authorises MTN Nigeria to provide and operate a 900 and 1 800 MHz second generation digital
mobile service within the geographic territory of Nigeria. The ficence was granted on 9 February 2001 and is
valid for a period of 15 years, renewable every five years thereafter. The Group paid an initial licence fee of
US$285 million and pays an annual licence fee based on 2,5% of assessed net revenue as defined in the licence.

MTN Rwanda

The licence authorises MTN Rwanda to provide a 900, 1 800 and 1 900 MHz (including cellular public pay
telephone) GSM telecornmunication network within the geographic teritory of Rwanda. The licence was granted
on 2 April 1998 and is valid for 10 years and may be terminated thereafter with a two-year written notice period.
The Group paid an initial licence fee of US$200 000 and pays an annual licence fee based on 2,5% of network
revenue as defined in the licence, a frequency fee of USS$2 000 per 1 MHz granted and an annual spectrum fee

of US$50 000.

MTN Uganda

The national operator licence authorises MTN Uganda to construct, maintain and operate fixed-line, as well as
900 and 1 800 MHz national second generation digital mobile radio telephony services within the geographic
territory of Uganda. The licence was granted on 15 April 1998 and is valid for a period of 20 years The Group paid
initial licence fees of US$5,8 million and pays an annual spectrum fee of 1% of network revenue as cantribution
to the Rural Communications Development Fund.

MTN Swaziland

The licence authorises MTN Swaziland to provide and operate a 900 MHz GSM network within the Swaziland
geographic territory. The licence was granted on 31 duly 1998 and is valid for a period of ten years, renewable
for 10 years thereafier. The Group pays annual spectrum fees of £20 000 per channel used (with a minimum of
E600 000) and a licence fee of 5% of audited net operational income as defined in the licence.

i 2004 | 2003
| Rm \ Rm

37. EXCHANGE RATES TO SOUTH AFRICAN RAND { ‘

Year-end closing rates J ’
United States dollar \ 0,16 | 013
Uganda shilling j 304,32 | 249,68
Rwanda franc ; 93,82 [ 65,97
Carneroon Communaute Financiere Africaine franc ] 86,36 ‘ 76,72
Nigerian naira i 21,21 [ 16,14
Swazi emalangeni ‘\ 1 1

[

Average rates for the year \‘) ‘
United States dollar ) 0,14 " 0,10
Uganda shilling i 277,87 \ 197,34
Rwanda franc | 80,29 5350
Carmeroon Comrmunaute Financiere Africaine franc \ 80,61 ! 67,76
Nigerian naira I 1838 | 1361
Swazi emalangeni | 1 ) 1
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ‘ 1

Foreign exchange risk { i

|

included in the Group balance sheet are the following amounts denorminated i |

in currencies other than the measurement currency of the reporting entities: i l

|

Assets i |

Accounts receivable ! .
~ United States dollar ‘ 124 [ 37
- Euro ‘ 1 \ -
- Swazi emalangeni ‘ 4 2
- Special drawing rights®* | 13 ; 9
Securitised cash deposits | 1688 i 586
Other assets \ - 28
Total assets ‘ 1820 ‘l 662

Liabiljties ; \

Long-term liabilities I \
— United States dollar 909 | 717
- Euro [ 85 \ 522
! 994 | 1239

Current liabilities i t
- United 5tates dollar \ ; 621 \ 121
- Pounds sterling § 3 3
- Euro \ 299 ; 194
- South African rand J 2 *
- Swedish krona ] - 1
- Special drawing rights** | 1 i 5
| 926 | 324
Total liabilities | 1920 | 1563

* Amounts less than R1 miltion

** Unit of payment for international telecommunication transactions
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Foreign amounts Rand amounts
2004 J 2003 ‘f 2004 | 2003
| milfion | million | Am J Rm
38, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ! ] [ ,
Outstanding forward exchange contracts | ! | |
are as follows: | , ] i
United States dollar ! 40 | 46 | 72 | 380
Furo ) 29 | 0 | 260 | 342
| ! i
Fair value { | | [
United States dollar I / | 260 i 373
Euro | f : 243 | 329

Fair value losses recognised in the income statement amount to R29 million (2003:R20 million)
Liguidity risk

The Group has no material risk of liguidation and limited exposure 10 liguidity risk as it has significant banking
facilities and reserve borrowing capacity, including liquid resources as follows;

Carrying amounts Fair value
| 2004 | 2003 4 2004 | 2003
{ Rm i Rm | Rm ‘ Rm
Cash at bank and on hand; net of overdrafts ? 3543 E 1345 ; 3543 | 1345
Letrers of credit | 1ess | 586 1688 | 586
Receivables and prepayments | 2791 1 2728 | 2791 i 2728
Trade and other payables f (4787) ; (3 962) ; (4787) J (3962)

Effective interest rate ranges from 0,75% - 11,0% (2003: 4,2% - 13%).

Deposits have an average maturity of less than 60 days (2003:30 days).

39. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

39.1 with effect from 1 April 2003, the Group has adopted accounting statement AC133 “Financial instruments:
Recognition and Measurementin terms of AC133, retained earnings at 1 April 2003 have been adjusted
according to the transitional provisions. Therefore, retained earnings at 1 April 2003 have been decreased by an
amount of R15 million in the statement of changes in equity. In terms of AC133, comparative figures have not
been restated as a result of the change in accounting policy. The effect of the adoptian of AC133 was as follows:

Gross Tax effect Net

Rm Rm Rm

Opening retained earnings - reduction (15} - (15}
Current year profits - increase 13 (3) 10
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+39. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) \ i
39.2 The Group changed its accounting policy with respect to the treatment of \‘ :
. share incentives and option schemes/trusts. It now consolidates these schemes, i
the effect of which is as follows: \ ‘
|
. Increase in profit after tax | 1 ‘ 5
Increase in profit before tax 1 \ 5
‘ Taxation * ! *
Decrease in retained eamings : * (5)
‘ Gross * \ 5)
Taxation 1 -
‘ The change in accounting policy had no effect on the minority interest. \
40.  ACQUISITION |
‘ The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of an additional 9% stake in I
MTN Rwanda on 15 December 2003 were as follows: i I
. Property, plant and equipment i 12 !
Intangible assets | *
Inventories ( * \
' Trade and other receivables | 4,
Bank and cash \ 1
Long-term borrowings 1‘ 2) |
. Deferred taxation i (2!
Trade and other payables \ 4 .
Provisions | (4] \
. Tax liabilities : m!
Short-term borrowings i -
‘ Bank overdraft | *
Inter-company creditors j (1)
Net asset value “ 6 ‘
. Total purchase price: \ (22}
- Cash paid 7
. ~ Fair value of dividend receivable (15)
Goodwill (hote 9) ! (16) |
. * Amounts less than R1 million
. 41. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE
The useful life of certain fixed assets was reviewed with effect from 1 April 2003. As a result, certain depreciation
rates of certain assets in the Group’s Nigerian operation were adjusted in the current year namely; air-conditioners
‘ {from 20% to 50%s}, generators {from 25% to 50%) and certain network hardware (from 10% 1o 14,28%) per annum.
These changes resulted in an increase of R130 million in the current year's depreciation charge (tax effect of
‘ R57 million).
42, POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
. There are no significant post balance sheet events,
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Company ®
Income statement ®
for the year ended 31 March 2004
} 2004 | 2003

Note Rm | RBm ‘
Revenue - i -
Cost of sales - -
Gross profit - - .
Operating expenses — net of other operating income | (28) | 2)
Loss from operations 1! (28) { 2) .
Finance income 2 / 2 ; *
Finance costs 3 X * )
Income from investments 4 - } 7 ‘
(Loss) profit before tax I (26) | 4
Income tax expense 5 - 2 .
(Loss) profit after tax ; (26) [ 2
Net (loss) profit | (26) | 2 .
* Amounts fess than R1 million
Company o
Balance sheet ®
at 31 March 2004

| 2004 2003

Note 1 Rm Rm .
ASSETS ( §
Non-current assets i 14153 i 14111 ‘
Interest in subsidiaries 6 14147 | 14104
Originated loans 7 6 7
Current assets | 189 / 58 ‘
Receivables and prepayments 161 ‘ 58
Taxation prepaid 1 - .
Cash at bank and on hand 8 27 | -
Total assets ;14342 14169 .
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY j i
Ordinary shares and share premium 3 14184 | 14090
Retained earnings J‘ 22 | 52 ‘
Total equity [ 14206 14142
LIABILITIES ‘ 1 o
Current liabilities 136 ; 27
Trade and other payables . 10 136 | i7 .
Current tax liabilities - 3
Bank overdraft 8 - 7
Total liabilities 5 136 27 .
Total equity and liabilities | 14342 | 14169 Py
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Company | |
- : 1, |
Statement of changes in equity | (
for the year ended 31 March 2004 ! ’
;
Share Share Retained
capital premium earnings Torat
Note R Rm R R
Balance at 1 April 2002 * 13942 50 13992
Net profit ~ _ 2
Issue of share capital * 148 - 148
Balance at 31 March 2003 * 14090 52 14142
Change in accounting policy ~ AC133 13 [ - ~ 4) (4)
Restated balance at 1 April 2003 | . 14 090 48 14138 |
Net loss | - - (26) (26) |
Issue of share capital ! * 94 - 94 !
Balance at 31 March 2004 | * 14184 22 14206 |
Note 9 9
Company
Cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 March 2004
i 2008 2003
Note i Rm | Rm
Cash flows from operating activities " ‘
Cash received from customers I 13 | -
Cash paid to suppliers and employees \ - 7)
Cash generated from (used in) operations n l 13 I 7)
Interest received 2 1 1 | *
Interest paid 3 * n
Tax paid 12 \ 4) | -
Dividends received 4 | - \ 7
Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities } 10 ‘ 4]
Cash flows from investing activities |
Repayments of ather loans and advances (7 6)
Net cash used in investing activities (7) (6)
Cash flows from financing activities \
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 31 | -
Net cash generated from financing activities i 31 -
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ! 34 ‘ 7
Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of year (7} *
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 27 | (7)

* Amounis fess than R miffion
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Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2004

i 2004 | 2003
Rm ! Ren

1. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS ! r

The following items have been included in arriving ; i

at Joss from operations: i !

Auditors remuneration: | 1 ( *

- Audit fees o | M

- Fees for other services - t "

- Expenses * %

Directors'emoluments: ‘ 3 { 2

Directors’ fees [ 3| 2 ]

Fees paid for services: ! 104 } 11

- Administrative 2 » 2

- Management 102 | -

- Technical * ( g

i

Management fees received (107) | (14

Impairment of interest in subsidiary (note 6,11} 26 \ -

Analysis of operating expenses by function ! ]

Administration, marketing and netwark J‘ (28} ‘ 2)
2. FINANCE INCOME \ |

Interast income ! 2 J *

Reconciliation of interest received to finance income r |

Interest received (operating activities) 1 *

Fair value adjustments \ 1 } -
3. FINANCE COSTS f f

Interest expense ~ borrowings : * J‘ 1)
4.  INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS I

Dividends received from subsidiary 1 - & 7

* Amouns less than R1 million
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| 2004 | 2003
\ Rm i Rm
5. INCOME TAX EXPENSE i :
Current tax | |
Norma! tax ) - )
Current year - 1 M
Prior year underprovision - ; 6
\ - @
South African normal taxation is calculated at 30% (2003:30%) of the i i
estimated taxable income for the year. j |
1 I
Tax rate reconciliation \ ’
The charge for the year can be recanciled to the effective rate of taxation i ;
in South Africa as follows: } i
| % | %
Tax at standard rate ! 30,0 \‘ 300
|
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1 (30,0) \ 390
Income not subject 1o tax ! - (42,0)
Other ! - 120
| - 390
6. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES | |
525 593 246 shares (100%) in Mobile Telephone Networks Holdings ‘ l
(Proprietary) Limited at cost | 12599 12340
Loan owing by subsidiary (nore 6.1) | 1520 | 1515
Net interest in subsidiary : 14119 L 14 055
100 shares {(100%) in Orbicom (Proprietary) Limited at cost \ 1 1
Loan owing by subsidiary (note 6.2) ! 53 ‘ 48
Less: impairment of foan account i {26} | -
Net interest in subsidiary \ 28 49
Total interest in subsidiary companies ‘ 14147 ‘ 14104
6.1 This loan account has been subordinated in favour of certain of the Group's lenders.
6.2 This loan account has been subardinated in favour of all creditors of the subsidiary untl such time as its assets,

fairly valued, exceed its liabilities. In light of the subsidiary’s investrment in Ghana which has been fully written-
down at year-end, the directors have taken a decision to impair the carrying value of the foan.
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| 2004 | 2003
i Rm f Rm
T -
7. ORIGINATED LOANS i |
Loans to employee share incentive schemes** t 6 f 7
|
8.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS f
Cash at bank and on hand 27 | -
Bank overdraft - 7
27 | )
9.  ORDINARY SHARES AND SHARE PREMIUM ! f
Ordinary share capital 2 \
Authorised share capital i l
2500 000 000 ordinary shares of 001 cent each ) * *
Issued and fully paid-up share capital | E
1658 802 355 (2003:1 652 057 646) ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each | * j x
Share premium { |
Balance at beginning of the year } 14 090 { 13942
Arising on the issue of shares during the year (net of share issue expenses) : 94 ; 148
Balance at end of the year f 14184 14090
Total ordinary shares and share prermium “ 14184 14 090
The directors are authaorised, by resolution of the shareholders and untif the i
forthcoming annual general meeting, to dispose of unissued shares for any ’ i
purpose and upon such terms and conditions as they see fit. ‘ |
10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES { 2
Sundry creditors | 3 7
Accrued expenses and other payables ‘, 133 ; 10
1 136 | 17

¥ Amounts Jess than BT million
** These loans bear interest at a variable rate not ess than the official rate of interest"according tm the South African Revenue Service,
ranging berween 9% and 14,5% per annurm (2003: 11,25% and 13,25% per annunm).
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{ 2004 | 2003
i Rm | Rm
11, CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS % '
(Loss) Profit before tax ! (26} ; 4
Adjustments for: & \
Finance cost (note 3} i * ‘« 1
Finance income (note 2} ! (2} \ -
Investment income (note 4) } - 7
Impairment of interest in subsidiary (note 1,6) 1 26 -
| (2 7
! |
Changes in working capital ; 15 (5)
increase in receivables and prepayments (103) { (18)
increase in trade and other payables 118 | 13
)
Cash generated from {used in) operations | 13 1 0]
12. TAXPAID ! f
Balance at beginning of year } (3) | (1)
Amounts charged to income statement i - | 2)
Balance at end of year | m) 3
Total tax paid l (4) { -
13. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

With effect from 1 April 2003, the Company has adopted accounting statement ACY33.1n terms of AC133,
retained earnings at 1 April 2003 have been adjusted according to the transitional provisions, Therefore, retained
earnings at 1 April 2003 have been decreased by an amount of R4 million in the statement of changes in equity.
In terms of AC133, comparative figures have not been restated as a result of the change in accounting policy. The
effect of the adoption of AC133 was as follows:

Gross Tax effect Net

Rm Rm Rm

Opening retained earnings — reduction & - (4
Current year profits ~increase l - 1

* Amounts less than R1 miffion

tTN Business Report 2004 147




Interest in major subsidiary companies L
and joint ventures PY
as at 31 March 2004
ANNEXURE 1 .
Effective % Book value of halding
interest company interest .
issued
Subsidiaries and joint issued ordinary share
ventures in which MTN ordinary capital Shares Indebredness .
Graup Limited has a direct Principal Place of share 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
and indirect interest aCtivity incorporation capital % %
1 | i U .
Mobile Telephone Networks Investment I i { Z | |
Holdings (Proprietary) Limited holding ’ | i ‘( i ‘f
company  South Africa 5, 1001 100 {12 599 | 12540 | 1520 | 1515 .
] ; I
Mabile Telephone Network ’, i ; i ’, i
Networks (Proprietary) Limited operator South Africa 1100 l 100 - { - r - “ - .
| !
MTN Service Provider Service ; j f J 1 :
(Proprietary) Limited provider South Africa * [ 100 { 100 [ ~ - j - ) -
MTN International Investment ! j J | ! ‘ ‘
(Proprietary} Limited fholding j 2 | | f (
company South Africa 100 00 | - | - - ~ '
| ! !
: i \
MTN International fnvestment / | ! | ‘) [
(Mauritius) Limited holding ! | ’ | ! |
company Mauritius “| 100 L ‘; - - J‘ - - .
T T T T T .
Mobile Telephone Network | ! | 1 | j
Networks Cameroon Limited operator Cameroon 2 [ 70 [ 70 } - - ol - .
4 | 1
T 1 ’ T :
MTN Nigeria Communications Nerwork [ i “ ‘ } (
Limited operator Nigeria * ] 75 [ 735 J - - - } - ‘
Mobile Telephone Networks Insurance | ; i ( f f
Insurance (Proprietary) Limited  company  South Africa *io100 100 | - | - - -
: ; i ;
M-Tel Insurance fnsurance ( ( ; l 1 \: ‘
(Proprietary) Limited company South Africa =, 100 [ 100 - [ - ; - ‘ -
MTN Nerwork Solutions Internet T J‘ ’ } ‘, 2 .
(Proprietary) Limited** SErvice f I ; : ( }
provider South Africa M ( 60 J 50 | - \‘\ - : - ~
Orbicom {Praprietary) Limited Satellite ‘( }‘ } ! J‘ ’ .
telacommu- | ; | } i E
nications South Africa " 1004L 100 1 Y | 48 .
MTN AwandaCell SARL* Network ! { ! | | l
operator Rwanda A 40 ; 31 - - - [ _
i ! .
MTN Uganda Limited** Network ] ! | J‘ ‘( | .
aperator Uganda ] s [ j - - - }’ -
i . ; i
Swazi MTN Limiteg** Network r’ | ! f | ; '
operatar Swaziland M 30 | 30 | - J‘ - - -
i L |
* Amounts fess than R1 miflion .
= Joint ventures

148 wmn susiness Report 2004




Interest in associated companies | |

|

as at 31 March 2004 @\
' | |

L
ANNEXURE 2
Effective Group
interest share of
Place inissued Group post-
of ordinary book value Group acquisition Directors’
incar- share capital of shares loans aserves valuation
Principal pora-  Financial 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 20603 2004 2003 2004 2003
Name of associate activity tion year end Y% % Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm fm Rm Am
Celiular Calls Cellular  South o ! ! \
(Proprietary) Limited ~ dealership  Africa 31 Mar 26 26 ‘ * < [ - \ - i - *
Cell Place Celllar  South L S [ b |
(Proprietary) Limited  dealership  Africa 31 Mar i 35, 35 \ . - l -y - " -
[-Tatk Cellular Service South ‘ ‘ \ ! i ! | \ .
(Proprietary) Limited provider Affica 28 Feb \ 41 \ 41 0 4 4 - 7 i 10 ’ 8 14 \ 19
Leaf Wireless Cellular Sauth ‘ | ‘ ‘\ \ \ | !
{Proprietary) Limited dealership  Africa 31 Mar l 40 36, 16 { 15 ’ - - * - 16 15
MTN Publicom Payphone [ ! ! [ !
Limited services Uganda 31 Mar | 23 23 * AR B BRI ) (3)J L
New Bucks Holdings  lnternet South \ [ i ‘ | i ) ‘
Limited exchange Africa 20 Jun ‘ 3001 30 ¢ * j - : 8 ‘ 12 ‘ (5)‘ 7) ‘ 3 ‘ 5
Transaction ] \ ‘, ‘ i \ ‘ :
Management Electronic i [ \ ‘ ‘ | 1‘ |
Services Limited payments  Ghana 31 Mar ‘ 36 f 36 * 1 3 f 3 j (3)]‘ (3) ‘ * ‘ i
MTN Villagephone Payphone ‘ ‘ \ i \ | : \w 1
Limited services Uganda 31 Mar | 26 : - 1) - - ‘ - \ * -y -
Total book value of associated companies : f‘ [ 20 ! 20 l 14 l 25 C (1)} (5) 33 \ 40

Amounis fess than R million
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Groups’ attributable interest in associated companies
as at 31 March 2004

ANNEXURE 3
Transaction
Effective Management
interest e-Bucks i-Talk Leaf Publicomn Services Villagephone

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Rm R Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm |m Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm R]m

ASSETS AND J | } J } } ] !

LIABILITIES ‘ ; ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘

Property, plant and J ‘ ] | i | | ( ; ! | :
equipment 9 6 i - 14 4 [ 4, 4 ‘ 4 6| 3l 3 l * | -
Investments and | ; 1 ! | ! i J ‘ i ! ‘
long-term receivables 35| 50 | 118 e8|~ -1 - L
Intangible assets 17| 17 - - ’ 8 4 / 34| 38 ! - - r - - —[ -
Current assets 670 30 f1o7: - 72l e | 12l m | 1 I N
Total assets 1280 103 {225 s | o4 7| sol s s| 7l o3 3l oep -
Long-term borrowings 76 [ 0 | 228 40 » - 10 1 ‘ 17 19 ‘ - ‘ - - ; -
Current liabilities 9| 74 12J 151 | 73] 56 2 Moy oy -
Total liabilities ns!ea Yoaao) o [ 73l s | a2] s | ws] o | wi] v )+ -
Attributable net \ i “ i i \ } ‘ ‘ ‘

asset value 13 9 (15)! @) 21| 15| 38 ® ’ (13} (13 | @ @ <l -
Indiebtedness 1w 25| a0 40 -y 8] - -] w3l 13 o8 8] - -
Impairment (4) - - | ! - - . _
Goodwill arising on :

acquisition ; 7 - | - - -

Goodwill amortised (1)} ) I i i

Book value 330 0| 250 7 ]! owmjas] oas o« o] Lol
INCOME STATEMENT J } ¢ ‘ ! 1 ] !
Revenue 153 128 [ 50| 30 | 300| 269 ] 35{ 21 | 6( 7 * - -
Net profit (loss) for { } “ ( \‘ ‘, J | | ( |

the year 9 1 BJ 6 j 197 12| *! * i Q4 * ® | *J* -
Dividends e - T N e e e e e S B

Amounis less than R1 million

1

| |
| ]
| '
Lo |
(I |
[ '
[ |
[

[

[

[
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Notice of annual general meeting

MTN GROUP LIMITED

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number 1994/009584/06)
(“MTN Group” or “the Company”}

JSE code: MTN

ISIN: ZAEDO0042164

Notice is hereby given that the 9th annual general meeting of sharehalders of the Company will be held at
14th Avenue Campus, Fairlands, Gauteng, on Wednesday, 18 August 2004 at 14:30, for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. Toreceive consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the Group and the Company for the yaar ended
31 March 2004 together with the report of the external auditors.

2. Toauthorise the appointment of directors of the Company referred 10 in 3. below, by single resatution in terms of
the provisions of section 210 of the Companies Act 1973 (Act Na 61 of 1973} as amended {"the Companies Act”)

3. Tore-elect Mr MC Ramaphosa, Ms | Charaley, Me ZNA Cindi and Ms SN Mabaso as directors who retire by ratation at
this meeting in terms of Article 84 of the articles of association and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
To elect Mr JHN Strydom as a director of the Company.

5. To transact any other business capable of being transacted at an annual general meeting.

Details of the directors who retire at this meeting and are offering themselives for re-election are as follows:
1. MC Ramaphosa ~ Age: 51
Appointed: 1 October 2007
Educationat qualifications: BProc, LLD (he)
Other directorships: Johnnic Holdings Limited, SAB Milter plc, FirstRand Limited and Macstee! Holdings (Pty) Limited
Member: Nominations, Remuneration and Human Resources Committee.
2. Charnley - Age:43
Appointed: 1 August 2001
Educational qualifications: MAP CPIR
Other directorships: Metropolitan Holdings Limited and FirstRand Bank Limited.
3 ZNA Cindi - Age: 53
Appointed: 22 Aprit 1999
Other directorships: Community Growth Management Company ((COMANCO", National Productivity institute
(NP and Johinnic Haldings Limited. .
Member, Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee,
Mr Cindi is the Chief Executive Officer of the Unity incorporation (section 21 company)
4, SN Mabaso - Age: 34
Appointed: 1 July 2002
Educational qualifications: BCorn, CASA)
Member: Audit Cormmittee and Nominations, Remuneration and Human Resources Committae.
Ms Mabaso s the Chief Financial Officer of Transnet Limited.

The details of the director offering himself for election are as foltows:
1. JHN Strydom - Age: 65
Appointed: 11 March 2004
Educational qualifications: MCom (Acc), CA(SA)
Diractorships: GrowthPoint Properties Limited.
Mr Strydom is a Commissioner of the Public investment Commissioners and a Member of the Special Income
Tax Court.
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SPECIAL BUSINESS
In addition, shareholders will be requested to consider, and if deemed fit, 1o pass the following special and ordinary
resolutions with or without amendment:

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

Preamble

For the purposes hereof “Group”shall bear the meaning assigned to it by the Listings Requirements (JSE listings
requirements”) of the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa (JSE”), which defines "Group”as a holding company, not itself
heing a wholly owned subsidiary, together with all companies being its subsidiaries, if any.

A general repurchase of the Company’s shares shall not be effected before the JSE has received written confirmation
fromn the Company's sponsor in respect of the directors warking capital statement,

The Board of Directors of the Company has considered the impact of a repurchase of up to 10% of the Company’s
shares, which falls within the amount permissible under a general authority in terms of the JSE listings requirements.
Although there is currently no intention to repurchase any of the Company's shares, should the opportunity arise and
should the directors deem it to be advantageous to the Company to repurchase such shares, it is considered
appropriate that the directors be authorised to repurchase the Company’s shares. This authority is subject to such
repurchase not resulting in:

» the Company and the Group in the ordinary course of business being unable to pay its current debts for a period of
12 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of annual general meeting;

- the liabilities of the Company and the Group exceeding or being equal to the assets of the Company and the Group
for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of annual general meeting, calculated in accordance
with the accounting policies used in the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2004;

« the share capital and reserves of the Company and the Group for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the
notice of annual general meeting being insufficient for ordinary business purposes; and

» the working capital of the Company and the Group for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of
annual general meeting being insufficient for ordinary business purposes.

“RESOLVED THAT the Company, or a subsidiary of the Company, be and is hereby authorised, by way of a general
authority, to acquire shares issued by the Company, in terms of sections 85 and 89 of the Companies Act, 1973 (Act 61
of 1973), as amended, and in terms of the JSE listings requirements, being that:

- any such repurchase of shares shall be implemented through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and
done without any prior understanding or arrangement between such company and the counter party;

+ authorisation thereto is given by the Company’s articles of association;

«at any point in time, such company may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on its behalf;

- the general authority shafl only be valid until the Company’s next annual general meeting, provided that
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this resolution, shall not extend beyond 15 (fifieen) months
from the date of passing of this special resolution number 1;

+ when the Company or a subsidiary of the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% of any class of the Company's
shares in issue on the date of passing of this special resolution number 1 {"the initial number”), and for each 3% in
aggregate of that class of shares acquired thereafter, in each case in terms of this resolution, an announcement shall be
published on SENS and the press as soon as possible and not later than 08:30 on the second business day following
the day on which the relevant threshold is reached or exceeded, and the announcement shall comply with the
requirements of the JSE listings requirements;

+ that all repurchases by the Company of its own shares shall not,in aggregate in any one financial year, exceed 10%
of the Company's issued share capital of that class;

- that any repurchase by the Company or a subsidiary of the Company of the Company's own shares, shall only be
undertaken if, after such repurchase, the Company still complies with the shareholder spread requirements as
contained in the JSE listings requirements;
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Notice of annual general meeting continued

+ that the Company or a subsidiary of the Company rmay not purchase any of the Company's shares during a prohibited
period as defired in the JSE fistings requirements;

* no repurchases may be made at a price which is greater than 10% above the weighted average of the market value for
the securities for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction is effected.”

For the purpose of considering special resolution number 1 and in compliance with paragraph 11.26 of the JSE listings

requiremnents, the information listed below has been included in the Annual Report in which this notice of Annual

General Meeting is included, at the places indicated:

+ Directors and management -refer to page 55 of this report;

+ Major shareholders — refer to page 55 of this report;

- There have been no raterial changes in the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries that have
occurred since March 2004,

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to grant the Company, or a subsidiary of the Company, a
general approval in terms of the Companies Act, 1973 (Act 61 of 1973), as amended (“the Act”), for the acquisition of
shares of the Company. Such general authority will provide the Board with the flexibility, subject to the requirerments of
the Act and the JSE, to repurchase shares should it be in the interests of the Company at any time while the general
authority exists, This general approval shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual general meeting of the Company,
or its variation or revocation of such general authority by special resolution by any subsequent general meeting of the
Company, provided that the general authority shall not be extended beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of
passing this special resolution,

The resolution is required to be passed, on a show of hands, by not less than 75% of the number of shareholders of the
Company entitled to vote on a show of hands, at the meeting, who are present in person or by proxy or, where a poll
has been demanded, by not less than 75% of the total votes to which the shareholders present in person or by proxy
are entitled.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

"RESOLVED THAT all the unissued ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each in the share capital of the Company (other than
those which have specifically been reserved for the Share Incentive Schemes, being 5% of total issued share capital, in
terms of ordinary resolutions duly passed at previous annual general meetings of the Company) be and hereby placed
at the disposal and under the control of the directors, and that the directors be and are hereby authorised and
empowered 10 allot, issue and atherwise 10 dispose of such shares 1o such persen or persons on such terms and
conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time at their discretion deem fit, subject to the
aggregate number of such ordinary shares able to be allotted, issued and otherwise disposed of in terms of this
resolution being limited to 10% of the number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 March 2004 and subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1973 (Act No 61 of 1973), as amended, and the listings requirements of the JSE”

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

"RESOLVED THAT the pre-emptive rights, to which ordinary shareholders may be entitled in terms of the JSE listings

requirements 1o participate in any future issues of equity securities (as defined in the JSE listings requirements) for cash

which may be made by the Company subsequent to the date of passing this resolution be and are hereby waived

subject to the following conditions:

1, That equity securities or rights that are convertible into equity securities to be issued for cash be of a class already
inissue and be issued to public shareholders as defined in the JSE listings requirements and not to related parties;

2. Thatwhere the Company, subseguent to the passing of this resolution, issues equity securities representing,on a
cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% or more of the total number of equity securities in issue prior to such
issue, a press announcement giving full details of the issue, including the average discount to the weighted
average traded price of the equity securities over the 30 (thirty) days prior to the date that the price of the issue
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was determined or agreed by the directors of the Company, the number of equity securities issued, the effect of
the issue on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per share, headline earnings per share and earnings
per share, will be made at the time the said percentage is reached or exceeded;

3. That general issues of equity securities for cash in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 10% of
the Company's issued share capital of that class (for the purpose of determining the securities comprising the
10% number in any one year, account shall be taken of the dilution effect, in the year of issue of options/
convertible securities, by including the number of any equity securities which may be issued in future arising out
of the issue or exercise of such options/convertible securities);

4. That the maximum discount at which the equity securities will be issued for cash will be 10% of the weighted
average traded price of those equity securities measured over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that
the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the Company and where the equity securities
have not traded in such 30 (thirty) business day period, the JSE should be consulted for a ruling; and

5 That the approval for the waiver of the pre-emptive rights will be valid until the earlier of the next annual general
meeting of the Company and the expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing this resolution.”

A 75% majority of the votes cast by the shareholders present or represented by proxy at the annual general meeting
will be required to approve this resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Approval of the non-executive directors’ fees for the year ending 31 March 2005

"RESOLVED THAT:

1. the annual remuneration of the directors of the Company be fixed at the rate of R120 000 per annum and that
the annual remuneration of the Chairman of the Company be fixed at the rate of R150 000 per annum, with effect
from 1 April 2004.1n addition to the above, an attendance fee of R25 000 and RS0 000 per meeting will be paid to
the directors and Chairman of the Company respectively; and

2. the annual remuneration of the following committee members and trustees will be as set out below:

Audit Committee

Chairman - R10 000

Attendance per meeting - R10 000

Member - R7 500

Attendance per committee meeting - R7 500

Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman - R10 000

Attendance per committee meeting — R10 000

Member - R7 500

Attendance per committee meeting — R7 500

Subsidiary boards: Mobile Telephone Networks Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, MTN International
{Proprietary) Limited, Mobile Telephone Networks (Proprietary) Limited and MTN Service Provider
{Proprietary) Limited

Chairman — R10 000

Attendance per meeting — R10 000

Member -~ R7 500

Attendance per meeting — R7 500

Nominations, Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
Chairman - R10 000

Attendance per committes meeting - R10 000

Member - R7 500

Attendance per committee meeting — R7 500
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Notice of annual general meeting continued

MTN Share Incentive Trust and MTN Group Share Trust
Chairmen - R10 000
Trustees — R7 500

Group Tender Committee
Chairman - R15 000

3. Non-executive directors who have to travel abroad on Group business will be paid a daily amount of R12 500.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

Amendments to the MTN Group Share Trust IT8412/95

"RESOLVED THAT,

1. the entire provisions of clause 1.2.34 of the MTN Group Share Trust be deleted and replaced by the following:
1.2.34.1 which is a subsidiary of the Company within the meaning of the Act;or
1.2342 in which MTNH holds equity shares, whether directly or indirectly; or
1.2.34.3 which the directors, from time to time, declare to be a subsidiary of the Company for the purpose of this

deed and the scheme.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5

“RESOLVED THAT any two directors of the Company be and are hereby autharised to do all such things as are necessary
and to sign all such documents issued by the Company so as to give effect to special resolution number 1 and ordinary
resolution numbers 1,2, 3,and 4.

VOTING
Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who
need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead.

PROXIES

A form of proxy, in which is set out the relevant instructions for its completion, is attached for use by shareholders of the
Company who wish to appoint a proxy. The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority, if any, under which it is
signed, must be received by the Company or its registrars at the addresses given below, by not later than 14:30 on
Monday, 16 August 2004,

All beneficial owners of shares who have dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant
("CSDP") or broker, other than those shareholders who have dematerialised their shares in“own name”registrations, and
all beneficial owners of shares who hold certificated shares through a nominee, must provide their CSDP, broker or
nominee with their voting instructions.Voting instructions must reach the CSDP, broker or nominee in sufficient time
and in accordance with the agreement between the beneficial owner, and the CSDP broker or nominee (as the case
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may be} to allow the CSDP braker or nominee to carry out the instructions and lodge the requisite authority by
14:30 on Monday, 16 August 2004.

Should such beneficial owners, however, wish to attend the meeting in person, they may do so by requesting their
CSDP broker ar nominee to issue them with appropriate authority in terms of the agreerment entered into between the
beneficial owner,and the CSDP, broker or nominee (as the case may be).

Shareholders who hold certificated shares in their own name and shareholders who have dematerialised their shares in
‘gwn name” registrations, must lodge their completed proxy forms with the Company’s registrars or at the registered
office of the Company not later than 14:30 on Monday, 16 August 2004,

By order of the Board

MMR Mackintosh
Company Secretary

10 June 2004

BUSINESS ADDRESS AND REGISTERED QFFICE
3 Alice Lane

Sandown Extension 38

(Private Bag 9955, Sandton, 2146}

SOUTH AFRICAN REGISTRARS

Cornputershare investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07

70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Fax number: +27 11 370 5390

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07

70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalitown, 2107}

Toll-free: 0800 202 360

Tel: +27 11 373 0036 (if phoning from outside South Africa)
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Explanatory notes to resolutions
for annual general meeting

For any assistance or information, please phone the MTN Group ShareCare Line on 0800 202 360 or on
+27 11 373 0036 if you are phoning from outside South Africa.

Receipt, consideration and adoption of the Group and Company annuat financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2004.

The directars have to present to shareholders at the annual general meeting the annual financial statements,
incorporating the report of the directors, for the year ended 31 March 2004, together with the report of the auditors
contained in this annual report.

Election of directors by a single resolution

The appointment of two or more directors standing for election or re-election at the annual general meeting may be
taken by a single resolution provided a resolution to pass such resolution has first been passed unanimously. This is
commaon corporate practice in South Africa.

Re-election of directors retiring at the annual general meeting

In terms of articles 84 and 85 of the Company's articles of association, one third of the directors who have been longest
in office since their last election are required to retire at each annual general meeting and may offer themselves for re-
election. Biographical details of the retiring directors offering themselves for re-glection are given on page 154 of the
annual report.

Confirmation of appointments as directors

Any person appointed by the Board of Directors 1o fill a casual vacancy on the Board of Directors, or as an addition
thereta, holds office until the next annual general meeting in terms of the Company's articles of association, and is
eligible for election at that meeting.

Placing of unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors but fimited to 10% of shares in issue at
31 March 2004

and

Ordinary resolution number 1

In terms of sections 221 and 222 of the Companies Act, No 61 of 1973, as amended (“the Companies Act”), the
shareholders of the Company have to approve the placement of the unissued shares under the contral of the directors.

The existing authority is due to expire at the forthcoming annual general meeting, unless renewed. The authority will be
subject'to the Companies Act and the listings reguirements (*JSE listings requirements”) of the JSE Securities Exchange
South Africa (JSE™.

The Directors consider it advantageous to renew this authority to enable the Company to take advantage of any
business opportunity that may arise in the future.

Waiving the pre-emptive rights to which shareholders may be entitled for the issue of shares for cash
and
Ordinary resolution number 2

The pre-emptive rights, ta which shareholders are entitled, in terms of the JSE listings requirements 1o participate in any
future issues of new shares for cash which may be made by the Company can be waived subject to certain conditions
as set out in ordinary resalution number 2. The existing authority is due to expire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, unless renewed.

The directors consider it advantageous to rerew this authority to enable the Company to take advantage of any
business opportunity that may arise in the future )t also has 1o be noted that, in terms of the JSE listings requirements,
ordinary resolution number 2 has to be passed by a 75% majority of shareholders present or represented by proxy and
entitled to vote at the annual general meeting.
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General authority for the Company and/or a subsidiary to acquire shares in the Company
and
Special resolution number 1

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to grant the Company, or a subsidiary of the Company,
approval, in terms of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, to repurchase the Company’s shares should
it be in the interests of the Company to do so at any time while the authority exists.

This general approval shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual general meeting of the Company, or its variation
or revocation of such general authority by special resolution by any subseguent general meeting of the Company,
providad that the general authority shall not be extended beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing the
special resolution,

The resolution is required to be passed, on a show of hands, by not less than 75% of the number of shareholders of the
Company entitled to vote on a show of hands at the meeting, who are present in person or by proxy or, where a poll
has been demanded, by not less than 75% of the total votes to which the shareholders present in person or by proxy
are entitled.

Remuneration of directors
and
Ordinary resolution number 3

In terms of article 72(b) of the Company’s articles of association, the directors shall be entitled to such remuneration as
may be determined in general meeting. Full particulars of all fees and remuneration paid to non-executive directors for
the year ended 31 March 2004 are set out in the Directors'report on pages 95 and 96 of the annual report.

Amendments to the MTN Group Share Trust Deed
and
Ordinary resolution number 4

The purpose of this ordinary resolution is to amend the Company's MTN Group Share Trust Deed to:

1. delete the entire provisions of clause 1.234 and replace it with provisions to make it clear that issues of shares
under the Scheme may be made to employees of the non-South African companies in which the Group has a
significant investment.

Consequential amendments as a result of the aforesaid amendment and other amendments that do nat require
authority of the Company in general meeting are contained in copies of the MTN Group Share Trust document which
are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours up to the date of the
annual general meeting and will also be made available at the annual general meeting for perusal by shareholders.
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Explanatory notes to notice of
annual general meeting

Voting and proxies

1. Every holder of shares present in person or by proxy at the meeting, or, in the case of a body corporate
represented at the meeting, shall be entitled to one vote on a show of hands and on a poll shall be entitled to
one vote for every share held. Duly completed proxy forms or powers of attorney must be lodged with the
Company's registrars or at the registered offices of the Company, not less than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the
time appointed for holding the meeting. As the meeting is to be held at 14:30 on Wednesday, 18 August 2004,
proxy forms or powers of attorney must be lodged on or before 14:30 on Monday, 16 August 2004.The names
and addresses of the registrars are given on the back of the proxy forms as well as on page 162 of the annual
report.

2. Ashareholder (including certificated shareholders and dermaterialised shareholders who hold their shares in ‘own
name” registrations) entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak
and vote in his/her stead. A proxy does not have to be a shareholder of the Company. The appointment of a proxy
will not preclude the shareholder who appointed that proxy from attending the annual general meeting and
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any such proxy. A form of proxy for use at the meeting
is attached.

3. The attention of shareholders is directed to the additional notes relating to the form of proxy attached.

4, Dematerialised shareholders, other than dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares in “own name”
registrations, who wish to attend the annual general meeting, have to contact their Central Securities Depository
Participant ("CSDP") or broker who wilt furnish them with the necessary authority to attend the annual general
meeting, or they have to instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote in this regard. This has to be
done in terms of the agreement entered into between such shareholder and its CSDP or broker.
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Appendix to the notice of ;
annual general meeting L MTN |

Important notes about the annual general meeting {("AGM")
Date: Wednesday, 18 August 2004, at 14:30.

Venue: 14th Avenue Campus, Fairlands, Gauteng.

Time: The AGM will start promptly at 14:30.

Shareholders wishing to attend are advised to be in the auditorium by not later than 14:15. Staff will direct shareholders
to the venue of the AGM. Refreshments will be served after the meeting.

Travel information: The map alongside indicates the location of 14th Avenue Campus.

Admission: Shareholders and others attending the AGM are asked to register at the registration desk in the auditorium
reception area at the venue. Shareholders and proxies may be required to provide proof of identity.

Security: Secured parking is provided at the venue at owners own risk. Mobile telephones should be switched off for
the duration of the proceedings.

PLEASE NOTE:

1. Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares with “own name”
registration
Shareholders wishing to attend the AGM have to ensure beforehand with the registrars of the Company that their
shares are in fact registered in their own names. Should this not be the case and the shares are registered in any
other name or in the name of a nominee company, it is incumbent on shareholders attending the meeting to
make the necessary arrangements with that party to be able to attend and vote in their personal capacity. The
proxy form contains detailed instructions in this regard.

2. Enquiries
Any shareholders having difficulties or queries with regard to the AGM or the above procedures are invited to
contact the Company Secretary, Ms M Mackintosh on +27 (0) 11 301 6000 or the ShareCare Line on 0800 202 360
or +27 11 373 0036 if calling from outside South Africa. Calls may be monitored for quality control purposes and
customer safety.

Fairland
Ext.3

Bayside

Floracliffe Quellerina

MTN Business Report 2004 1 6]




Administration
as at 31 March 2004

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
1994/009584/06

JSE code: MTN

ISIN code: ZAE 0000 42164

IBOARD OF DIRECTORS
MC Ramaphosa (Chairman)
PF Nhleko

DDB Band

SL Botha

| Charnley

ZNA Cindi

RS Dabengwa

PL Heinamann

SN Mabaso

RD Nisbet

JHN Strydomn

AF van Biljon

LC Webb (alternate)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms MMR Mackintosh

3 Alice Lane

Sandown Extension 38

Private Bag 9955, Sandton, 2146

REGISTERED OFFICE
3 Alice Lane

Sandown Extension 38
Sandton, 2196

American Depository Receipt (ADR) programme
Cusip no 55271U109 ADR to ordinary share 1:1

Depository: The Bank of New York,
101 Barclay Street, New York, NY
10286, USA

CONTACT DETAILS

Telephone: National 011 301 6000
Intermational +27 11 301 6000
Facsimile: National 011 301 6587
International 427 11 301 6587
E-mail: investor_relations@mtn.co.za
Internet: http/www.mtngroup.com

Shareholders’ diary

OFFICE OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN REGISTRARS
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07

70 Marshall Street

Marshalltown

Johannesburg, 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

JOINT AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCaopers Inc.,

2 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, 2157
Private Bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157

SizweNtsaluba vse Inc

1 Woodmead Drive
Woodmead Estate
Woodmead, 2157

PO Box 2939, Saxonwold, 2132

SPONSOR

Merrill Lynch South Africa (Pty) Limited
Registration number 1995/001805/07
{Registered sponsor and member of the JSE
Securities Exchange South Africa)

138 West Street, Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 5591, Johannesburg, 2000

ATTORNEYS

Webber Wentzel Bowens

10 Fricker Road, lllovo Boulevard
Sandton, 2196

PO Box 61771

Marshalltown, 2107

MTN GROUP SHARECARE LINE

Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07

70 Marshall Street

Marshalltown

Johannesburg, 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshatitown, 2107

Toll-free: 0800 202 360
ot +27 11373 0036
if phoning from outside South Africa

Annual general meeting 18 August 2004
REPORTS

Preliminary announcement of annual financial results Published 10 June 2004
Annual financial statements Posted 27 July 2004
Interim report for half year to September 2004 18 Novernber 2004
DIVIDEND

Dividend payment 5 July 2004

Please note that these dates are subject to alteration
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Form of proxy | j
Only for use by registered members A 1
@

TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS WITH "OWN NAME" REGISTRATION ONLY

MTN GROUP LIMITED

{incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1994/009584/06}
("MTN Group”or “the Company*)

JSE code:MTN

ISIN: ZAE 000042164

For use at the annual general meeting 10 be held on Wednesday, 18 August 2004, at 14th Avenue Campus, Fairlands, Gauteng.

For assistance in completing the proxy form, please phone the MTN Group ShareCare line

on 0800 202 360 or on +27 11 373 0036 if you are phoning from outside South Africa.

A mernber entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, vote and speak in his/har
stead at the annual general meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

1/we {name in block letters)
being a member(s) of the Company, and entitled to votes, do hereby appoint:
of or failing him/her,
of or failing him/her,

the Chairran of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy o represent me/us at the annual general meeting which will be held at

14th Avenue Campus, Fairtands, Gauteng, for the purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions
1o be proposed thereat and at each adjournment or postponement thereof and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from
voting in respect of the shares in the issued share capital of the Company registered in my/our name (see note 2 overleaf) as follows:

Crdinary business For Against Abstain

1. The adoption of the Group annual financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2004

2. The appointment of directors referred to below by single resolution

3. The re-election of the following directors:

3.1 MCRamaphosa

32 iCharnley

33 ZNACindi

34 SNMabaso

4. The election of the following Director

4.1 JHN Strydom

Special business

5. Special resolution number 1

To approve an authority of the Company and/or a subsidiary of the Company
1o acquire shares in the Company

Ordinary resolutions

6.

Ordinary resolution number 1

To authorise the directors to allot and issue the unissued ordinary shares
of 0,01 cent each up 0 109 of issued share capital

6

]

Qrdinary resolution number 2

To waive pre-empiive rights to which shareholders may be entitled for the
issue of equity securities for cash

6.

w

Ordinary resolution number 3

To approve the directors’and committee members'annual remuneration
effective for the year ending 31 March 2005

64 Ordinary resolution number 4

To amend the Company’s Share Incentive Scheme as indicated

65 Ordinary resolution number 5

To authorise any twa Company directors to implement the special

L and ordinary resolutions

Mark with “X" whichever is applicable.

Signed at on 2004
Signature of member(s)
Assisted by (where applicable) {state capacity and full name)

Completed voting instruction forms should be forwarded to the CSDP or broker through whom the MTN Group shares are held.
This voting instruction form is only for use by mermbers with dernateristised shareholdings via STRATE.

Please read the notes on the reverse side herecf,
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Notes to proxy

1. Only shareholders who are registered in the register of the Company under their own name may complete a
proxy or alternatively attend the meeting. Beneficial owners who are not the registered holder and who wish to
attend the meeting in person, may do so by requesting the registered holder, being their Central Security
Depositary Participant ("CSDP"), broker or nominee, to issue them with a letter of representation in terms of the
custody agreements entered into with the registered holder. Letters of representation must be lodged with the
Company's registrars by no later than 14:30 on Monday, 16 August 2004

2. Beneficial owners whao are not the registered holder and who da not wish to attend the meeting in person, must
provide the registered holder, being the CSDP, broker or nominee with their voting instruction. The voting
instructions must reach the registered holder in sufficient time to allow the registered holder to advise the
Company or the Company’s registrar of your instructions by no later than 14:30 on Monday, 16 August 2004.

3. Ashareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of his/her choice in the
space/s provided, with or without deleting "the chairman of the general meeting’but any such deletion or
insertion must be initialled by the shareholder. Any insertion or deletion not complying with the aforegaing will
be declared not to have been validly effected. The person whose name stands first on the proxy form and who is
present at the general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. In
the event that no names are indicated, the proxy shall be exercised by the chairman of the general meeting.

4. Ashareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of an "X" or the relevant number of
votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. An"X"in the appropriate box indicates the
maximum number of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure 1o comply with the above will be deemed to
authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect
of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat, A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes
exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy, but the total of the vores cast and in respect of which abstention
is recorded, may not exceed the maximum number of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy.

5. To be effective, completed proxy forms must be lodged with the Company's South African registrars in
Johannesburg not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting. As the meeting is
1o be held at 14:30 on Wednesday, 18 August 2004, proxy forms must be lodged on or before 14:30 on Monday,
16 August 2004.

6. The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not prectude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual
general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

7. The chairman of the general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed and/or received

other than in compliance with these notes.

Any alteration to this proxy form, other than a deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatories.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative or other

legal capacity must be attached to this proxy form unless previously recorded by the Company or the registrars or

waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.

10.  Where there are joint holders of shares:

10.1  any one holder may sign the proxy form; and

102 the vote of the senior shareholder (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names
of the shareholders appear in the Company’s register) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be :
accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholders.

O

OFFICE OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN REGISTRARS
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07

70 Marshall Street

Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Fax number: +27 11 370 5390

Shareholders are encouraged to make use of the toll-free ShareCare line for assistance in
completing the proxy form and any other queries.

If you have any questions regarding the contents of this report, please call the
MTN Group toll-free ShareCare line on

0800 202 360
{or +27 11 373 0036 if phoning from outside South Africa)

Computershare

Please note that your call will be recorded for customer safety
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MTN at a glance

MTN Group Limited is a leading provider of communications services,
offering cellular network access and business solutions in Africa. The
Group is listed on the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa (JSE) under
the Industrial - Non-cyclical services — Telecommunications sector.

As at 31 March 2004, the Group employed 6 063 staff, generated
R23,9 billion in revenue and had 9,5 million subscribers across six

cellular network operations.

The Groups vision is to be the leading provider of communication
services.
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MTN Rwanda and its services have become visibly
integrated into Rwandan society and the economy.

About MTN'’s 2004 Sustainability Report

This report describes the economic, enwironmental and social performance of the MTN Group for the financial
year ended 31 March 2004.This is the Group's second full sustainable development report, which details
quantitative data on the Group's sustainability performance.

Akey feature of this report is the process of dialogue that was entered into with different stakeholders across
the range of the Group's activities throughout all the regions in which we provide ceffular telephony. in
addition to responding to the issues identified by our stakeholders ~ these are listed in the section starting on
page 12 ~ the report has also been guided by the criteria contained in the 2002 Sustainability Reporting
Guidelinas of the Glabal Reporting initiative, the King Report on Corporate Governance 2002 and the JSE
Socially Responsible Investment index.

We strongly encourage you to give feedback on this report, as well on the process that was adopted in
developing it. Please use the feedback form and reply paid envelope at the back of the report for this purpose.
For further information on the report, please contact:

MTN Group

Head office: 3 Alice Lane, Sandown Ext 38, Sandton 2146, South Africa
Telephone: (427 11y 301 6000

Telefax: (+27 11} 301 6516

E-mail address:  sustainability@min.co.za

Website: WWW.INIRGIOUP.ComM

MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004




Message from the Group
Chief Executive Officer

Itis my pleasure to present the MTN Group’s second
comprehensive Sustainability Report. As a relatively
young telecommunications company, we are proud
of our acceptance onto the JSE Socially Respansible
Investrnent ("SRI") Index in May 2004, and we continue
to aim high in our quest to achieve sustainability.

In this report we present a comprehensive review of
our activities, providing quantitative and gualitative
data on the Group's economic, social and
environmental performance for the year ended

31 March 2004, We reflect on the progress that we
have made against the commitments stated in the
previous report, and we look ahead to the challenges
and ohjectives of the next financial year,

Engaging with our stakeholders is a critical aspect
of preparing this Sustainability Report, This process of
engagement provides us with a valuable insight into
stakeholder percepiions and expectations regarding
our performance, as well as giving guidance on the
issues they would fike us to report on. Our
Sustainability Report strives to maintain a balance
between these identified interests, the guidelines of
the Global Reporting Initiative ('GRI ™™, and our
business imperatives, with the aim of ensuring that
what we report on is material 1o our business. The
report also draws on criteria contained in

South Africa’s King Report on Corporate Governance
2002 ("King 1), as well as in the JSE SRI Index.

The Group enhanced its profitability during this
financial year, against a backdrop of chatlenging
circumstances. The steady strengthening of the
South African rand (rand"y rmasked 1o a certain
extent the strong performance of our non-South
African operations. As anticipated, the increasing
competition in several markets in which we aperate
and the natural process of maturing markets, is
impacting on our business growth.

Our earnings are diversifying rapidly, with over 50% of
the Group's profit after tax generated outside South
Africa, and over two-fifths of our staff being non-South
African. This presents us with unique opportunities -
as well as important responsibilities — for promoting
sustainable development. The provision of infarmation
and communication technologies forms a critical
component of the socio-economic development of
the African continent and has been identified as one
of the six sector priorities of the New Partnership for
Africa’s Development ('NEPAD") initiative.

The MTN Group is strongly committed to NEPAD'S
vision of an African Renaissance and is making an
important contribution towards the achievement of

Recognition for MTN's performance

ICSA and JSE ranked

MTN South Africa was
ZATNAGroup ann ““’d'ff O;t ranked sixth in the
est in category an s Financial Mail Best
MTN Group Sustainability C Work F
Report best overall ompany to Work For
(November 2003) Survey (June 2003)
2 MTNGroup Sustainability Report 2004

MTN Foundation won Arts
and Culture Trust
Organisation of the Year in
Support of Developmental
Arts and Culture
{September 2003) and
Business Art South Africa
Award (May 2004} for its
Rorke’s Drift art exhibition




this vision by providing accessible communication
services. Furthermare, we are careful to invest in a
manner that takes into account the expectations of
our stakeholders and contributes appropriately 1o

the social, economic and environmental sustainability
of the communities we serve.We are pleased to
announce that MTN is in the process of establishing
foundations in all its operations, with each operation
committing up to one percent of profit after tax ("PAT")
towards corporate social investment (‘CSI") projects.

We are satisfied with the groundwork we have laid
this year for developing a rigorous sustainability
performance framework, though we recognise there
are several stages ahead and years of committed
effort if we are to achieve our goals. During the year,
we restructured the Group to ensure closer contact
between our various operations and 1o clarify
reporting lines. Acrass our operations we aligned our
policies and introduced standardised supportive
management systems to encourage the
development of a cross-cultural, seamless
environment, with shared information and
knowledge throughout the Group, as well as a
uniform brand identity.

Sustainable development at MTN will be driven by
our risk management division which, together with

L}

our corporate affairs division, will ensure that our
commitments are met. The MTN Group is an
ambitious business, and has exceeded
expectations of success throughout its ten
years of existence. The concept of
sustainable development was introduced
into the core business strategy three years
ago,and we aim to achieve most of our
sustainability goals within the next three
to five years, and look forward to
reporting on our progress.

Your comments on this report,
as well as on our sustainability
performance more generally, are
important to us.| encourage you
1o share with us your views on
this report, and your thoughts
on how we may improve our
sustainability performance.

| look forward to hearing
from you.

Phuthuma Nhieko
Group Chief Executive Officer

MTN South Africa South African Top
won four Raptor Companies Global
Awards;including Awards, sponsored
overall top award by PwC and

and a Grdnd Raptor Business Report,
foriCC Cricket positioned MTN
World Cup fourth in Africa,
sponsorship and 13th globally
(October 2003) {October 2003)
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Progress against previously stated
commitments for sustainable development

In our 2003 sustainable development report, we committed ourselves to:

|

|

| Commitments Performance [

j + Developing specific sustainability « Sustainability objectives and targets are being incorporated l
| objectives and targets for the in our business plan, and will be significantly developed now

MTN Group that reporting systems are standardised across the i

operations. A key target that we have set is that each

‘1 operation will commit up to 1% of profit after tax towards

| corporate social investment projects. We anticipate that in

| future, information on the triple-bottom line dimensions of
\ our business will be recorded electronically and made more
! readily accessible throughout the Group.

\

| Defining key performance indicators + The correlation between key performance indicators and
based on these objectives and targets sustainability targets and objectives will be further developed
and formalised at all levels across the Group.

and reporting processes against focus area of development this last year, as an essential
these indicators grounding for sustainability performance management.

\ + Implementing internal monitoring + Internal monitoring and reporting processes have been a |
L
|
|

indicators and sustainability targets and objectives are

‘[
I
These will be further refined as the key performance \
|
|

developed,
« Ensuring clearly defined lines of +  The Risk Management and Corporate Governance
responsibility up to Board leve! for Committee is broadly accountable for sustainability issues
sustainability performance issues within the Group. The executive officer for netwarks in each

i
operation is responsible for environmental performance, and \
the executive officer for human resources is the accounting |
officer for health and safety. We aim to further develop senior |
management accountability for sustainability performance [
throughout the Group led by the Risk Management division. |

»  Continuing to report publicly on «  This reportis an important vehicle for communicating with
our sustainability performance, stakeholders on recent sustainability developments. |
with consideration for the views Dialogue with certain stakeholder groups has improved, !
of stakeholders and we are generally encouraged by the feedback that we

received during the stakeholder process undertaken as part ‘
| of this reporting process. We recognise, however, that there is

| scope for further communication with our subscribers and

\‘ the broader communities in which we operate. j
[
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Understanding sustainable
development at MTN

The Group places sustainable development at the core
of cornpany practice for sound social and business
reasons. We believe that effective and proactive
management of such issues helps enhance the Group's
reputation in the market place, opens up exciting new
business opportunities, and reduces the potential for
future liabilities. This commitment to sustainability
reflects our goal of excellence in all our operations and
activities, and is fully compatible with the Group's goals
of achieving profitability and sustained growth.

Committed to corporate

citizenship

Each of our operations faces different economic,

social and regulatory requirements that reguire

tailored responses. Recognising these varying
challenges, the Group is continuing to:

+ play an important role in the telecommunications
revolution that has positioned South Africa as a
technology leader on the African continent;
invest in Africa, developing new growth engines to
fuel the next phase of Group development and
diversifying its revenue sources;
support the African Union's vision of continental
renewal through the NEPAD initiative;
promote corporate practices that achere to the
highest ethical standards of corporate governance
and are environmentally and socially responsible;and
maintain dialogue with shareholders.

Understanding sustainable
development for MTN

For MTN, sustainable development is about:

» promoting ethical responsibility and sound
carporate gavernance practices;
providing a safe working environment in which
the health of employees is protected and their
opportunities for self-development are enhanced;

promoting cultural diversity and equity in the
workplace;

minimising adverse environmental impacts; and
providing opportunities for social and economic
development within the communities in which
we operate.

A critical component of our understanding of
sustainable development is our commitment to
identifying and being responsive to the needs and
expectations of our stakeholders. The process of
stakeholder engagement that we have adopted in
compiling this report — and our previous
Sustainability Report - has formed an important part
of this commitment. The preparation of this report
has brought to light important areas for
impravement, but has also highlighted our many
successes in the process of sustainable development.

As outlined throughout this report, we have made
valuable progress over the last year along the road

to achieving a truly sustainable business model,
addressing the varying needs specific to the countries
in which we operate.We have aligned our Group for
better interconnection between our operations with
aligned policies and systems, and we have re-
emphasised our commitment to a8 consolidated,
groupwide corporate social investment programme,

We strive to establish mutually beneficial
relationships with all stakeholders and the
cormmunities within which we operate.In doing so,
we can participate in their sustainable development
and they in ours, We believe that sustainable
development is achieved through competition and
open markets, which encourage efficiency and
innovation — both key factors in sustainable
economic growth.The development of our systems
and operations is dedicated to these pursuits.

MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004




Executive summary

Sustalnable development of Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer

"CEQ") are separate with duties segregated.
+ The MTN Group aims to be the leading provider ( . P 9reg )

There are five Board committees, each with
of telecommunications services, and is committed specific resnonsibilities and defined terms of
to contributing to the economic, social and P P &

environmental sustainability of the communities in .referen.ce‘ A brief description of each commwttee
which it operates is provided on pages 62 to 66 of the Business

During the review period, the MTN Group has REDOW During the last year:
taken important steps towards achieving its A Board Charter has been adopted which

sustainability objectives. MTN has gained a clearer provides a clear understanding of the duties,
understanding of the challenges ahead, as well responsibilities and liability of directors
as how to overcome these. The Group alms to » A Group Tender Committee was appointed in
achieve its desired sustainability goals within April 2004 to adjudicate on Group wide tenders
three to five years, + A Code of Ethics has heen approved by the
There is scope within the Group ta develop board of directars. The code aims to ensure
overarching sustainability initiatives across the the highest standards of ethical behaviour
businesses. throughout the Group.
+ The Risk Management and Corporate Governance .
Committee has assumed accountability for Econom|c performance
sustainability within the Group. « Positive performance was achieved against almost
all the Group's set objectives, with significant increases
Sta kehOId er d 1 alog ue in revenue {23%), earnings before interest, taxes,
The interests of all our stakeholders are integrated depreciation and amortisation ("EBITDA") (44%) and
as far as possible into the business operation. adjusted headline earnings per share (‘HEPS") (77%).
In preparing this report, we engaged with - The international operations performed well in
representatives of all our key stakeholder groups in local currency terms, however, the strengthening

the regions in which we operate. A description of
the issues raised during this process is provided
under each operation.

During the reporting period, we engaged in more
regular and constructive dialogue with reguiatory
bodies and governments, We aim 1o further
increase communication with subscribers and
broader communities, and to develop the
corporate affairs function in several of our

of the rand did dilute this performance when
converted into rand on consolidation. Interconnect
and the requlatory environment continue to be
closely manitored in these operations.

it is expected that the growth of the Group's
existing operations will slow down over time as

a result of maturing markets.

Whilst MTN Nigeria cantinues to exceed initial
growth expectations, the operation remains under

operations.
considerable pressure to maintain rapid network
Corporate governance expansion throughout the country.
+ The MTN Group fully endorses King Il. The + Our activities continued to make a positive
company is committed to complying in all material contribution to the local and regional
respects with the sentiments and provisions economies in which we operate, through
contained in this code. employment creation, local empowerment, the
+ The MTN Group has a unitary Board with a provision of telecommunications services, and
non-executive director as Chairman. The roles the payment of taxes.

6 MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004




Social performance
- the workplace

Internal systems have been developed in the

last year aimed at improving performance

management, the collection and accessibility of data,

and sharing of knowledge throughout the Group.
- The percentage of staff turnover has dropped year-
on-year from 10,6% to 7,6%, which is within the
Group's target rate. This improvement is attributed
largely to a more rigorous approach to retaining and
developing quality staff. During the year, the Group's
average spend on training was 3% of payroll.
internal HIV/AIDS awareness-raising and
preventative measures are ongoing in all our
operations, albeit to a differing extent. The Group's
HIV/AIDS policy has been implemented in several
of the operations and is being suitably "localised”
for implementation in the remaining operations.
Clear guidelines, supported by thorough internal
auditing procedures, have been laid down 1o
reinforce the Group's policy of zero tolerance
towards fraud, corruption and related issues
throughout the Group.

Soual performance - society

Procurement practices in all operations are now
being reviewed by the Group’s procurement
function. The development is also an economic
efficiency initiative. Black Economic Empowerment
("BEE") expenditure by MTN South Africa during the
reporting period was R647 million, compared

with R500 million the previous year.

Recognising the socio-economic benefits

of bridging the digital divide in Africa, the

Group continues to improve access to
telecommunication services in the regions in which
it operates. installing community payphones in
under-serviced areas is an important requirement of
some of our licence agreements and, in most cases,
wae have exceeded our obligation. The progressive
roll-out of hundreds of village community

phone bureaus in our Rwanda, Uganda and Nigeria

operations is significantly boosting access to
telecommunications in these rural communities,
In recognition of its commitment to investing

in the continent, the Group will establish an
MTN Foundation (a separate division for
corparate social investment) in each of its
operations. Each operating company wili commit
up to one percent of PAT towards corporate
social investment projects.

During the reporting period, the total MTN Group
Corporate Social Investment ("CSI"} spend was
R58,8 million.

Envxronmental performance

Base station sites are designed and installed
according to detailed environmental procedures,
and are monitored and managed in accordance
with internationally approved guidelines aimed at
preventing any potential health effects associated
with exposure to radio-frequency emissions.

MTN Group environmental policies have been
adopted by all operations and a generic
environmental management system ("EMS")
implemented throughout the Group.
Developments in the last year to minimise
environmental impact included the intreducton
of biodegradable recharge vouchers in all our
operations, and the environmentally-benign
disposal of waste oil and filters from base stations.
Operational risk assessments at all base station
sites reflect a consistent improvement in
performance in all operations, and compare
favourably with international industry standards.
The executive officer for networks in each operation
is responsible for environmentat performance as
well as health and safety issues. MTN recognises that
there is scope for developing senior management
accauntability for environmental performance
throughout the Group.

During the reporting period, no prosecutions were
brought against the Group for the contravention
aof any environmental laws, and no fines were paid.

MTN Group Sustainabifity Report 2004 7




Glossary of terms
and acronyms

AIDS
ARPU
BASA
BEE
BSC
BTS

Capable
subscribers

CEO
€2

csi
CRM
CSR
EBITDA

EE

EMF

EMP

EMS

EIA
FECAFOOT
GAAP

GDP

GPRS

GSM

GRI™
HEPS
HIV
HSCSD
IAS
ICASA

ICSA

ICNIRP

Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
Average revenue per user

Business Day's Business and Arts Awards
Black Economic Empowerment

Base station controller

Base transreceiver station

Subscribers who have been active within
a three-month period

Chief Executive Officer

Caonsumer Price Index

Corporate Social Investment
Custorner relationship management
Corporate Social Responsibility

Eamnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation

Employment equity

Electromagnetic frequency
Environmental management programme
Environmental management system
Environmental impact assessment
Cameroon Football Federation

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
Gross domestic produict

General Packet Radio Service

Global System for Mobile
Communications

The Global Reporting Initiative
Headline earnings per share
Human Immunodeficiency Virus
High speed circuit switched data
International Accounting Standards

Independent Communications Authority
of South Africa

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators

International Commission for Non-ionising
Radiation Protection

Information and communication
technology

Internet protocol

Information Systems, Electronics and
Telecommunications Technologies
International Organisation for
Standardisation

8 MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004

IT

ITU

JSE

JSE SRI index
King Il

MIs

MTN
Cameroon

Information technology

International Telecommunications Union
JSE Securities Exchange South Africa

JSE Socially Responsible Investment Index
ng2 Report on Corporate Governance
200

Management information system

Mobile Telephone Networks Cameroon
Limite

MTN Network Mob\'\edTe\ephone Networks (Proprietary)

QOperator
MTN Nigeria
MTN Rwanda

MTN Service
Provider

MTN
Swaziland

MTN Uganda
MOU

NEPAD

NCC

NGO

PAT

PAYE
Post-paid
Pre-paid

Rand
RCMP
RF
SETA
SHE
SIM

SME
SMS
SNO
SRi

Total energy
use!

UNEMA

VAS
VAT
VPN
WAP
WHO

Limite
MTN Nigeria Communications Limited
Rwandacell SARL

MTN Service Provider (Proprietary)
Limited

Swazi MTN Limited

MTN Uganda Limited

Minutes of use

New Partnership for Africa’s Development
Nigerian Cornmunication Commission
Non-governmental organisation

Profit after tax

Pay as you earn

Subscribers who have a contract

Subscribers without a contract who
purchase pre-paid vouchers

South African rand

Risk control management process
Radio-frequency

Sector Education and Training Authority
Safety, Health and Environment

Subscriber identity module controlling
access to GSM network

Small medium enterprise

Short message service

Second National Operator

Socially Responsible Investment Index

Energy from electricity purchased plus
energy from fossil fuels consumed

Uganda National Environmenital
Management Act

Value added services

Value added tax

Virtual private network
Wireless application protocot
World Health Organisation







Stakeholder engagement continued

Managing stakeholder
relations at MTN

During the year, our discourse with regulatory,

government and industry bodies has improved.

Through our corporate social investment initiatives,

we have been able 1o improve our interface with a

growing number of communities, and have

consafidated excellent partnerships for our social \’_‘_‘_’—[
investment programmes. The Group's operations in J |
South Africa, Cameroon and Nigeria have structured @
programmes in place to address stakeholder | J
concerns. MTN recognises that there is scope for l____._l
further communication with its subscribers and
with the brogder communities in all its operatnom;. COI"ISU ltmg our
The Group will be augmenting the corporate affairs

function in each operation to ensure that itis sta keho’ders
sufficiently developed as a channel for effective

communication with media groups and stakehalders.

We maintain that what is not measured cannat

be managed. We therefore conduct an annual
independent corporate reputation audit throughout
the MTN Group, to objectively measure stakeholder
perceptions (see page 12 and 13},

7 O MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004
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Stakeholder engagement continued

Identifying stakeholder
interests

Each MTN operation identified between 15 and

30 individuals or groups of people to be formally
interviewed by an external team in the presence
of an MTN representative. Stakeholders were asked
to comment candidly on MTN and its activities,
examining such issues as company reputation,
tong-term commitment to the country, corporate
citizenship and socio-economic impact. Stakeholders
were asked to identify those sustainability issues
associated with the Group's activities that are of
greatest interest to them and that they would like
us to report on.

In addition, informal interviews were conducted in
each country with between 30 and 50 individuals,
typically in market areas, shops, on sidewalks and in
rural areas. Interviewees who owned a cellphone were
asked which service provider they were connected
to,and to comment on the quality of service, All
interviewees were asked to comment an MTN's
reputation, the company's effectiveness as a
corporate citizen, and how it could improve its
performance.

The key interests raised by these stakeholders during
this process are summarised in the detailed
stakeholder text boxes.

MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004
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|

|

]

|

i
|
L.

Employees

Policies to prevent fraud and corruption
Activities to standardise procedures
throughout the Group

Future plans regarding the management
of tariffs

Employee career development and job
security

Plans to improve customer service
Promotion of ethnic diversity

Policies and practices on HIV/AIDS
Policies to ensure staff retention
Recycling initiatives

i
i
|
|

i

Customers

Plans to reduce tariffs

Plans to improve gquality and reliability of
the networks

MTN expansion in Africa

Support for local suppliers

Social investment activities, notably HNV/AIDS

awareness, and education
Employment of local nationals
Evidence of commitment to long-term
investment in the country




Regulators

+ Reporting against GRI ¢riteria and details

of sustainability objectives and targets

+ Structure and composition of Board and
Board representation for sustainability

+ Stakeholder engagement process

+ Policy on executive remuneration

+ MTN’s financial performance

Activities to alleviate poverty and promote
employment generation, especially amongst
wornen

+ Provision for local empowerment and SMEs
in procurement

- Nature of activities for promating education,
particularly in science and mathernatics

+ Plans for sharing masts with competitors,
particularly in sensitive areas

Government officials

+ Nature of the Board, its activities and
accountability for sustainability

+ Addressing HIV/AIDS in the workplace

« Activities to alleviate poverty and promote
employment generation especially amongst
wormnen

Providing training in the ICT sector
+ Replacing expatriates with local peaple

Efficiency initiatives and recycling activities

+ Management of electronic waste and
recycling initiatives

Shareholders

Activities for ensuring sound corporate
governance

+ Policies and procedures for preventing
fraud and corruption

+ Performance against GRI criteria

Custorner satisfaction measures

Comparison of taniff structures with other

emerging markets

« Nature of staff shareholder schemes

+ Performance against employment equity
targets, and BEE activities

« Management of possible health impact
of radio-frequency

- Activities 1o foster ethical values amongst
workforce

- Corporate social investment progamme

activities

Level of sponsorship to address HIV/AIDS

|
|
i

Community stakeholders,

special interest groups and

media

+ Executive remuneration and bonuses

+ Plans o reduce tariffs

+ Policies against bribery and corruption

+ Carporate governance structures and policies

+ Contribution to NEPAD

Activities for employees, families and external

cornmunities refating to HIV/AIDS

+ Expansion into rural areas

+ Health and safety in the workplace

Social protection plans for employees

« Corporate social investment initiatives

+ Partnerships with NGOs for socio-economic
development projects

+ Plans to improve customer service

{
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Stakeholder engagement continued

Corporate reputation audit

MTN annually commissions a reputation audit
throughout the Group to gain insight into
stakeholder perceptions and to enable an effective
response to such perceptions,

Akey facus of the exercise is to identify and assess
those areas of interaction that influence MTN's
reputation, examining issues such as industry
leadership, product/service quality, employee
relationships, management guality, social
performance, and community involvement activities.
The four main objectives of the audit are to assess
the reputation of MTN, determine how reputation
influences behavioural support among stakeholders,
understand what drives stakeholders’ perceptions

of MTN, and assess the effectiveness of MTN's
communication activities. The audit also provides
valuable insight into how perceptions of the Group's
activities compare with those of other local and
international companies, including telecom-
munications operators,

-

Stakeholders forum held at Muson Centre, Lagos in March 2004.
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Stakeholder groups involved include government
and regulatory bodies, investors, suppliers, fund
managers and analysts, NGOs, the media, other
companies, customers and employees. In the 2003 -
2004 audit, non-customers of MTN were included to
identify any reputational issues that coutd impact on
the Group in future. The sample group for the audit
increased from almast 2 000 in the first year to over
2500 in the 2003 - 2004 financial year. The interviews
were conducted in October with individuals from
South Africa, Nigeria, Carmeroon, Uganda, Rwanda
and Swaziland.

A year-on-year companson between the current and
prior financial year's results provides critical insight
into where our performance is improving or slipping.
The research findings are closely examined by the
CECQs of each operation, and play an important role
in determining key personal indicators in employee
assessments. The Board has set a target for each
operation to improve its indicators by two percent
in the corporate reputation audit index, every year.




Corporate governance |
and risk management

The MTN Group fully endorses King 11, and affirms
its commitment to comply in all material respacts
with the principles contained in that code. This
commitment is reflected in Group practices relating
10 transparent reporting on its financial and
sustainability performance, as well as in its
management structures and procedures.

The following section provides a summary of
pertinent corparate governance activities within the
MTN Group. A more detalled account of the Group's
corporate governance philosophy, the composition
of the Board of Directors, Board structures and risk
management activities, is available in the corporate
governance and risk management report in MTN's
complementary business report, available
electronically at wWww.mINgroup.com.

Risk management

The Group recagnises that effective risk management
is essential 10 generating sustainable shareholder
value and to enhancing stakeholder interests. The
Group is thus committed to identifying, evaluating,
managing and monitoring all material forms of risk
exposure across its operations, with the aim of
maximising long-term shareholder value, protecting
employees, stakeholders and Group assets,
minimising impacts on the natural environment

and enhancing the Group’s reputation.

in tine with the Group’s drive to align structures
across its operations, steps have been taken during
the reporting period to integrate a standard risk
management practice throughout the Group, with
the aim of making the process more effective and
sustainable. This will ensure that risks are identified
and addressed at the appropriate level, and that

mitigation strategies are followed. The drive is

far each division to examine all relevant risks and

to identify which risks can be managed within the
company, and which are strategic risks to be
reportad 1o the Group structure It is anticipated that
strategic level risk management procedures will be
in place throughout the Group by July 2004, and
that the Group will be able to extend the process

o business level risk management by the middie

of 2005. This development will ensure more
consolidated internal monitoring and reporting
practices relating to health, safety and environmentat
risk management.

Code of Ethics

The MTN Group Board has approved a Code of Ethics
that promotes the highest standards of ethical
behaviour among directors, management and
employess. The Code provides a clear guide to the
conduct expected of all MTN Group representatives,
including reference to compliance with laws and
regulations, relationships with clients, suppliers and
customers, and the declaration of gifis The Code
provides a clear definition of what constitutes
unacceptable behaviour

Prevention of fraud and
corruption

The Group takes an unequivocal position against
fraud and carruption throughout all its operations.
Clear gquidelines have been faid down on this issue,
and any breach is treated as a dismissible offence.
Group poficies are supported by internal auditing
procedures, as well as by facilities enabling
employees to disclose malpractices,

MTN Group Sustainability Repart 2004
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This section of the report reviews the
Group’s sustainability performance -
economic, social and environmental.




Economic performance

As a leading provider of cellular telecommunications
- one of the fastest growing industry sectars — the
MTN Group has assumed a prominent role as an
engine for economic growth in thousands of
communities on the continent, An assessment of the
economic dimension of the MTN Group’s corporate
sustainability performance includes an appraisal of
the company’s financial performance, as well as a
consideration of the broader economic impacts —
positive and negative, direct and indirect - that its
activities have on the full range of stakeholders and
on the economic systems in which it aperates.

Financial highlights
During the review period, the Group continued
to demaonstrate positive performance against most
of its set objectives and targets. The following
performance highlights were achieved during
the 2004 financial year:
+ Group revenue increase of 23% to R23,9 billion
+ Total subscriber base of 9,5 million, up by 42%
since 31 March 2003
77% increase in adjusted headline earnings
per share
EBITDA increase of 44% to R9,0 billion
PAT of R4,3 billion
RS billion invested in capital expenditure programme

Maintaining sustainable
business growth

As a business, the MTN Group’s primary responsibility
is to create value for its shareholders and investors by
ensuring that its business is sustainable,

The Group has sustained its profitability, largely
spurred by the sustained positive performance of

MTN South Africa, MTN Nigeria and MTN Cameroon.
The international operations performed well in
increasingly competitive markets, however, their
contribution was diluted as a result of a steadily
strengthening rand.

MTN South Africa successfully arrested declining
EBITDA margins through tight control of costs and
increasing subscribers in both the post-paid and pre-
paid market segments.

MTN Nigeria has invested in excess of US$496 million
in capital infrastructure in the country during the year
under review, The development of the country’s first
nationwide transmission backbone is an invaluable
enabler of economic growth, significantly improving
the country’s prospects as an investment destination

A detailed review of the Group's financial
performance is contained in the accompanying
business report. This can also be accessed
electronically at www.mtngroup.com

Return to shareholders

During the year, Group adjusted HEPS reached

2531 cents, an increase of 77% on the last financial
year. After a thorough review of the Group’s
prospects and financial forecasts as well as free cash
generation by MTN South Africa, the Board of
Directors recommended the reinstatement of a
conservative dividend policy with a cover ratio on
adjusted headiine earnings of approximately six
times. This will allow the Group to retain cash to fund
potential value enhancing expansion opportunities.
A final cash dividend of 41 cents per share was
declared, amounting to R680 million.

18 wmm Group Sustainability Report 2004




Future challenges

The unpredictability of markets and currency

exchange rates is an ongoing challenge for the Group.

In addition, the rate of growth for the Group’s existing
operations is expected to slow down over time, given
the maturing and progressive developments within
markets, coupled with the larger operating base.

MTN Nigeria faces a delicate challenge in

managing stakeholder expectations with the
extremely high demand for network expansion
throughout the country. The profits generated by
the company are fully reinvested in network roll-out
and meeting the high capital outlay costs required
for further infrastructure development.

Contributing to regional
economic development

The positive impact of our activities is demonstrated in
creating direct and indirect employment, stimulating
entrepreneurship, boosting supply chains and uplifting
communities through the supply of tefecom-
rnunications services, as well as the developrment of
skills for employees at all levels and the payment

of taxes and other revenues to governments.

Some of the benefits associated with our activities,
from a guantitative financial perspective, are
recognised in the levels of payments to employees,
suppliers and contractors and the distribution of
value added (the difference between revenues and
expenses) to our providers of capital and to the
public sector.

The Group continued to demonstrate positive
performance against its objectives and targets
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Economic performance continued

Payments to employees
During the 2004 financial year, the total payrol,

for the Group, including benefits and employees tax,

was R1,1 billion.The total number of staff members,
a5 at 31 March 2004, was 6 063,0f these, 4 598
were permanent.

Payments to suppliers

The MTN Group provides business for a wide array
of suppliers throughout Africa and internationally.

Its procurement includes technical products =

such as mobile-phone handsets, SIM cards and
interconnection services — through to more
conventional goods and services, such as utilities,
office supplies and property rental As outlined
elsewhere in the report, the Group is conscious of its
responsibility to act as an agent for change in the
supply chain. [t strives to encourage BEE through

its procurement activities in South Africa and 1
stimulate local economic development as far as
possible in its other areas of operation. During the
reporting period, the total cost of all goods, materials




MTN supporting SMEs

I
|
MTN is continuously investigating new ways to assist small businesses, and developing @‘
appropriate applications. During the reporting period, MTN introduced several services to ! 3
the South African market that are designed to help small businesses save time, increase

productivity and generate more business while on the move.

+ Mobile Credit is a service that turns a cellular phone into a point-of-sale device for processing credit card
and cheque payments. This service has the support of South Africa’s major banks, and is accessed
telephonically via the MTN menu option on a cellphone, or by connecting to the internet.

* MIN CorporateMobility is a service that enables mobile users to connect to their company network and
access information from business applications while on the move. The service offers reverse billing, which
means that instead of data used on individual accounts being charged at consumer tariffs, the data is
collectively billed back to the company at corporate tariffs. The company receives a consolidated bill for all
business data at the lowest data rate available in the South African market.

* Bulk SMS alows for one message to be sent to any number of recipients at the same time. This introduces
an easy and cost-effective way for a business to communicate with a wide subscriber base.

Cellphone solution for internet access

The MTN Group is poised to make access to the internet via cellphones a practical option. MTN South Africa’s
business division, Airborn, has developed new technology that enables computer or laptop owners to connect
to the internet by using a cellphone as a modem. Software included in the package is designed to boost the
access speed.

According to the Internationaf Telecommunication Union (ITU’), most African nations have a teledensity of
less than five percent, while internet penetration stands at one percent. This is mainly due to the lack
of fixed-line infrastructure, the lack of computers and the lack of funds to pay for access.
The implications of wireless connectivity via a cellphone are immense, especially
for companies and entrepreneurs in Africa. For instance, small
businesses that use computers but do not have the fixed-

fine services to link them would be able
to transmit data between branches.
The system could also let
entrepreneurs set up internet cafés

in rural areas where there are

no landlines.

Newly launched MTN dealership in the
Bhunu Malf, Mbabane, Swaziland.




Economic performance continued

and services purchased throughout the Group
was R11.8 billion.

Payments to the public sector

In the course of the 2004 financial year, the Group
paid a total of R3,2 biltion in taxes to the various
governments in the countries in which it operates.
This included the payment of corporate income tax,
sales taxes, taxes on dividends and employee income
tax, as well as licence fees

Understanding MTN’s tariffs

The nature of MTN’s tariff structure is an area of
interest to some of our stakeholders. In this regard it
is important to note that tariff increases are approved
by regulators in all operations, in the case of South
Africa, by ICASA.

In South Africa, tariff increases are guided by the
Consumer Price Index {("CPI"). As a general practice,

MTN has kept tariff increases considerably below the
CPI.Tariff adjustments are influenced by a variety of
factors,including the required capital investments,
international benchmarks of quality and coverage,
regulatory factors and the impact of macro-
economic conditions,

Capital investment

The Group continues to invest heavily in the
expansion of its younger operations.In the last
financial year, it spent more than RS billion as part
of its capital expenditure programme. R9,5 billion
has been committed for capital expenditure for 2005,
The Group continues to explore opportunities for
new operations throughout the continent in line
with its long-term commitment to the socio-
economic development of Africa and its vision of
being the leading provider of communication
services on the continent,

Curtailing computer theft

MTN has introduced a security solution to curtail the theft of computers, laptops and other
technical equipment. An alarm controller device developed by Cellsecure is combined with
MTN’ cellular network to provide an effective anti-theft solution. The product is called
Cellsecure E45 Seismic SMS Communicator and consists of a small control panel, a seismic
motion detector and a small remote control. The seismic detector is magnetically attached
to the object. When the object is moved, a motion detector sends a message to a control
panel that can communicate with up to 45 seismic motion detectors within an office

environment. The control panel then sends an alert SMS to up to five cellphones or
GSM modems attached to a control room PC.

Brian Seligman, MTN Sauth Africa Product Services Senior Manager at the faunch
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Social performance

This section of the report reviews the Group's
performance and activities in the workplace, before
examining the impact of some of its broader
activities on society in general.

Employees

The Group recognises that its employees are critical
10 the success and growth of the business, and are

a leading source of innovation and competitive
advantage. It strives to provide a productive,
equitable and safe working environment that attracts
and retains quality employees.

Employee demographics
and staff turnover

At the end of the 2004 financial year, MTN had

4 844 permanent employees, 963 temporary and
256 contract employees. Approximately 80% of the
tota! workforce comprised permanent full-time
appointments, 16% temporary employees and

four percent contractors. The percentage of
permanent staff turnover for the year was 7,6%.The
industry average for companies performing in the
top quartile globally is 9.8%. The current MTN figure
represents a significant decrease in staff turnover on
the previous year's 10,6%,and is attributed largely to
a more rigorous approach to retaining and
developing quality staff.

Employee training and
development

The Group recognises the strategic importance of
employee training and development in contributing to
MTN's growth strategy. Individual career development
paths are identified and a succession planning process
is reviewed quarterly. An average of three percent of
payroll cost is spent on training by each operation.

MTN's contribution to employee training has been
acknowledged by the relevant South African Sector
Education and Training Authority ("SETA"). The
company is provisionally accredited by the Services
SETA until March 2005 as a Workplace Training
provider of Customer Services Training.

The Information Systems, Electronics and
Telecommunications Technologies ("ISETT") SETA
granted MTN South Africa R1,7 million (discretionary
funding) in December 2003 for the successful
implementation of Fast Track Programme in its
Network Group department. MTN has a seat on

the ISETT SETA Board, and is @ member of the
Telecommunications Skilts Developrnent Forum.

The Group places high value on leadership
development, offering management developrnent
programmes aimed at developing the skills and
knowledge of managers at different stages of their
careers. A broad range of technological skills
development courses are also provided to staff at
various levels.

In South Africa, MTN has, over the last two years,
successfully recovered 60% of the skills levy available
for recovery.

Promoting equity, diversity
and non-discrimination

The Group is committed to employment equity and
local skills development. All the Group's operations
are required 1o encourage the advancement of black
and fernale managers. The Group is also committed
o a programme of "localisation” throughout its non-
South African operations, with the aim of ensuring as
far as practicable that management comprises local
nationals rather than expatriates, The Group’s South
African operation compilies fully with the Employ-
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Social performance continved

ment Equity ("EE") Act of 1998, All the legally-required
reports relating to employment equity plans, targets
and progress have been submitted, As outlined in the
table below, steady progress was made during the
year in meeting employment equity targets.

Non-discrimination

The Group's Code of Ethics recognises the right of
all employees to work in an environment that is
free from any form of harassment or unlawful
discrimination on grounds of race, colour, sex, sexual
orientation, place of origin, citizenship, creed,
political persuasion, age, marital or family status or
disability. Employees are urged to report, promptly
and confidentially, any case of actual or suspected
discrimination or harassment to their designated
manager. The Group Is committed to the principles
of freedom of association and collective bargaining,
and to ensuring that an approach of consistent
dizlogue with employees is maintained. During the
reporting period, there were no instances of strike
action within our workforce. Policies and procedures
to inform and consult employees regarding
restructuring are in place.

Employment Equity performance

Employee performance
management

The Group believes strongly in a performance-based
culture and seeks to identify, develop and reward
employees who deliver outstanding performance.

To ensure a consistent employee appraisal,
recognition and remuneration practice across the
Group, a standardised performance management
system has been implemented in each operation.

Key performance indicators are identified for every
member of staff, with performance evaluations carried
out every six months. Annual salary increases are
based on the results of these appraisals, which include
specific provision far the implementation of the
Group culture and values, as well as the achievement
of targets relating to employment equity.

The Group is poised for a significant improvement in
its performance management. It has implernentad a
Management Information System ("MIS") connecting
all operations with the same technology and
software to form a central database repasitory,

into which monthly updates of informatior on all

% %

MTN South Africa EE White EE White Total EE target
Group executives 9 8 5294 47,06 17

General managers 16 21 4324 56,76 37
Manager/senior manager/

Senior consultant/consultant 106 198 3487 6513 304

Total (Management) 131 227 36,59 63,41 358 33,12
Supervisor/tear leader/advisor 516 416 5536 44,64 932

General staff 799 97 80,22 1978 996

Total (staff) 1315 613 68,21 31,79 1928 64,46
Total (MTN Group) 1446 840 63,25 36,75 2 286 63,84

24w Group Sustainability Report 2004




business and sustainability indicators will be entered.
MiS will facilitate the clear setting and tracking of
targets and improve efficiencies in the Graup. The
timeous tracking of relevant information wili form
part of key personal indicators and is intended to
motivate staff to meet targets. The MIS will be
activated in July 2004,

MTN Group annual global
leadership conference

During the review period, the Group held its second
annual leadership conference. The two-day
Breakthrough Leadership for Growth conference is an
important annual platform to establish a common
perspective among top management and clarify the
Group’s goals and strategies. A more significant
contingent of management from the non-South
African operations was able to participate in this
year's conference, and this will be further encouraged
next year.

Employee shareholder scheme

The Group has two share incentive schemes for staff
and rnanagement in South Africa. The Group is
committed to exploring ways of ensuring that
ernployees in all other operating units are incentivised
in line with the value created for MTN Group
shareholders,

Occupational safety and health

In the last financial year, the Group separated the
fines of responsioifity for health and safety
rmanagerment from those for enviconmental
management. There has also been a move 1o
introduce standard health and safety policies and
procedures in alt operations. The Group has a health
and safety manual, which is informed by the Group
health and safety policy. The manual contains a

o'

Phuthuma Nhieko opening the 2004 MTN global annual
leadership conference “Breakthrough Leadership for Growth”

)

detailed set of procedures and standards - that may
be tailored to address regional-specific circumstances
- aimed at supporting a structured risk control
maragernent process ('RCMP") in each of its
operations. The RCMP is based on ten key elements,
including organisation and leadership, emergency
preparedness, incident reporting and investigation,
document control, training, risk assessrments and the
management of contractors.

Throughout the Group, the primary safety concerns
for employees are those associated with road
accidents and with working on towers during routine
maintenance of base stations, Procedures are in place
to ensure the provision and effective use of personal
protective equipment, such as climbing harnesses. in
a number of our operations, MTN provides training
courses on defensive driving skills and, in some
instances, it has also installed vehicle logging systems
in company vehicles to promote improved driving
and maintenance practices. An annual refresher
course in tower safety is conducted in all operations,
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Social performance continues

Addressing HIV/AIDS in the
workplace

The advance of the HIV/AIDS epidemic throughout
Africa is one of the most significant business and
humanitarian issues facing companies operating in
Africa. According to the United Nations sub-Saharan
regional HIV/AIDS statistics, there were 34 million
new infections in 2003, and 28,2 million adults and
children living with AIDS. Recognising the potential
effect of the disease on employees and potential
markats, MTN is committed to addressing this issue in
a structured manner. It will progressively extend the
scope of its efforts and allocation of resourcas ~
hurnan and financial - aimed at preventing HIV/AIDS
in the workplace, as well as in the broader
communities in its areas of operation.

The Group has a comprehensive HIV/AIDS policy
implemented in its South African, Nigerian and
Ugandan operatjons, This is disseminated widely
through management briefing sessions, induction
training and internal workshops. The policy is being
adapted in the other operations - to take into
consideration local circumstances and cultural
sensitivities ~ before being implemented and
communicated 1o staff. Internal awareness
programmes and support structures are avaifable
1o varying degrees in each of the operations. These
include informative posters and e-mails, education
through industrial theatre, articles in staff magazines
and sending SMSs to staff, particularly on dedicated
oceasions such as World AIDS Day. The Group
supplies condoms at most sites and in most of its
operations.

MTN in the community

In addition to striving to provide a productive,
equitable and safe working environment, MTN is
committed to ensuring effective management of the
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social impacts of its activities on the communities in
which it operates. By the very nature of its operations
- as a provider of telecommunications services -
MTN makes an important direct contribution to
socio-economic development Over and above this
direct impact, the Group has the potential to make

a positive impact through its procurement practices,
by implementing responsible community health and
safety initiatives, and through its CSI programme.

Sacially-responsible procurement
and black economic empowerment

MTN recognises the potential to facilitate the
achieverment of desirable social objectives ~ such as
BEE and local econamic development ~ by including
these objectives as an element of its procurement
practices. This issue is particularly relevant in our
South African aperations where the Group is
committed to using its influence in a constructive
manner 1o address some of the social and economic
inequaities of the past.

During the reparting year, the Group became more
stringent regarding the BEE requirements expected
of contractars in South Africa. In instances where the
Group's BEE standards are not met, a BEE clause is
inserted in the contract and monitored quarterly. {f
no improvement is shown, the contractar is reguired
to step down. On certain special contracts,
companies are monitored quarterly to ensure
compliance. During this reporting period, a greater
number of BEE information and communication
technology (ICT") sugpliers were engaged. MTN
policy indicators are predominantly in line with the
ICT Charter, though MTN is more demanding in
certain respects. Suppliers are encouraged to achieve
2 stronger empowerment rating in terms of Group
criteria. If a company’s procurement has a poor BEE
profile, MTN will provide a list of operational suppliers
from whom the company must purchase.
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MTN provides HIV/AIDS
education and awareness
programmes

MTN’s policy on HIV/AIDS

The MTN Group has a comprehensive policy on HIV/AIDS that has been drawn up in accordance with the South
African Department of Labour’s Code of Gooad Practice, and with reference to international and South African
legal and ethical standards. The policy, which was launched in December 2001, commits the Group to providing
education and awareness programmes, to supplying condoms and first-aid protective equipment, and to
assisting employees to access treatment for sexually-transmitted infections.

In terms of the policy, MTN operations will also assist employees who wish to have an HIV test by referring them
to a suitable local service. in the case of exposure to HIV/AIDS through rape or accident, the Group will

assist staff to obtain anti-retroviral therapy. Employees with HIV/AIDS are provided with access
to a special medical aid package that is aimed at maintaining their health for as
Jong as possible. Should staff members’ HIV/AIDS status become
known, the Group will not tolerate any form of
discrimination against that person.

The policy, which has been reviewed externally by
the AIDS division of the Wits Law Society, is
disseminated widely through management briefing
sessions, induction training and internal

network groups.

Staff HIV/AIDS education programme.



Social performance continved

MTN actively assists BEE companies to further their
business initiatives. Smaller companies, for instance,
are paid within seven days of invoice, instead of the
standard 30 days from date of statement, to support
their cash flow. On occasion MTN will provide a
deposit upfront. We also provide administrative
assistance and advice on how to issue statements
in a timely manner.

To ensure implementation of BEE throughout the
company, each business unit is allocated a BEE
budget target. Progress is monitored monthly and
forms part of individual key performance indicators.
Buring this reporting period, MTN South Africa’s BEE
expenditure was R647 million, R53 million short of its
R700 million target. However, this was R147 million
higher than in the 2002 - 2003 financial year. The
increase in expenditure was primarily due to greater
compliance among contractors, and an increase in
the budget. MTN South Africa’s BEE expenditure
target for 2004 - 2005 is R750 million.

Managing community health
and safety aspects of mobile
telecommunication products
and services

During the reporting period, concerns and
uncertainties were expressed on a number of
occasions by stakeholders regarding the safety
aspects of mobile phones and base station sites.
The MTN Group responded to each instance,
cornmunicating and providing persuasive
documentation supported by leading authorities in
the field to the effect that all the Group's activities
comply strictly with international and national safety
guidelines.
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Radio-frequency ("RF") emission levels from MTN base
station sites fall well below the allowable exposure
limits set out in international and South African safety
guidelines. According to the guidelines developed by
the International Cornmission for Non-ionising
Radiation Protection ("ICNIRP”) and endorsed by the
European Commission (July 1999) and the World
Health Organisation (June 2000),41 volts/metre is the
ceiling for safe emissions. Exposure levels at MTN base
station sites, and where the general public has access
fall below 10 volts/metre. RF activity at base station
sites is monitored continuously and live readings are
provided to the general public on request. Information
on RF exposure can be accessed via the EMS intranet.

The Group encourages and supports independent
quality, scientific research and continually reviews its
policies in the light of the most up-to-date research
findings to ensure that its operations maintain the
highest levels of health and safety

Corporate social investment
programme

Now in its third year, the MTN Foundation in South
Africa has continued to make a significant
contribution to promoting socio-economic
development in the regions in which the Group
operates. In line with the Group's efforts to consolidate
its investment on the continent, the Foundation

has adopted a more uniform approach to

corporate social investment across its operations.

Each operation will establish its own MTN Foundation,
and will commit up to one percent of PAT towards
corporate social investment projects. This section of
the report deals primarily with the corporate social
investment activities of MTN in South Africa. A brief
review of CSl activities for each operation is provided
in the individual country operation reports.




Bridging the digital D
divide in Africa *

Mobile technology -

The Information Society for Africa

The future of cellular in Africa

The cellphone industry has grown with unprecedented speed on the African continent. According to the ITU the
industry grew by over 1 000% between 1998 and 2003, to reach 51,8 million subscribers. The [TU reports that
cellphones are now the predominant mode of telephony in almost every African nation, with cellufar
penetration reaching 6,2% at the end of 2003, compared with 3,0% for fixed-line telephony (ITU Africa ICT
Indicators, 2003). With limited fixed-line penetration in the region effectively curtailing internet access via more
traditional access methods, the ITU argues that Africa’s future is a wireless one, with cellphones likely to be used
increasingly to access the internet. The wireless boom on the continent has been driven by a combination of
factors, including growing demand, the liberalisation of the sector and the subsequent opportunities for
increased competition, innovation in the form of pre-paid cards, and the emergence of major strategic investors
(such as the MTN Group). A critical factor is the ability of sophisticated new mobile networks to catapult African
countries into first-world communication solutions and technologies.

The wealth of opportunity for cellular growth in Africa is unquestionable. Based on different growth scenarios

for the mobile market in 2010, African mobile penetration is expected to reach between 10% and 20%,
depending on key factors, particularly affordability of services. Africa’s ability to sustain its high mobile growth
and to extend it to other sectors such as the internet will depend on a co-ordinated effort for telecommunications
on the continent. Regulators play an important role. Policies need to ensure a competition-friendty and
transparent operating climate, and issues such as interconnection need to be managed effectively.

MTN’s contribution to Africa’s development

Providing a basic communications infrastructure is one of the key sector priorities
of NEPAD. Bridging the digital divide is imperative to ensure that the marginalised
people of the African continent participate in the knowledge-based economy of the
future. The private sector has the power to influence the political and

socio -economic development of Africa, as well as being conduits for technical and
economic benefit.

Since its formation, MTN has invested more than R17 billion in GSM operations making
mobile communications accessible to communities in Cameroon, Nigeria, Rwanda, South
Africa, Swaziland and Uganda. As part of its emphasis on sustainable development, the
Group is committed to building local partnerships and focal empowerment in the form of
equity stakes and franchising and distribution networks that favour small businesses,
women and rural entrepreneurs in its areas of operation. The Group will continue to boost
access to tefecommunications in Africa, providing cellular services and installing community
phones in all its areas of operation. It will continue to explore opportunities for further
expansion on the continent, and strive to find innovative solutions to keep user costs down.

Launch of the MTN ViflagePhone
Project in Uganda is aimed at
bridging communication gaps.




Social performance continued

The MTN Foundation

For the MTN Foundation in South Africa, it has been
a year of forging key partnerships — notably with
NEPAD and government - to maximise mileage from
social investment projects. Focusing on four areas of
national priority ~ education, arts and culture, science
and technology, and HIV/AIDS - the MTN Foundation
invested R15 million in social development initiatives
this year, with an additional R7 million dedicated to
MTN's School Connectivity project, the flagship
project in the education portfolio. The total of

R22 million invested in CSI projects also served to
unlock additional resources and secure sponsarship
from other partners.

As part of its commitment to sustainable
partnerships, for the last two years MTN has
commissioned an independent team to assess

the effectiveness of its social investment programme,
The review is undertaken against a set of criteria
that examines the impact, sustainability and cost
effectiveness of interventions. An assessment for

the year in review will be conducted shortly.

Building education

MTN's School Connectivity Project is viewed as a
model by the NEPAD e-school programme.

R21 million over three years was set aside for the
project to create 90 multimedia centres. Now in its
third year, over 67 disadvantaged and rural schools
across the country have been equipped with
multimedia centres to improve the quality of
education and increase access to ICT. These centres
are used by an estimated 67 000 learners at their
schools, and by approximately 100 000 additional
learners in neighbouring schools.Each school is
provided with ten computers, a server,a
multifunction printer, a television set, a video recorder
and a GPRS modem that uses MTN's network to
access the internet.
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MTN also installs a TeleShop with up to eight public
payphones so that the schools can generate income
to sustain the multimedia centres and boost local
entrepreneurship. The company invests in upgrading
school buildings and takes steps to ensure the safety
of the equipment it provides. The MTN Foundation
works closely with the national Department of
Education to identify schools that are eligible to
receive these multimedia centres. Recognising the
importance of education in the long-term
development of the country, MTN dedicated

R4 million to a number of other education initiatives
during the year.

MTN cantinues to support the Presidential Oral History
Project, "The Road to Democracy,”with R1,5 million
per year. The first volume will be published ir June
2004. MTN also continues to support tertiary
students with bursaries. For the reporting period,
MTN supported 34 students. The combined value of
these amounted to R782 000.

Tackling HIV/AIDS

During the review period, the MTN Foundation
contributed R1,2 million to education and awareness
initiatives on HIV/AIDS. Its various community
projects included sponsoring an HIV/AIDS youth
education programme on eTV, pramoting a highly-
effective HIV/AIDS community phone job creation
and empowerment project, called Zitshunele (Do it
yourself) which is being expanded in Gauteng and
North West province, and sponsoring the devel-
opment of theatre, arts and cultural "voices”in
association with the European Union aimed at
transferring counselling skills to HIV/AIDS counsellors.
The foundation also provided funding for children
living with HIV and/or AIDS, and partnered once
more with the annual Sports Heroes Walk against
AIDS from Johannesburg to Durban, which raised
funds for hospices and care centres,




Promoting science and technology:
The MTN ScienCentres

During the reporting period, the Foundation
provided sponsarship of R5,8 million for science and
technology projects. Together with 35 sponsoring
partners, the total asset value for the science exhibits
grew through sponsorship to R15,5 million. The
MTN ScienCentre in Century City, Cape Town
continues to be the flagship project in this field,
making a significant contribution to promoting
awareness and interest in science and technology
throughout South Africa. The MTN ScienCentre in
Cape Town received 140 000 visitars during the
review period, of whom 91 300 were school learners

The MTN’s ScienCentre in Umhlanga, Durban, a
collaboration with Old Mutual, attracted some
85 000 visitors during the year

Supporting arts and culture

In recognition of its contribution to cultuve and
heritage, the MTN Foundation received the Arts and

Culture Trust's Organisation of the Year (2003) award
in support of developmental arts and culture. Over
the review period, mare than R1,3 million was
committed to various artistic and cultural activities.
Preserving and building the country’s rich cultural
and artistic heritage is a key focus area, and in so
doing it uses the company’s extensive art collection
to hold exhibitions, facilitate rural outreach
programmes, train and support teachers and publish
art resource material and educational supplements.

A flagship project during the year was the acclaimed
Rorke's Drift Exhibition and publication showcasing
pioneering black artists. The Rorke's Drift Centre was
the only centre training black artists during the
apartheid era. Furthermore, the Foundation provided
support for a number of concerts and international
musicians, This travelling national retrospective
exhibition drew over 50 000 viewers across the South
African cities to which it toured.

King Goodwill Zwelithini discusses one of the works of art in the Rorke’s Drift Exhibition with curator Phillipa Hobbs and MTN

Foundation General Manager Dr Meshack Khosa.

i
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Environmental performance

MTN Group made significant strides in the last year
to harmonise standards across its operations to
ensure the impacts of its activities on the natural
environment are managed effectively. Environmental
performance across the Group is in ling with
international industry standards and continuous
efforts are being made to improve on this.

The direct and indirect environmental impacts of
the Group's activities include, in particular impacts
associated with the installation and operation of

our base station sites, including the towers, as well

as the more generic impacts associated with the
administration of a large business organisation. From
an environmental industry perspective, the tele-
communications sector is typically classified as being
a medium impact industry by the JSE SR index.

MTN’s environmental policy,
programme and
management systems

In accordance with the Group's environmental policy,
an EMP is in place to address environmental impacts
in all operations. Particular attention is given to
managing the impacts throughout the life cycle of
our base station sites, from the time of building to
the time of decommissioning. The EMP makes
specific provision for waste minimisation, pollution
prevention, energy efficiency, the use of
environmentally-preferred materials, and managing
impacts on flora and fauna.The EMP is documented
in an online EMS which is available to staff through
the MTN Group intranet.This is reviewed at least
twice a year to ensure its continued relevance and
effectiveness.

MTN South Africa was the first African
telecommunications company to be certified under
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the international 1SO 14001 standard for its
telecommunication network in July 1999.
Compliance with 150 14001 is verified bi-annually per
region by external auditors. MTN South Africa has
also achieved 15O 9001: 2000 certification for its
quality management system for MTN SA (except
marketing and sales), confirming that all its
operations perform in line with stated policies,
processes and procedures,

Implementing environmental
management systems

The Group has successfully implemented a generic
EMS across all its operations. The policies, processes
and procedures introduced in each operation are
fundamentally alike, but are tailored to address local
and regional-specific issues. The Group will ensure
that adequate guidance, instruction and training

is provided throughout its operations to ensure
that all members of staff understand the EMS and
are aware of their roles and responsibilities in
conforming to its requirements.

The Group is aware that it needs to develop its
management structures at senior levels, assigning
formal responsibility for environmental performance -
as well as for health and safety performance —

in each of the Group’s operations.

Environmental training programme

Documented procedures are in place aimed &t
ensuring that employees at each relevant level
understand the potential environmental impacts of
their work activities. Appropriate education, training
and/or experience is provided for all personnel
performing tasks that can cause significant
environmental impacts, as well as for those carrying




out specialised environmental management
functions.In addition, all relevant MTN contractors
and suppliers are required to identify the training
needs for their employees, agents and subcontractors,
o ensure they receive satisfactory education in the
field of environmental management.

Environmental prosecutions

During the reporting period, no prosecutions were
brought against the Group for the contravention
of any environmental laws and no fines were paid.

Ongoing environmental
management challenges

The countries in which MTN operates demonstrate
differing levels of environmental consciousness and
stages of development in terms of environmental
legislation. In certain countries, for example, facilities
for effective waste disposal and recycling initiatives
are not available. The operations outside South Africa
were formed relatively recently and are therefore still
in the process of building or consolidating the
foundations necessary 1o ensure 3 sustainable
business. Each operation strives within its capabilities
to continually improve its performance in line with
international industry standards and world best
practice.In the absence of adequate legislation to
ensure the protection of the environment, as well as
human health and safety, the appointed functions

within the company will establish and implement
effective standards. Every effort is made to ensure
that the Group keeps ahead of legislative
requirements and abreast of international
developments in environmental policy.

Energy, water, and materials use

Energy use is mainly associated with servicing office
buildings, the supply of power to switches and base
station sites, including associated airconditioning to
base stations, and the use of diesel and petrol in
network vehicles, base station site generators and
switch standby generators. The typical level of energy
usage for an MTN Group operation is provided
below. In Nigeria, two power generators are required
at each base station site, This results in over three
rillion fitres of diesel being used per month to
provide reliable electricity at base stations. In
addition, ol used in the generators has to be
replaced after every 200 hours of operation.The
used ail is collected and returned to the supplier for
recycling. This aspect of our operations is monitored
and managed in a manner consistent with the
company’s desire to minimise its impact on the
environment. The Group continually examines
options for improving ecological and economic
efficiency. Electricity consumption is monitored
annually for the financial results,

Typical energy usage in our operations

Base stations (afl, average) - electricity

Other corporate offices — electricity

- Fuel (diesel for network vehicles only)

Fuel (diesel and petrol for all other vehicles)

Base station generators (11 units of capacity 25 KVA)

50x 1100 kWh/month
40 000 kWh/month

2 500 litres/month

2 000 litres/month

20 litres diesel/month
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Environmental performance continses

Water use within the Group is minimal and limited
primarily t© consumption at corporate offices and to
minor applications within the network operations,
such as cleaning vehicles at several warehouse sites,

Due to the nature of the Group’s core activity, the
monitoring of total material flows is not seen to be a
critical issue from an environmental management
perspective. However, the Group is conscious of the
need to ensure effective management of any
hazardous materials and has procedures in place to
manitor and regulate the use of certain materials such
as ozone-depleting substances, asbestos, lead based
paints and batteries containing heavy metals.

Emissions to air and water

The Group’s activities result in limited emissions to
air or water. Airconditioning units follow the

international industry standard and, in South Africa,
these have been checked for compliance with
requirements for the phasing out of ozone-depleting
substances. A policy is in place regarding the
withdrawal of disused airconditioning units. The
management of fuel consumption and related
emissions from our company fleet has not been
identified as a critical issue.

The greatest potential for water contamination arises
from spillage and leaks from fuel storage tanks. To
ensure this does not happen, an enclosure is built
around the base of all our fuel storage tanks.

Introduction of biodegradable
recharge cards

Biodegradable recharge cards were introduced
throughout the MTN Group's operations in the review

Key developments during the review period
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period. This is a major development in minimising the
Group's environmental impact, cansidering that a
minimum of 20 million recharge cards are sold every
maonth across the Group’s operations.

Waste generation

The recycling of printer cartridges, batteries for
switches, electronic equipment, cellphone batterles,
toner cartridges and paper is standard practice across
the Group's operations, subject to the availability of
appropriate facilities.Waste genarated by our network
activities, inctuding packing materials, soil and rubble
associated with construction activities, and small
volumes of waste oft and used filters arising from
servicing generators, is effectively managed. The Group
is committed to working in co-operatian with suppliers
and cantractors to enhance common environmentat
objectives. it has introduced a standard clause in

contracts with all generator maintenance suppliers
specifying requirements for responsible environmental
conduct. Contractors for base station sites are required
1o service generators every 200 hours and to dispose of
waste olf and filters in accordance with agreed terms

Product stewardship ~ recycling
mobile phone batteries

Ensuring the appropriate management of used
mobile-phone batteries is becoming of increasing
concemn, Mobile-phone batteries contain a range of
hazardaus substances - such as nickel cadmium,
lithium-ion, nicke! metal hydride and lead acids ~ and
their inappropriate disposal can have potentally
significant public health and environmental impacts.
Studies indicate that ane kilogram of buried batteries
may result in the contamination of up to 20 cubic

metres of soil.
4
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Environmentg/ performance continued

Fortunately, most of these batteries are 100%
recyclable. MTN Sguth Africa has joined forces with
mobile phone manufacturers to promote the
collection and recycling of used batteries, Clear
quidelines are provided to

staff on the safe disposal
of cellphone batteries, The

Group follows
International developments on emvironmenta”y

a1on of mobile handset ba
MTN South Africa for recycl
review period.

tteries were collected by
ing during the

In light of the growing emphasis imernanomally on
extended producer responsibility, and in accordance
with our commitrnent to Corporate citizenship, this is
an issue that we recognise
this regard, we are activef
developments.

requires further action. In
y foHovang international




Managing the environmental impact of base station sites

MTN's network of base station sites forms the backbone of its operations, providing the basis for its

tefecommunications services. There are a number of important environmental issues that need to be provided [

for in the design, construction, location, monitoring and maintenance of all base station sites. Detailed
procedures have been developed to address these issues and they form an important element of the Group’s
environmental managernent system.

In choosing the location of the sites to meet network demand, the Group is guided by various considerations,
including suitability for providing radio coverage, the proximity to other base station sites, the proximity of electricity
supply, the nature of vehicle access, visual impact and the concerns of affected landowners and other stakeholders.

What is a base station?

A base station site houses a radio transmitter and receiver, to which cellphones communicate during a call. The site
consists of a rack of electronic equipment, a power supply and a battery for power backup purposes. An antenna
system is used for transmitting the radio signal. The following methods are used for mounting the antennas:

+ Onstructures (lattices, monopoles or “tree” masts): these are typically 8 - 55 m tall and used in rural areas.

+ Onbuildings: mounted on the roof or against walls and used in urban areas.

+  Inside buildings providing coverage in places such as shopping centres, airports and corporate headquarters.

The average area of land required for our base stations is 12 - 15 m™. While most sites are leased, in a number of
instances, land has been purchased to house these facilities.

Group procedures relating to base station sites

Detailed procedures have been developed aimed at minimising the impact of base stations on the

environment. These procedures prescribe the actions that should be taken, for example, to:

«  Identify the need for the new site, and to specify possible alternative locations

+  Evaluate and address the visual impact of the proposed mast or other structure

+ Ensure that oll necessary approvals are obtained and environmental impact assessments undertaken,
where required

«Inform and consult with relevant stakeholders as required

» Manage and monitor the activities of contractors and suppliers during and at the end of construction

+  Obtain certification of compliance for base station site
Ensure that, once operational, each base station site is visited at least at six-monthly intervals to ensure
effective maintenance in accordance with a field routine maintenance procedure

+  Ensure that environmental and health and safety issues are foflowed during decornmissioning

The procedures regarding the design and instaflation of sites are followed throughout the Group. In some
instances, modifications have been made to address local-specific conditions, an example being the need to
provide for pitched rocfs to deal with higher rainfall levels in Cameroon.

‘i MTN base stations in Africa ‘

i South Africa 74% ‘
@ Cameroon 4% i

| 2 i O Nigeria 5% !

I ! it /| @Awanda 19% |
\ Swazitand 196 r

Uganda 5% I
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Environmental performance continued

Operational risk review

Below are two graphs indicating the rating achieved
by MTN SA during the last operational risk review
(Feb 2004). MTN's performance is compared to a
programme average of 150 total reviews completed
among telecommunications companies worldwide.
As seen from the graphs, MTN's rating is well above
the programme’s best practice average.

Graph i

P

PSEC = Physical security

HE&S PSEC

RM = Risk management PLC = Property loss controf
(SEC = information security

The review, which takes place every eighteen months,
is undartaken by an independent international
company that specialises in risk management. The
review output is seen by MTN as an important tool
providing an opportunity to improve further and to
benchmark performance against other international
telecommunication companies.

O MTN 2004
i O Programme-average

ISEC

H&S = Health and safety
BCP = Business continuity planning

O MTN 2002
O MTN 2004
© Pragramme average

CENV = Corporate environmental management
CR&C = Corporate regulatory and contractual
INA = lrequiar network access
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MTN Group GSM operations

i
»

- Cameroon | [ Souih Africa ;
Launch date: Feb 2000 | :i Launch date: Jun 1994 1
‘ MTN Group shareholding: 75% MTN Group shareholding: 100% }
\“ Population: 16,6 million ‘\ H Population: 45,7 million i‘
(‘ Mobile penetration: 6,7% /{ | Mobile penetration: 36% }J
} Subscriber numbers: 581 000 “) Subscriber numbers: 6270 000 “
" Nigeria } Swaziland
[TaLJnch date: Aug 2001 H i;’ Launch date: Jul 1998 ‘1
‘ MTN Group shareholding: 75% ‘ 1; MTN Group shareholding: 30%
Population: 130 million Population: 1,1 million ‘

Mobile penetration:

1 Mobile penetration: 31% | J 7.7% }‘
‘ Subscriber numbers: 1966 000 H i“ Subscriber numbers: 85 000 i
" Rwanda | | Uganda ‘;
:‘ Launch date: Jul 1998 “ “ Launch date: Oct 1998 “
: MTN Group shareholding: 40% ’t r MTN Group shareholding: 52% ?,‘

Population: 8,7 million “ [ Population: 24,5 million J
‘k Mobile penetration: 1,2% }} L Mobile penetration: 3,1% (
N Subscriber numbers: 146 000 i\; l Subscriber numbers: 495 000 1{

40 MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004




Swazilahd

C Cellular operations \<
) South Africa
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Operational performance

- MTN South Africa

Pre-paid/post-paid mix 81%/19%

Performance highlights Wumber ofsubscribers
As at 31 March 2004: o .
+ Revenue increased 23% to R15 098 million 5
Total capable subscriber base grew by 33% 1o 6 270 000 .
Blended ARPU of R203 ' ~ R
Arrested a steadily declining EBITDA through tight control of :ﬁ ‘—“
costs and increasing subscribers in both the pre-paid and post- o r‘} ‘ |
paid sectors x } ‘ i }
Ranked sixth in the Financial Mail Best Company to Work 7 i ‘ |
For Survey L u
BEE suppliers constitute 60% aof supply chain and R647 million . L
worth of services 00 02 03
Established 67 muiltimedia centres in disadvantaged schools
Market information Financials
Population 45,7 million 2004 2003
Mobile penetration 36% Rm Rrru
Market share 38%
Revenue 15098 12298
Operational information EBITDA 4514 3389
PAT 2245 1490

MTN South Africa is the country's second-largest
cellular network operator. This year marks our tenth
anniversary. The cellular market in the country is
maturing and highly competitive (with 36%
penetration). MTN South Africa maintained solid
subscriber growth during the review period, through
the introduction of innovative, cost-effective mobile
communications solutions. The company’s GSM
network has 4 245 sites covering 19 200 km of

road and 1 000 000 km? of land, providing access

10 96% of South Africa’s population.

MTN South Africa has various initiatives in place
relating to environmentally and socially responsible
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management practices, and has forged strong
partnerships with government to promote
sustainable development,

Contributing to the socio-
economic development of
South Africa

Payments to government during the year amounted
to R1,9 hillion for licence fees, direct and indirect
taxes.In addition to the positive direct impact
associated with the Group's contribution to the
South African economy - as a taxpayer,




employer,and procurer of a substantial volume of
goods and services — MTN South Africa is committed
to implementing additional measures aimed at
improving opportunities for the country's
disadvantaged individuals and communities.

Since its inception, the company has installed
approximately 10 000 community payphones in
under-serviced areas, which in turn has stimulated
entrepreneurial activity in these areas. The company’s
support for black economic empowerment is driven
through its procurement practices, with expenditure
amounting to R647 million over the last financial year.
The company provides administrative assistance to
its suppliers to help them meet BEE criteria and has
targeted R750 million for BEE procurement for the
coming year. As part of its corporate social
investment programme, MTN South Africa has greatly
improved access to technological facilities through
its Schools Connectivity Project, establishing

67 multimedia centres in disadvantaged schools
during the last year.

Investing in our employees

The company strives to retain and attract quality staff
and to be an employer of choice. It was ranked sixth
in the annual Financial Mall Best Company to Work For
Survey 2003.The company conducts regular culture
audits to determine where and how it can improve
performance with regard to its employees.

Employee well-being is further promoted through
the company’s Talent Care Programme. Key activities
in the programme include providing all staff with
access to a professional counselling service, running
courses on relevant issues of concern, welcoming all
new employees through an induction programme,
and administering "Club 083" which provides staff
with special discount schemes.

Promoting employment

equity

Further progress was made during the year in
integrating employment equity considerations
within the company’s business system.

Management: Diversity profile

O EEmale
© White male

O EE female
O White fernale

Operational: Diversity profile

O EE male
O White male

O £E female
O White female
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Operational performance
— MTN South Africa continued

Health, safety and
environmental issues

Information on all health, safety and environmental
standards, policies and procedures are available on
the company intranet. There is a comprehensive
incident reporting system in place, with clear lines
of responsibility identified for health and safety
co-ordinators. Every month, an inspection is carried
out of all aspects pertaining to health and safety, the
results of which are discussed by a committee on a
quarterly basis. The company has a comprehensive
health and safety policy and risk management
process and has had an IS0 14001 certified
environmental management system since 1999.
During the reporting period, there were no major
safety incidents armong employees or contractors.
Eleven miner incidents were reported in the service
provider division, and no lost time for injury.

As described elsewhere in this report, detailed
procedures are in place to manage and respond to
concerns relating to the possible health effects of
handsets and base stations. The construction and
maintenance of masts and base stations are
undertaken in accordance with MTN Group
standards and applicable legislation. The company
has a range of recycling projects, including the recent
introduction of tin/aluminium can recycling

The company has a structured campaign to contain
HIV/AIDS in the workplace. Monthly briefings are held
for line managers on the comprehensive policy on
HIV/AIDS. Staff and their dependants who are on the
company’s medical aid scheme are able to obtain
anti-retroviral drugs. The company has trained 60 staff
members as AIDS educators for their peers in the

main regions of Gauteng, Durban and Cape Town.
The monthly staff magazine and performing arts
such as industrial theatre, are used as vehicles for
raising awareness and promoting education around
related HIV/AIDS topics.

Corporate social investment
programme

During the reporting period, the company invested
over R22 million in various social development
projects relating to education, HIV/AIDS, science and
technology, and arts culture and heritage. This
includes R7 million dedicated to the Schools
Connectivity Project. These projects are administered
by the MTN Foundation. Further detaits of MTN
corporate social investment programmes are
provided on page 30.

Rural schools such as Malabosane High will be connected to
modern technology and the internet through the MTN Schools

Connectivity Project.
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Our call centres handle 700 calls
every 30 minutes

MTN South Africa strives for 100% customer satisfaction

Customer satisfaction is of paramount importance to the MTN Group. MTN South Africa employs
more than 1 000 customer service agents, ensuring an ongoing assessment of our entire customer
interface process, and has a formal structure in place for dealing with complaints. Qur call centre in
Gauteng handles an average 700 calls every 30 minutes. In an emergency situation, subscribers are
automatically routed to the call centre in KwaZulu-Natal for assistance. in the fiercely competitive
South African cellular market, MTN South Africa strives continuously ta offer innovative services to
customers and to keep tariffs as low as possible. Independent market research is conducted monthly
to determine perceptions of the company, and its performance in relation to competitors. The
company has set a target of becoming the best provider of customer service in the country, across all
industries, within the next two years. It has introduced a local customer management improvement
project aimed at encouraging a more people-orientated system, with greater responsibility allocated
to individual staff in executing customer requests. MTIN South Africa has successfully piloted an
innovation called Q4U that is designed to significantly improve efficiencies in customer response.
With Q4U (“Queue For You"), the customer alerts the call centre with one ring of the telephone, and
the call centre calls the custorner back within seconds. Developments in customer service in the last
year included the introduction of a separate call centre to cater for high-value customers, to ensure
optimum customer recognition and satisfaction.
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Operational performance
- MTN Nigeria

Performance highlights
As at 31 March 2004:
+ Revenue increased from R5 361 million to R6 973 million year

on year )

EBITDA of R3 557 million Subscriber base

PAT of R2 592 million (not taking into account deferred tax asset)
+ Subscriber growth 1© T 966 000 as at 31 March 2004, from °

1037 000 in March 2003 §

ARPU of US$51

Same 839 base stations compared to 478 a5 at 31 March 2003 - i

Sixty-five rural phone centres instaled, with a forecast total of 3

200 rural phone centres to be instalied by July 2004 -

Roaming now extends to 115 international networks, in N :

65 countries A
+ Mutually-beneficial warking relationship with Ericsson, a key | b

supplier, to develop rraining and education facilities in Nigeria 02 03 04
Market information Financials
Population 130 million 2004 2003
Maobile penetration 3,1% Rm Rm
Market share 48%

Revenue 6973 5361

Operational information EBITDA 3557 2088
Pre-paid/post-paid mix 97%/3% PAT® 2366 1146
* Excluding deferred tax asset

MTN Nigeria has consistently surpassed initial growth  MTN Nigeria projects a strong brand image as a
forecasts in a challenging market where demand supplier of first choice and as a leader in corporate
significantly exceeds supply. Since its launch in 2001, social responsibility ("CSR") in the country. The

the company’s subscriber base has escalated to over company has invested over US$1,2 billion in

1966 000, as at 31 March 2004. The network has infrastructure and licence fees to date and will
been rapidly expanded to cover 82 cities and well continue to invest heavily in the Nigerian economy,
over 2 000 communities, and is on track to reach endeavouring to be a catalyst for growth and

all 36 states before August 2004, The company development, both through the provision of quality
is focused on building network capacity and communications as well as through innovative and
increasing the quality of its services. effective social responsibility initiatives
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Corporate governance

MTN Nigeria is committed 1o implementing effective
corporate governance practices. The board consists
of sixteen members, fourtean of whom are non-
executives. It is supparted in its actvities by the audit,
project, credit, property, remuneration and human
resources and management committees. Policies,
procedures and compliance mechanisms are in place
o address governange, ethics, conflicts and fraud
concerns.

Contributing to the economic
development of Nigeria

MTN Nigeria's contribution to economic
development in Nigeria should be seen in the
context of the significant benefits that the company’s
activities have brought to the country in terms of
direct and indirect job creation, increased
government revenue and enhanced opportunities
for large and small businesses. It is estimated that the
company has facilitated the creation of more than

30 000 jobs, directly and indirectly. The company’s
capital infrastructure has significantly improved
Nigeria's prospects as an investment market,
encouraging much needed foreign direct
investment to stimulate the local economy.

A nationwide network of dealerships includes

26 banks, 1 200 dealers and thousands of sub-dealers.
MTN Nigeria’s procurement practice follows on the
Group's affirmative procurement model. Efforts are
focused on increasing procurement from local
Nigerian suppfiers and reducing imported products
and services. More than US$250 million was spent on
procurement through focal suppliers. MTN Nigeria
has appointed a procurement officer to oversee the
development of an effective local supply chain and

to encourage suppliers to engage in CSR activities.
There are plans to assist in creating the infrastructure
for the redevelopment of a lacal bus statian, which
will incorporate the upgrade of road works and the
development of market stalls, shaps and possibly
internet cafds at university campuses.

MTN Nigeria was in the second year of 3 five-year tax
holiday and accbrdingly, paid no corporate tax during
this financial year. Nevertheless, PAYE, VAT, Nigeria
Comrnunication Cornrnission {NCC") levies and
import dutles 1o the value of approximately

R788 million were paid during the year.

Tariff structures

The issue of tariffs remains of great interest to many
stakeholders. MTN Nigeria is committed to making
cellular services as affordable as possible and has
reduced its tariff rates significantly this year,
notwithstanding the fact that inflation in Nigeria is in
the region of 17 percent per annum.

There is considerable pressure on MTN Nigeria to
expand its network rapidly and the company is
reinvesting extensively to be able to finance the
extensive capital outlay derands associated with
developing infrastructure in Nigeria, The network
still requires substantial investment to increase its
geographic spread and ease congestion, and in this
regard MTN Nigeria has budgeted 1o invest in excess
of US$1 bitlion in additional network rofi-out for the
2005 financial year Notwithstanding the very high
cost of doing business in the region, tariffs in Nigeria
are competitive by international standards.
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Customer services

MTN Nigeria has expanded its network throughout
the country at a rapid rate this year. To date, the
company has ten Friendship Centres servicing six
main regional hubs (Lagos, Abuja, Kano, Enugy,
Ibadan and Port Harcourt). in addition, MTN is
actively working towards strengthening the network
1o reduce service disruptions and improve call
quality. Certain states are serviced by satellites,

which may slightly compromise guality, but are

the only reasonable way to overcome landscape
challenges. MTN Nigeria is committed to improving
the overall custorner experience, The company is
aware of the need to improve the level of service

at calt centres, and as a result, is developing a new
call centre, improving its interactive voice recognition
system and increasing dealer and sub-daaler training
and staff training.

Investing in our staff and
business partners

A focus this year has been the development of
management systems with clear reporting structures
throughout the operation, consistent with Group
practice. A total of 382 systems were enacted at MTN
Nigeria during the year. The company's commitment
to investing in the region is reflected in its efforts to
build capacity and skills among Nigerian nationals
The company is proactive in attracting skilled
Nigerians back from London and New York, with the
aim of bringing much needed skills developed
outside Nigeria back into the local economy. This
forms part of a strategy to reduce the number of
expatriate staff and to develop local skills through
skills transfer and to provide for succession planning.
There is a highly developed sense of duty among
Nigertans returning from abroad to assist less
fortunate citizens, which is impacting positively

on MTN Nigeria.
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The warkforce is growing at a significant rate: nearly
620 employees were recruited last financial year with
afurther 1 150 expected in the 2004 - 2005 financial
year. MTN Nigeria is mindful that adequate training of
staff is imperative if the quality of its services and its
brand reputation are 1a be maintained and
improved. As at 31 March 2004, total staff members
(permanent nationals, contract workers, expatriates)
numbered 1 618, of which 1 436 were permanent
and 163 expatriates. Currently, at operational level,
there are 64% males to 36% females, whereas in
management, the percentages are 87% and 13%
respectively. Succession planning and staff retention
strategies are in place and the company is
investigating internship opportunities.

Safety, health and

environment issues

MTN Nigeria has a comprehensive SHE policy and
corporate plan in place, with assessments conducted
quarterly. Compliance with the poficy is mandatory
for all employees and contractors, requiring formal
reporting of alf incidents, minor and major, and any
unsafe conditions.

MTN Nigeria is developing a series of HIV/AIDS
awareness and prevention workshops for its staff and
is currently drafting an HIV/AIDS policy based on the
MTN Group policy.

The company utifises approximately two miftion litres
of diesel per month for its generators 1o

supply reliable electricity at base stations, MTN
Nigeria is working towards 150 14001 certification.

A comprehensive environmental impact assessment
("EIA") completed for the Federal Ministry of
Environment has been provisionally approved




Addressing stakeholder concerns

MTN Nigeria is committed to addressing and communicating on the following issues identified by
stakeholders:

-

.

|
|
f
I

Focused strategies in anticipation of aggressive competition
Improved tariff and billing structures, and plans for product development

implementation of adequate systems to make effective conversion to
per-second billing

Less service interruptions and better quality of connections

Promote infrastructure sharing to increase level of interconnectivity at
lower prices

Improve customer complaints management system
Manage visibility of the company’s communication service activities
Formalise stakeholder engagement activities

[
!
k
j’
%
%
|
i
?
|
User-friendliness of purchasing SIM cards and loading r
E
)

recharge cards
Concerns relating to diesel consumption, possible supply shortage and
rising prices —

Increase level of procurement to local suppliers

Leverage its influence to raise
levels of social

consciousness among other
corporates

MTN Nigeria's Chief Marketing and Strategy Officer, Afam
Edozie, hands over keys of an ambulance sponsored by MTN.
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"MTN has been doing very well with respect to network coverage

throughout Nigeria. Rural coverage is improving ...eveninmy |

remote parts of Nigeria.”

|
|
| village, ljero Ekiti in Ekiti State, which is in one of the most \
|
|
|

Hon Yemi Arokadare ~ Chairman, House Committee on Communications

Environmental initiatives include:

-+ Drop-off facilities for used telephone batteries at
Friendship Service Centres

+ Tenders in progress for the introduction of
biadegradable recharge cards

* Recycling initiatives in place for mobile handsets
and battery components

+ Initiatives to address pollution from
generators, including environmentalty-friendly
disposal of fuel and filters from generators at
regular intervals

-+ Monitoring the environmental impact of carbon
dioxide ernissions, waste oil and fuel

+ Implementation of a solid waste recycling
programme and paper shredding machines

Corporate social investment
programme

Subsequent to the financial year-end, the MTN
Foundation was established as a separate division
t0 oversee CSI projects and to forge and develop
lang-term partnerships with strategic partners such
as the Growing Business Foundation. MTN Nigeria
will commit one percent of PAT towards CSi, with
greater focus on health education and economic
EMPOWErMENT Projects.

During the reporting period, R29 million was investad
in various corporate responsibility initiatives, with a
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focus on health programmes ~ primarily aimed at
women, children and HIV/AIDS - youth education,
sports, and arts and culture, Substantial contributions
were made towards orphanages and child welfare,
The company donated hundreds of telephones

to the palice and other institutions to facilitate

their work.

HIV/AIDS prevalence is escalating in Nigeria. in a
population of 130 million (March 2004) it is
estimated that more than three million (2,3%) are
infected. MTN Nigeria has permanent advertisements
to promote HIV/AIDS awareness displayed around
the country.

Additional initiatives include:

- Telecom Stakehalders'Roundrable: a public
platform to engage with stakeholders
more meaningfully on issues in the
Nigerian telecommunications industry.
Participants include students, academics,
journalists, lawmakers and corporate
representatives.

+ MTN Nigeria Talking Point:an advocacy
programrme broadcast on national television, to
inform and educate subscribers and the general
pubtic on MTN Nigeria's GSM.

+ A publication entitled “GSM Brings Development” to
communicate the far-reaching positive impact of
G5SMin Nigeria




Yello magazine: a quarterly in-house magazine
and important communication tool. It is widely
distributed to stakeholders including MTN Nigeria
staff, shareholders, dealers, suppliers and
subscribers.

MTN Volunteer Scheme: a recently introduced
initiative — more than 250 MTN Nigeria staff

mermbers will volunteer their time and skills
towards community programmes and

assisting schools.

Expansion of MTN Nigeria Book Aid, an initiative
to bridge some of the shortcomings in Nigeria's
educational system. The company provided in
excess of 1000 000 books this year.

Empowering communities in which we operate

Case study: Ogene Ladies’ Community Phone Project

MTN Nigeria has operated a micro-credit enterprise system called the Ogene Ladies’Community Phone Project in
Enugu since April 2002, This project is implernented in partnership with the Growing Business Foundation (“GBF"),
a non-governmental organisation. MTN Nigeria provides women in focal communities with SIM packs, phones,
recharge vouchers and booster cards under a micro-credit scheme. GBF provides formal training and capacity
building to enable the women to operate payphones in their communities. The community phone project has
been replicated under the name of “Ntakroc” in Akwa lbom state, The investment in capacity building and training
has provided a solid foundation for the rapid development of the programme. There are currently 65 beneficiaries
and the roll-out of further phone centres is gaining momentum. There are, however, many challenges in bringing
telecommunication to rural areas. These include lack of access to electricity or alternate power supplies, and the
hilly terrain in many areas that creates transmission obstacles and induces additional
infrastructure costs. MTN's commitment to overcoming these challenges has
prompted GBF to set the ambitious target of installing more than
200 rural phone centres by July 2004. The healthy
partnership between MTN and GBF has
resulted in a flourishing
project to ‘
improve and
enhance the
quality of life in
rural
communities.

QOgene Ladies’ Community
Phone Project beneficiaries.
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Performance highlights

As at 31 March 2004;

+  Fifth-largest company in Cameroon

+ Revenue increased by 22% to R1 069 million
Profit after tax of R219 million
EBITDA increased by 52% to R450 million

+ ARPU of US$24

Switch building in Douala almost fully operational

581 000 subscribers, representing a 35% increase since last year

Network expanded into mare remote areas with a total of
219 operational base station sites compared with 155 in 2003

Subscriber base
000)

Market information

Population 16,6 million
Mobile penetration 6,7%
Market share 52%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix 989%/2%

Financials
2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 1069 874
EBITDA 450 297
PAT 219 102

MTN Cameroon continues to grow in stature both as
a successful business exceeding financial forecasts,
and as a valued contributor to the socio-economic
development of the country. Now in its fourth year,
the company has the mechanisms to achieve
sustainable growth and profitability firmly in place,
providing the requisite foundation on which to build
sustainability throughout the operation and grow to
realise the company's vision of being a vital part of a
communicating society. Estimated to be the fifth-
largest company in the country, MTN Cameroon is
eager 10 leverage its position of influence to raise the
level of social consciousness among other companies.
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Corporate governance
practices

The Board of MTN Cameroon consists of six
permanent members: two from Cameroon and

four from South Africa. The board is supported

in its activities by a human resources committee

and an audit committee. Corporate governance
practices are guided by the South African King |l
report. The operation has an agreed code of conduct,
and maintains a strong policy of zero-tolerance

for corruption, which is a dismissible offence.




Contributing to the economic
development of Cameroon

MTN Cameroon’s positive impact on the
development of the national telecommunications
infrastructure is increasingly felt as the network
expands into more remote rural areas, significantly
exceeding its licence obligations in this respect. The
quality and reliability of MTN Cameroon’s network
are improving and the company has consolidated

its market leadership in a highly competitive
environment. Committed to being a major player

in the national economy of Carneroon, it endeavours
to facilitate and promote ease of access to
communications and stimulate entrepreneurship in
a safe, supportive environment. Local suppliers are
involved wherever possible and the company relies
on a number of external consultants, There are now
219 operational base station sites spread across the
country's ten provinces, resulting in significant
benefits in terms of direct and indirect job creation,
as well as generating public and private revenues for

Douala service centre.

investment in meeting public objectives. The switch
centre completed last year in Douala is equipped
with advanced technology to oversee all network-
related processes, anticipate and respond
appropriately to ensure optimal performance, and
co-ordinate technical support and maintenance of
equipment and facilities at base site station sites

MTN Cameroon’s payments to government during
the year amounted to R193 million for licence fees,
direct and indirect taxes.

Investing in our staff and
business partners

Numerous initiatives have been undertaken to
streamline the business and establish a dependable,
transparent and fair system, appreciated for its
strategic direction. Revised structures to ensure the
satisfaction and well-being of our staff include a
review of individual job descriptions, corresponding
salary structures and appraisal systems. individual staff
training requirerents are identified after each bi-
annual evaluation and undertaken wherever feasible,
locally and overseas. Experience gained from MTN
South Africa’s Talent Care programme will inform the
introduction of a similar programme in MTN
Cameroon. Additional social benefit programmes
have been introduced for staff, their spouses and
immediate family, with emphasis on healthcare,

Managing HIV/AIDS within the workplace remains

a central focus. Efforts extend beyond the
dissemination of educational material, seminars

and the ready availability of condoms, to involve
external partners with direct access 1o medical
expertise and facilities, such as HIV/AIDS testing.

An HIV/AIDS policy based on that of the South African
operation is being adapted for local implementation

MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004

53




Operational performance

- MTN Cameroon continued

“MTNS integrity is above average and our customer relations
experience with the company is excellent. As a corporate citizen MTN
is in the top rung, engaging in an impressive range of projects in the
community, setting an example for other private sector companies.”

Mr Duane Troyer — Director of Technical Services/SIL. Cameroon, a non-profit organisation

and will be communicated to staff. An on-site
infirmary is to be established shortly, with a nurse
present daily and a doctor consulting twice a week.

MTN Cameroon is committed to equity and non-
discrimination in the workplace and seeks to achieve
a suitable balance in gender and local/regional
representation in the workplace. The current
workforce gender ratio stands at 57% male to 43%
female.The company's ongoing efforts to localise
management and employees through recruitment
and training of Cameroon nationals have resulted in
a local staff complement of 97%. There has been no
recent industrial action at MTN Cameroon.

Safety, health and
environmental impacts

The health and safety of staff is overseen by a
number of risk management processes, focused on
prevention. Safety concerns centre around risks
associated with climbing towers during routine
maintenance and road traffic accidents. The company
provides training and safety harnesses for alf
maintenance personne! and runs a series of courses
on defensive driving. A refresher course on tower
safety is an annual event and we are pleased to
report that no serious accidents occurred this year.

Maintenance of a network support structure in Cameroon.

Environmental impact assessments are carried out at
each base station by independent consultants before
clearance is given. A strict schedule is followed for
the maintenance and replacement of parts of
equipment and facilities at each base site station, to
ensure optimum safety and efficiency and minimise
the risk of disruption. Investigations continue into the
viable implementation of solar panels as an alternate
power source, but there are technical and economic
challengss to contend with.
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We are pleased to report the introduction of Corporate social investment
biodegradable recharge vouchers — approximately

two million of which are sold by MTN Cameraon prog famme

each month - as a key development in minimising MTN Cameroon has consolidated partnerships with
the negative impact on the environment. Further organisations such as the World Bank and the
tenders are in progress. Generators at each of the National Committee against HIV/AIDS, Key elements
219 base station sites are being systematically of MTN Cameroon's CSl programme include

replaced with quieter ones to reduce noise increasing public awareness on HIV/AIDS, investing
disturbance. There were no serious environmental in training and education programmes for medics
complaints in the year under review. and the youth, and providing support for cultural and

rAddressing stakeholder concerns

|
‘ MTN Cameroon is committed to addressing and communicating on the following issues |
I identified by stakeholders:

I« New products and services ‘

+ General data on the company’s social and

|« Tariff and billing structures
\ environmental impact

‘ » Nature of jts

‘ activities to
develop skills in the
local IT sector

* Activities contributing
to local environmental

J

|

\ * Recycling initiatives
!

\ regeneration

|+ HIV/AIDS initiatives

l Buea Street dealer, Cameroon.
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“The partnership between the World Bank Office in Cameroon
and MTN is simply outstanding. MTN has not only shown
genuine interest in supporting NO AIDS Caravan sponsored by
the World Bank, UNAIDS, the National Committee against

- HIV/AIDS, and Synergies Africaines, it has provided financial and

. logistical support to give it the desired visibility nationwide.
| By having MTN on our side in the fight against this pandemic,
} we are setting an example that others in the private sector will

corporate social responsibility.”

:J Madani TALL - World Bank Cameroon

hopefully follow as there is no better way to clearly demonstrate

artistic events. The company sponsors technical
training programmes and forums relating to the
information communications and telecommuni-
cations sector. Specific projects include the
rehabilitation and development of a local health
centre and a free vaccination campaign.

MTN Cameroon is proud to be the principal sponsor
of the Carmeroon Football Federation ("FECAFOOT"),
which promotes the long-term development of
soccer at all levels, with particular focus on the youth.
The country is united in its passion for football and
we believe the social and economic benefits of this
support are significant, with growing emphasis on
developrent at a local level.
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MTN Cameroon invests over one percent of PAT in
corporate social investment. A total of R4,7 million
was committed to CSI projects during the reporting
period. Regular monitoring of the delivery of
objectives against set targets is undertaken, and
internal audit procedures are in place to ensure
that all corporate sacial investments are effectively
applied to the spacific causes to which they

were allocated,




The youth of Cameroon,
the future of the country

Case study: NO AIDS Caravan

The youth of Cameroon, and consequently the future of the country, is under
significant threat from the spread of HIV/AIDS. Efforts to address this growing
concern are imperative both at government level and within the private sector.

MTN Cameroon is the proud strategic partner of the World Bank Cffice in Cameroon
in an HIV/AIDS awareness campaign calfed NO AIDS Caravan, targeting youth.
Other prominent sponsars of the campaign are UNAIDS, the National Committee
against HIV/AIDS, and Synergies Africaines.

The campaign has been rolled out in the four main regions of Camercon, conveying
and discussing HIV/AIDS issues with thousands of students at select schools in each
region. The process of sensitisation includes the distribution of HIV/AIDS education
material, condoms and brooches. Each visit is rounded off with a grand open-air
concert where celebrated artists perform under the banner of NO AIDS
Caravan. The campaign is a tremendous success and wilf
be replicated at schools in more remaote
regions around the country this
year. MTN offers logistical and
financial support to the campaign
and is negotiating with focal media
representatives to measure and
report a bi-weekly update of the
impact the campaign is making in
each region.

L e T
R R R ¥

Creative AIDS awareness campaign.
MTN Cameroon has picked up the challenge to
fight against HIV/AIDS.
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Performance highlights

As a1 31 March 2004:
+ Market leader with 66% mobile market share

year, representing a 36% increase

access to telecomrnunications to remaote areas

Helping to triple Uganda's teledensity since its faunch
Mabile subscriber nurbers grew to 495 000 from 363 000 last

- ntroduction of the MTN VillagePhone project, which provides

Achieved border to border coverage in 39 district capitals as
stipulated in the license and still extending coverage to

140 towns and villages with coverage of 70% of the population
Voted most respected Ugandan company, most respected

ICT company in East Africa and third most respected company
overall in East Africa, In a PricewaterhouseCoopers survey

GSM subscribers
(000)

Market information

Population 24,5 million
Mobile penetration 31%
Mobile market share 66%
Operational information
Pre-paid/post-paid mix 98%/2%

Financials
2004 2003
Rm Rm
Revenue 917 1124
EBITDA 453 533
PAT 199 223

MTN Uganda is in its sixth year of operation, providing
fixed-ling, fibre optic, wireless local loap and GSM
mobile communications to a largely under-serviced
market. The company exceeded growth forecasts for
the year and withstood strong competition from two
other cellular operators to retain market leadership
with approximately 66% mobile market share. The
company strives to enhance its positive impact on
the country’s development, driving projects to bring
communication within the reach of the majority of
the population living in rural communities, while
supporting and stimulating entrepreneurship and
job creation.
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Corporate governance and
risk management

MTN Uganda is committed to implementing effective
carporate governance and risk management
practices using King Il (South Africa), Turnbull Report
(UK} and Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2003 (USA) as guiding
authorities on best practice. The company has taken
an aggressive stance of zero tolerance of all forms of
fraud and corruption. Tight policies and procedures
are enforced internally, including a confidential fraud
line. MTN anti-fraud posters are disseminated to
dealers and displayed in MTN offices and centres.




A conflict of interest policy is in the process of
being finalised.

MTN Uganda is committed to developing a risk
awareness culture within the operation. An
integrated risk management framework covering all
aspects of operations and sustainability issues is
strictly maonitored. Reporting structures with clearly-
defined fines of responsibility are in place to ensure
effective management.

Members of a micro-finance institution with a new
VillagePhone operator in Uganda. VillagePhone helps to
connect villagers to those outside the viflage.

Contributing to the socio-
economic development of
Uganda

MTN Uganda's comrnitrnent to investing in Uganda
in the long term is demonstrated by the nature of its
ongoing investments in the region. The initial capital
investment of US$40 million has increased to more
than US$190 million as the company continues to
expand coverage throughout the country and to
focus efforts on lowering the financial and
geographic barriers to telecommunications access.

The launch of the MTN VillagePhone project in
partnership with the Grameen Foundaticn USA

is rapidly increasing teledensity in rural areas,
offering connectivity to poorer communities.
Innovative phone bureau set-ups are installed in
areas where electricity is unavailable. These rely on
power from a car battery or solar panels, connected
to the network with a booster antenna. The phones
are purchased and operated by entrepreneurs who
rely on leans from micro-finance institutions.

MTN offers basic connectivity with special rates
and provides a business model to owners as a guide
to operating a business. To date, over 315 phones
have been installed countrywide, with about

190 applications pending. The five-year target is to
install 5 000 phones.

MTN Uganda's procurement practices strive, as far
as possible, to make use of local suppliers and
contractors, We are pleased to report that tariffs
have been reduced for pre-paid and post-paid
services, and public payphones have been
introduced at competitive rates. In addition, we have
introduced pre-paid fixed-line services and a business
solution centre which offers internet-enabled tele-
communications and a one-stop establishment for
fixed-line communications with a demonstration
room, sales point and futuristic technology display.

MTN Uganda's efficient operations are attracting the
business of many head offices of leading East African
companies. The company is the second-targest
taxpayer, contributing approximately 20% of the
government’s total corporate tax budget.

Investing in our staff and
business partners

MTN Uganda has formal policies and procedures in
place to ensure the health, safety and well-being of
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impact assessment...”"

L

. Department of Civil Engineering Makerere University, Kampala environmental audit report

' In respect to the state of each mast visited, there was an j
overwhelming complionce with the assumed environmental !

its staff. A committee of employee representatives
reports to senior management with input on policy
issues and suggestions for workforce and business
improvement. MTN has an intranet available to its
staff, where all relevant information on policies and
procedures is readily accessible. There has been no
industrial action at MTN Uganda in the last five years.

The company provides a diverse range of training
for its staff at all levels, including courses in
customer care, training and awareness of
technology, defensive driving and training in fire
fighting procedures for selected staff. There is a
focus on developing IT and middle management
skills, to make provision for fast company growth
and succession planning.

The company has well-established HIV/AIDS initiatives
in the workplace, including an ongoing educational
programme and easy access to candoms. MTN
Uganda has a strategic alliance with a treatment
centre that offers staff confidential HIV/AIDS testing at
minimal cost, and anti-retroviral drugs. The company is
recruiting a dedicated resource who will be in charge
of protecting the health and safety of its staff. There
have been no fatalities since the operation’s inception.

Minimising environmental
impact

MTN Uganda's activities comply with Uganda’s
National Environmental Management Act ("NEMA")
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and deliberate policies are in place for achieving

150 certification. In accordance with NEMA, an
environmental impact assessment is undertaken for
every proposed base station and the company
publishes an annual environmental report an its
activities. MTN recommissioned an annual
environmental audit of 30 MTN communication
masts throughout the country from the Department
of Civil Engineering Makerere University. The audit
reviews such issues as raw material use, atmospheric
emissions, water protection, solid waste, noise,
transportation and their contribution to socio-
economic enhancement. The report confirmed
MTN's cormpliance with the required environmental
standards, and lauded the company's positive
contribution towards economic development and
improved quality of life. MTN Uganda respects
environmental concerns expressed by its
stakeholders, A designated group convenes every
guarter to discuss the latest research findings
regarding the possible harmful effects of electro-
magnetic frequency ("EMF") emissions and the
company is committed to informing its stakeholders
of any developments.

The company adheres 1o international benchmark
tolerance lavels for emissions of certain gases in the
telecommunications industry, as well as to relevant
South African standards. Generators are serviced and
refuelled by a reputable local company to ensure
minimal leakages into the soil. The company received
one environmental complaint during the review




period regarding noise poifution. A silencer was Corporate social investment
subsequently installed and an enclosure built for the
programme

refevant generator.
o MTN Uganda pursues an active corporate social
MTN promotes the use of electronic airtime vouchers  investment programme. During the reporting period,

and scratch-cards made of biodegradable material. the company spent R907 000 in a variety of projects.
Collection bins are placed at MTN outlets for used These included initiatives for rural development, job
airtime cards. The company is looking to include creation, and HIV/AIDS prevention. MTN Uganda

handset recycling in its environmental policy sponsored the construction of two schools this year

Case study: MTN Uganda building houses, connecting people ...

Under the theme of “Building Houses, Connecting People; over the past five years, in partnership with Habitat for
Humanity Uganda ("HFHU") - a division of the non-profit, nondenominational Christian housing organisation Habitat
far Humanity international (*HFHI") - MTIN Uganda has sponsored the construction of over 250 low-cost houses for
deprived Ugandan families in rural communities around the country. The HFHU operations are currently spread
throughout 18 districts and 43 communities, mainfy in Eastern, Western and Central Uganda,

The profect is an ongoing corporate social responsibility programme and a model of sustainabitity. While MTN has
agreed to sponsor the construction of 20 houses each year, the company also indirectly contributes towards the
construction of many houses all over Uganda. This is because the houses ~ which cost approximately $1 500 each to
build - are sold to low-income earners who then pay off the purchase over a period of seven to ten years in monthly
instalments of approximately $8. The mortgage payments are re-invested to build additional houses. The project relies

on homeowners and volunteers to build the houses under trained supervision. MTN employees are involved in i
the construction process — mixing mortar, carrying bricks, laying the bricks, and so forth. To date,

MTN Uganda has been documented as HFHI's biggest corporate sponsor in Africa.

{Ultra Tech) to provide lighting to some of the completed
houses. The initial beneficiaries are homeowners who

have paid off their mortgage, or are about to complete
their payments. This scheme will be progressively extended
to benefit other families.

MTNers in collaboration with Habitat for Humanity
involved in the construction process.
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and staff participated in the painting and furnishing former street children. The company contributes one
of classrooms. MTN Uganda is a partner in the percent of turnover to the Rural Communications
Uganda Connect Schools Project, providing Development Fund administered by the Uganda

connectivity (fixed-line/wireless/GSM) to 40 targeted Communications Commission. Other beneficiaries
schools this year. MTN Uganda sponsors a number of  include the Red Cross for Northern Uganda and the
sporting and musical education activities aimed at Uganda Wildlife Authority.

Addressing stakeholder concerns

MTN Uganda is committed to addressing and communicating on the following issues identified by
stakeholders:

Focused strategies in anticipation of additional competition after 2005

Tariff structures and efforts to introduce innovative products and quality
services

Continuous review of policies and procedures for all functions to assess
continued relevance and effectiveness ‘

Evidence of MTN Uganda's commitment to
investing in training and technology

Efforts to promaote the re-use of
handsets and develop handset
recycling initiatives

Regular environmental audits and
implementation of an explicit
environmental management
strategy, with a view to achieving

ISO 14001 certification

Reducing noise output from generators
and investigating possible use of solar
power

Okumu James Onyango, solar phone owner, Uganda.
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-~ MTN Rwanda

. . Subscriber base

Performance highlights (000
As at 31 March 2004: 2
« Subscriber numbers of 146 000 up from 105 000 in March 2003,

representing a 39% increase 3
+ ARPU of US$22 —
+ Introduction of four franchises and a customer relationship 2 S

management ("CRM") sub-forum — ! !

Network coverage in all major towns in the 12 provinces ‘ a { I } :
« Vigorous network expansion into rural areas i ‘J -

Introduction of the Village Community Phone project I R T

01 02 03* 04*
Market information Financials
Population 8,7 million 2004 2003
Mobile penetration 1,2% Rm Rm
Mobile market share 100%
Revenue 242 280

Operational information ERITOA 108 130
Pre-paid/post-paid mix 98%/2% PAT 51 60
*including Supercell: 2004 - 40 000 (2003: 26 000)

MTN Rwanda is in its sixth year of operation as the
sole mobile service provider in Rwanda. The network
is being progressively expanded to more remote
rural parts of the country with 77 base stations
covering the 12 provinces. The subscriber base has
steadily grown to over 146 000. MTN Rwanda remains
the most prominent brand in the country.

The company is committed to maximising
shareholder value through the delivery of quality,
innovative telecommunication products and services
while playing a leading role in the socio-economic
development of the country.

Corporate governance
practices

The Board of MTN Rwanda consists of six non-
exacutive directors who meet quarterly. The company
has developed its own set of corporate values based
on those of the MTN Group, placing emphasis on
integrity and taking a strong stance in the prevention
of fraud and corruption.
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Operational performance

~ MTN Rwanda continued

Contributing to the socio-
economic development of
Rwanda

Cellular services have become an indispensable
communication tool in Rwanda; before MTN's arrival
five years ago, there were only 20 000 fixed
telephone lines. MTN is currently focusing on
expanding its network into more remote areas of the
country, putting telecommunications within reach of
95% of the population living in rural areas. MTN's
activities in the region have had significant benefits
in terms of stimulating job creation and business
development opportunities. The company is an
important mainstay of local suppliers and provides
valuable support for industry exhibitions, sport
sponsorships and a local bus cornparny.

Payments to government during the year amounted
to more than R24 million for licence fees, direct and
indirect taxes.

MTN Rwanda's exclusivity period has ended and it is
expected that a competitive mobile operator will be
introduced shortly.

Customer service

MTN Rwanda has established a network of dealers
across the country, with various outlets offering a
wide range of cellutar phones and accessories 1o
customers. A franchise programme has been
introduced to rapidly expand our operations
throughout the country. Four franchises have been
launched, with a demonstration centre in each town.
The MTN Rwanda call centre was moved to a quieter
area and upgraded with advanced technology and
software, and additional resources. Training in
custormer care is provided for call centre staff and

MTN Group Sustainability Report 2004

Service centre, Kigali, Rwanda.

dealers. The bilting systern for post-paid subscribers
has been upgraded and a CRM sub-forum has been
established in MTN Rwanda's quest to build and
develop strong relationships with business
subscribers.

Tariff structures

The issue of tariffs is of great interest to many
stakeholders and MTN Rwanda recognises the need
to communicate further with its stakeholders and
manage perceptions in this regard. The high costs
associated with maintaining and expanding the
network and improving customer service, including
import taxes, have an impact on tariffs. MTN Rwanda
strives to streamline its operating costs to provide the
most affordable services.




Investing in our staff and
business partners

MTN Rwanda is committed to building capacity

and skills among Rwandan nationals and to
implementing a policy of localisation in its
recruitment and succession policies. Currently,
99,5% of its staff are Rwandan nationals. As part of its
localisation programme, it supports a number of
Rwandan students in their training in South Africa as
engineers, as well as providing them with internship
opportunities. During the reporting period, a revision
of the performance management system was in
progress, in line with the MTN Group's drive to
standardise monitoring and reporting systems across
its operations.

Health, safety and
environmental issues

MTN Rwanda is reviewing its internal systems to
implement a formalised approach to health, safety and
environmental management. During the period there
were no serious environmental complaints, The
company recognises the need for concerted efforts to
develop internal HIV/AIDS awareness initiatives and
support structures, while acknowledging the need to
respect cultural sensitivity. An HIV/AIDS policy based
on that of MTN South Africa is being localised and will
be communicated to staff.

During the year, MTN Rwanda was advised by MTN
South Africa on implernenting network policies and

{ Addressing stakeholder concerns ;
|

issues identified by stakeholders:

\ « General data on social and
l environmental impacts

| © Efforts to improve network
' congestion and down-time
[+ Evidence of MTN Rwanda’s
\ commitment to investing in
. training and technology

| « Possible plans to introduce
recycling initiatives

\ A new MTN outlet, part of a
; network of dealers across Rwanda.

MTN Rwanda is committed to addressing and communicating on the following

A

E

* Billing strategies and possible plans to reduce tariffs \
* Focused strategies in anticipation of competition
i« Nature of activities to develop skills in the local

! Information Technology (IT) sector
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Operational performance

~ MTN Rwanda continued

procedures. Systems have subsequently been put
in place to monitor and measure environmental

impacts against a clear set of objectives and targets.

include supporting the rural women's networks
initiatives and enhancing ICT skills through the
provision of computers to organisations. MTN Rwanda

sponsors several socially-orientated sports
programmes and is a principal sponsor of the first
public library in Kigali. The attractive and well-
maintained MTN roundabout in Kigali is a highly
popular public venue, particularly for wedding photos.

Corporate social investment
programme

MTN Rwanda continues to focus its corporate social
investment on a range of sustainable projects that
contributes to the sacio-economic development of
the country. During the year under review, the
company committed R1,7 million to projects such
as sponsoring secondary school students in each of
the 12 provinces and assisting with the construction
of roads. MTN Rwanda is a significant sponsor of
sporting activities that have an important beneficial
impact on local communities. Other investments

For three years now, the company has provided the
national police with a toll-free emergency line from a
mobile phone, and sponsored the organisation of
regional trade exhibitions to promote the products
and services of local farmers.

An MTN Foundation will be established in the next
financial year.

Case study: MTN Rwanda Village Community Phone project

In February 2004, MTN Rwanda began the roll-out of the highly successful payphone service, locally dubbed
“Tuvugane” which literally means “we can all talk”

The Tuvugane initiative, otherwise known as the village community phone project, is part of MTN Rwanda’s
drive to increase teledensity in rural areas throughout the country. For those who cannot afford a mobile
handset, the new service puts tefecommunications within their reach for the first time.

The Tuvugane phone was specifically designed to serve the rural market. Rural entrepreneurs rely on micro-
financing assistance to purchase the Tuvugane phone and start a personal business of selling airtime units to
the local community. MTN Rwanda subsidised the sale of the first 100 phone units.

The Tuvugane handset is manufactured by a South African company and was
designed for challenging rural conditions. Although the phone locks like
afixed-line phone, it is mobile and uses a GSM SIM card with a small
antenna. The unit can be powered by solar energy if efectricity is
unavaflable, Each phone comes with a SIM card and 20 000 Rwandan
francs worth of agirtime units.

“This indeed is a great moment for our business,” a local farmer said at
the launch of the project.”It will help me and fellow farmers to monitor
the trend in prices for our potatoes, especially in the urban areas.”

A representative of the Rwanda private sector
trics out a phone at the praject faunch,
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Operational performance

- MTN Swaziland

Pre-paid/post-paid mix 96%/4%

. . Subscriber base
Performance highlights (000)
As at 31 March 2004: Q
« Subscribers total 85 000, representing a 25% increase since
31 March 2003 3
—
Revenue increased by 21% underpinned by a stable network a Co
Profits after tax rose 33% ‘ [
ARPU of US$31 S B
r [
e i
| : |
o1 02 03 04
Market information Financials
Population 1,1 million 2004 2003
Mobile penetration 7,7% Rm Rm
Market share 100%
Revenue 233 194
Operational information EBITDA 107 85
PAT 53 39

MTN Swaziland is mid-way through its ten-year
exclusive cellular licence period. The company's
network now provides geographic coverage of
78% of Swaziland and population coverage of 88%.
The local market is approaching maturity, with
mobile penetration currently at 7,7%. MTN Swaziland
has 66 base stations and 100 payphones installed
around the country. The company has established
itself as a responsible feader in corporate social
responsibility and is committed to acting as a
positive agent for change.

Corporate governance

The company’s corporate governance practices
are guided by the Board of Directors and by Group
requirements. A Code of Fthics was issued in 2003,
and a fraud policy is in place, MTN Swaziland

takes a strong position on corruption, which is a
dismissible offence.
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Operational performance

~ MTN Swaziland continued

Contributing to Swaziland’s
socio-economic development

Cellular services have made a significant difference to
communications in a country where the local fixed-
line network now has a lower penetration than that
of the mobile operator. MTN Swaziland is expanding
its services throughout the country, even in areas
with no existing communications infrastructure.
Increased access to telephony in rural areas has
provided communications for the first time in some
areas and created new business opportunities for
phone cenire operators, as well as generally
stimulating business development MTN Swaziland
believes in local empowerment through local
procurement where it makes business sense. The
company has joined farces with a number of NGOs
to provide financial and technical support on a range
of issues including water infrastructure projects and
small-scale entrepreneurship.

MTN Swaziland's tax and licence fee payments for the
year amounted to R3,3 million.

Tariff structures

Tariffs remain a prominent issue of interest to many
of our stakeholders. MTN Swaziland reduced the rate
of its SIM cards and access fee card this year When
discussing tariffs, it is important to understand that
there is considerable expenditure involved in
maintaining and developing the infrastructure and
system requirements to ensure reliable, quality
network and customer services. It is also important
to consider tariffs in the context of the significant
benefits that MTN's activities have had on Swaziland,
in terms of direct and indirect job creation, increased
government revenue and enhanced opportunities
for large and small businesses.
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Commitment to customers

MTN Sweziland is committed to providing reliable
and affordable products and services, and efficient
customer service. The company has extended its
coverage to most geographic areas within Swaziland
to bring communications in reach of the rural
population. It has improved the efficiency of its call
centre and made efforts to improve the quality of
connections and reduce network congestion to
negligible levels.

Investing in our staff

There has been considerable development at a senior
level within MTN Swaziland, with the appointment of
a new chief executive officer, chief financial officer and
chief technical officer. There are currently 74 full-time
employees, 16 contractors and no expatriates. MTN
Swaziland is committed to staff development and is
focused on building brand and staff loyalty. It has a
notional share incentive scheme for employees.

A consultative forum is in place to enhance the level
of communication within the company.

Health, safety and
environmental issues

The company operates a health and safety policy
with documented procedures covering issues such
as training and education, fire detection, evacuation,
safe working practices and incident and accident
reporting. Implementation of the policy is monitored
through a safety committee and meetings occur
quarterly. There have been no work-related fatalities
at MTN Swaziland since the operation’s inception,

MTN Swarziland was the first company to advertise
health, safety and emergency messages on billboards




and has encouraged other corporates to follow suit.
MTN Swaziland has a draft HIV/AIDS policy based on
the Group policy, which will be implernented and
communicated to staff by September 2004.The office is
looking at the establishment of a HIV/AIDS programrme
to deal with the issues of education and training,
voluntary HIV/AIDS counselling and testing, and the
elimination of unfair discrimination. The programme
will be applicable to all employees and, where possible,
includes their dependants.

MTN Swaziland is implementing an environmental
policy based on that of the MTN Group whilst taking
into account existing local environmental policies.

Corporate social investment

Social responsibility is an area where private sector
companies can make a significant difference in
Swaziland. The promation of HIV/AIDS awareness,
water availability and rural electrification, as well as
rural infrastructure development, is key to the

Addressing stakeholder
concerns

MTN Swaziland is committed to addressing and
communicating on the following issues
identified by stakeholders:

« Tariff and billing structures

* Plans to develop product and service
offering

Implementation of adequate systems to
make effective conversion to per-second
billing

Service interruptions and quality of connections

Improve subscriber complaints management system

Managing perceptions of the company’s activities
Training staff and local skills development
Gender equity in the workplace

Increasing level of outsourcing to local suppliers

Demonstration of commitment to Swaziland
through CSl projects

HIV/AIDS awareness initiatives

Minister of Tourism,
Environment and
Communication, Ms Thandi
Shongwe (centre) flanked
from left to right by MTN
Swaziland Chairman of the
Board Mr David Diamini,
Principal Secretary Mr
Mduduzi Magogo,

MTN Swaziland CEO Mr
Themba Khumalo, Under-
secretary Princess Geebile
and management team.
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Operational performance
- MTN Swaziland continued

future development of the country. MTN Swaziland
contributes financially to the national HIV/AIDS
awareness campalign and works in conjunction
with NGOs to address concerns within the
broader community.

In accordance with its licence obligations, MTN
Swaziland Invests significant profits back into

the local community. The company plans to adopt
a rural school and provide a computer laboratory
with refurbished computers. This project will be
implemented through the national Computer
Education Trust, which was established to improve

computer literacy at rural high schools in the country.

Spansorship of local soccer is extensive and an
ongoing focus area.

A more focused and long-term commitment to CStis
being considered with the objective of increasing
our contribution and promoting awareness of the
positive role played by the company in social
investment activities.

During the reporting period, the company invested
R589 000 in CS) projects.
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Case study: MTN Swaziland Golf Academy

MTN’s CS! programme also aims to make a meaningful contribution

towards sports development. To this end, MTN
Swaziland Golf Academy is playing an
important role in creating
opportunities for young
people to receive coaching
and participate in the sport.
During the reporting period,
MTN's sponsorship of the
Goff Academy amounted

to R66 000.

Nobuhle Diamini (photo) is one of
two beneficiaries of the Golf
Academy who will be representing
Swaziland in the British Junior Open
Championship to be held in Scotland
in July 2004. Thirteen year-old
Nobuhle was the only girl to qualify for
entry into the girl's category of the sixth
Junior Open Championships 2004.
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Performance tables

Note: the period under review is the financial reporting period, from 1 Aprif 2003 - 31 March 2004

Sustainability performance for the MTN Group |

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE
Financial indicators (MTN Group)

Revenue R 23871 19405 12432
EBITDA Rm 8983 6217 3765
Profit before tax R 5413 2910 1456
Total tax paid Rm 921 (684) {908)
Profit after tax Rm 4312 2223 548
Adjusted headline earnings per share cents 2531 1433 713
Dividends per share cents 41 - -
Employee payroll and benefits Rm 1096 964 826
Social (MTN Group)

Total permanent staff numbers No 4844 47275

Procurernent expenditure on BEE Am 647 500

Percentage workfarce represented by
independent trade union % - -

Percentage person-days fost to industrial action,
compared tc tctal verson-days wores % - -
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Key indicators for indivi
(

nding 31 March 2004)

South MTN MTN M MTN MTN
Africa® Nigeria  Cameroon Uganda**  Rwanda™* Swaziland*¥
ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE
Revenue Am 15199 6973 1069 217 242 233

Local procurement
(total cost of goods
materials and services
and services purchased

from local/BEE suppliers) Rm 647 2604 652 662 451 23
Total taxes paid Rm 1526 788 157 219 44 5
Governmeni

subsidies received Rm none none none none none none
Employee payroll,

benefits and taxes Rm 764 241 51 56 23 21
Corporate social

investment Rm 22 29 47 - 17 b
TOTAL SUBSCRIBERS

- 31 March 2004 ('000) No 6270 1 966 581 455 146 85
- 1 April 2003 (000) 4723 1037 431 363 105 68
TELEDENSITY

Mobile penetration % 36 31 6,7 31 1.2 7.7
Number of base stations No 4245 839 219 257 77 66
STAFF NUMBERS

TOTAL No 3462 1618 343 378 172 S0
Permanent

(and lacal for MTN Int) No 2349 1599 292 375 155 74
Part-time employment/

contract No 1113 19 51 3 17 16

* MTN South Africa afso includes amounts and statistics relating to the Group's satellite and internet operations as welfl as MIN International
and MTN Mauritius.

** Data reflects 100 % of the operation.

*** Amounts under R1 million (Uganda R907 000: Swazitand R589 000).
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Performance tables

continued

MTN Group South Africa - Employment Equity figures

{years refer to financial reporting period)

Table 1 Board Group General Management General
members executives managers and consultant

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004
Black (number) 6 8 9 1 16 12 106 100 1315 133
(African, Coloured
and Asian}
(% of total) (46) (72) (53) (61) (43) (38) (35) (32) (68) (67)
Women (number) 3 1 4 4 8 8 77 74 852 906
(% of total) (23) (9) (24) (22) (22) (25) (25) (24) (44) {45)

Designated %

Date

31 March MIN SA ot

2004 MTN Group ol
{Total for the Group's
South African dasea entidies) 245 194

M
Total female
Divetsity
index ABC %

- @

g £

3 [ =

o = 3

[=]

J = e
456

1202 285

7159

e
=3
g

179

&
=

168 277 851 2053

2
=

=S
=
o
<
®
&

n 127 186 306 941 2286 6325 760

31 March MIN SA totel 40 163 165 492 1230 308 s 65 307 BOE 2216 8242 7886
2003 MTN Greup toiai

{Total for the Group's

South African baseg entities! 45 161 176 558 1360 335 130 186 340 9z 1352 6182 788

Diversity index ABC % Stanas for tora! number of Affican, Coloured and Asian employees excliding o) Whize employees.
Designated % Stands for total numiver ¢f African, Colcured, Asian and White fmale employees, these are designated empioyees and exclude White
male empioyess,
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Key

v Sufficient disclosure

> Partial disclosure

X Nodisclosure

NA  Not applicable

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI
Reporting Elements and Performance Indicators
~ 2002 GRI Guidelines

) Content Index

Status

)

Reference in MTN Report

VISION AND STRATEGY
11 Group’s vision and strategy regarding sustainable Understanding sustainable
development v development
1. CEO Statement describing key elements of the report 4 Message from the Group CEO
PRCFILE
21 Narme of reporting organisation 4 About MTN's Sustainability Development
Report
22 Major producis and services MTN at a Glance
v Business Report
23 Operational structure 4 Business Report
24 Major divisions, operating cornpanias, subsidiaries,
and joint ventures v Business Report
25 Countries in which the organisation's operations
are located v Review of Operations
26 Nature of ownership; legal form 4 Business Report
27. Nature of markets served v Business Report
28 Scale of the organisation v Business Report
29 List of stakeholders v Stakeholder Engagement
210 Contact person v About MTN's Sustainability Development
Report
21 Reporting period 's About MTN's Sustainability Development
Report
212 Date of most recent previous report ' About MTN's Sustainability Developrment
Report
213 Boundaries of report v About MTN's Sustainability Development
Report
214 Significant changes in size, structure, ownership, or
products/services since previous report v Business Report
215 Basis for reporting on joint ventures, partially owned
subsidiaries, leased facilities, and outsourced operations v About MTN's Sustainability Development
Report
216  Explanation regarding restatement of information
in earlier reports NA Not applicable
217 Decisions not to apply GRI principles or protocols NA Not applicable
218 Criteria/definitions used in any accounting for econornic,
environmental, and social costs and benefits NA Not applicable
219 Significant changes from previous years in the
measurement methods applied to key economic,
environmental, and social information NA Not applicable
220 Policies and internal practices to enhance and provide
assurance ahout the accuracy, completeness, and reliability
that can be placed on the sustainability reporting NA Not applicable
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Performance tables

continued

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Content index continued

Reporting Elements and Performance indicators
- 2002 GRI Guidelines

Status

Reference in MTN Report

221 Policy and current practice with regard to providing
independent assurance for the full report NA Not applicable
222 Availability of additionat information and reports About MTN's Sustainability Development
v Report
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
31 Governance structure, including major board committess v Business Report
32 Percentage of the board of directors that are independant,
non-executive directors v/ Business Report
33 Process for determining the board members expertise ' Business Repart
34 Board-level processes for overseeing economic,
environmental, and social risks and opportunities v Business Report
35 Linkage between executive compensation and
achievement of goals 4 Business Report
36 Organisational structure and key responsibilities v Business Report
37 Mission and values statements and codes of conduct v Business Report
38 Mechanisms for shareholders to provide
recommendations to the hoard v Business Report
39 Major stakeholders v Stakeholder Engagement
310  Approaches to stakeholder consultation v Stakeholder Engagement
311 Type of information generated by stakeholder
consultations v Stakeholder Engagement
312 Use of information resulting from stakeholder
engagements / Stakeholder Engagemert
313 implementation of the precautionary approach > Environmentat Performance
3.4  Externally developed, economic, environmental, and Various charters and initiatives
social charters referred to throughout the
report
315 Memberships in industry and business associations x Various associations referred to
throughout the report
316 Policies and/or systems for managing upstream and Relevant activities referred to in
downstream impacts v various parts of the report
317 Approach to managing indirect economic, environmental, Relevant activities referred to in various
and social impacts > parts of the report
318  Decisions regarding the location of, or changes in,
operations v Business Report
319  Programmes and procedures pertaining t economic, Economic, Social and Environmental
environmental, and social performance v Perfarmance
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I

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Content Index continued

Reporting Elements and Performance Indicators
- 2002 GRI Guidelines

320

Status of certification pertaining to economic,

Status

Reference in MTN Report

environmental, and social management > Environmental Performance

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

ECt Net sales s Performance Tables
Business Report
Review of Gperations

EC2 Geographic breakdown of markets 4 Detail in Annual
Financial Report
See also Review of Operations

EC3 Cost of all goods, material, and services purchased 's Detail in Annual Financial
Report

EC4 Percentage of contracts paid in accordance with This dara not suificiently

agreed terms X monitored

ECS Total payroll and benefits v Performance Tables
Business Report

EC6  Distributions to providers of capital v Performance Tables
Business Report

EC7 Increase/decrease in retained earnings at end of period v Business Report

EC8  Total sum of taxes of all types paid broken down Performance Tables

by country v Operational Review

ECS  Subsidies received broken down by country or region '4 Performance Tables
(Reported at Group level only}

E10 Donations to community, civil society, and other groups v Review of Operations

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

EN1 Total materials use other than water, by type > Environmental Performance (full
quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN2  Percentage of materials used that are wastes (processed or This data is currently not sufficiently

unprocessed) from sources external to the reporting X monitored
organisation

EN3  Direct energy use segmented by primary source > Environmental Performance {full
quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN4 Indirect energy use > Environmental Performance (full
guantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN5  Total water use > Environmental Performance (full

quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material}
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Performance tables

continued

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Content Index continued

Reporting Elements and Performance Indicators

- 2002 GRI Guidelines

Status

Reference in MTN Report

EN6  Land owned, leased, or managed in biodiversity-rich X This data is curently not formally
habitats gathered. Procedures are in place
to minimise impacts on
these areas

EN7  Major impacts on biodiversity v Environmental Performance

EN8  Greenhouse gas emissions X This cata is currently not sufficiently
monitored as not deemed sufficiently
materizl

ENG  Use and emissions of ozone-depleting substances > Environmental Performance (full
quantitativa data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN10  NOx,SOx, and other significant air emissions by type X This data is currently not sufficiently
monitored as not deemed sufficiently
material

ENT1  Total amount of waste by type and destination > Environmental Performance (full
quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN12  Significant discharges to water by type > Environmentat! Performance (full
quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN13  Significant spills of chemicals, ails, and fuels > Environmental Performance (full
quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
material)

EN14  Significant environmental impacts of principal product:

and services ' Environmental Performance
EN15  Percentage of the weight of products sold that is = Environmentai Performance (full
reclaimable quantitative data not provided
as not deemed sufficiently
materiaf)

EN16  Incidents of and fines for tegal non-compliance v Environmental Performance

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Labour Practices and Decent Work

LA Breakdown of workforce v Social Performance
(Group level)

Performance Table (Operations)
> Social Performance

LAZ Net employment crezatian and average turnover
segmented by region/country

(Group level only)

78 MTNGroup Sustainability Report 2004




Reporting Elements and Performance indicators
- 2002 GRi Guidelines

Status

Reference in MTN Report

LA3 Percentage of employees represented by independent 's Sociat Performance
trade unions (Group level)
Performance Table (Operations)
LA4 Policy and procedures involving information, consuftation, v Social Performance
and negotiation with employees over changes in the
reporting organisation’s operations
LAS Occupational accidents and diseases v Social Performance
LA6  Joint health and safety committees 4 Social Performance
LA7  Standard injury, lost day, and absentee rates and number > Social Performance
of work-refated fatalities (Group level) Performance
Table {Operations)
LA Description of policies or programmes on HIV/AIDS v Sacial Performance
LAG  Average hours of training per year per employee by > Social Performance
category of employee (Group level)
LA10  Equal opportunity policies or programmes s Social Performance
Performance Table
LA Composition of senior management and corporate v Social Performance
governance bodies Performance Table
Human Rights
HR1 Policies, guidelines, corporate structure, and procedures > Social Performance
1o deal with all aspects of human rights (General referenca only}
HR2  Consideration of human rights impacts as part of > Social Performance
investment and procurement (General reference only)
HR3 Paolicies and procedures to address human rights > Social Performance
performance in the supply chain (General reference only)
HR4  Policy and procedures/programmes preventing all = Social Performance
forms of discrimination (General reference only)
HR5  Freedom of association policy v Social Performance
Performance Table
HR6  Policy excluding child labour > Social Performance
{General reference only}
HR7  Policy to prevent forced and compulsory labour > Social Performance

(General reference only)
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Performance tables

continued

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Content Index continued

Reporting Elements and Performance Indicators

- 2002 GRI Guidelines Status Reference in MTN Report
Society ‘
SO1 Policies to manage impacts on communities in areas > Sacial Performance
affected by activities Operationa' Review
S02  Policy and procedures addressing bribery and corruption v Corporate Governence and Risk
Management
SO3  Policy and procedures for rmanaging politicat lobbying v Corporzate Governance and Risk
and contributioris Management
Product Responsibility
PRI Policy for preserving customer health and safety during v Social Performance Environmental
use of products and services Performance
PR2 Policy and procedures related to product > Various custorner information initiatives
information and labelling described in Qperational
Review section
PR3 Policy and procedures for consumer privacy X Not addressed in depth
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MTN 2004 Sustainability
Report feedback form

We value your feedback to help us make these reports more meaningful. Please let us know what you think
about the MTN 2004 Sustainability Report or our sustainability performance in general.

What is the nature of your relationship with MTN:

MTN employee [0 MTNshareholder  [T] MTN Subscriber O MINsupplier O
NGO employee [0 Governmentofficial [] Journalist [0 Financial analyst O
Other (please specify) [_]

From which country are you?
Cameroon [ ] Rwanda | Swaziland [
Nigeria O South Africa [} Uganda O

Does this report address the sustainability issues that are of greatest interest to you?
Comprehensively — [[]  Partialy [} Notatall [

What additional issues would you like to see included in future reports?

What was your overall impression of the report in terms of:

Excellent Good Fair Poor
1) Content A O O O
2) Design O O O M

Do you have any additional comments on the report — or on MTN’s sustainability performance
in general?

May we quote your comment in future? Yes [] No []

Your name and address (optional):

Would you like to be consulted when we prepare our next Sustainability Report? Yes [ | No [ ]
Would you prefer future copies of the report via the internet rather than in print? Yes (| No []

ADDRESS DETAILS ON THE REVERSE SIDE HEREOF




Please forward your comments 1o
MTN Group Corporate Affairs on:

Fax (+27 11) 301 6516 or
E-mail sustainability@mtn.coza or
Mail using the enclosed reply paid envelope

(applicable in South Africa only).
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